This electronic thesis or dissertation has been downloaded from the King's Research Portal at https://kclpure.kcl.ac.uk/portal/



INVESTIGATIONS INTO ORTHODONTIC TOOTH MOVEMENT RATE

Wazwaz, Fidaa

Awarding institution: King's College London

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

END USER LICENCE AGREEMENT



Unless another licence is stated on the immediately following page this work is licensed

under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International

licence. https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/

You are free to copy, distribute and transmit the work

Under the following conditions:

- Attribution: You must attribute the work in the manner specified by the author (but not in any way that suggests that they endorse you or your use of the work).
- Non Commercial: You may not use this work for commercial purposes.
- No Derivative Works You may not alter, transform, or build upon this work.

Any of these conditions can be waived if you receive permission from the author. Your fair dealings and other rights are in no way affected by the above.

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact <u>librarypure@kcl.ac.uk</u> providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

INVESTIGATIONS INTO ORTHODONTIC TOOTH MOVEMENT RATE

Thesis submitted for the Degree of **Doctor of Philosophy**

By

Fidaa Tayseer Wazwaz BDS, MSc.

Department of Orthodontics, Centre for Craniofacial Development & Regeneration King's College London Dental Institute

March 2023

Abstract

Abstract

Orthodontic treatment is a lengthy process determined primarily by rate of tooth movement, which is controlled by the biological response to orthodontic force. An understanding of the clinical parameters and biological processes underlying orthodontic tooth movement (OTM) is an important foundation for investigations of orthodontic treatment time.

This thesis has systematically reviewed the evidence on rate of OTM and duration of treatment during the alignment and canine retraction phases of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances; characterised the salivary peptidome and protease profile during the alignment stage of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances; investigated the effect of adipokines on inflammation and extracellular matrix (ECM) remodelling biomarkers in compressed human periodontal and gingival fibroblasts in the presence or absence of inflammation; and assessed the effect of appointment interval (2 weeks versus 8 weeks) on duration and rate of orthodontic tooth alignment.

The systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrated that pooled duration for complete alignment of the mandibular dentition was 263.0 days, initial alignment of the mandibular incisor teeth was 100.7 days, and pooled average incisor irregularity changes were 2.9 mm (month 1), 1.5 mm (months 1-2), 0.7 mm (months 2-3), 0.3 mm (months 3-4), 0.3 mm (months 4-5), and 0.2 mm (months 5-6). These data were obtained from 35 randomised controlled trials (RCTs). Moreover, the estimated average pooled duration to achieve canine retraction was 4.98 months, pooled average canine retraction was 0.97 mm at months 0-1, 1.83 mm at months 0-2, 2.44 mm at months 0-3, 3.49 mm at months 0-4, and 4.25 mm at months 0-5. The data were obtained from 50 RCTs.

In the retrospective study, a total of 2852 naturally-occurring peptides were detected, deriving from 436 different proteins. Proteasix predicted 73 proteases potentially involved in generating these peptides, including metalloproteinases, cathepsins, and calpains. The tissue

2

culture study demonstrated that leptin showed pro-inflammatory properties by selectively enhancing IL-1 α -induced expression of IL-6, IL-8, MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-8 in human periodontal and gingival fibroblasts in the presence or absence of compressive force. However, AdipoRon exhibited anti-inflammatory properties by attenuating these biomarkers under similar conditions.

The prospective RCT showed that patients reviewed every 2 weeks needed a mean of 168.5 days less than the 8-week group to achieve complete alignment. Moreover, a faster rate of OTM was observed within the 2-week group, with an overall rate of 0.07 mm per day compared to 0.03 mm per day in the 8-week group.

Patient- and treatment-related characteristics were associated with the reported rates of OTM. Surgically-assisted orthodontics was associated with a reduced duration of initial alignment and greater canine retraction. In addition, shorter intervals between appointments significantly reduced the time required to achieve complete alignment. Moreover, the rate of OTM depends on the extent of periodontal and gingival fibroblast-mediated ECM remodelling, which relies, in part, on the combination of orthodontic forces and inflammation. Finally, protease prediction from peptidome data demonstrates a potential tool for identifying novel biomarkers and discriminating between different approaches proposed to accelerate OTM.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude and appreciation to my supervisors, Professor Martyn Cobourne and Professor Guy Carpenter, for their continued support, expert advice, and invaluable guidance throughout every aspect of this PhD. They rendered my PhD experience a more beneficial and enjoyable one. Thank you.

I would like to acknowledge and thank Professor Gordon Proctor, my postgraduate coordinator, for his constant encouragement and support. Thank you for being so kind and helpful.

My special thanks and extreme appreciation go to Dr. Jadbinder Seehra whom I have had the pleasure of working with during the whole PhD journey. He has been not only a great mentor but also a good friend, always there when needed.

I would like to thank Dr. Spyridon Papageorgiou for helping me with statistics and his precious support and advice. Also, I would like to acknowledge and thank several people who have given their time to help me and support this work, especially Dr. Maisa Seppala, Dr. Golfam Khoshkhounejad, Dr. Mandeep Ghuman, Dr. Garrit Koller, Dr. Abeer Shaalan, Mr. Hassan Farah, Dr. Emily Lu. Their contribution and advice have been invaluable. Moreover, I would like to thank all my colleagues who made the PhD experience friendly and supportive.

I could not have been here without the support and love of my parents Tayseer and Samira. I am very fortunate to be your daughter. Sohayb, Lojayn, and Mohammad, I am the luckiest mother in the world because of your unwavering love and patience. Finally, I am eternally grateful to my husband, Islam, for his endless emotional support, patience, and sacrifices. I am deeply indebted to you for everything and for helping me to fulfil my dreams. Your support has meant everything to me, and I could not do anything without you.

List of publications and presentations

Publications

Fidaa Wazwaz, Jadbinder Seehra, Guy H. Carpenter, Anthony J. Ireland, Spyridon N. Papageorgiou, Martyn T. Cobourne. 2022. Duration of tooth alignment with fixed appliances: A systematic review and meta-analysis. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 161, 20-36.

Fidaa Wazwaz, Jadbinder Seehra, Guy H. Carpenter, Spyridon N. Papageorgiou, Martyn T. Cobourne. 2023. Duration of canine retraction with fixed appliances: A systematic review and meta-analysis. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 163, 154-172.

Fidaa Wazwaz, Hayder Saloom, Jack W Houghton., Martyn T. Cobourne, Guy H. Carpenter. 2023. Salivary peptidome analysis and protease prediction during orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances. Scientific Reports, 13, 677.

Presentations

Oral Presentation, 22nd Annual Postgraduate Research Day King's College London, 2nd June 2020, London, UK. The effect of adipokines on the secretion of matrix metalloproteinase-1 in human gingival fibroblasts.

Poster presentation, British Society for Oral and Dental Research (BSODR) meeting, September 1-3, 2021, University of Birmingham, Birmingham, UK. Prediction of salivary proteases in patients undergoing orthodontic treatment.

Abbreviations

μl:	microliter
°C:	Degrees centigrade
AKT:	Protein kinase B
ANOVA:	One-way analysis of variance
BCA:	Bicinchoninic acid
BMI:	body mass index
cDNA:	Complementary deoxyribose nucleic acid
CI:	Confidence interval
CGRP:	Calcitonin gene-related peptide
CLB:	Conventionally ligated bracket
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagles medium
DMSO:	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DNA:	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DTT:	Dithiothreitol
ECM:	Extra cellular matrix
EDTA:	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid
ELISA:	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
eNOS:	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
EX:	Extraction
FBS:	Fetal bovine serum
GCF:	Gingival crevicular fluid
GRADE:	Grades of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation
hGF:	Human gingival fibroblast
HIV:	Human immunodeficiency virus
hPDLF:	Human periodontal fibroblasts
IL:	Interleukin
iNOS:	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
KDa:	Kilo Dalton
LAFC:	Laser-assisted flapless corticotomy
LC-MS/MS:	Liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry
LDH:	Lactate dehydrogenase
LDS:	Lithium dodecyl sulphate

LII:	Little's irregularity index
LLLT:	Low level laser therapy
mA:	Milliamp
MD:	Mean difference
mg:	Milligram
ml:	Milliliter
mm:	Millimeter
mM:	Millimolar
MMP:	Matrix metalloproteinase
MOP:	Micro-osteoperforation
MTT:	3-(4,5- dimethylthiazole-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide
mRNA:	Messenger ribonucleic acid
mTOR:	Mammalian target of rapamycin
mTORC:	Mammalian target of rapamycin complex
NiTi:	Nickel titanium
nM:	Nanomolar
NO:	Nitric oxide
NSAID:	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug
OPG:	Osteoprotegerin
OTM:	Orthodontic tooth movement
PBS:	Phosphate buffered saline
PDL:	Periodontal ligament
pg:	Picogram
PI3K:	Phosphoinositide 3-kinase
PMN:	Polymorphonuclear
RANK:	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B
RANKL:	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand
RAP:	Regional acceleratory phenomenon
RCTs:	Randomised controlled trials
RNA:	Ribonucleic acid
RT-qPCR:	Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
S6K1:	S6 kinase1
SD:	Standard Deviation
SDS:	Sodium dodecyl sulphate

Abbreviations

SDS-PAGE:	Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SS:	Stainless steel
TAD:	Temporary anchorage device
TBST:	Tris Buffered Saline with Tween
TIMP1:	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase
TGF-β:	Transforming growth factor- β
TNF-α:	Tumour necrosis factor-a
TPA:	Transpalatal arch
VEGF:	Vascular endothelial growth factor
WMS:	Whole mouth saliva
4E-BP1:	Eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1

Contents

List of Figures	15
List of tables	
Chapter 1 Introduction	20
1.1 Orthodontic tooth movement	21
1.1.1 Biological response to orthodontic forces	22
1.1.2 The periodontium and OTM	26
1.1.3 Role of inflammation in OTM	30
1.1.4 Extracellular matrix remodelling of soft tissues	34
1.1.5 Alveolar bone remodelling	46
1.2 Duration and rate of OTM	50
1.2.1 Factors affecting duration of orthodontic treatment	52
1.2.2 Acceleration of OTM	54
1.3 Obesity	63
1.3.1 Obesity and orthodontics	65
1.3.2 Leptin	67
1.3.3 Adiponectin	69
1.4 Human salivary proteome and peptidome	70
1.4.1 Whole mouth saliva	70
1.4.2 Human saliva as diagnostic body fluid	71
1.4.3 Human salivary proteome	72
1.4.4 Human salivary peptidome and proteases	74

1.5 Aims	76
Chapter 2 Duration of tooth alignment with fixed appliances: a systematic r	eview and
meta-analysis	77
2.1 Introduction	77
2.2 Materials and methods	79
2.2.1 Protocol and registration	79
2.2.2 Eligibility criteria	79
2.2.3 Information sources and search	80
2.2.4 Study selection, data collection, and items	80
2.2.5 Risk of bias of individual studies	81
2.2.6 Data synthesis and summary measures	81
2.2.7 Additional analyses, risk of bias across studies and quality of evidence	
2.2.8 Sensitivity analyses	83
2.3 Results	
2.3.1 Study selection	83
2.3.2 Study characteristics	
2.3.3 Risk of bias within studies	86
2.3.4 Data synthesis	91
2.3.5 Additional analyses	100
2.4 Discussion	105
2.4.1 Summary of evidence	105
2.4.2 Implications for clinical practice and research	108
2.4.3 Strengths and limitations	109
2.5 Conclusions	109

Chapter 3 Duration of canine retraction with fixed appliances: A systematic review	v and
meta-analysis	110
3.1 Introduction	110
3.2 Materials and methods	111
3.2.1 Protocol and registration	111
3.2.2 Eligibility criteria	111
3.2.3 Information sources, search strategy and study selection	112
3.2.4 Study selection, data items and collection	113
3.2.5 Risk of bias in individual studies	113
3.2.6 Data synthesis and summary measures	113
3.2.7 Additional analyses, risk of bias across studies and quality of evidence	114
3.2.8 Sensitivity analyses	115
3.3 Results	115
3.3.1 Study selection and characteristics	115
3.3.2 Risk of bias within studies	122
3.3.3 Results of individual studies, indirect analyses of pooled averages across	trials,
direct comparisons within and across trials	124
3.3.4 Additional analyses	131
3.4 Discussion	137
3.4.1 Summary of evidence	137
3.4.2 Implications for clinical practice and research	140
3.4.3 Strengths and limitations	141
3.5 Conclusions	142

Chapter 4 The effect of adipokines on the production of inflammatory and ECM
remodelling biomarkers in compressed human periodontal and gingival fibroblast: an in
vitro cell culture study143
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials and Methods149
4.2.1 Cell culture
4.2.2 Compressive force application
4.2.3 Total protein analysis151
4.2.4 Cell viability assay152
4.2.5 Cytotoxicity assay152
4.2.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay153
4.2.7 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) analysis154
4.2.8 Western Blotting
4.2.9 Statistical analysis
4.3 Results
4.3.1 Cell viability of human periodontal and gingival fibroblasts
4.3.2 Cytotoxicity of IL-1α, compressive force, leptin, and AdipoRon
4.3.3 IL-6 expression
4.3.4 IL-8 expression
4.3.5 MMP-1 expression
4.3.6 MMP-2 expression
4.3.7 MMP-3 expression
4.3.8 MMP-8 expression
4.3.9 TIMP-1 expression
4.3.10 Other MMPs

4.3.11 Effect on mTOR pathway	31
4.4 Discussion	34
4.5 Conclusions	€
Chapter 5 Salivary peptidome analysis and protease prediction during orthodont	ic
treatment with fixed appliances: a retrospective study19)4
5.1 Introduction) 4
5.2 Materials and methods	€7
5.2.1 Study design and participants	€7
5.2.2 Saliva collection and processing	€
5.2.3 Separation of naturally occurring peptides from saliva) 9
5.2.4 Mass spectrometry) 9
5.2.5 Zymography)0
5.2.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay20)1
5.2.7 Bioinformatic analysis)1
5.2.8 Statistical analysis)2
5.3 Results)4
5.3.1 Peptidome characteristics)4
5.3.2 Prediction of protease activity)6
5.3.3 Targeted approaches to validate proteases predictions	11
5.4 Discussion	13
5.5 Conclusions	19
Chapter 6 The influence of appointment interval on orthodontic tooth alignment:	a
prospective randomised controlled trial22	20
6.1 Introduction22	20

6.2 Aims and objectives	222
6.3 Methods	
6.3.1 Ethical approval	
6.3.2 Study design	222
6.3.3 Participants	223
6.3.4 Rate of tooth alignment	224
6.3.5 Sample Size Calculation	225
6.3.6 Randomisation	225
6.3.7 Statistical analysis	225
6.4 Results	226
6.4.1 Participants	226
6.4.2 Primary outcome	226
6.4.3 Secondary outcomes	227
6.5 Discussion	231
6.6 Conclusions	234
Chapter 7 General discussion	235
7.1 Duration and rate of OTM	235
7.2 Adipokines and OTM	240
7.3 Proteolytic activity during OTM	243
7.4 Future work	245
References	248
Appendices	

List of Figures

Figure 1.1 Biological response of the periodontium to orthodontic forces at compression
region25
Figure 1.2 Biological response of the periodontium to orthodontic forces at the tension region.
Figure 1.1.3 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) structure40
Figure 1.4 Schematic representation of in vitro mechanical loading approaches45
Figure 1.5 RANKL/RANK/OPG pathway
Figure 2.1 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses diagram for
the identification and selection of studies eligible in this review
Figure 2.2 Risk of bias assessments for included trials
Figure 2.3 Forest plots depicting duration to achieve whole-arch alignment of the mandibular
dentition (a) and mandibular arch incisor alignment (b) in days92
Figure 2.4 Forest plot of the pooled average for incisor irregularity changes
Figure 2.5 Contour-enhanced Forest plot of effect on incisor alignment duration
Figure 2.6 Contour-enhanced Forest plot of effect on whole-arch alignment duration102
Figure 2.7 Contour-enhanced funnel plot of the indirect meta-analysis of incisor irregularity
change between 0-4 and 0-8 weeks
Figure 3.1 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses diagram for
the identification and selection of studies eligible in this review
Figure 3.2 Overall risk of bias scores for the specific domains presented as percentages122
Figure 3.3 Risk of bias assessments for included trials
Figure 3.4 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on total retraction duration

Figure 3.5 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on total retraction duration between
surgically-assisted group and control group
Figure 3.6 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 3
between LLLT group and control group129
Figure 3.7 Forest plots depicting the effect of surgically-assisted orthodontics vs non-
surgically assisted orthodontics on the amount of canine tooth movement at months 0-1, 0-2,
0-3, 0-4
Figure 3.8 Forest plots depicting the effect of surgically-assisted orthodontics vs non-
surgically assisted orthodontics on the amount of canine tooth movement at months 1-2 and 2-
3
Figure 4.1 Overview of mTOR signalling pathway148
Figure 4.2 The appearance of hPDLFs and hGFs under the light microscope
Figure 4.3 The method used to simulate orthodontic forces in vitro
Figure 4.4 The effect of IL-1a, leptin, AdipoRon, and force on cell viability of hPDLFs and
hGFs160
Figure 4.5 Relative IL-6 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs
Figure 4.6 Relative IL-6 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs
Figure 4.7 Relative IL-8 mRNA and protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs
Figure 4.8 Relative IL-8 mRNA and protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs
Figure 4.9 Relative MMP-1 mRNA and protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs172
Figure 4.10 Relative MMP-1 mRNA protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs
Figure 4.11 Relative MMP-3 mRNA and protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs176
Figure 4.12 MMP-3 mRNA protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs177
Figure 4.13 Relative MMP-8 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs179
Figure 4.14 MMP-8 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs

Figure 4.15 Effects of force, IL-1a, AdipoRon, or leptin on PAKT and P4E-BP1 expression in
hPDLFs182
Figure 4.16 Effects of force, IL-1a, AdipoRon, or leptin on PAKT and P4E-BP1 expression in
hGFs183
Figure 5.1 Representative example of the main steps of Proteasix analysis
Figure 5.2 Venn diagram and heatmap of proteins of origin
Figure 5.3 Graphs showing the percentage of peptides for each of the common proteins
identified in unstimulated WMS at T1-T4206
Figure 5.4 Graph showing the profile of proteases as predicted by Proteasix
Figure 5.5 Gelatin zymography
Figure 5.6 MMP-8 and MMP-9 levels measured by ELISA
Figure 6.1 Little's Irregularity Index to calculate teeth irregularity by measuring the five liner
distances between the contact points of lower anterior teeth
Figure 6.2 CONSORT diagram depicting the flow of participants in the trial228
Figure 6.3 Kaplan-Meier survival curves for the 2-week and 8- week groups used in the study.
Figure 6.4 Box plots of measured values in 2-week and 8-week groups for study outcomes.
Figure 6.5 Graph showing the plaque index (a & b) and the gingival index (c & d) of the 2-
week and 8-week groups

List of tables

Table 2.1 Characteristics of included studies. 87
Table 2.2 Meta-regression / subgroup analyses for possible factor influencing the pooled
average incisor-alignment duration and irregularity changes across identified randomized
trials94
Table 2.3 Direct estimates (MD) from single trials on duration
Table 2.4 Direct estimates (MD) from single trials on irregularity change
Table 2.5 Direct meta-analytical comparisons with Mean Differences (MDs) on alignment
duration and irregularity change97
Table 2.6 Summary of findings table according to the GRADE approach
Table 2.7 Characteristic of the datasets available for re-analysis. 101
Table 2.8 Characteristic of the refined datasets available for re-analysis with age & LII overlap
(with age<18 years and LII>7)101
Table 2.9 Random-effects meta-analysis of the effect of patient baseline age, sex, Little's
irregularity index, and FMA angle on duration of alignment103
Table 2.10 Pooled average (indirect meta-analysis) for alignment duration and anterior
irregularity changes across identified randomized trials
Table 3.1 Characteristics of included studies
Table 3.2 Indirect meta-analyses of pooled averages across the control groups of all studies.
Table 3.3 Direct meta-analytical comparisons with Mean Differences (MDs) on canine
retraction duration and rate

Table 3.4 Subgroup analyses for the various surgically assisted orthodontics approaches
compared to control groups
Table 3.5 Sensitivity analyses and analyses of reporting biases for indirect meta-analyses from
Table 3.2
Table 3.6 Sensitivity analyses and analyses of reporting biases for direct meta-analyses from
Table 3.3
Table 3.7 Summary of findings according to the GRADE approach for the month 0-3136
Table 4.1 Corbett Rotor-Gene thermal cycling protocol
Table 4.2 List of primers and sequences used for RT-qPCR 156
Table 4.3 List of antibodies used for western blotting
Table 5.1 List of all proteases (symbols, accession numbers, and names) predicted by
Proteasix
Table 6.1 Demographics of participants at baseline. 228
Table 6.2 Rate of tooth movement (mm/day) during the study period

Orthodontics is the field of dentistry concerned with growth and development of the jaws, face and dentition, the occlusion, and the diagnosis, interception, and treatment of occlusal anomalies. Orthodontic treatment aims to enhance dentofacial aesthetics and function of the teeth and jaws, improving a person's quality of life and self-esteem. It entails the treatment of malocclusion, caused by genetic and environmental factors or some combination of the two. This is accomplished by achieving ideal occlusion within the context of appropriate function and physiologic adaptation, acceptable dentofacial aesthetics and self-image, and stability. Fixed and removable appliances are used in conventional orthodontic treatment to accomplish a predetermined treatment plan (Turner et al., 2021, Graber et al., 2011).

Comprehensive orthodontic treatment with fixed orthodontic appliances generally takes less than two years to be completed (Tsichlaki et al., 2016), with a variety of factors impacting the outcome and duration. Accelerating OTM has long been desired by orthodontists and patients, to facilitate shorter treatment duration and reduced adverse effects such as pain, discomfort, periodontal diseases, dental caries, and iatrogenic damage such as root resorption. Therefore, clinicians have been increasingly pursuing innovative methods and approaches to accelerate OTM and potentially reduce treatment duration (Huang et al., 2014, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Mavreas and Athanasiou, 2008, Zainal Ariffin et al., 2011).

OTM represents the basis of orthodontic treatment and is triggered by orthodontic forces that induce stress and strain in the periodontal ligament, resulting in remodelling of the periodontal tissues and ultimately, tooth movement (Isola et al., 2016, Lindauer and Denis Britto, 2000).

1.1 Orthodontic tooth movement

Orthodontic tooth movement (OTM) denotes movement of the tooth within the alveolar bone as the result of biological reactions to an external stimulus that disrupts the physiologic equilibrium of the paradental tissues. This is accomplished by applying controlled mechanical forces to the teeth via orthodontic appliances leading to the remodelling of alveolar bone and the periodontal ligament (PDL), which ultimately leads to translocation and change of tooth position (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006). Tissue responses to orthodontic forces are best viewed as an exaggerated form of normal physiological remodelling associated with foci of tissue repair rather than a pathological condition (Meikle, 2006).

OTM comprises two connected processes: deflection of the alveolar bone and remodelling of the dental pulp, PDL, gingiva, and alveolar bone. The applied force compresses the alveolar bone and PDL on one side, while stretching the PDL on the opposing side (Dolce et al., 1996). Mechanical load is transmitted from the tooth to the alveolar bone through the PDL, causing immediate minor reversible injury to the paradental tissues and related vascular network (Davidovitch et al., 1988, Mostafa et al., 1991, Li et al., 2018, Wise and King, 2008). This leads to the release of numerous cytokines, growth factors, neurotransmitters, colony-stimulating factors and other molecules; these molecules produced elicit biological reactions in the numerous cell types in and around the tooth, creating a favourable milieu for tissue deposition or resorption (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006).

Typically, OTM occurs in four distinct phases: initial, lag, acceleration, and linear phases (Pilon et al., 1996). In the initial phase, the tooth's immediate and rapid displacement in the PDL space and tooth socket occurs, reducing PDL width on the compression side. This initial phase lasts twenty-four to forty-eight hours after orthodontic force application (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Zainal Ariffin et al., 2011). The lag phase follows, in which tooth

21

movement is halted for twenty to thirty days due to hyalinization of the PDL in regions of compression, and no further movement occurs until all necrotic tissues are removed by macrophages and multinucleated cells (Feller et al., 2015a, Zainal Ariffin et al., 2011). The movement then continues with a constantly increased rate in the acceleration phase through the alveolar bone in a continuous cycle of bone and PDL remodelling until the maximum capacity of these biological processes is reached. At this point, the linear phase follows, during which the rate of movement becomes constant and no longer depends on the magnitude of force applied (Pilon et al., 1996).

1.1.1 Biological response to orthodontic forces

Following orthodontic force application, two distinct areas in the PDL and associated alveolar bone have been identified. The orthodontic forces cause instantaneous strain in the periodontium, resulting in compression and tension zones of the PDL and leading to bone resorption and formation in these areas, respectively, which eventually results in tooth movement (Feller et al., 2015a, Davidovitch et al., 1988) (Figures 1.1 and 1.2).

1.1.1.1 Compression region

In the region of compression, disarrangement of adjacent tissues and gradual compression of the blood vessels occur. Compression of the vasculature results in localised ischemia, reduced blood flow and hypoxia, which influence the metabolic activity of PDL cells. Under these hypoxic conditions, the cells rely on anaerobic glycolysis, with many metabolic enzymes, such as lactate dehydrogenase, increasing during anaerobic metabolism (Kitase et al., 2009, Ren et al., 2008, Zainal Ariffin et al., 2011, Feller et al., 2015b).

Inflammation is induced by constriction of the PDL microvasculature, causing localised necrosis (hyalinisation) and compensatory hyperaemia in the surrounding PDL and vessels of the pulp. Hyalinisation is characterised by cell-free areas of the PDL, with collagen's normal tissue architecture and staining properties being lost in these sites. In hyalinisation zones, there are many cell pieces (debris), regions of degraded matrix interspersed between the intact collagen fibrils, and in certain cases, pyknotic nuclei (von Böhl et al., 2004, Zainal Ariffin et al., 2011, Bonafe-Oliveira et al., 2003, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006). These necrotic tissues release chemo-attractants, attracting giant phagocytic multinucleated cells, macrophages, and osteoclasts activated from the adjacent bone marrow spaces to the periphery of necrotic PDL, which resorb the hyalinised tissue of the PDL (Wise and King, 2008, Miyagawa et al., 2009, Ingman et al., 2012, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006).

Alveolar bone resorption occurs in the compression side, where osteoclasts attack the adjacent lamina dura, and frontal resorption of alveolar bone occurs, leading to tooth movement within two days following force application. This occurs when the applied orthodontic forces are light and within the accepted therapeutic range, resulting in negligible necrosis. Whereas, if orthodontic forces are excessive, osteoclasts remove the underside of the lamina dura of the alveolar bone adjacent to the hyalinized PDL via undermining resorption. This undermining resorption delays tooth movement and can cause root resorption. However, clinically, it is impossible to avoid PDL hyalinization; therefore, hyalinization is always present to some extent, and OTM is the result of both undermining and frontal resorption (Proffit et al., 2019, Isola et al., 2016, Miyagawa et al., 2009, Ingman et al., 2012, Li et al., 2018). Eventually, when the magnitude of force decreases, the compressed PDL returns to its original width, and neovascularization and regeneration of the injured PDL and alveolar bone ensue (Miyagawa et al., 2009, Feller et al., 2015b, Zainal Ariffin et al., 2011).

Pro-inflammatory cytokines that induce tissue resorption are released in compression areas. For example, prostaglandins, IL-1, IL-6, TNF- α , and receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand (RANKL) are all increased in the PDL during tooth movement (Yamaguchi and Kasai, 2005). In addition, rises in lysosomal enzymes, acid phosphatase, tartrate-resistant acid phosphatase, and cathepsin B are also found at compression sites, implying that they may play essential roles in the process of hard and soft tissue degradation by increased numbers of macrophage and dendritic-like cells during OTM (Yamaguchi et al., 2004, Keeling et al., 1993, Vandevska-Radunovic et al., 1997).

1.1.1.2 Tension region

On the tension side, where tooth displacement stretches the PDL fibres that attach the tooth to bone in the direction opposite to tooth movement, blood vessels are distended, and blood flow is maintained or increased, causing increased oxygen levels. These chemical changes lead to the differentiation of osteoblasts from local precursor cells (mesenchymal stem cells). Mature osteoblasts deposit osteoid tissue that subsequently undergoes mineralization. Bone deposition continues until the width of the PDL space has been restored to its normal limits (Zainal Ariffin et al., 2011, Ingman et al., 2012, Feller et al., 2015b, Li et al., 2018).

Several biomarkers have been shown to mediate bone formation in the tension sites, such as endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and alkaline phosphatase; thereby, these biomarkers could help assess osteoblastic activity (Ariffin et al., 2010, Tan et al., 2009, Sprogar et al., 2008). Furthermore, tension forces considerably increase the expression of the osteogenic transcription factor Runx2 as well as the bone matrix proteins osteocalcin and osteopontin (Garlet et al., 2008, Garlet et al., 2007).

Tension sites have often been described as predominantly osteogenic, with no major inflammatory component. Nevertheless, there is evidence that inflammatory responses to tensile forces may depend on the stain magnitude. Low-magnitude tensile forces exhibit anti-inflammatory properties and induce magnitude-dependent anabolic signals in PDL cells (Long et al., 2001). On the other hand, high-magnitude tensile forces show pro-inflammatory properties, demonstrated by increasing the production of inflammatory cytokines (Long et al., 2002).



Figure 1.1 Biological response of the periodontium to orthodontic forces at compression region.

Periodontal ligament (PDL) cells produce interleukin-1 (IL-1) and IL-6 (1); IL-1 and IL-6 upregulate the production of receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand (RANKL) (2) and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (3) by PDL cells and osteoblasts. RANKL stimulates the formation and activation of osteoclasts which degrade the mineralized part of alveolar bone (4). Osteocytes in alveolar bone express MMPs as a response to alveolar bone deformation (5). Adapted from (Meikle, 2006).



Figure 1.2 Biological response of the periodontium to orthodontic forces at the tension region.

PDL fibroblasts produce interleukin-1 (IL-1) and IL-6 (1); IL-1 and IL-6 induce matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and inhibit tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) production PDL cells (2); PDL fibroblasts synthesize vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) that stimulates angiogenesis (3); PDL cells (4), osteoblasts, and bone-lining cells undergo a biosynthetic phase in which structural and other matrix molecules are synthesized. Adapted from (Meikle, 2006).

1.1.2 The periodontium and OTM

The periodontium is thought to be an organ system that comprises four tissues, including the gingiva, PDL, cementum, and alveolar bone. Each of these tissues has distinctive characteristics and biochemical composition. The tissues together support and protect the teeth and keep them functioning properly (Bartold and Narayanan, 2006).

1.1.2.1 The periodontal ligament

The periodontal ligament (PDL), a highly vascular connective tissue, is interposed between the wall of the alveolar socket and the tooth root and is composed of a diverse cell population and

a fibrous ECM. These cell populations are comprised of fibroblasts, endothelial cells, undifferentiated mesenchymal, epithelial cells, cementoblasts, osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and others. The ECM consists mainly of a network of collagen fibres of type I, III, and V (Beertsen et al., 1997, Nojima et al., 1990, Bartold and Narayanan, 2006). Periodontal fibroblasts are the most predominant cell type and have been demonstrated to have osteogenic potential and to differentiate into osteoblasts in response to several stimuli (Basdra and Komposch, 1997, Nojima et al., 1990).

The PDL's crucial role in OTM has been demonstrated in implant and ankylosed tooth studies (both lack PDL), which were unresponsive to orthodontic forces (Wise and King, 2008). The PDL is the first tissue to respond to mechanical stimuli (Nakamura et al., 1996) and can quickly adapt to mechanical forces during OTM (Lekic and McCulloch, 1996). Orthodontic force loading results in a slight change in PDL thickness after one hour, whereas more significant alterations have been observed after six hours (Nakamura et al., 2008). OTM requires extensive remodelling and reorganization of the ECM of the PDL besides alveolar bone remodelling (Kawarizadeh et al., 2005). The collagen fibers in the ECM of the PDL are constantly remodelled to adapt to the positional changes of teeth, with their highest turnover rate in the PDL than in any other tissue (Ten Cate et al., 1976). Periodontal fibroblasts have a crucial role in PDL haemostasis in response to mechanical stimulation by remodelling of ECM components, mainly by synthesizing and degrading collagen types I, III, V, VI, and XII components (Lekic and McCulloch, 1996, Bumann et al., 1997, Cantarella et al., 2006, He et al., 2004).

The PDL becomes oedematous, hyperaemic, and infiltrated with acute inflammatory cells during the initial phase of OTM when the tooth is displaced within the PDL space (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2009, Niklas et al., 2013). The viscoelastic characteristics of both the bone and the PDL are affected by the increase in inflammatory fluid and cellular infiltration

27

in the PDL and surrounding alveolar bone. The tensile strength of collagen bundles gradually decreases due to the release of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and other catabolic agents that disturb the cross-linkages and molecular integrity of the ECM (Henneman et al., 2008, Feller and Lemmer, 2004).

1.1.2.2 The gingival tissues

The gingiva is the soft tissue surrounding the tooth and comprises the oral epithelium, oral sulcular epithelium, junctional epithelium, and underlying connective tissue. Sixty percent of the connective tissue is composed of collagen fibres, with type I and III collagens accounting for 90 % of the collagen network (Schroeder and Listgarten, 1997, Bartold and Narayanan, 2006). Like the PDL, the predominant cell type in the gingiva is the fibroblasts, with their primary function to synthesize and remodel ECM components (Bartold and Narayanan, 2006).

Gingival changes in the overall response to orthodontic forces are crucial, and even so, they have been given little attention. Sustaining the integrity of the gingiva requires highly coordinated tissue remodelling and balanced collagen synthesis and degradation. Following the application of orthodontic forces, two distinct processes occur in the gingiva. Firstly, the gingival connective tissue is injured, as seen by ripped and torn collagen fibres; secondly, the genes for collagen and elastin are activated, while those for tissue collagenases are repressed (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Redlich et al., 1999, Redlich et al., 1998).

Gingival and periodontal fibroblasts have distinct functions in the remodelling of paradental tissues. Whilst PDL fibroblasts are primarily responsible for the synthesis and breakdown of their own ECM, gingival fibroblasts are involved in bone remodelling processes (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2009). Like PDL fibroblasts, gingival fibroblasts respond to inflammatory and mechanical stimulation; both cell types upregulate MMP-1, MMP-2, TIMP- 1, and TIMP-2 expression after being stretched (Bolcato-Bellemin et al., 2000, Williams et al., 2016).

1.1.2.3 The alveolar bone

The alveolar bone is an extension of the maxilla and mandible and is composed of mineralized tissue, organic matrix, and water. Whilst the bulk of alveolar bone is trabecular, the PDL space is surrounded by a plate of compact bone termed the lamina dura. PDL fibres attach to the alveolar bone by penetrating the lamina dura while connecting to the cementum on the other end. Numerous cell types, including osteoblasts, osteoclasts, and osteocytes, play key roles in alveolar bone function and homeostasis. Furthermore, macrophages, adipocytes, and endothelial cells can be present in the alveolar bone (Li et al., 2018).

The alveolar processes, comprising the tooth sockets, are composed of dense cortical bone surrounding cancellous bone. Type I and III collagens are the main organic components of bone, similar to the other tissues of the periodontium (Bartold and Narayanan, 2006). Monocytes in the PDL area are stimulated to form osteoclasts in response to prolonged forces, which first appear within the compressed PDL 30 to 40 hours after force application (Apajalahti et al., 2003). Osteoclasts utilize a distinct acidic cathepsin-dependent mechanism for the dissolution of mineralized matrices (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993).

The orthodontic force causes micro damage to the alveolar bone, which results in changes in fluid flow in the lacuna-canalicular network and triggers apoptosis in osteocytes (Verborgt et al., 2000, Henneman et al., 2008). Signals from apoptotic osteocytes can draw osteoclasts to the area of microdamage, where they, together with other bone cells, prompt bone remodelling. Following bone injury, the local release of inflammatory mediators, cytokines, and growth factors such as endothelin, prostaglandin E2, and vascular endothelial

growth factor (VEGF) induces bone remodelling, allowing for OTM (Miyagawa et al., 2009, Sprogar et al., 2008, Feller et al., 2015b, Andrade et al., 2012).

1.1.3 Role of inflammation in OTM

Following orthodontic force application, the early phase of OTM is characterised by instantaneous displacement of the tooth in its alveolar socket with the PDL fibres being stretched and compressed in the tension and compression sites of the PDL, respectively. This triggers an immediate response characterised by an aseptic acute inflammatory response devoid of bacteria (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Andrade et al., 2012, Rygh et al., 1986, Davidovitch et al., 1988).

This acute inflammation is characterized by blood vessel dilatations in the surrounding periodontal tissues. Leukocytes and plasma cells migrate out of the capillaries and produce cytokines that interact directly or indirectly with the resident paradental cells. These cytokines, along with other systemic and local signal molecules, evoke the production of growth factors, cytokines, and prostaglandins by their target cells. The acute inflammatory reaction lasts for one or two days, then it subsides and is replaced by a chronic aseptic inflammation that continues until the orthodontic appliance is re-activated at the next orthodontic treatment appointment and thus inducing another acute inflammatory reaction. During chronic inflammation, the leukocytes keep their migration into the surrounding periodontal tissues, and the resident cells, including fibroblasts, endothelial cells, osteoblasts, and alveolar bone marrow cells, continue proliferating (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006)

Neurovascular mechanisms have important roles in OTM as well. The nerve endings, which are closely associated with blood vessels, are distorted in both the tension and compression sites of the PDL, leading to the release of neurotransmitters such as CGRP and

substance P. These neurotransmitters interact with the capillary endothelial cells, with the later express receptors which bind to circulating leukocytes, inducing them to migrate out of the capillaries into the surrounding periodontal tissues. This, in turn, leads to the release of inflammatory mediators that promote tissue remodelling (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Wise and King, 2008). Although inflammation is essential for OTM, excessive or uncontrolled inflammation may lead to unwanted effects, mainly orthodontically induced inflammatory root resorption (Li et al., 2018).

Upregulation of IL-1 β , IL-1 α , TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-8 and other inflammatory mediators has been demonstrated in the gingival crevicular fluid (GCF) of orthodontic patients as early as 1 minute (Dudic et al., 2006), 1 hour (Tuncer et al., 2005, Karacay et al., 2007, Hamamcı et al., 2012), 4 hours (Grant et al., 2013), and 24 hours (Ren et al., 2002, Grieve et al., 1994, Lee et al., 2004, Uematsu et al., 1996, Alikhani et al., 2013) following force application, confirming the presence of the acute aseptic inflammation. However, these inflammatory cytokines have returned to baseline levels at 48 hours, 7 days, 14 days, and 21 days (Sarı and Uçar, 2007, Karacay et al., 2007, Grieve et al., 1994).

1.1.3.1 Cytokines

Cytokines, a broad family of secreted proteins essential for cell-to-cell communications, are low-molecular-weight proteins produced by specific cells. Cytokines are not constitutively released but are produced in response to local stimuli; they have a high affinity for adjacent receptors and an extremely short half-life. They modify and control the actions of their cell of origin (autocrine) and adjacent cells (paracrine). They include interleukins (ILs), tumour necrosis factors (TNFs), growth factors, interferons, and colony-stimulating factors (Meikle, 2006, Meager, 1999, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006) and are categorized as proinflammatory or anti-inflammatory. Pro-inflammatory cytokines include TNF- α , IL-1, IL-2,

IL-6, and IL-8, whereas anti-inflammatory cytokines include IL-4, IL-10, and IL-13 (Stoycheva and Murdjeva, 2005). Cytokines have two features that make their study exceedingly difficult, one is pleiotropy (the ability of a single cytokine to trigger a broad range of responses in a variety of cell types), and the other is redundancy (the overlapping actions by multiple cytokines) (McFarlane et al., 2022, Meikle, 2006).

Cytokines have a major role in starting, exacerbating, maintaining, and alleviating inflammatory reactions (Stoycheva and Murdjeva, 2005, Başaran et al., 2006a, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006). They have a significant role in osteoclast differentiation, survival and function (Henneman et al., 2008), and a previous study reported that cytokine activity inhibition by soluble receptors decreased the number of osteoclasts and the amount of tooth movement in rats confirming their primary role in OTM (Jäger et al., 2005). Cytokines play a dual function in remodelling mineralized and non-mineralized connective tissues. Specifically, pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1 and TNF- α , induce tissue resorption and inhibit apposition, whereas anti-inflammatory cytokines induce tissue apposition and inhibit resorption (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2009).

The early phase of OTM consists of an acute inflammatory reaction (Saito et al., 1991), manifested by capillary vasodilatation, followed by leukocyte migration and the production of cytokines. IL-1, the most potent among the cytokines, is one of the earliest cytokines to be released and an increase in its levels is evident at 1 minute (Dudic et al., 2006). IL-1 is released locally by stimulated cells in response to mechanical signals and is mainly produced by fibroblasts, macrophages, cementoblasts, osteoblasts, and osteoclasts. IL-1 has two isoforms: IL-1 α and IL-1 β , having similar biological functions and play a vital role in the inflammatory process and regulating connective tissue and bone remodelling during OTM (Davidovitch et al., 1988, Alhashimi et al., 2001, Ren and Vissink, 2008, Bletsa et al., 2006). IL-1 β intensifies the inflammatory response by inducing the release of various pro-inflammatory cytokines, such

as IL-6 and TNF- α in periodontal fibroblasts and osteoblasts (Grimm et al., 2020), and it overlaps with TNF- α and IL-6 in their biological functions (d'Apuzzo et al., 2013). In addition, IL-1 β blocking by soluble receptors reduces OTM (Jäger et al., 2005).

IL-6 is expressed by immune cells, periodontal fibroblasts, and osteoblasts. It regulates immune responses in inflammatory sites and is essential for bone and connective tissue remodelling (Rosselli-Murai et al., 2013, Tantilertanant et al., 2019, Garlet et al., 2007, Li et al., 2021b). IL-8 plays a crucial role in neutrophil recruitment and activation during inflammation and is primarily secreted by monocytes (Başaran et al., 2006a, Li et al., 2021b, Tuncer et al., 2005). Additionally, the release of IL-8 during OTM has been related to the recruitment and activation of osteoclasts (Asano et al., 2011). TNF-α is expressed by macrophages, monocytes, epithelial cells, and osteoblasts. It has a prevalent catabolic effect and plays a major role in inducing osteoclastogenesis and MMP production (Kobayashi et al., 2000, Li et al., 2021b, Andrade et al., 2012). Several clinical trials have shown raised levels of IL-1α, IL-1β, TNF-α, IL-6, and IL-8 in the GCF of orthodontic patients during the initial phase of OTM (Alikhani et al., 2013, Grieve et al., 1994, Uematsu et al., 1996, Tuncer et al., 2005, Başaran et al., 2006b, Başaran et al., 2006a).

Changes in the cytokine levels between compression and tension areas in the GCF of orthodontic patients have been studied in several studies. In one longitudinal study, GCF samples were collected from the tension and compression sites before tooth extraction and fixed appliance placement and then at 4 hours, 7 days, and 42 days after applying distalizing forces to the maxillary canine teeth. The results demonstrated that tension sites exhibited increases in IL-1 β , IL-8, and TNF- α levels across all time points, whilst compression sites showed increases in IL-1 β and IL-8 levels after 4 hours of force application (Grant et al., 2013). Another study demonstrated that compression areas showed increased levels of TNF- α , whereas tension areas exhibited higher levels of IL-10 (Garlet et al., 2007). Furthermore,

another study found that IL-8 production in the GCF of orthodontic patients was higher in tension areas than compression areas, with maximal levels in tension areas at day 6 and compression areas after 1 and 24 hours of force application (Tuncer et al., 2005).

1.1.4 Extracellular matrix remodelling of soft tissues

Under physiological circumstances, paradental tissue degradation and synthesis are kept to a minimum to preserve tissue homeostasis. When an external force is applied, this balance is disrupted, and greater remodelling of alveolar bone and PDL leads to tooth movement (Henneman et al., 2008). PDL respond to mechanical force stimulation during OTM and creates a milieu for cellular responses and tissue remodelling. Although the bone remodelling process during OTM has been widely studied, the remodelling of collagenous ECM in PDL in response to mechanical stimuli is largely unknown (Rangiani et al., 2016). Remodelling of gingival and PDL fibres is considered as a wound-healing phenomenon, and the biological cell activity underpinning OTM is characterised by substantial collagen turnover (Ten Cate et al., 1976, Bumann et al., 1997).

The ECM, which is mainly composed of fibrous proteins embedded in a hydrated polysaccharide gel, is mainly composed of macromolecules, with collagen being the main component. These macromolecules are released locally by cells such as fibroblasts, osteoblasts, and chondroblasts. The PDL is one of the most metabolically active tissues within the body, with the half-life of mature collagen turnover is two days, compared to five days for gingiva and six days for the alveolar bone (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Feng et al., 2016).

Orthodontic forces compress, stretch, or twist collagen fibres and change fluid flow in the PDL space, altering the structure of ECM proteins and exposing molecules that can stimulate fibroblasts through integrins and focal adhesion domains. This leads to the expression of genes which encodes numerous proteins (collagen and fibronectin) and enzymes (proteases) required for the PDL ECM remodelling (Feller et al., 2015b, Masella and Meister, 2006, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006). ECM remodelling of the periodontal tissues involves both degradation of the ECM molecules and formation of new ECM molecules. Extensive collagen fibres formation and degradation were observed in both compression and tension areas of the PDL (Rygh et al., 1986).

On the compression region, orthodontic forces cause bioelastic and bioplastic deformations of the alveolar process, leading to circulation disruptions, ischaemia, disruption of collagen fibers, cell death and hyalinized areas of PDL. Collagen demonstrates degradation accompanied by altered expression of type I collagen, and macrophages remove the altered tissue and collagen in the hyalinized areas. Cellular activity increases, and PDL fibroblasts secrete and form new functionally oriented collagen fibres. Furthermore, osteoclasts and PDL fibroblasts produce a glycosaminoglycan layer on the new resorbed bone surface (Storey, 1973, Bumann et al., 1997, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Feng et al., 2016).

In the tension region, the PDL fibres are stretched, and an increase in local vascular activity and vasodilation occurs (Rygh et al., 1986). Collagen fibres exist in coiled forms, and when tooth movement exceeds the intrinsic fibres length, new fibres are formed and integrated into the ligament proper (Roberts and Chase, 1981). Electron microscopy revealed a considerable decrease in collagen fibre diameter in the tension areas (Martinez and Johnson, 1987). It has been assumed that the extension of fibres during the remodelling process leads to the elongation of these fibers, allowing for OTM (Bumann et al., 1997).

Collagen synthesis occurs at both the compression and tension sides following orthodontic force application (Bumann et al., 1997). Activated PDL cells express several mediators, such as members of the transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) superfamily, which
enhance the synthesis of collagen and non-collagenous ECM proteins and inhibit its degradation (Henneman et al., 2008, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006). It has been demonstrated that cells can perceive two different mechanical stimulus forms and respond differently relative to ECM synthesis and degradation. One study reported that the application of compressive forces decreased type I collagen and fibronectin while increasing MMP-2, whereas tensional forces enhanced type I collagen and MMP-2 (He et al., 2004). Another study found substantially higher expression of collagen type I on the tension side than on the compression side in rats after orthodontic force application (Nakagawa et al., 1994).

Collagen degradation also occurs at both the compression and tension areas. Several proteases have been implicated in the degradation of collagen and other macromolecules in the ECM. This is confirmed by their elevated levels in compression and tension areas during OTM, emphasising their crucial role in ECM remodelling (Apajalahti et al., 2003, Ingman et al., 2005, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2009). Several studies have reported the crucial role of MMPs in ECM degradation during OTM (Apajalahti et al., 2003, Holliday et al., 2003a, Domon et al., 1999, Bolcato-Bellemin et al., 2000, Li et al., 2018).

1.1.4.1 Matrix metalloproteinases

Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are a group of zinc-dependent endopeptidases, comprising at least 23 different secreted or membrane-bound types in human tissues and belong to the metzincins superfamily of proteases. MMPs share similar core structure and are divided into six main groups based on their substrate specificity and the organization of their structural domains, including collagenases, gelatinases, stromelysins, membrane-type MMPs, matrilysins, and others (Cui et al., 2017, Nagase et al., 2006, Chung et al., 2004, Klein and Bischoff, 2011, Liu and Khalil, 2017). MMPs have an auto-inhibitory prodomain which has to be removed for activation, a C-terminal hemopexin-like domain which is frequently involved

in MMP substrate recognition and positioning, a catalytic domain with catalytic zinc, and a linker peptide (Franco et al., 2017, Mysliwy et al., 2006, Cui et al., 2017) (Figure 1.3). They have a pivotal role in several processes, such as ECM remodelling, angiogenesis, wound healing, embryogenesis, and regulation of inflammation at both physiological and pathological levels (Chung et al., 2004, Laronha and Caldeira, 2020, Nagase et al., 2006, Cui et al., 2017).

Collagen has a triple helical form making it highly resistant to degradation, with MMPs being the only enzymes able to degrade them. The collagenases (MMP-1, MMP-8, MMP-13) initiate tissue remodelling by degrading interstitial collagen I, II, and III and other ECM and non-ECM molecules (Laronha and Caldeira, 2020, Zhu et al., 2018, Visse and Nagase, 2003). Collagenase-1 (MMP-1) is produced by a wide variety of cells, such as fibroblasts, keratinocytes, macrophages, osteoblasts, endothelial cells, and others (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993, Romanelli et al., 1999). Although collagenase-2 (MMP-8) is produced mainly by polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) (stored in specific granules and released upon stimulation), MMP-8 can be produced by periodontal and gingival fibroblasts and by sulcular epithelial cells and endothelial cells (Ingman et al., 1993, Apajalahti et al., 2003, Ingman et al., 1996, Tervahartiala et al., 2000, Romanelli et al., 1999, Ye, 2015). Collagenase-3 (MMP-13) is produced by gingival sulcular epithelial cells, gingival fibroblasts, and macrophage-like cells (Tervahartiala et al., 2000).

Gelatinases A (MMP-2) and B (MMP-9) have a broad range of substrate specificities and are best known for degrading gelatin which is the denatured form of collagen and type IV collagen (Chung et al., 2004, Fischer et al., 2019, Nagase et al., 2006). MMP-9 is produced by PMNs, epithelial cells, and oral keratinocytes (Ingman et al., 1993). However, MMP-2 is fibroblasts, osteoblasts, keratinocytes, macrophages, chondrocytes, and endothelial cells (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993).

Stromelysins (MMP-3, MMP-10, MMP-11) have a domain structure similar to collagenases; however, they do not degrade interstitial collagens; instead, they degrade other ECM molecules and play a role in activating pro-MMPs (Nagase et al., 2006, Laronha and Caldeira, 2020). Matrilysins (MMP-7, MMP-26) have a wide range of substrate specificity. MMP-7, which is produced mainly by epithelial cells, can digest a wide range of ECM molecules such as gelatin, laminin, fibronectin, and elastin (Nagase et al., 2006, Klein and Bischoff, 2011) and can activate other pro-MMPs including MMP-8 (Tervahartiala et al., 2000). Four of the Membrane-type MMPs (MMP-14, MMP-15, MMP-16, MMP-24) are transmembrane proteins, while two (MMP-17, MMP-25) are glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored. These MMPs are expressed on the cell surface after being activated intracellularly (Nagase et al., 2006, Laronha and Caldeira, 2020).

MMPs are tightly controlled under physiological conditions at various levels, including mRNA expression, pro-MMPs activation to the active form, and endogenous tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) counteraction. Hence, uncontrolled MMP activity can cause pathological conditions like inflammation, arthritis, fibrosis, and cancer (Löffek et al., 2011, Visse and Nagase, 2003, Birkedal-Hansen, 1993). MMPs are commonly secreted as inactive pro-MMPs, and to become active, the prodomain must be cleaved by several different proteases, including other MMPs, trypsin, kallikrein, neutrophil elastase, cathepsin B, and others (Cui et al., 2017, Ingman et al., 1993, Chung et al., 2004, Birkedal-Hansen, 1993).

TIMPs are made up of 184-194 amino acids and have been shown to inhibit all MMPs studied. Four TIMPs (TIMP-1, TIMP-2, TIMP-3, TIMP-4) have been identified in humans; these TIMPs bind in a 1:1 ratio to both MMPs and Pro-MMPs (Nagase et al., 2006, Cui et al., 2017). TIMPs preserve the balance between ECM degradation and regeneration by inhibiting MMP activity (Nakasone et al., 2009, Lisboa et al., 2013). All TIMPs are broad-spectrum MMP inhibitors, yet their specificity for MMPs varies (Löffek et al., 2011). They are produced by a

variety of cell types, including fibroblasts, keratinocytes, endothelial cells, and macrophages (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993) and have been detected in the periodontal tissues (Andrian et al., 2007, Nakasone et al., 2009). Changes in MMPs or TIMPs levels alter the ratio of MMP to TIMP; this ratio determines the net activity of MMPs (Cui et al., 2017).

1.1.4.1.1 MMPs and periodontitis

ECM is a network of macromolecules consisting of fibers, proteoglycans, and polysaccharides, with collagen fibers being the most abundant molecule. MMPs play a pivotal role in ECM turnover and remodelling by promoting the degradation of most ECM macromolecules (Ingman et al., 1993, Sorsa et al., 1994, Cui et al., 2017, Laronha and Caldeira, 2020, Restaíno et al., 2007). Periodontitis, a chronic inflammatory disease, is characterized by periodontal supporting tissue destruction that ultimately leads to the loss of teeth. It is well-established that MMPs play a key role in periodontal diseases (Franco et al., 2017, Sorsa et al., 1994, Ingman et al., 1996).

PMNs and other inflammatory cells are activated by cytokines, prostaglandins, and bacterial products, which in turn lead to the release of MMPs and serine proteinases (cathepsin G, elastase, and proteinase 3) which degrade the different ECM components and have a crucial role in the progression of periodontal tissue destruction. Higher levels of these proteases have been detected in saliva, GCF, and inflamed gingival tissues of subjects with periodontal diseases. Additionally, the activity and levels of these proteases have decreased after successful periodontal treatment (Sorsa et al., 1994, Golub et al., 1995, Westerlund et al., 1996).

MMP-8 and MMP-9 have been found to predominate in periodontitis (Ingman et al., 1993, Westerlund et al., 1996), suggesting their crucial role in periodontal tissue destruction. Moreover, MMP-8- and MMP-13 levels have been demonstrated to be greater in the gingiva of individuals with periodontitis compared to healthy tissues (Tervahartiala et al., 2000). When assessed in a longitudinal study, salivary levels of MMP-8 were reduced after periodontal therapy, implying their potential use in monitoring the status of periodontal diseases (Sexton et al., 2011).



Figure 1.1.3 Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) structure.

MMPs have an auto-inhibitory pro-peptide, catalytic domain with catalytic zinc, hinge region (linker peptide), and a C-terminal hemopexin-like domain. Adapted from (Khuda et al., 2021).

1.1.4.1.2 MMPs and orthodontics

MMP levels are very low in normal conditions; however, their expression is elevated in inflamed tissues or those undergoing remodelling in both physiological and pathological conditions (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993, Ye, 2015). Orthodontic forces result in an aseptic inflammatory response characterised by vascular changes and inflammatory cell infiltration (Garlet et al., 2007, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006). Hence, several studies have investigated the effect of orthodontic forces on the production of MMPs.

Changes in MMPs and TIMPs levels during OTM have been confirmed by several in vivo studies in humans (Zhang et al., 2020, Apajalahti et al., 2003, Grant et al., 2013). Additionally, several animal studies demonstrated reduced rates of OTM with the use of synthetic inhibitors of MMPs, indicating their significant role in OTM (Holliday et al., 2003a, Bildt et al., 2007). Differential expression of MMPs in the tension and compression sides has

been observed during OTM (Takahashi et al., 2006). Indeed, a particular study showed increased MMP-1 expression levels in the compression and tension sides of the PDL, with the compression side exhibiting higher expression levels, suggesting that MMP-mediated ECM protein degradation may be more crucial at the compression site (Garlet et al., 2007).

Despite the large number of in vivo and in vitro studies that have been performed to investigate the effects of orthodontic forces on the expression of various MMPs, substantial variabilities have been observed in the literature between those studies.

1.1.4.1.2.1 In vivo studies

Levels of MMPs have been thoroughly investigated in the GCF of orthodontic patients (Cantarella et al., 2006, Alikhani et al., 2018, Bildt et al., 2009, Apajalahti et al., 2003, Saloom et al., 2017, Capelli Junior et al., 2011, Ingman et al., 2005, Grant et al., 2013, Zhang et al., 2020). In contrast, few studies have investigated their levels in saliva (Sioustis et al., 2021, Xu et al., 2020), bone tissues (Chang et al., 2008), and PDL tissues (Garlet et al., 2007) in relation to orthodontic forces. Differences in force application methods, force magnitudes, observation times, appointment intervals, appliance types and other factors were observed between the studies mentioned above, which might have impacted the findings.

Elevated MMP-8 levels were observed in the GCF of orthodontic patients within eight hours of orthodontic force application; however, no changes in MMP-1 levels were detected (Apajalahti et al., 2003). Similarly, two other studies found higher levels of MMP-8 in the GCF of orthodontic patients over one month period (Ingman et al., 2005) and after three months of orthodontic force application (Ribagin and Rashkova, 2012). In contrast, no changes in MMP-8 levels were detected in the GCF of orthodontic patients after 6 and 12 months of orthodontic appliance placement (Shirozaki et al., 2020).

In a non-randomized clinical study, MMP-9 levels were measured in the GCF of adolescents and adults undergoing orthodontic treatment. GCF samples were collected prior to orthodontic treatment and at 1, 7, 14, and 28 days after canine retraction. The results showed increases in MMP-9 levels in both adolescents and adults 1, 7, and 14 days following canine retraction and these increases were greater in adults than in adolescents (Alikhani et al., 2018). Several other studies have confirmed increased MMP-9 levels in the GCF during orthodontic treatment (Surlin et al., 2014, Zhang et al., 2020, Bildt et al., 2009). On the other hand, one study reported no changes in MMP-9 levels in the GCF of orthodontic patients over time (Rody et al., 2014).

Numerous studies have investigated changes in MMPs and TIMPs levels in the compression and tension sides during orthodontic treatment. One particular study assessed MMP-3, MMP-9, and MMP-13 levels longitudinally in the GCF collected from the compression and tension sides of orthodontic patients. Their levels were assessed at the following time points: 7 days before force application, baseline, and then after 1 hour, 24 hours, 14 days, 21 days, and 80 days of beginning of OTM. MMPs levels oscillated during the observation period, increasing within 1 hour of force application and then decreasing after 24 hours; thereafter, MMPs levels increased steadily (Capelli Junior et al., 2011). A further controlled longitudinal study investigated changes in MMP-9, TIMP-1, and TIMP-2 GCF levels in patients undergoing orthodontic treatment. Here, GCF samples were collected at baseline (prior to appliance and teeth extractions) and then at 4 hours, 7 days, and 42 days after applying the distalization forces from both the compression and tension sides. MMP-9, TIMP-1, and TIMP-2 levels were elevated in tension areas at all time points following distalization, whereas MMP-9 levels were elevated in compression areas after 7 and 42 days of distalizing force application (Grant et al., 2013).

MMP levels in saliva, in relation to orthodontic treatment, have been reported sparsely. In two previous studies, salivary MMP-8, MMP-9, and MMP-12 levels were increased at 1 hour (Xu et al., 2020) and one week (Sioustis et al., 2021) following orthodontic force application and positively correlated with OTM. However, MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-13 levels did not change over time, and MMP-7 levels were decreased in the saliva after eight weeks of force application (Xu et al., 2020).

Overall, MMP-9 and MMP-8 are key mediators of the initial tissue response and remodelling during OTM and can act as biomarkers for monitoring the ECM remodelling of the periodontal tissues during OTM.

1.1.4.1.2.2 In vitro studies

In vitro, MMPs levels have been studied extensively in periodontal fibroblast (Schröder et al., 2021, Chen et al., 2013, Grimm et al., 2020, Jacobs et al., 2014, Lisboa et al., 2009, Long et al., 2002, Redlich et al., 2004, Proff et al., 2014, Wescott et al., 2007), and to a lesser extent in gingival fibroblast (Bolcato-Bellemin et al., 2000, Nan et al., 2019), periodontal mesenchymal stromal cells (Behm et al., 2021a), bone-derived cells (Chang et al., 2008, Tasevski et al., 2005), and macrophages (Schröder et al., 2020b) in relation to simulated orthodontic forces.

Several approaches have been used in vitro to simulate orthodontic forces (Figure 1.4). The substrate deformation-based model involves using a substrate that is mainly an elastic membrane. The cells are cultured on the membrane that is deformed by force, and the cells are stretched at the same time. An example of this approach is the Flexercell tension system used by several studies to simulate tensile orthodontic forces generated on the tension side of the PDL (Long et al., 2002, Wescott et al., 2007, Zhong et al., 2008, Bolcato-Bellemin et al., 2000, Saminathan et al., 2012). Alternatively, the weight approach has been increasingly used to

generate static compressive forces to simulate forces generated on the compression side of the PDL. In general, a weight is placed on the cultured confluent cells, causing gravity to be imposed and producing unidirectional static compressive forces. Different force magnitudes have been used with a range of 0.5-5 gm/cm², with 2 gm/cm² being the most used magnitude (Kang et al., 2010, Yamaguchi et al., 2006, Schröder et al., 2021, Kanzaki et al., 2002, Liu et al., 2006). Other less common in vitro approaches used include the centrifugation approach, which involves centrifuging the cells in a horizontal microplate rotor to generate compressive forces (Redlich et al., 2004, Zhao et al., 2008, Grimm et al., 2020), and the hydrostatic pressure approach, which involves generating multidirectional centripetal compressive force that can be static or gradually oscillating by increasing the air pressure within an incubator to simulate forces generated according to the hydrostatic pressure hypothesis (Yousefian et al., 1995).

Previous studies demonstrated changes in the expression of various MMPs in human PDL cells between and among the different types of mechanical forces applied. Specifically, these studies demonstrated that compressive forces increased MMP-1 (Huang et al., 2008, El-Awady et al., 2013, Hacopian et al., 2011, Redlich et al., 2004), MMP-3 (Lisboa et al., 2013), MMP-8 (Grimm et al., 2020, Nettelhoff et al., 2016), and MMP-13 (Proff et al., 2014) levels in human periodontal cells. However, other studies showed that compressive forces decreased MMP-2 (Lisboa et al., 2009) and MMP-9 (El-Awady et al., 2013) levels in human PDL cells.

Multiple studies reported that tensile forces increased MMP-1 (Tantilertanant et al., 2019, Kook et al., 2011, Bolcato-Bellemin et al., 2000, Nemoto et al., 2010), MMP-2 (Tantilertanant et al., 2019, Chen et al., 2013, Bolcato-Bellemin et al., 2000), MMP-3 (Tantilertanant et al., 2019), MMP-8 (Jacobs et al., 2014, Jacobs et al., 2018), and MMP-13 (Ziegler et al., 2010) levels in human periodontal cells. Other studies reported no changes in MMP-1 (Behm et al., 2021a, Tsuji et al., 2004), MMP-2 (Behm et al., 2021a, Tsuji et al., 2004, Wescott et al., 2007), MMP-3 (Long et al., 2002), MMP-8 (Tantilertanant et al., 2019, Schröder

et al., 2020a, Wescott et al., 2007), and MMP-9 (Wescott et al., 2007) levels in human periodontal cells. In contrast, MMP-3 (Nemoto et al., 2010) and MMP-8 levels (Ma et al., 2015, Saminathan et al., 2012) were found to be decreased in human periodontal cells subjected to tensile forces.

Most in vitro studies have been conducted on human periodontal cells; however, other cell types have been used to a lesser extent. In one study, compressive forces decreased MMP-1 levels in human gingival fibroblasts subjected to compression using the weight approach (Nan et al., 2019). In contrast, in another study, compressive forces increased MMP-3 but had no effect on MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-9, or MMP-13 levels in MG-63 osteoblast-like cells (Chang et al., 2008).



Figure 1.4 Schematic representation of in vitro mechanical loading approaches.

Several mechanical loading models have been used in vitro to simulate orthodontic forces, including substrate deformation-based approach (a), weight approach (b), centrifugation approach (the centrifugal force is divided into a perpendicular compressive force and a horizontal frictional force, the magnitude of which is controlled by the rotation speed) (c), and the hydrostatic pressure approach (d). Adapted from (Yang et al., 2015a).

1.1.5 Alveolar bone remodelling

Bone remodelling is a physiological process that involves both osteoclast-mediated bone resorption and osteoblast-mediated bone formation. The monocyte/macrophage lineage of bone marrow haematopoietic stem cells gives rise to bone-resorbing osteoclasts. Various cytokines, hormones, and growth factors drive osteoclast differentiation, with RANKL-RANK-osteoprotegerin (OPG) signalling pathway being a crucial regulator (Feller et al., 2015b, Yamaguchi, 2009).

RANKL is produced by osteoblasts, stromal and activated T-cells as a membranebound and soluble ligand. These cells express OPG as well, which is a soluble decoy receptor for RANKL that prevents RANKL from binding to RANK and hence from differentiating further. RANKL exerts its effects by binding to its receptor (RANK) on osteoclast precursors, prompting their differentiation, maturation, and activation, whilst OPG suppresses RANK-RANKL-mediated osteoclastogenesis indirectly. Therefore, the balance of RANKL and OPG activities will influence the amount and pace of bone resorption (Garlet et al., 2007, Yamamoto et al., 2011, Yamaguchi, 2009). Several inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6, IL-8, IL-11, IL-17, and TNF- α stimulate osteoclastogenic in the early phase of OTM by upregulating the expression of RANK on osteoclasts or promoting the expression of RANKL by osteoblast, PDL fibroblasts, and osteocytes; whereas other cytokines such as IL-10, IL-4, and IL-18 inhibit osteoclastogenesis and bone resorption (Jiang et al., 2015, Andrade et al., 2012, Yamamoto et al., 2011, Yamaguchi, 2009).

Osteoblasts are produced from a multipotent mesenchymal progenitor cell that can differentiate into bone marrow stromal cells and adipocytes (Jiang et al., 2015). Osteoblasts control both bone resorption and formation processes of alveolar bone remodelling by controlling osteoclasts' recruitment and function. Furthermore, osteoblasts produce collagenolytic proteases that allow osteoclasts to reach the mineralized tissue by degrading the

non-mineralized osteoid that covers the surface of the resting bone (Ingman et al., 2012). Osteoclasts, which play a role in bone resorption, are multinucleated giant cells that arise from haematopoietic stem cells (Alhashimi et al., 2001). Osteoclast recruitment and differentiation in the compression areas of PDL are crucial for bone resorption and OTM. It has been demonstrated that pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as IL-1, IL-6 and IL-8, play an essential role in OTM through the regulation of osteoclast differentiation (Jäger et al., 2005).

Alveolar bone resorption, which occurs at the compression region, involves the solubilization of mineralized tissue and the degradation of the organic collagenous matrix (Domon et al., 1999). Before actual bone resorption commences, the non-mineralized osteoid layer is removed by the lining osteoblasts, which produce various proteolytic enzymes, particularly MMPs (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993, Hill, 1998). This facilitates the attachment of mature osteoclasts to the underlying mineralized bone surface by means of specific integrins (Gay and Weber, 2000). These attached osteoclasts change their morphology and develop distinct functional properties: a clear zone that isolates the bone surface from its surroundings and the ruffled border under which resorption occurs. The activated osteoclast resorbs the bone by producing hydrogen ions, which in conjunction with proton pumping, promotes the dissolution of inorganic crystalline apatite. This is followed by the degradation of organic collagenous matrix by proteolytic enzymes, mainly MMPs and cathepsins (Henneman et al., 2008, Sprogar et al., 2008, Hill, 1998).

In the tension region, osteoblasts are responsible for forming the new bone. Stretched PDL and alveolar bone can increase osteogenic gene expression and induce bone formation. Bone formation is the consequence of a complex series of events that includes the proliferation of primitive mesenchymal cells, differentiation into osteoblast precursor cells, maturation of osteoblasts, ECM synthesis, and mineralization. When the new layer of bone thickens, some osteoblasts become entrapped in the bone and transform into osteocytes, and Sharpey's fibres

47

(principal fibres of PDL) will likewise be entrapped in the newly formed bone (Hill, 1998, Masella and Meister, 2006, Henneman et al., 2008, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2009).

Nitric oxide (NO) is a key regulator of bone responses to mechanical stress that is generated by eNOS or inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS). NO is a significant bone remodelling regulator during OTM; it is involved in adaptive bone formation, osteocyte protection against apoptosis, and osteoclastic activity. Endothelial NOS is involved in bone formation in the tension region, whereas iNOS is involved in bone resorption in the compression region (Tan et al., 2009).





Pre-osteoclasts are differentiated from hematopoietic stem cells. Osteoblasts derived from mesenchymal stem cells produce receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa B ligand (RANKL). RANKL binds to RANK receptor on pre-osteoclast producing mature osteoclasts which resorb bone. Osteoprotegerin (OPG) produced by osteoblasts inhibits this process by binding to RANKL. Adapted from (Patil and Desai, 2014).

1.1.5.1 Role of MMPs in alveolar bone resorption

Bone resorption by osteoclasts necessitates removal of both the mineral and organic matrix components, and it entails two processes: inorganic bone matrix demineralization by acidification and organic matrix (mainly collagen type I) dissolution by proteases (Domon et al., 1999, Delaissé et al., 1993, Rice et al., 1997). Collagenases, produced by osteoblasts, degrade the organic unmineralized osteoid covering the resting bone surface, allowing osteoclasts access to the m mineralized tissue (Everts et al., 1992). Additionally, it has been shown that interstitial collagenases stimulate bone resorption by activating osteoclasts to resorb bone; inhibition of these collagenases with a particular anti-collagenase inhibitor decreased bone resorption (Holliday et al., 2003b).

Cathepsins and MMPs are both involved in collagenous bone matrix degradation (Domon et al., 1999, Sires et al., 1995). MMP-1 (Domon et al., 1999, Delaissé et al., 1993) and cathepsin K (Bossard et al., 1996, Drake et al., 1996, Domon et al., 1999, Littlewood-Evans et al., 1997) cleave native collagen type I and thus are considered to be crucial in bone resorption. MMP-1, produced by osteoblasts, degrade the unmineralized organic osteoid from bone surfaces exposing the mineralized bone matrix to osteoclasts (Domon et al., 1999).

MMP-9 is abundantly expressed by osteoclast in human and mice developing bone tissues (Rice et al., 1997, Okada et al., 1995) and degrades collagenous bone matrix in concert with MMP-1 and Cathepsin K (Okada et al., 1995). MMPs, in addition to direct bone collagen matrix degradation, can regulate bone resorption via osteoclast activation and differentiation (Franco et al., 2017). MMP-9 has a pivotal role in the recruitment of osteoclasts, as it has been shown that MMP-9 knockout mice demonstrated a delay in osteoclast recruitment (Engsig et al., 2000).

1.2 Duration and rate of OTM

Duration of orthodontic treatment is one of the first things new orthodontic patients ask about. The success of orthodontic treatment is greatly dependent on the accurate estimation of the proposed treatment duration (Shia, 1986). Patients who are provided with accurate information about proposed treatment duration seem to be better consumers of dental services, having more realistic expectations of treatment outcomes and higher levels of satisfaction with their overall care (Klein, 1988, Mavreas and Athanasiou, 2008, Cunningham et al., 1996, Popowich et al., 2006, O'Connor, 2000).

Orthodontic treatment is lengthy and can last from one to three years, with nonextraction cases taking 21-27 months and extraction cases taking 25-35 months (Buschang et al., 2012). Prolonged treatment times are associated with iatrogenic consequences of treatment, including increased risk of root resorption (Kurol et al., 1996, Segal et al., 2004), decalcification (Årtun and Brobakken, 1986), and periodontal problems (Ristic et al., 2007). Furthermore, prolonged treatment times may result in poor profitability in practices (Turbill et al., 2001) and adversely influence patient compliance (Fleming et al., 2015) and satisfaction with the treatment outcomes (Pachêco-Pereira et al., 2015).

Comprehensive orthodontic treatment consists of alignment and levelling, correction of molar relationship and space closure, and finishing phases (Proffit et al., 2019). Alignment of teeth is one of the main objectives of orthodontic treatment. Correct orthodontic diagnosis and treatment planning needs an accurate assessment of dental crowding and the space needed to alleviate it. Multiple methods have been reported in the literature to assess crowding, including the visual approach (Beazley, 1971), the brass wire technique and its modifications (Carey, 1958), the use of a catenometer, a mathematical model to compute arch length (Musich and Ackerman, 1973), and the addition of straight segments of the arch techniques (Lundstrom,

1955). However, these methods often rely on an estimate of the arch perimeter, which might introduce inconsistency (Johal and Battagel, 1997).

In 1975, Little's irregularity index (LII) was proposed as a valid and reliable quantitative method to assess lower anterior alignment. The proposed method entails measuring the linear displacement between the anatomical contact points of the lower anterior teeth, with the total of these five displacements representing the relative degree of anterior irregularity (Little, 1975). This was originally developed to evaluate the irregularity of the lower incisor segment, which is a limiting factor in treatment and stability. The application of this index is simple and quick, and considerable interest has been in its usage in a community setting to estimate arch length discrepancy (Bernabé and Flores-Mir, 2006). It is a reliable measure for the rate of alignment used by numerous studies to assess the efficiency of different treatment approaches in alleviating the irregularity of anterior teeth, which is measured as the difference in irregularity index before and after alignment divided by the duration of alignment (Woodhouse et al., 2015, Scott et al., 2008, Uribe et al., 2017, Songra et al., 2014, Ulhaq et al., 2017, Pandis et al., 2007, Ong et al., 2011, Little and Spary, 2017, Charavet et al., 2019, Gibreal et al., 2019).

Extraction space closure is the most time-consuming phase of orthodontic treatment, accounting for 1/3 to 1/2 of the total treatment duration. Canine retraction rates with traditional treatments range from 0.5 to 1 mm per month, depending on the patient's age and gender, with 5 to 9 months required to complete canine retraction (Abbas et al., 2016). Canine retraction is a widely held experimental model during investigations of the effectiveness of different treatment modalities during orthodontic treatment. Quantification of the distance the canine moves relative to reference points have been conducted by several studies to measure the rate of canine retraction (Aboul-Ela et al., 2011, Al-Shafi et al., 2021, Doshi-Mehta and Bhad-Patil,

2012, Karci and Baka, 2021, Varella et al., 2018, Mistry et al., 2020, Alkebsi et al., 2018, Abbas et al., 2016).

1.2.1 Factors affecting duration of orthodontic treatment

Knowledge of the factors affecting the duration of orthodontic treatment might be beneficial for several reasons, leading to more effective patient counselling, more accurate treatment cost estimation, enhanced cost efficiency, and therefore improved clinical practice (Beckwith et al., 1999, Popowich et al., 2006, Skidmore et al., 2006, Fink and Smith, 1992). There are four major categories of possible determinants of orthodontic treatment time: sociodemographic parameters, patient cooperation, malocclusion features, and treatment method (Skidmore et al., 2006).

The impact of sociodemographic variables such as age, gender, and socioeconomic status on treatment duration is not yet fully acknowledged. Some studies found that age was not associated with treatment duration (Beckwith et al., 1999, Fink and Smith, 1992, Robb et al., 1998), while others demonstrated that the older the patient, the shorter the treatment duration, attributed to older patients' greater compliance (Vig et al., 1990, Popowich et al., 2005). The literature contains controversial information regarding the effect of gender on treatment duration (Skidmore et al., 2006, Aljehani and Baeshen, 2018, Clemmer and Hayes, 1979). In addition, there is disagreement over the impact of socioeconomic status on cooperation and treatment time, with no clear consensus on whether a lower socioeconomic status is related to a shorter or longer treatment time (Egolf et al., 1990, Turbill et al., 2001, Starnbach and Kaplan, 1975).

Patient cooperation and compliance factors have a significant effect on treatment duration. Non-compliance problems, such as missed appointments, failure to use accessory

devices, poor oral hygiene, band or bracket replacement, poor elastic wear, and appliance breakage, all contribute to prolonged treatment duration (Beckwith et al., 1999, Skidmore et al., 2006, Fink and Smith, 1992, Vu et al., 2008, Robb et al., 1998). Patients who maintain good oral hygiene are also more likely to cooperate with other aspects of treatment (Egolf et al., 1990). Because compliance is crucial, it is suggested that patients' motivation be maintained during orthodontic treatment. Texting patients using mobile applications helped to promote patient compliance, resulting in 7.3 weeks less treatment duration, 7% fewer missed appointments, 10% fewer late patients, and 4% less appliance breakage (Li et al., 2016).

Treatment method chosen has been found to affect treatment duration, with premolar extractions tending to prolong treatment duration (Fink and Smith, 1992, Fisher et al., 2010, Skidmore et al., 2006, Leon-Salazar et al., 2014, Janson et al., 2006, Papageorgiou et al., 2017, Germeç and Taner, 2008, O'Brien et al., 1995). This can be attributed to an association between extractions and complex cases, as well as the requirement for an additional space closure step (Papageorgiou et al., 2017). It has been reported that interproximal stripping to avoid extractions in borderline cases may reduce treatment duration by eight months (Germeç and Taner, 2008). Moreover, the treatment duration of patients treated in two or more phases was nearly eight months longer than those treated in one phase (Beckwith et al., 1999), consistent with other studies (Vig et al., 1990, O'Brien et al., 1995). Prescribing headgear wear during orthodontic treatment prolonged treatment duration on average from 3.7 to 6.1 months (Beckwith et al., 1999, Vu et al., 2008). Additionally, patients who had rapid palatal expansion or orthognathic surgery had considerably longer treatment times (7.4 and 3.4 months, respectively) (Vu et al., 2008).

Some studies have focused on treatment duration associated with specific malocclusions. One study found that the duration of treatment was five months longer in Class II division 1 than in Class I malocclusion (Vig et al., 1998). This agrees with other studies

53

reporting that Class II treatment lasted longer than Class I treatment (Aljehani and Baeshen, 2018, Vu et al., 2008, Skidmore et al., 2006, Popowich et al., 2005). In addition, ANB angle (Popowich et al., 2005, Fink and Smith, 1992), large overjet (Robb et al., 1998, Popowich et al., 2005, Fisher et al., 2010), buccal occlusion (Robb et al., 1998, Turbill et al., 2001), and vertical pattern (Fink and Smith, 1992) can contribute to prolonged Class II treatment. One study reported that Class III malocclusion treatment was significantly associated with an increase in treatment time by 4.1 months compared to class I (Vu et al., 2008).

The duration of treatment is dictated by the rate of OTM, which is controlled by the rate of bone remodelling and osteoclast activity. Numerous variables may affect remodelling activity and, eventually, tooth movement, either alone or in combination, including occlusion forces (Lee, 1995), type of movement (tipping or bodily movement) (Shpack et al., 2008, Lee, 1995), drug consumption (Knop et al., 2011, Bartzela et al., 2009), systemic conditions (Saloom et al., 2017), periodontal disease (Okamoto et al., 2009), age and intrinsic genetic variables (Dudic et al., 2013), and individual differences in PDL remodelling, bone density, and bone metabolism (Pilon et al., 1996).

1.2.2 Acceleration of OTM

Duration of treatment is influenced by a variety of factors, among which is the rate of OTM. When continuous forces are applied to the teeth, The rate of OTM is estimated to be 0.8-1.2 mm per month (Sugimori et al., 2018). The duration of treatment is a big burden for many people undergoing orthodontic treatment and a major concern for both orthodontists and patients; indeed, there is evidence that orthodontic treatment using fixed appliances might negatively influence the quality of life (Johal et al., 2014). The duration of treatment is often beyond patient expectations, and both patients and orthodontists have become recently fascinated and receptive to methods that might accelerate tooth movement and hence shorten treatment duration (Uribe et al., 2014), especially for adult patients who desire to complete their treatment with the shortest time possible for social and aesthetic considerations (Rosvall et al., 2009). Therefore shortening treatment duration is desirable, with time-saving for both orthodontists and patients, as well as a potential reduction in related expenses, discomfort, and iatrogenic consequences of orthodontic treatment (Fleming et al., 2015).

A wide range of novel conventional and non-conventional approaches for accelerating the rate of OTM has been proposed in recent years. The conventional treatment interventions involve substantial innovations in the design and manufacturing of fixed appliances (Songra et al., 2014, Samuels et al., 1993, Hayashi et al., 2004, Mandall et al., 2006, Pandis et al., 2009, Scott et al., 2008, Fleming et al., 2009, Ulhaq et al., 2017, Penning et al., 2017); however, there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that bracket materials and design, ligation methods, initial archwires, or archwire sequence may significantly impact how rapidly teeth move (Papageorgiou et al., 2014a, Papageorgiou et al., 2014b, Jian et al., 2013). The nonconventional approaches include surgical and non-surgical adjuncts to orthodontic treatment advocated for accelerating OTM.

1.2.2.1 Surgical approaches

Several surgical approaches with varied degrees of invasiveness have been proposed to accelerate the rate of OTM, including corticotomy, piezocision, micro-osteoperforation (MOP), and others. These techniques can potentially reduce treatment duration but are rather invasive. In general, surgical procedures to accelerate OTM rely on increasing osteoclastic activity by triggering a regional acceleratory phenomenon (RAP) (Wilcko et al., 2001, Fleming et al., 2015). RAP is a tissue reaction to noxious stimuli that promotes healing capability (Frost, 1989). These cellular processes decrease bone density, which may reduce the obstruction to

tooth movement (Teixeira et al., 2010). Based on evidence from low to moderate quality studies, surgically assisted orthodontics appears safe for oral tissues and is characterised by a transient phase of accelerated tooth movement, which can significantly shorten treatment duration (Hoogeveen et al., 2014). In addition, a Cochrane review reported on low quality evidence regarding the effectiveness of surgical interventions in accelerating OTM (Fleming et al., 2015).

Corticotomy is a surgical technique that involves intentional surgical injury to cortical bone. It was introduced in 1959 to speed up OTM (Köle, 1959). It involves the elevation of a full-thickness mucoperiosteal flap to expose buccal and lingual alveolar bone, followed by vertical incisions made between the roots of the teeth through the cortical bone and horizontal cuts connecting the vertical cuts 2-3 mm above the apices. Trauma to the bone triggers RAP, leading to an increase in bone turnover and a decrease in bone mineral content and thus accelerates OTM (Baloul et al., 2011, Wang et al., 2009). Corticotomy has been shown to dramatically increase the rate of canine tooth movement in the first two months following the surgery. However, a significant decrease in tooth movement rate is observed after the third month of observation (Aboul-Ela et al., 2011). Similarly, this is consistent with the results of two other studies, which reported faster rates of OTM in the corticotomy groups (Al-Naoum et al., 2014, Abbas et al., 2016). Nevertheless, this technique is invasive and accompanied by increased cost, discomfort, and morbidity for the patient. It negatively impacts oral healthrelated quality of life, with only a partial recovery after seven days (Cassetta et al., 2012). Two recent systematic reviews reported that corticotomy accelerates OTM and results in shorter treatment times; however, more robust evidence-based research is needed to support these findings (Gil et al., 2018, Viwattanatipa and Charnchairerk, 2018).

Minimally invasive surgical approaches have been introduced into orthodontic treatment as an alternative to invasive conventional corticotomy, such as piezocision, MOPs,

56

and laser-assisted flapless corticotomy. These minimally invasive surgical approaches rely on RAP for accelerating OTM. A recent systematic review has indicated that minimally invasive surgical approaches have some influence on accelerating tooth movement and do not increase pain, periodontal parameters, or root resorption following their application (Fu et al., 2019).

MOP is considered a minimally invasive surgical method for accelerating OTM because there is no need to elevate a full-thickness flap or perform additional soft tissue incisions before the osteoperforation. It involves creating small shallow perforations directly through the gingival tissues into the bone by the tooth to which the orthodontic force is applied. MOP solves most of the issues associated with conventional corticotomy procedures, and unlike other less invasive surgical approaches, they can be performed by orthodontists utilising commonly used orthodontic instruments (Shahabee et al., 2020). MOP with clinical replication in humans were first introduced in 2013. Those authors reported that MOP are an effective and safe procedure that increased the canine retraction rate by 2.3 folds compared to the control group and decreased orthodontic treatment duration by 62% (Alikhani et al., 2013). On the other hand, a spilt-mouth RCT evaluated the effect of MOP on the rate of canine retraction and found no significant effect of MOP on the rate of OTM compared with the control side in a 3month period. (Alkebsi et al., 2018). A systematic review concluded that there is insufficient evidence to indicate if a single application of MOP can speed up tooth movement and that there is low-quality evidence that flapless corticotomy treatments may hasten tooth movement (Fu et al., 2019). Another recent systematic review concluded that MOPs increase the rate of tooth movement, although, in at least one study, greater root resorption was observed (Shahabee et al., 2020).

Piezocision, a minimally invasive surgical procedure for accelerating OTM, was introduced in 2009 (Dibart et al., 2009). It involves making incisions in the buccal gingiva parallel to the long axis of the teeth without flap elevation, followed by incisions in the buccal

57

cortical plates with a piezo-surgery knife. Piezocision is regarded as one of the best and safest surgical procedures due to its superior periodontal tissue response and aesthetic outcomes while being the least invasive surgical approach with no side effects on periodontal tissue (Nimeri et al., 2013, Kilinc and Baka, 2022). Piezocision has recently shown promising results in speeding the rate of OTM and shortening treatment duration. Several clinical trials have been undertaken to assess the effect of piezocision on the rate of OTM. A split-mouth clinical trial comparing corticotomy or piezocision procedures to conventional maxillary canine retraction following first premolar extraction revealed that both treatments might enhance the rate of OTM (Abbas et al., 2016). Likewise, two other RCTs demonstrated a significant decrease in overall treatment duration in piezocision groups compared to conventional treatment groups (Charavet et al., 2016, Charavet et al., 2019). On the other hand, one RCT reported no evidence that piezocision was more efficient in alleviating mandibular anterior crowding (Uribe et al., 2017). Two systematic reviews have claimed that there is weak evidence to demonstrate that this approach is efficient in accelerating OTM (Hoffmann et al., 2017, Viwattanatipa and Charnchairerk, 2018). However, these findings should be interpreted cautiously since the number of included studies was small and might not be representative. A recent RCT compared the effectiveness of piezocision and that of MOPs approaches in accelerating the alignment of the mandibular anterior teeth and found that piezocision enhanced the levelling of mandibular front teeth during 16-week period, mainly in the first 12 weeks, whereas MOPs had no impact (Kilinc and Baka, 2022).

1.2.2.2 Non-surgical approaches

Non-surgical approaches advocated to accelerate OTM include resonance vibration, pulsed electromagnetic fields, photobiomodulation, and pharmacological approaches. It has been proposed that these interventions could serve as a bio-stimulus to stimulate bone cell

(osteoblast and osteoclast) activity, so the enhanced rate of bone remodelling can accelerate the rate of OTM, thereby shortening the time of orthodontic treatment (Tortamano et al., 2009, El-Angbawi et al., 2015). A Cochrane review conducted in 2015 concluded that there is insufficient evidence to determine if non-surgical adjunctive procedures to accelerate OTM are beneficial (El-Angbawi et al., 2015).

Vibrational devices have been proposed as a method of increasing the rate of OTM by enhancing periodontal and bone remodelling. This approach involves applying low-level vibration to the teeth while subjected to orthodontic forces. Vibrational forces have been found to help maintain bone mass in postmenopausal women (Rubin et al., 2004) and people with limited mobility and prolonged bed rest (Holguin et al., 2009). Additionally, data from animal models indicate that vibration induced higher rates of tooth movement, osteoclastic activity, and bone remodelling within the periodontium (Darendeliler et al., 2007, Nishimura et al., 2008). These data have aided in the development of commercial vibrational devices for clinical usage. AcceleDent is one example of a commercially available vibrational device. It is a rechargeable device comprising an activator and a removable mouthpiece, which provides a vibrational frequency of 30 Hz and a force of 0.2 N. Patients are asked to bite on the vibrating plastic wafer for 20 minutes per day (Woodhouse et al., 2015). A 3-arm parallel-group RCT (An AcceleDent group, an AcceleDent sham group, and a no-device group) was conducted to assess the effect of supplemental vibrational forces on the rate of OTM and duration of orthodontic treatment during the alignment and space closure phases of fixed-appliance orthodontic treatment. No evidence was found to indicate that supplemental vibrational forces might increase the initial tooth movement or space closure rate. Likewise, no evidence was found that they can reduce the time needed to achieve final alignment or overall treatment duration (Woodhouse et al., 2015, DiBiase et al., 2018). A systematic review published in 2018 assessing the effectiveness of vibrational forces that included five RCTs indicated that the

results from all but one included trial demonstrated no advantage from using vibrational devices during orthodontic treatment (Aljabaa et al., 2018). The consensus in the literature at present is that supplemental vibrational forces do not cause a clinically significant increase in OTM rate in initial alignment or space closure phases (Miles et al., 2012, Miles and Fisher, 2016, Woodhouse et al., 2015, Katchooi et al., 2018, DiBiase et al., 2018).

Photobiomodulation approach involves using low-level lasers or light-emitting diodes to modify cellular function by exposing cells or tissues to low levels of red and near-infrared light (600–1000 nm) (Miles, 2017). This triggers a photochemical reaction in which the light energy is absorbed by photoreceptors and transformed into adenosine triphosphate by mitochondria, enhancing DNA, RNA, and protein production and increasing cellular proliferation and activity. Several clinical trials have been conducted to assess the effect of low level laser therapy (LLLT) (Doshi-Mehta and Bhad-Patil, 2012, Dakshina et al., 2019, Varella et al., 2018, Mistry et al., 2020) and light-emitting diode lights (Al-Shafi et al., 2021, Ekizer et al., 2016) on the rate of OTM. A split-mouth RCT demonstrated that LLLT caused an increase of 30% in the rate of OTM and had no adverse effects on the vitality or the periodontium of the teeth (Doshi-Mehta and Bhad-Patil, 2012). In addition, another split-mouth RCT showed that OTM with LLLT was approximately two times faster than conventional treatment (Varella et al., 2018). On the other hand, two other clinical trials found no effect of LLLT on canine retraction rate (Limpanichkul et al., 2006b, Mistry et al., 2020). Likewise, a recent randomized split-mouth trial demonstrated that light-emitting diode light did not affect canine retraction rate (Al-Shafi et al., 2021). There is low to moderate evidence that photobiomodulation is effective and can increase OTM rates (Gkantidis et al., 2014, Sonesson et al., 2016, Miles, 2017).

Pulsed electromagnetic fields approach is a non-invasive, non-thermal treatment that uses pulsating electromagnetic fields in tissue to induce healing by enhancing blood circulation

(Strauch et al., 2009). It has been suggested that pulsed electromagnetic fields impact the activity of intracellular cyclic adenosine monophosphate and cyclic guanosine monophosphate. This may accelerate bone remodelling and, thus, OTM (Darendeliler et al., 1995). An integrated circuit in a removable appliance and a watch battery generates a 1 Hz electric current to the teeth (Bhad Patil and Karemore, 2022). The application of pulsed electromagnetic fields increased the rate of tooth movement in animals (Stark and Sinclair, 1987, Darendeliler et al., 1995). In humans, a non-randomised prospective trial investigating the effects of pulsed electromagnetic fields on OTM revealed a 0.3mm/month increase in canine retraction rate (Showkatbakhsh et al., 2010). Moreover, a recent split-mouth RCT found that pulsed electromagnetic fields caused an increase of 31% in the rate of OTM (Bhad Patil and Karemore, 2022).

Pharmacological approaches to accelerate OTM have also been proposed. This approach aims to alter the biological response to orthodontic forces. In the literature, much of the data comes from animal studies rather than human studies, and even though insight into their effects is provided, the results cannot be used to predict human effects (Miles, 2017). In animal studies, corticosteroid hormones, vitamin D3, thyroxin, and parathyroid hormone have all been demonstrated to enhance OTM (Bartzela et al., 2009). The findings of human trials assessing the effect of prostaglandin on OTM have revealed a potential acceleration (Yamasaki et al., 1984, Spielmann et al., 1989, Patil et al., 2005). One study assessed the rate of OTM with and without a submucosal injection of prostaglandin E1. The results revealed that the rate of canine retraction was about 1.6-fold higher on the experimental injection side compared to the control side (Yamasaki et al., 1984). However, the use of these medications is currently limited due to the requirement for regular administration and the severe pain associated with the injection. On the other hand, several medications, such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, dietary calcium, and bisphosphonates, decreased the rate of OTM (Bartzela et al., 2009).

A recent meta-analysis of 27 animal studies demonstrated that the administration of diazepam, Vitamin C and pantoprazole increased the rate of OTM, whereas simvastatin, atorvastatin, strontium ranelate, calcium compounds, losartan, propranolol, famotidine, cetirizine, and metformin decreased the rate of OTM (Makrygiannakis et al., 2018). Another systematic review concluded that local injection of prostaglandin E1 was found to increase OTM rate, while systemic intake of Nabumetone reduced OTM. On the other hand, tenoxicam administration, drinking water with fluoride or local injection of calcitriol (vitamin D metabolite) had no effect on OTM rate (Kaklamanos et al., 2019).

Recent studies have proposed using platelet-rich plasma and platelet-rich fibrin as alternatives for the local injection of cytokines or medications to reproduce the effects induced in bone during surgery. Platelet-rich plasma is described as an autologous concentrate of platelets in a minute amount of plasma. It has a large number of platelets, coagulation factors, and growth factors (Paoloni et al., 2011). Platelet-rich fibrin is a fibrin structure derived from natural blood that comprises platelets and leukocytes. It does not have anticoagulants, thrombin, or calcium chloride (Koçyiğit et al., 2012, Dohan Ehrenfest et al., 2009). Platelets have numerous secretory granules, which contain various proteins, growth factors and chemokines essential for haemostasis and soft and hard tissue wound healing (Anitua et al., 2004, Miles, 2017). A split-mouth RCT investigated the effect of local injection of plateletrich plasma on the rate of OTM. Local injection of platelet-rich plasma was done before canine retraction and at 3 and 6 weeks after applying the retracting forces. The results showed a faster canine retraction rate on the intervention side in the first and second months by 15% and 5%, respectively, compared to the control side, indicating a short-term effect and the need for repeated injections to maintain a steady rate acceleration of OTM (El-Timamy et al., 2020). Another recent split-mouth RCT compared the effects of local injection of platelet-rich fibrin and piezocision on canine retraction rate. The results showed that both interventions

accelerated OTM compared to the control, but with no difference between the two groups regarding speed, duration of tooth movement, or periodontal parameters (Karci and Baka, 2021).

1.3 Obesity

Obesity, which is characterised by excessive fat accumulation, is a metabolic disease resulting from a sedentary lifestyle, lack of physical activity, increased calorie intake, hereditary factors, and hormonal disturbance. Obesity is becoming increasingly prevalent in many countries worldwide, with overweight and obesity being associated with more deaths globally than underweight. In addition, obesity has been regarded as one of the most critical public health and medical issues of our time (Giuca et al., 2012, Marcantonio et al., 2021). It is widely considered a major risk factor for various diseases, including cardiovascular disease, rheumatoid arthritis, type 2 diabetes mellitus, and some types of cancer, both in obese adults and children (Chang et al., 2011, Lobstein et al., 2004, Must and Strauss, 1999).

Overweight and obesity have been an issue in economically developed countries in the past few decades. The growing number of overweight adults is concerning, but children and adolescents are also significantly affected (Ogden et al., 2010, Daniels et al., 2009). It is estimated that 287 million school-age children are overweight globally (von Bremen et al., 2013). According to data from the United Kingdom, 22% of boys and 28% of girls aged 2-15 years were overweight or obese in 2002 (Seddon, 2005), with an increasing trend .

Several methods for measuring weight have been described, including waist circumference, body mass index (BMI), and age- and sex-specific BMI percentiles. In adults, persons with a body mass index (BMI) ≥ 25 kg/m² are considered overweight, while those with a BMI ≥ 30 kg/m² deemed obese (Alberti et al., 2006). On the other hand, age- and sex-specific

BMI percentiles provide a rapid, non-invasive, and easily accessible way to measure children's weight. Obese children are those who are above the 95th percentile; overweight children are those who are between the 85th and 95th percentiles; normal-weight children are those who are between the fifth and 85th percentiles; and underweight children are those who are below the fifth percentile (Mack et al., 2013, Cole, 1979).

Obesity is characterized by chronic subclinical inflammation mediated by the release of systemic pro-inflammatory factors (Deng et al., 2016) and has been demonstrated to increase susceptibility to infection through immune response modulation (Falagas and Kompoti, 2006). Adipose tissue may influence the severity and resolution of inflammatory processes in various tissues (Pierpont et al., 2014, Issa and Griffin, 2012). Adipocytes, the predominant cells in the adipose connective tissue, produce a variety of inflammatory mediators, resulting in a systemic inflammatory state that may impair wound healing (Ouchi et al., 2011). In addition, adipocytes synthesize metabolically active proteins and adipokines that influence metabolic function and inflammation. Adipocyte-derived adipokines, such as pro-inflammatory leptin (Fantuzzi, 2005) and anti-inflammatory adiponectin (Iwayama et al., 2012), are soluble proteins that bind to particular receptors on target cells and they play an important role in inflammatory illnesses such as periodontal disease (Ouchi et al., 2011).

Periodontal diseases are associated with a variety of systemic diseases, including obesity. Chronic periodontitis was found to be significantly associated with obesity in a metaanalysis of 28 studies (Chaffee and Weston, 2010). There is evidence of an increased risk of chronic periodontitis (Suvan et al., 2011) as well as differences in inflammatory and metabolic markers in obese patients with periodontal diseases compared to normal-weight patients (Papageorgiou et al., 2015a). Obese persons have greater blood levels of leptin and lower adiponectin levels than normal-weight persons (Reid, 2008), which may increase the likelihood of periodontal inflammation and destruction (Kraus et al., 2012). The findings of one particular

64

study into the relationship between periodontal disease and overweight and obese people indicate that being overweight, obesity and increased waist circumference may all be risk factors for the development or worsening of periodontal measures like probing depth, alveolar bone loss, attachment loss, and plaque index (Keller et al., 2015).

Obesity can affect bone metabolism through a variety of mechanisms. Obesity may promote adipocyte differentiation and fat accumulation while decreasing osteoblast differentiation and bone formation. It may directly affect bone formation or indirectly affect bone resorption through upregulated pro-inflammatory cytokine production induced by excessive leptin secretion and decreased adiponectin production in obesity (Cao, 2011). Obesity may promote bone resorption by upregulating pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and TNF- α . Both have been demonstrated to stimulate osteoclast activity by modulating the RANKL/RANK/OPG pathway (Khosla, 2001).

1.3.1 Obesity and orthodontics

Obesity is increasing worldwide, and obese individuals are more likely to present for orthodontic treatment in greater numbers. Obesity may substantially impact orthodontic treatment due to its effect on bone metabolism, craniofacial growth, pubertal growth and possibly tooth movement during orthodontic treatment of obese people. In addition, obesity in adolescents is associated with apparent psychological and psychological issues, which might influence patient attitude and compliance with orthodontic treatment. The facial aesthetics of obese people differ from those of normal-weight persons as well, with obese people having larger mandibles and shorter upper facial heights. These factors should be taken into consideration when planning treatment, and obese patients should be treated individually, with special consideration given to their psychosocial status (Neeley and Gonzales, 2007).

There is scarce data on the association between BMI and oral health/cooperation during orthodontic treatment in the literature. A group of authors looked at the differences in the incidence of white spot lesions and gingivitis, cooperation level, and treatment duration among normal-weight, overweight, and obese orthodontic patients undergoing fixed appliance treatment. The results showed that a higher BMI appears to be linked with more oral health issues, including higher white spot lesions and gingivitis incidence (von Bremen et al., 2016). In addition, overweight patients showed poor cooperation and had a more extended treatment duration with more appointments during orthodontic treatment than normal-weight counterparts (von Bremen et al., 2013, von Bremen et al., 2016).

Dental development and skeletal maturation are commonly used in growing children to predict the timing of orthodontic treatment and treatment methods. One retrospective study compared skeletal maturation in obese and normal-weight patients using carpal analysis and cervical vertebral maturation methods. According to the carpal analysis, obese patients exhibited a more significant mean discrepancy between skeletal and chronological ages and a significantly greater cervical vertebral maturation score (Giuca et al., 2012). Another study assessed the relationship between BMI percentile and skeletal and dental maturity using the cervical vertebral method and the Demirjian assessment method, respectively, in adolescent orthodontic patients. The results showed that the cervical vertebral stage and dental age were more advanced in individuals with increased BMI percentiles. Therefore, it is recommended that orthodontists should consider obtaining objective weight data for treatment planning purposes (Mack et al., 2013).

The effect of obesity on OTM was investigated in a recent prospective clinical cohort study, with tooth alignment rate and duration assessed in obese and normal-weight adolescents undergoing fixed-appliance orthodontic treatment. Data were collected at baseline, 1-hour and 1-week after fixed appliance placement, and at the completion of mandibular arch alignment.

66

The results showed that the rate of OTM was significantly higher in obese patients compared to normal-weight, and obese patients needed less time to achieve tooth alignment than normal-weight, but this was not significant. GCF leptin levels differed significantly between obese and normal-weight patients and were associated with observed rates of OTM (Saloom et al., 2017).

Recently, the effect of obesity on periodontal tissue remodelling induced by orthodontic forces has been investigated in a recent animal study. The results showed that obesity modulates periodontal tissue remodelling during orthodontic movement, resulting in lower bone volume fraction and bone mineral density, more inflammation, and a tendency for faster tooth movement (Marcantonio et al., 2021).

1.3.2 Leptin

Leptin is a 16 kDa non-glycosylated polypeptide hormone produced mainly by adipocytes but also in small amounts by the placenta, stomach, salivary glands, and osteoblasts (Gröschl et al., 2001, Reseland et al., 2001, Ouchi et al., 2011, Zhang et al., 1994, Masuzaki et al., 1997, Bado et al., 1998). Leptin regulates energy expenditure and body weight and modulates appetite and satiety (Sahu, 2003), a function controlled mainly by the hypothalamus (Friedman and Halaas, 1998). Circulating levels of leptin are elevated in obesity (Paul et al., 2011, Considine et al., 1996).

Leptin is a proinflammatory cytokine that plays a key role in the inflammatory responses by modulating the activity of immunocytes such as T-cells, monocytes, and natural killer cells. Leptin directly activates these immune cells, causing an increase in the production of other inflammatory mediators (Zhu et al., 2017). Leptin and its receptor share structural features with IL-6 cytokines and type I cytokine receptors, respectively (Fantuzzi and Faggioni, 2000). The cytokines of the IL-6 family have a wide range of local and systemic actions and

are notably well-studied in terms of inflammation, immunity, and wound healing (Taga and Kishimoto, 1997). Therefore, leptin has been thought to have similar functions, and various investigations have provided evidence to support this notion (Matarese et al., 2005).

Recent studies have reported that leptin is produced in periodontal cells and contributes to periodontal infection and healing (Li et al., 2015). It has been demonstrated that leptin is present within healthy and marginally inflamed gingiva (Johnson and Serio, 2001) and that leptin levels in GCF decrease significantly as periodontal disease progresses, adding to our knowledge of leptin's protective function in periodontal health (Karthikeyan and Pradeep, 2007). On the other hand, another study evaluated leptin levels in four groups (chronic periodontitis, chronic periodontitis with obese, obese, and healthy) and found higher blood levels of leptin in the chronic periodontitis and/or obese groups than in the healthy group (Zimmermann et al., 2013).

Some studies have investigated leptin levels in the saliva and GCF of obese and normalweight orthodontic patients. Leptin levels in the GCF of normal-weight patients are reduced during OTM in a time-dependent manner (Dilsiz et al., 2010, Sar et al., 2019). In a prospective clinical trial, GCF levels of leptin and RANKL were significantly different between obese and normal-weight patients and were significantly associated with observed rates of OTM (Saloom et al., 2017). Another study reported that leptin levels in the saliva of obese patients were three times greater than those of normal-weight patients during orthodontic treatment, demonstrating a strong correlation between leptin and tooth movement in these patients (Jayachandran et al., 2017).

One in vitro study investigated the effects of leptin on the expression profile of human periodontal fibroblasts during simulated orthodontic mechanical strain. The cells were exposed to mechanical forces using the weight method with or without different leptin concentrations. The results showed that high leptin concentrations resulted in increased expression of proinflammatory factors and RANKL in compressed periodontal fibroblasts. Therefore, increased osteoclastogenesis can be assumed to accelerate bone resorption and, consequently, the rate of OTM in the orthodontic treatment of obese patients (Schröder et al., 2021).

1.3.3 Adiponectin

Adiponectin, a secretory protein produced by adipocytes, performs different activities in the targeting of different types of cells. Specifically, it has been found to possibly affect insulin resistance, inflammation, and cardiovascular systems (Funahashi et al., 1999). Adiponectin has to bind to its receptors (AdipoR1 and AdipoR2) to exert its effects. Both receptors are present in in the fibroblasts of gingiva and PDL and exert anti-inflammatory effects (Iwayama et al., 2012). This adipokine regulates metabolic (Choi et al., 2007) and immune processes by suppressing pro-inflammatory cytokines and enhancing anti-inflammatory cytokines production (Polyzos et al., 2010, Iwayama et al., 2012, Deschner et al., 2014). Adiponectin levels are lower than normal in inflammatory disorders such as obesity, insulin resistance, and diabetes (Ouchi et al., 2003).

Adiponectin contributes to periodontal infection and inflammation (Nokhbehsaim et al., 2014), with its serum levels decreasing in periodontitis and increasing again following periodontal therapy (Deschner et al., 2014). Other studies have also found a lower number of adiponectin receptors in individuals with severe periodontitis compared to their healthy counterparts (Yamaguchi et al., 2010, Saito et al., 2008). A recent meta-analysis found that patients with periodontitis had higher blood levels of leptin and lower serum levels of adiponectin compared to controls in the BMI \leq 30 group. Also, leptin and adiponectin serum

69

levels do not change significantly following periodontal therapy in systemically healthy patients with periodontitis (Zhu et al., 2017).

There are extremely scarce data in the literature on the effects of Adiponectin on OTM. One particular study investigated the effect of local administration of adiponectin on experimental OTM in rats. This study found that local injection of adiponectin reduced OTM in rats in a dose-dependent manner but had no effect on bone density, periodontal cell count, or collagen content (Haugen et al., 2017). However, It has been found that adiponectin increases osteoblast proliferation while inhibiting osteoclastogenesis in adiponectin knockout mice (Williams et al., 2009). This might explain the slower tooth movement effect induced by adiponectin.

1.4 Human salivary proteome and peptidome

1.4.1 Whole mouth saliva

Whole mouth saliva (WMS), the fluid that bathes the mouth and oral cavity, is composed of both salivary and non-salivary components. It contains salivary gland secretions (parotid, submandibular, and sublingual glands, as well as minor salivary glands) as well as non-salivary components such as GCF, nasal and bronchial secretions, serum and blood derivatives from wounds, desquamated epithelial linings, food debris, and microorganisms residing in the oral cavity (Kaufman and Lamster, 2002). Salivary glands comprise two types of epithelial cells, acinar and ductal. Saliva is produced in acinar cells and stored in granules, which are released when secretory stimulation occurs. The salivary ducts are lined with ductal cells, which guide secreted saliva into the mouth (Humphrey and Williamson, 2001, Loo et al., 2010).

WMS comprises water (99% of saliva), peptides and proteins (including enzymes), hormones, carbohydrates, lipids, and inorganic substances such as sodium, chloride, potassium,

magnesium, calcium, phosphate, and bicarbonate. WMS have crucial roles in the oral cavity. It lubricates, hydrates, and bathes the mouth cavity, so facilitating speech and mastication; contains digestive enzymes and mediates the perception of taste; protects both soft and hard oral tissues from chemical, mechanical, and thermal irritants; works as an ion reservoir to promote tooth remineralization; and prevents dental demineralization; has antibacterial properties and protects the teeth and oral cavity from microorganisms (Humphrey and Williamson, 2001, Loo et al., 2010).

Healthy adults secrete 600-1000 ml per day of saliva, with a resting salivary flow rate of 0.2-0.4 ml per minute (Nanci, 2018), but large inter-personal variation is observed (Carpenter, 2013). Numerous factors affect salivary flow rate and composition, including systemic medical conditions (hypertension, depression, and allergies), individual hydration, posture, smoking, the circadian rhythm, and medication (Navazesh, 1993, de Almeida Pdel et al., 2008).

1.4.2 Human saliva as diagnostic body fluid

Saliva has become a useful tool for diagnosing and monitoring disease progression. The specific contribution of GCF to WMS supplies it with circulation-derived biomarkers. This gingival contribution makes it possible to use WMS diagnostically to monitor disease biomarkers generally seen in the serum. This is particularly interesting because WMS collection is not invasive, economical, safe, easy, and stress-free, and the analysis methods are simple and accessible for standard laboratories (Kaufman and Lamster, 2002). In addition, WMS collection is readily available from most individuals and can be easily repeated, stored, and transported as well as safe to handle compared to other biological materials (Schulz et al., 2013, Loo et al., 2010).
Chapter 1 Introduction

WMS contains proteins and other components that are expressed locally and can be used as disease biomarkers. Evidence for WMS diagnostic capabilities includes the identification of MMP-8, MMP-9 and OPG as biomarkers for periodontal diseases (Ramseier et al., 2009), variations in WMS inflammatory cytokine patterns in asthma exacerbations (Blicharz et al., 2009), variation in WMS biomarkers in Sjogren's syndrome (Hu et al., 2007), the association between WMS transcriptome markers and pancreatic cancer (Zhang et al., 2010), variation in WMS amylase in cardiovascular diseases (Adam et al., 1999), WMS HIV-1 detection (Malamud, 1997), and WMS C-reactive protein, myeloperoxidase, and myoglobin biomarkers for acute myocardial infarction detection (Floriano et al., 2009). Recently, It has been reported that WMS may be superior to serum in disease differentiation because discriminatory biomarkers, particularly oral cancer biomarkers, are present only in WMS (Dawes and Wong, 2019).

1.4.3 Human salivary proteome

The proteome is the complete set of proteins of a specified biological system and proteomics is the study of the proteome. This concept was introduced in 1995 and is an abbreviation for the entire "PROTEin" complement expressed by "genOME" or cells or tissues (Wasinger et al., 1995, Wilkins et al., 1996). The protein composition of WMS differs according to the kind of gland, with different glands releasing various kinds of proteins. Salivary glands produce most of the salivary proteome, with proline-rich proteins (PRP), mucins, cystatins, histatins, amylases, and statherin being the major salivary protein families (Carpenter, 2013).

WMS contains numerous proteins and peptides, each of which performs multiple important biological functions. In general, these proteins play key functions in immune defence, the endocrine system, and the maintenance of mucosal tissue and dental health (Dodds et al., 2015, Fábián et al., 2012). These proteins may also provide information about both local and systemic diseases (Jasim et al., 2016). The protein content in WMS is around one-quarter that of blood which makes it easier to choose and investigate low abundant proteins (Pfaffe et al., 2011, Schulz et al., 2013).

A comprehensive study of the WMS proteome is essential to fully appreciate its diagnostic potential. Protein analysis tools have advanced significantly in recent decades, combined with bioinformatics, creating a new revolution in WMS proteomics (Dawes and Wong, 2019). Recent proteomic platforms evaluated the human WMS proteome, identifying around 3000 differentially expressed proteins and peptides, many of which were derived from desquamated epithelial cells, GCF, and the oral microbiome (Castagnola et al., 2017, Dawes and Wong, 2019).

Proteomics platforms, according to the sample used, are divided into bottom-up and top-down platforms. Top-down proteomics analyses native proteins or peptides, avoiding sample changes as much as possible. Bottom-up proteomics is based on pre-digesting the sample (often with trypsin), followed by a high-throughput analysis of peptide fragments. Protein presence in the sample is inferred by detecting one or more of its specific fragments (Messana et al., 2013).

In the last two decades, high-throughput proteomic technologies, such as mass spectrometry, have been developed. Mass spectrometry is an analytical method that separates ions based on their mass/charge ratio. It enables the study of proteins when used in conjunction with liquid chromatography and macromolecular ionisation. The separation, ionisation, and detection of macromolecules like peptides produce mass fingerprints that can be compared to peptides in curated databases and then assigned to proteins or determined by de novo sequencing using bioinformatics. These technologies enable the identification of unknown targets (Forsgard et al., 2010, Mallick and Kuster, 2010).

1.4.4 Human salivary peptidome and proteases

The salivary peptidome is the entire set of peptides at a given time and conditions in the WMS of an individual. The salivary peptidome comprises around 2000 peptides, only 400-600 of which are directly derived from salivary glands, implying a considerable peptide input from other sources. Proteolysis events are the primary source of peptides, and significant efforts have been undertaken to identify the resultant fragments, cleavage sites, and implicated proteases (Amado et al., 2010, Vitorino et al., 2009). The majority of WMS peptides belong to proline-rich proteins (PRPs), histatin, and statherin families (Trindade et al., 2015a).

Most peptide fragments seen in saliva are the consequence of in-situ proteolysis. Proteolysis is the irreversible hydrolysis of peptide and isopeptide bonds, which affect every protein at some point throughout its life cycle by hydrolytic proteases (Doucet et al., 2008). These proteases hydrolyse the bonds of the peptides by a nucleophilic attack. However, the catalytic mechanism of action is different among proteases, and they are categorised on this basis. Aspartic, glutamic, and metalloproteases use a coordinated water molecule to disrupt substrate peptide bonds, while cysteine, serine, and threonine proteases exploit these amino acids in their active sites as nucleophiles (Magalhães et al., 2018). Proteases are the largest family of proteins, with 553 genes encoding proteases or protease homologues in the human genome (Puente et al., 2003, Mulkern et al., 2020, Chung et al., 2004).

Proteases are intriguing candidates for saliva-derived biological markers since they are engaged in several fundamental physiological processes, and their activity is tightly regulated by several mechanisms (Garreto et al., 2021). Proteolysis modulates critical mechanisms such

74

as embryonic development, immune response, blood coagulation, and overall metabolism (Butler and Overall, 2009, Garreto et al., 2021). Furthermore, studies have linked protease activity to autoimmune disorders (Butler and Overall, 2009, Garreto et al., 2021). MMPs and serine proteases are believed to be the main proteases involved in periodontal diseases and other diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis, skin diseases, and cancer (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993, Ingman et al., 1996, Westerlund et al., 1996).

Mass spectrometry and bioinformatics technologies have improved the profiling of endogenous peptides in body fluids as well as the identification of potentially associated proteases. Proteasix, an open-source peptide-centric tool, can predict in silico the proteases involved in naturally occurring peptide synthesis identified by mass spectrometry (Klein et al., 2013). Proteasix incorporates data from protease databases such as MEROPS, which contains around 8000 cleavage sites for over 2400 proteases (Barrett, 2004).

1.5 Aims

A major determinant of orthodontic treatment duration is the rate of OTM, which is primarily influenced by PDL and alveolar bone remodelling. Recently, orthodontists and patients have become interested in shortening treatment duration; and accelerating the rate of OTM has become the central focus of much research. A wide range of conventional and non-conventional approaches have been proposed to accelerate OTM, with evidence relating to the efficiency of most of these approaches being weak and insufficient. Evaluating the current evidence on rate of OTM and understanding the biological mechanisms that potentially influence this process are critical for the development of new approaches aimed at accelerating OTM. Therefore, the aims of this thesis were:

- To systematically review the evidence on duration of treatment and rate of OTM during the alignment phase of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances;
- To systematically review the evidence on duration of treatment and rate of OTM during canine retraction phase of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances;
- To characterise the salivary peptidome and protease profile during the alignment stage of fixed appliance orthodontic treatment using a peptidomic approach aided by mass spectrometry and bioinformatics;
- To assess the effect of adipokines on inflammation and ECM remodelling biomarkers in compressed human periodontal and gingival fibroblasts in the presence or absence of inflammation; and
- To assess the effect of appointment interval (2 weeks vs. 8 weeks) on the duration and rate of orthodontic tooth alignment in a RCT.

Chapter 2 Duration of tooth alignment with fixed appliances: a systematic review and meta-analysis

2.1 Introduction

Orthodontic treatment can improve the function and aesthetic of the orofacial region in children and adults by aligning the teeth, arch-coordination, and establishing normal occlusion. However, comprehensive orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances is time-consuming, with an average treatment duration of 20-30 months (Abbing et al., 2020, Tsichlaki et al., 2016). Patients are often reluctant to wear fixed appliances for long periods, and prolonged treatment might have detrimental effects on oral health. Perhaps it is for these reasons that both patients and orthodontists are interested in methods that may help to shorten orthodontic treatment duration (Uribe et al., 2014).

The rate of OTM is controlled through the biological response, and numerous host and treatment-related factors can affect how teeth move (Huang et al., 2014, Dudic et al., 2013). Orthodontists have focussed on treatment mechanics to influence OTM for many years, but robust clinical data are lacking. Indeed, there is limited data on something as fundamental as optimal force levels (Theodorou et al., 2019). Furthermore, despite substantial diversity in fixed appliance design and archwire material selection, there is little evidence that they can influence OTM to any clinically significant level (Papageorgiou et al., 2014a, Riley and Bearn, 2009, Wang et al., 2018). This all presents a paradox because orthodontic clinical research has recently become increasingly preoccupied with evaluating clinical interventions advocated to accelerate OTM and shorten treatment duration.

Alignment of dentition is a primary objective during orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances (McLaughlin and Bennett, 2015) and is a frequently used metric in clinical trials

77

assessing treatment interventions and the rapidity of OTM (Fleming et al., 2009, Miles, 2005, Miles et al., 2006, Pandis et al., 2007, Scott et al., 2008, Ulhag et al., 2017, Woodhouse et al., 2015, Abdelrahman et al., 2015, Charavet et al., 2019). Although multiple methods are used to measure tooth alignment, Little's irregularity index (LII) is a commonly used method (Little, 1975). It measures the linear distances between the anatomical contact points of the mandibular anterior teeth from canine to canine, and the sum of these five measurements represents the irregularity index. This index is a simple, quick, and reliable indicator of the alignment progress (Antoszewska-Smith et al., 2017, Bernabé and Flores-Mir, 2006, Goonewardene et al., 2008). Intuitively, the more irregularity in the dental arch, the longer arch alignment with a fixed appliance is predicted to take. However, the reported alignment durations vary greatly between studies (Fleming et al., 2009, Miles, 2005, Miles et al., 2006, Pandis et al., 2007, Pandis et al., 2009, Scott et al., 2008). Interestingly, it has recently been shown that piezocision-assisted surgical intervention can shorten alignment duration by 46 days, although the evidence is weak (Afzal et al., 2020). Given the significance of arch alignment during orthodontic treatment and the broad utilisation of alignment measurements in orthodontic clinical research, it is essential to understand the normal parameters associated with this clinical outcome.

Accurate prediction of orthodontic treatment duration may affect success in orthodontic practice (Shia, 1986). In addition, timely completion of treatment helps more precisely expect financial costs and improves patient satisfaction (Skidmore et al., 2006). Therefore, it is beneficial for both the patient and the orthodontist to present reliable information about the duration of treatment. Moreover, knowledge of the average alignment rate and duration that can be expected during fixed appliance would add to orthodontic knowledge and improve treatment delivery and clinical efficiency, which would lead to better planning of future RCTs and developing systems that provide more efficient and safer treatment for all orthodontics patients.

The primary objective of this systematic review was to determine treatment duration needed to achieve whole-arch alignment of the mandibular dentition using fixed orthodontic appliances. The secondary objectives were to determine the time required to achieve incisor alignment in the mandibular arch and alignment rates during each treatment phase.

2.2 Materials and methods

2.2.1 Protocol and registration

This review's protocol was made a *priori* and registered in the prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO) (CRD42019143204). This review was conducted and reported according to Cochrane Handbook (Higgins and Green, 2011) and Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses statement (PRISMA) (Liberati et al., 2009), respectively.

2.2.2 Eligibility criteria

According to the Participants-Intervention-Comparison-Outcome-Study design (PICOS) schema, the following were included: (P) human participants of any age, sex, ethnicity, or malocclusion; (I) using fixed orthodontic appliances with or without treatment adjuncts; (C) trials of any comparison (O) assessing duration and/or rate of mandibular teeth alignment; (S) RCTs. No limitations regarding language, publication year or status were applied. Excluded studies included those involving animals, non-clinical and non-randomised studies, case reports or series, cross-sectional studies, those involving patients who had undergone any previous orthodontic treatment, growth modification or multidisciplinary treatment, and those including patients with systematic diseases, craniofacial abnormalities or without comprehensive orthodontic treatment or eligible outcomes.

Chapter 2 Duration of tooth alignment

The primary outcome of this review was treatment duration to achieve whole-arch (complete) alignment of the mandibular dentition measured as days needed to align the lower teeth or time to passively insert a stainless-steel rectangular working archwire. Time to achieve alignment of the mandibular incisor teeth (incisor-alignment) and tooth alignment rate (irregularity-change per unit time) in each treatment phase were evaluated as secondary outcomes. We focused on alignment of the mandibular dentition because irregularity is most measured in the mandible in interventional trials rather than the maxilla. In addition, mandibular irregularity is an important factor taken into consideration when deciding on extraction or non-extraction treatment during treatment planning.

2.2.3 Information sources and search

Eight electronic databases (MEDLINE, Embase, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, Scopus, Web of Science, Latin American and Caribbean Health Sciences Literature and Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects) were searched systematically without restrictions for publication date, language or type from inception up to January 7, 2021, while Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), Digital Dissertations, metaRegister of Controlled Trials, Google Scholar as well as reference/citation lists of eligible articles or existing systematic reviews were manually searched for any additional trials. A detailed search strategy was developed for each database. Individual search strategies were based on the search strategy developed for MEDLINE but modified appropriately for every database (Appendix 2.1).

2.2.4 Study selection, data collection, and items

Two reviewers independently screened titles, abstracts, and full texts of identified studies to check for eligibility. Any differences between reviewers were resolved by discussion with a

third reviewer. Data extraction was conducted independently by two reviewers, with similar discrepancy resolution using pre-determined and piloted extraction forms covering: (1) study characteristics (design, clinical setting, country); (2) patient characteristics (age/sex); (3) malocclusion, treatment characteristics; (4) appliance type; (5) intervention and/or adjunct interventions; (6) follow-up; (7) outcome details.

2.2.5 Risk of bias of individual studies

The risk of bias of included studies was assessed according to Cochrane guidelines with the Risk of Bias 2.0 tool for randomised trials (Sterne et al., 2019) independently by two reviewers with the same discrepancy resolution approach.

2.2.6 Data synthesis and summary measures

An effort was made to maximise data output from included trials; where data were missing, raw data from trials on the primary outcome were requested from the authors, and we calculated the needed data. As orthodontic treatment outcome is inevitably affected by patient and treatment-related characteristics, a random-effects model was used to calculate the average distribution of true effects based on clinical and statistical reasoning (Papageorgiou, 2014) and a restricted maximum likelihood variance-estimator was used according to recent guidance (Langan et al., 2019). Data synthesis was performed on two different levels. Initially, indirect analysis of pooled averages was undertaken to calculate average alignment duration or alignment change during orthodontic treatment with its corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs), following pooling multiple trial arms before meta-analysis. After that, direct analysis was undertaken to compare different trial arms within each trial and pooling mean differences (MDs) and their 95% CIs across studies.

Chapter 2 Duration of tooth alignment

Between-study heterogeneity was assessed by inspecting forest plots and calculating τ^2 (absolute heterogeneity) and I² (relative heterogeneity). I² describes the proportion of total variability in the result explained by heterogeneity and not by chance. We considered I² >75% arbitrarily to denote considerable heterogeneity while as well considering the direction of heterogeneity (localization on the forest plot) and uncertainty intervals around heterogeneity estimates (Higgins et al., 2003). Ninety-five per cent predictive intervals were calculated for meta-analyses of ≥3 studies to include existing heterogeneity and provide a range of possible effects for a future clinical setting, essential for the correct interpretation of random-effects meta-analyses (IntHout et al., 2016).

All analyses were run in Stata version 14.0 (StataCorp LP, Texas, USA), and the dataset was openly provided (Wazwaz et al., 2020). All P values were two-sided with α =5%, except the test of between-studies or between-subgroups heterogeneity where α -value was 10% (Ioannidis, 2008).

2.2.7 Additional analyses, risk of bias across studies and quality of evidence

Possible sources of heterogeneity were sought through subgroup analyses and random-effects meta-regression in meta-analyses of at least five studies according to patient age, sex, baseline irregularity, extraction incorporation, and bracket slot size. Reporting biases (including the possibility of publication bias) were assessed for meta-analysis with ≥ 10 trials with contour-enhanced funnel plots and Egger's test. Individual-Patient-Data (IPD) from studies assessing the primary outcome (whole-arch alignment duration) were obtained from trials corresponding authors, pooled appropriately and meta-analysed after making them compatible across trials.

The overall quality of meta-evidence (and thus, the strength of clinical recommendations) was rated using Grades of Recommendations, Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) (Guyatt et al., 2011) and revised summary of findings tables were

made using the newly proposed improved format (Carrasco-Labra et al., 2016). The minimal clinically significant, large, and very large effects were defined as half, one and two standard deviations of the post-treatment response (for continuous outcomes) (Norman, Sloan et al. 2003). Forest plots were augmented with contours representing the magnitude of observed effects to assess heterogeneity, clinical relevance, and imprecision.

2.2.8 Sensitivity analyses

The robustness of results was checked for meta-analyses of ≥ 3 studies with sensitivity analyses based on (1) inclusion or exclusion of studies with low risk-of-bias; (2) inclusion or exclusion of large studies (arbitrarily set as studies with >30 patients).

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Study selection

The electronic literature search yielded 3016 results (Figure 2.1). Following duplicate removal, 1131 titles and abstracts were screened, and the full-text of 127 publications was checked against eligibility criteria according to established inclusion criteria (Appendix Table 2.1). Eventually, 35 publications reporting 35 trials were included.



Figure 2.1 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses diagram for the identification and selection of studies eligible in this review.

2.3.2 Study characteristics

The characteristics of included trials are shown in Table 2.1. Included trials were conducted in university-clinics (n=18; 51%), private-practice (n=6; 17%), hospitals (n=9; 26%) or both private-practice and hospital environments (n=2; 6%) and originated from 15 different countries, including Australia, Brazil, Belgium, China, Egypt, Greece, India, Iran, Iraq, Jordan,

Syria, Turkey, United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom, and the United States of America. Of the 35 trials included, 30 (86%) were single- and 5 (14%) were multi-centre. Thirty-one studies included 2258 patients with a mean age of 17.8 years (reported in 33 studies). Out of 32 studies reporting on patient gender, 862/2202 patients were male (39%) and 1340 (61%) were female.

Sixteen trials (46%) involved non-extraction treatment, 6 (17%) both extraction and non-extraction, 7 (20%) extraction-only, and 6 (17%) did not report on whether extraction was performed or not. Most of the trials (21; 60%) did not report malocclusion type, 8 trials included any type of malocclusion (23%), 5 trials included class I (14%), and one trial included patients with either class I or class II division1 malocclusion (3%). The average baseline mandibular arch irregularity in the included studies ranged from 2.1 to 11.8 mm.

Twenty studies reported on changes in alignment rate or irregularity index, 7 reported on alignment duration, 8 reported on alignment rate and duration. Changes in mandibular arch incisor irregularity were measured using Little's irregularity index in most trials (n=33), either from stone models (n=24), intra-orally (n=6) or scanned models (n=3) with one trial not reporting method of outcome assessment. One trial estimated crowding by comparing the space required to align the teeth and mesiodistal widths of the teeth.

Rate of mandibular alignment was calculated as the difference in irregularity index taken at two different time points divided by the number of days or weeks between measurements. Time points in included studies were 0, 4, 8, 12, 16, 20, 24 weeks, with changes in irregularity index calculated for the subsequent time intervals 0-4, 0-8, 0-12, 0-16, 4-8, 8-12, 12-16 weeks. Four studies reported on whole-arch alignment duration measured as time to align the mandibular teeth and passively insert a working stainless-steel archwire; whereas 9 studies reported duration of incisor-alignment measured as time taken to align the mandibular anterior teeth irrespective of the posterior.

Alignment duration and/or rate were compared between different interventions, including initial archwire types (n=13), archwire sequences (n=2), types of brackets (n=9), ligation methods (n=1) and placement of laceback ligatures (n=1). Other studies used adjuncts to orthodontic treatment, including surgery (n=5), laser (n=1), vibration (n=2) or photobiomodulation (n=1).

2.3.3 Risk of bias within studies

The risk of bias assessment for the 35 included studies is shown in Figure 2.2. The detailed risk of bias assessment for the included studies can be found in Appendix Table 2.2. A high risk of bias was seen in 5 studies (14%) for at least one domain. Three studies were at high risk of bias due to the randomisation process, with two lacking allocation concealment and one demonstrating deviation from the intended interventions and missing outcome data. Two studies were at high risk of bias due to lack of blinding and missing outcome data. Ten studies (29%) presented concerns with the randomisation process, mainly a lack of information regarding allocation concealment (n=6) and randomisation sequence generation (n=4). The remaining 20 studies (57%) presented a low risk of bias except for the absence of a priori protocols, which would rule out selective reporting.

Table 2.1 Characteristics of included studies.

Study	Design; setting;	Patients (M/F); age [†]	Maloc- clusion	Ex / Non-Ex	LII	Appliance	Intervention / Supplemental	FU in wks (interval)	Outcome
	country*								
(Abdelrahman et	RCT; Uni;	A (SE NiTi): 25 (10/15); 19.4	Any	Both	6.0	Labial CLB (Roth)	Different archwire	0-(2)-16	AlignRate;
al., 2015)	JOR	B (HA NiTi): 25 (10/15); 17.4					types / None		AlignDur
		C: (Conv NiTi): 24 (8/16); 19.3							
(Aydin et al.,	RCT; Uni;	EXP (CuNiTi): 30 (10/20); 15.9	CI. I	Non-Ex	10.4	Labial CLB (Roth)	Different archwire	0-(6)-12	AlignRate
2018)	TUR	CNT (NiTi): 36 (10/26); 14.7					types / None		
(Bansal et al.,	RCT; Uni;	EXP: 15 (7/8); 15.9	NR	Non-Ex	5.3	Labial CLB (MBT)	Micro-osteoperforatio	0-(3)-15	AlignDur
2019)	IND	CNT: 15 (7/8); 15.3					n using mini-implants		
(Celikoglu et al.,	RCT; Uni;	EXP: 22 (17/5); 15.5	Cl. 1 /	Non-Ex	6.7	EXP: SLB	Different bracket	0-(8)-16	AlignRate
2014)	TUR	CNT: 24 (18/6); 14.7	Non-Ex			CNT: Labial CLB	types / None		-
(Charavet et al.,	RCT;	EXP:12 (5/7); 29.0	NR	NR	3.1	Customized Labial	Piezocision	0-(2)-End	AlignDur
2019)	Hosp; BEL	CNT:12 (4/8); 27.0				SLB			-
(Cobb 3rd et al.,	RCT; Uni;	A (Implanted NiTi): (NR);15.2	NR	NR	7.5	Labial CLB	Different archwire	0-(4)-End	AlignRate
1998)	USA	B (NiTi): (NR); 17.3					types / None		-
		C (Multi-strand SS): (NR); 16.3							
(de Araújo	RCT; Uni;	A: 24 (12/12); 18.6	Any	NR	4.9	Labial CLB (Roth)	Different archwire	0-(4)-24	AlignRate
Gurgel et al.,	BRA	B: 25 (8/17); 20.0					sequences / None		-
2020)									
(El Shehawy et	RCT; Uni;	EXP/CNT: 30 (12/18); 19.23	NR	Non-Ex	6.9	Labial CLB (Roth)	Photobiomodulation	0-(4)-12	AlignRate
al., 2020)	EGY								
(Fleming et al.,	RCT;	EXP: 32 (14/18); 15.9	Any	Non-Ex	6.4	EXP: SLB (MBT)	Different bracket	0-(-)-8	AlignRate
2009)	Hosp; GBR	CNT: 33 (8/25); 16.6				CNT: Labial CLB	types / None		
(Gibreal et al.,	RCT; Uni;	EXP: 17 (8/9); 20.29	NR	Lower	11.5	Labial CLB (MBT)	Piezocision	0-(4)-End	AlignRate;
2019)	SYR	CNT: 17 (7/10); 20.35		4s					AlignDur
(Huang et al.,	RCT;	EXP (HA NiTi): 40 (20/20); (12.0-	CI. I	Ex	NR	Labial CLB (MBT)	Different archwire	0-(NR)-End	AlignDur
2010)	Hosp; CHN	14.0)					types / None		
		CNT (NiTi): 40 (20/20); (12.0-							
		14.0)							
(Irvine et al.,	RCT;	EXP: 30 (12/18); 13.6 CNT: 32	CI. I-II/1	4PMs	3.1	EXP: Labial CLB	Use of laceback	0-(6)-End	AlignRate
2004)	Hosp; GBR	(14/18); 13.8	with			(Andrews)	ligatures / None		(Change in
			crowdin			CNT: Labial CLB			LLS
			g			(Andrews)			irregularity)
(Jahanbin et al.,	RCT;	EXP: 15 (0/15); 16.3	NR	Non-Ex	5.1	EXP: SLB	Different bracket	0-(4)-16	AlignRate
2019)	Pract; IRN	CNT: 15 (0/15); 16.1				CNT: Labial CLB	types / None		
						(MBT)			
(Little and	RCT;	A: EXP (Ex): 30 (16/14); 14.2	NR	Both	8.9	Labial CLB (MBT)	Ligation method	0-(6)-12	AlignRate
Spary, 2017)	Hosp; GBR	B: EXP(Non-Ex): 30 (14/16); 14.0					(Conv vs. figure-of-		
		C: CNT (Ex): 30 (14/16); 13.7			1	1	eight) / None		

		D: CNT (Non-Ex): 30 (15/15); 14.0							
(Miles, 2005)	RCT; Pract; AUS	EXP/CNT: 58 (26/32); 17.1	NR	Both	5.8	EXP: Labial SLB (MBT) CNT: Labial CLB (MBT)	Different bracket types / None	0-(10)-20	AlignRate
(Miles et al., 2006)	RCT; Pract; AUS	EXP/CNT: 58 (18/40);16.3	NR	NR	2.1	EXP: Labial SLB CNT: Labial CLB (MBT)	Different bracket types / None	0-(10)-20	AlignRate
(Miles et al., 2012)	RCT; Pract; AUS	EXP: 33 (12/21); 13.0 CNT: 33 (14/19); 13.1	NR	Non-Ex	5.6	Labial CLB (MBT)	Vibration	0, 5, 8, 10	AlignRate
(Mahmoudzade h et al., 2018)	RCT; Uni; IRN	EXP (HA NiTi): 29 (10/19); 17.9 CNT (A-NiTi): 30 (11/19); 17.92	NR	Non-Ex	6.1	Labial CLB (MBT)	Different archwire types / None	0-(-)-4	AlignRate
(Mandall et al., 2006)	RCT; Hosp & Pract (multicente r); GBR	A: 51 (31/20); 13.8 B: 50 (13/37); 14.4 C: 53 (18/35); 14.4	Any	Both	6.1	Labial CLB	Different archwire sequences / None	NR	AlignDur
(Nabbat and Yassir, 2020)	RCT; Uni / Pract; IRQ	A (HA NiTi): 15 (5/10); 20.5 B (SE NiTi): 16 (4/12); 17.8	NR	Non-Ex	4.79	Labial CLB (MBT)	Different archwire types / None	0-(4)-8	AlignRate
(Nahas et al., 2017)	RCT; Uni; ARE	EXP: 18 (NR); 21.8 CNT: 16 (NR); 21.1	NR	Non-Ex	5.6	Labial SLB (MBT)	Photobiomodulation	0-(2)-End of alignment	AlignDur
(Nordstrom et al., 2018)	RCT; Uni; USA	EXP (Gummetal): 14 (5/9); 15.43 CNT (NiTi): 14 (6/8); 16.50	Any	Non-Ex	7.2	Labial CLB	Different archwire types / None	0-(5)-10	AlignRate
(Ong et al., 2011)	RCT; Pract; AUS	A (3M Unitek): 44 (14/30); 14.4 B (GAC): 44 (19/25); 15.5 C (Ormco): 44(19/25); 16.1	Any	Both	6.7	Labial CLB (MBT)	Different archwire types / None	BL, T2 before 2 nd archwire, T3 before working archwire	AlignDur; AlignRate
(Pandis et al., 2007)	RCT; Uni; GRC	EXP:27 (4/23); 13.48 CNT:27 (7/20); 13.92	Any	Non-Ex	5.4	EXP: Labial SLB CNT: Labial CLB (Roth)	Different bracket types/ None	0-(4)-End of alignment	AlignDur; AlignRate
(Pandis et al., 2009)	RCT; Pract; GRC	EXP (CuNiTi): 30 (9/21); 13.4 CNT (NiTi): 30 (5/25); 12.8	Any	Non-Ex	5.5	Labial SLB	Different types of archwires / None	0-(4)-24	AlignDur; AlignRate
(Sandhu et al., 2012)	RCT; Uni; IND	G1 (SE NiTi): 24 (12/12); 15.0 G2 (Multistrand SS): 25 (13/12); 15.1 G3 (SE NiTi): 24 (13/11); 15.2 G4 (Multistrand SS): 23 (11/12); 15.4	NR	Both	NR	G1-2: SW labial CLB G3-4: Standard Begg	Different brackets & wires / None	0-(-)-6	AlignRate

(Scott et al.,	RCT; Hosp	EXP: 33 (13/20); 16.19	NR	Lower	11.8	EXP: Labial SLB	Different bracket	BL, 1 st archwire	AlignRate;
2008)	(multicente r); GBR	CNT: 29 (20/9); 16.38		45		(Roth)	types / None	alignment	AlignDur
(Sebastian,	RCT; Uni;	EXP (Coaxial NiTi): 12 (0/12);	CI. I	Non-Ex	8.8	Labial CLB (MBT)	Different archwire	0-(4)-12	AlignRate
2012)	IND	13.6 CNIT (NITI): 42 (0/42): 42.8					types / None		
(Sebastian et	RCT: Uni:	EXP (Coavial NiTi): 20 (0/20):	CLI	Ev	Q 1	Labial CLB (MBT)	Different archwire	$0_{-}(4)_{-}12$	AlianRate
(Sebastian et al., 2019)	IND	15.30	01.1	L^	5.1		types / None	0-(4)-12	Alightate
, 2010)		CNT (NiTi): 20 (0/20); 14.85					,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,		
(Serafim et al., 2015)	RCT; Uni; BRA	EXP/CNT: 22 (NR); 16.68	NR	NR	4.5	Labial CLB (Roth)	Different archwire sequences / None	0-(4)-20	AlignRate
(Sirri et al.,	RCT; Uni;	EXP: 30 (9/21); 21.1	NR	Non-Ex	4.4	Labial CLB (MBT)	Corticision	0-(2)-End	AlignDur
2020)	SYR	CNT: 30 (10/20); 21.4							
(Songra et al.,	RCT;	A: 42 (17/25); 14.3, 14.2	NR	Ex	8.1	A: Labial SLB passive	Different bracket	0-(12)-End	AlignDur
2014)	Hosp; GBR	B: 38 (12/26); 14.1, 13.8				(Roth)	types/ None		
		C: 20 (8/12); 14.3, 13.2				B: Labial SLB active			
						C: Labial CLB(Roth)			
(Ulhaq et al.,	RCT; Hosp	A (BioCosmetic): 75 (33/42);	NR	NR	NR	Labial CLB	Different archwire	0-(-)-8	AlignRate
2017)	(multicente	17.54					types / None		-
	r); GBR &	B (Titanol): 75 (35/40); 16.32							
	ITA	C (TP Aesthetic): 75 (28/47);							
		15.95 D (Teath Terre): 75 (20(40): 47.24							
(Uribootol	DCT: Unit	D (100(111011e), 75 (20/49), 17.21	ND	Non Ex	74		Diazatama aartigigiga	O(4) End of	AlianData
(Onbe et al., 2017)		CNT: 13 (6/7): 29 4	INK	NON-EX	7.4	Ladiai SLD	Plezotome-contricision	0-(4)-End 0i	AlignRate,
(Woodbouse et	RCT: Hosp	A (Accel): 29 (15/14): 13.9	NR	Lower	84	Labial CLB (MBT)	Vibration	BL 2 nd arch wire	AlignBate:
al., 2015)	(multicente	B (Accel sham): 25 (13/12): 14 1		45	0.7		VIOLUOTI	change and end	AlignDur
,,	r); GBR	C (CNT): 27 (12/15): 14.4						of alignment	

* countries given with their alpha-3 codes.

[†] patient age is given either as mean (one value in without parenthesis) or if mean is not reported as range (two values in parenthesis).

AlignDur, alignment duration; AlignRate, alignment rate; BL, baseline; Cl., (Angle's) Class; CLB, conventionally ligated brackets; Conv, conventional; CNT, control; Ex, extraction; EXP, experimental; FU, follow-up; Hosp, hospital; HA, heat-activated; LII, Little's Irregularity Index for the mandibular arch at baseline; M/F, male / female; MBT, MacLaughlin-Bennet-Trevisi prescription; mo, month; NiTi, nickel titanium; NR, not reported; Pract, private practice / clinic; RCT, randomized clinical trial; SE, superelastic; SLB, self-ligating bracket; SS, stainless steel; Tx, treatment; Uni, university clinic; wk, week.



Figure 2.2 Risk of bias assessments for included trials.

2.3.4 Data synthesis

2.3.4.1 Indirect analyses of pooled averages across trials

The pooled duration to attain whole-arch alignment of mandibular dentition was estimated at 263.0 days (4 trials; translated to 8.8 months; 95% CI=6.2-11.3 months; Figure 2.3a); and 100.7 days (9 trials; translated to 3.4 months; 95% CI=2.8-3.9 months; Figure 2.3b) to achieve alignment of the mandibular incisor teeth. Average tooth alignment through changes in irregularity index from baseline was 2.88 mm at 4 weeks (10 trials; 95% CI, 2.12-3.63), 4.37 mm at 8 weeks (12 trials; 95% CI, 3.48-5.26), and 5.55 mm at 12 weeks (8 trials; 95% CI, 4.39-6.71) (Figure 2.4). Extreme heterogeneity across studies was seen for all indirect poolings (I^2 >75%); thus, 95% CIs might be more informative than the pooled averages. Subgroup and meta-regression analyses were conducted to investigate sources of heterogeneity (Table 2.2). Treatment with premolar extractions was associated with more tooth alignment than non-extraction for weeks 0-4 (5.3 vs. 2.3 mm) and weeks 0-8 (7.5 vs. 3.8 mm). Baseline irregularity was associated with more alleviation of irregularity between weeks 0-4 and weeks 0-8 (+0.4 and +0.5 mm alleviation for each initial mm of crowding for both).

2.3.4.2 Direct comparisons within and across-trials

Direct comparisons between different archwires, fixed appliances or treatment adjuncts were conducted in individual single studies (Tables 2.3 and 2.4) and meta-analyses (Table 2.5) with only few significant results. Single studies showed that subjective incisor alignment duration in the mandibular dentition was shorter using photobiomodulation (vs none; MD=-19.5 days; P=0.03) and self-ligating brackets (vs conventional ligation; MD=-23.5 days; P=0.03). Tooth alignment was more with premolar extraction (vs non-extraction; 0-12 weeks; MD=2.0 mm; P<0.001) and with coaxial superelastic Nickel-Titanium (NiTi) archwires (vs single superelastic NiTi archwires; 0-8 weeks; MD=1.3 mm; P=0.04).

Meta-analyses found no difference in whole-arch alignment duration between selfligating and conventional brackets (n=2 trials; P=0.26) and no difference in duration of incisoralignment duration between thermal and conventional NiTi archwires (n=2 trials; P=0.94) (Table 2.3; Figure 2.5a). Meta-analysis of 4 studies found a considerable reduction in incisoralignment duration with surgically-assisted orthodontics (MD=44.9 days less; 95% CI=20.0 to 68.9 days; P<0.001; Figure 2.5b) although with substantial heterogeneity (I²=93%) and this did not affect our conclusion about the effectiveness of treatment. The quality of evidence, according to GRADE (Table 2.6), was high both for the lack of benefit for thermal NiTi archwires and self-ligating brackets and for the surgically-assisted orthodontics.



Figure 2.3 Forest plots depicting duration to achieve whole-arch alignment of the mandibular dentition (a) and mandibular arch incisor alignment (b) in days.

Study		Effect (95% CI)	Weight
ALII 0-4wks Nabbat 2020 de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Jahanbin 2019 Ei Shehawy 2020 Mahmoudzadeh 2018 Addelrahman 2015 Uribe 2017 Aydin 2018 Gibreal 2019 Sebastian 2019 Subgroup (I-squared = 97.9%)	♦ - ++++ «=+== +	$\begin{array}{c} 180(137,2.23)\\ 209(185,2.33)\\ 211(144,2.78)\\ 223(215,2.31)\\ 251(218,2.84)\\ 251(196,3.06)\\ 268(194,3.42)\\ 271(220,3.22)\\ 514(440,5.88)\\ 552(442,6.62)\\ 288(212,3.63)\\ \end{array}$	10.30 10.54 9.84 10.64 10.44 10.09 9.65 10.16 9.65 8.70 100.00
ALII 0-8wks Nabbat 2020 de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Celikoglu 2015 Miles 2012 Ulhaq 2017 Aydin 2018 Fleming 2009 El Shehawy 2020 Abdelrahman 2015 Uribe 2017 Gibreal 2019 Sebastian 2019 Subgroup (I-squared = 97.9%)	♦ ++ +	$\begin{array}{c} 2.72 & (2.23, 3.21) \\ 3.09 & (2.82, 3.36) \\ 3.37 & (2.37, 4.37) \\ 3.40 & (2.73, 4.07) \\ 3.70 & (3.31, 4.09) \\ 3.74 & (3.23, 4.25) \\ 4.17 & (3.68, 4.66) \\ 4.29 & (4.07, 4.51) \\ 4.38 & (3.85, 4.91) \\ 4.55 & (3.84, 5.26) \\ 7.29 & (6.99, 8.75) \\ 4.37 & (3.48, 5.26) \\ 7.87 & (6.99, 8.75) \\ 4.37 & (3.48, 5.26) \\ \end{array}$	8.43 8.58 7.80 8.25 8.50 8.41 8.60 8.39 8.20 8.46 7.97 100.00
ALII 0-12wks de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Aydin 2018 Abdelrahman 2015 Bansal 2019 Uribe 2017 El Shehawy 2020 Little 2017 Sebastian 2019 Subgroup (I-squared = 99.3%)	**** **** •	3.68 (3.43, 3.93) 3.85 (3.36, 4.34) 4.73 (4.14, 5.32) 4.87 (4.71, 5.03) 5.48 (4.72, 6.24) 6.10 (5.98, 6.22) 7.09 (6.66, 7.52) 8.65 (8.02, 9.28) 5.55 (4.39, 6.71)	12.69 12.49 12.37 12.74 12.10 12.75 12.55 12.31 100.00
ΔLII 0-16wks de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Jahanbin 2019 Celikoglu 2015 Abdelrahman 2015 Subgroup (I-squared = 51.4%)		4.08 (3.86, 4.30) 4.27 (3.78, 4.76) 4.35 (3.21, 5.49) 4.83 (4.24, 5.42) 4.32 (3.96, 4.68)	43.55 26.37 8.39 21.70 100.00
ALII 4-8wks Nabbal 2020 de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Aydin 2018 Jahanbin 2019 Abdelrahman 2015 Uribe 2017 El Shehawy 2020 Gibreal 2019 Sebastian 2019 Subgroup (I-squared = 94.9%)		$\begin{array}{c} 0.92 \ (0.43, 1.41) \\ 0.99 \ (0.72, 1.26) \\ 1.03 \ (0.95, 1.11) \\ 1.22 \ (0.95, 1.49) \\ 1.87 \ (1.44, 2.30) \\ 1.87 \ (1.44, 2.36) \\ 2.09 \ (1.97, 2.21) \\ 2.16 \ (1.43, 2.89) \\ 2.35 \ (1.31, 3.39) \\ 1.54 \ (1.16, 1.90) \end{array}$	11.01 12.79 13.73 12.79 11.54 9.21 13.62 8.86 6.44 100.00
ALII 8-12wks Aydin 2018 Abdelrahman 2015 de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Jahanbin 2019 Sebastian 2019 Uribe 2017 El Shehawy 2020 Subgroup (I-squared = 97.1%)	• • • • •	$\begin{array}{c} 0.11 & (0.03, \ 0.19) \\ 0.35 & (0.15, \ 0.55) \\ 0.60 & (0.31, \ 0.89) \\ 0.71 & (0.51, \ 0.91) \\ 0.78 & (0.17, \ 1.39) \\ 0.93 & (0.30, \ 1.56) \\ 1.69 & (1.57, \ 1.81) \\ 0.73 & (0.33, \ 1.14) \end{array}$	15.80 15.32 14.66 15.32 11.71 11.51 15.68 100.00
ALII 12-16wks Abdelrahman 2015 de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Jahanbin 2019 Subgroup (I-squared = 86.1%)		0.10 (0.00, 0.20) 0.39 (0.12, 0.66) 0.46 (0.32, 0.60) 0.30 (0.07, 0.54)	37.97 26.29 35.74 100.00
ALII 0-20wks de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Subgroup (I-squared = .%)	÷	4.37 (4.17, 4.57) 4.37 (4.17, 4.57)	100.00 100.00
∆LII 0-24wks de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Subgroup (I-squared = .%)	.⊥	4.56 (4.38, 4.74) 4.56 (4.38, 4.74)	100.00 100.00
ALII 16-20wks de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Subgroup (I-squared = .%)	4	0.29 (0.07, 0.51) 0.29 (0.07, 0.51)	100.00 100.00
∆LII 20-24wks de Araujo Gurgel 2020 Subgroup (I-squared = .%)	÷.	0.20 (0.02, 0.38) 0.20 (0.02, 0.38)	100.00 100.00

Figure 2.4 Forest plot of the pooled average for incisor irregularity changes.

Table 2.2 Meta-regression / subgroup analyses for possible factor influencing the pooled average incisor-alignment duration and irregularity changes across identified randomized trials.

			Initial alignme	nt	Irre	Irregularity change 0-4 weeks			Irregularity change 0-8		Irregularity change 0-12			Irregularity change 4-8		
Factor	Categor y	n	Estimate (95% CI)	P§	n	Estimate (95% CI)	P§	n	Estimate (95% CI)	P§	n	Estimate (95% CI)	P§	n	Estimate (95% CI)	P §
Age	Per year	9	b: -0.24 (-4.65, 4.18)	0.90	9	b: -0.04 (-0.31, 0.11)	0.75	11	b: 0.03 (-0.25, 0.31)	0.81	7	b: -0.07 (-0.45, 0.30)	0.64	8	b: 0.04 (-0.08, 0.15)	0 4 6
Male %	Per 10%	8	b: -12.70 (-36.36, 10.95)	0.24	8*	b: 1.02 (-0.56, 2.61)	0.17	11*	b: 0.05 (-0.71, 0.81)	0.89	7*	b: 1.18 (-0.69, 3.05)	0.17	7*	b=0.65 (-0.28, 1.58)	0 1 3
Baselin e LII	Per mm	9	b: -1.90 (-12.94, 9.14)	0.70	10	b: 0.38 (0.11, 0.65)	0.01	11	b: 0.51 (0.12, 0.89)	0.02	8	b: 0.34 (-0.40, 1.07)	0.30	8	b: 0.01 (-0.30, 0.32)	0 9 6
Extracti on	Both	2	Average 96.40 (42.28, 150.51)	0.64	1	Average 2.51 (1.96, 3.06)	0.001	2	Average 4.02 (3.35, 4.68)	0.001	2	Average 5.92 (3.61, 8.23)	0.50	1	Average 1.87 (1.44, 2.30)	0 8 6
	Ex	1	Average 92.47 (76.15, 108.79)		2	Average 5.26 (4.64, 5.88)		2	Average 7.45 (6.94, 7.96)		1	Average 8.65 (8.02, 9.28)		2	Average 2.22 (1.63, 2.82)	
	Non-Ex	6	Average 103.57 (82.59, 124.55)		6	Average 2.31 (2.05, 2.57)		7	Average 3.77 (3.28, 4.25)		4	Average 5.08 (4.13, 6.03)		5	Average 1.42 (0.95, 1.89)	
Slot	18"	1	Average 124.06 (117.85, 130.27)	0.19	1	Average 2.71 (2.20, 3.22)	0.65	2	Average 3.62 (3.21, 4.02)	0.68	1	Average 3.85 (3.36, 4.34)	0.54	1	Average 1.03 (0.95, 1.11)	0 0 1
	22"	8	Average 97.71 (79.97, 115.45)		9	Average 2.90 (2.05, 3.75)		10	Average 4.53 (3.48, 5.58)		6	Average 5.57 (4.22, 6.93)		8	Average 1.62 (1.24, 2.01)	

* one study with only female patients excluded. [§] from meta-regression or subgroup analysis

b, meta-regression coefficient; CI, confidence interval; Ex, extraction.

Nr	Outcome	Timepoint	Trial	Control	Experimental	MD (95% CI)	Р
1	Initial alignment duration	-	Abdelrahman 2015	Nitinol wire	Superelastic NiTi wire	2.10 (-7.97, 12.17)	0.68
2	Initial alignment duration	-	Nahas 2017	No photomodulation	Photomodulation	-19.50 (-37.45, -1.55)	0.03
3	Initial alignment duration	-	Ong 2011	Wire sequence A	Wire sequence B	12.00 (-3.04, 27.04)	0.12
4	Initial alignment duration	-	Ong 2011	Wire sequence A	Wire sequence C	0 (-15.22, 15.22)	1.00
5	Initial alignment duration	-	Pandis 2007	Conventional brackets	Self-ligating brackets	-23.48 (-44.74, -2.22)	0.03
6	Complete alignment duration	-	Mandall 2006	Wire sequence A	Wire sequence B	36.00 (-11.63, 83.63)	0.14
7	Complete alignment duration	-	Mandall 2006	Wire sequence A	Wire sequence C	12.00 (-36.84, 60.84)	0.63
8	Complete alignment duration	-	Woodhouse 2015	No vibration	Vibration	9.50 (-28.79, 47.79)	0.63
9	Complete alignment duration	-	Woodhouse 2015	No vibration	Sham vibration	16.80 (-21.97, 55.57)	0.40

Table 2.3 Direct estimates (MD) from single trials on duration

CI, confidence interval; Ex, extraction; MD, mean difference.

Table 2.4 Direct estimates (MD) from single trials on irregularity change

Nr	Outcome	Timepoint	Trial	Control	Experimental	MD (95% CI)	Р
1	Irregularity change	0-4 weeks	Sebastian 2019	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: coaxial superelastic NiTi	1.28 (-0.32, 2.88)	0.12
2	Irregularity change	0-4 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: superelastic NiTi	-0.25 (-1.71, 1.21)	0.74
3	Irregularity change	0-4 weeks	Jahanbin 2019	Conventional brackets	Self-ligating brackets	1.10 (0.35, 1.87)	0.004
4	Irregularity change	0-4 weeks	Mahmoudzadeh 2018	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: thermal NiTi	-0.34 (-1.02, 0.34)	0.33
5	Irregularity change	0-4 weeks	El Shehawy 2020	No laser	Laser	0.21 (0.12, 0.30)	<0.001
6	Irregularity change	0-8 weeks	Miles 2012	No vibration	Vibration	0.80 (-0.51, 2.11)	0.23
7	Irregularity change	0-8 weeks	Sebastian 2019	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: coaxial superelastic NiTi	1.31 (0.03, 2.11)	0.04
8	Irregularity change	0-8 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: superelastic NiTi	0.25 (-1.19, 1.69)	0.73
9	Irregularity change	0-8 weeks	Ulhaq 2017	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: cosmetic (Biocosmetic)	0.36 (-0.84, 1.56)	0.56
10	Irregularity change	0-8 weeks	Ulhaq 2017	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: cosmetic (TP)	-0.36 (-1.30, 0.58)	0.45
11	Irregularity change	0-8 weeks	Ulhaq 2017	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: cosmetic (Toothtone)	0.13 (-0.92, 1.18)	0.81
12	Irregularity change	0-8 weeks	El Shehawy 2020	No laser	Laser	0.16 (-0.14, 0.46)	0.30
13	Irregularity change	0-12 weeks	Little 2017	Non-Ex	Ex	2.04 (1.13, 2.95)	<0.001
14	Irregularity change	0-12 weeks	Little 2017	Ligature: conventional	Ligature: figure-8	-0.45 (-1.32, 0.42)	0.31
15	Irregularity change	0-12 weeks	Sebastian 2019	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: coaxial superelastic NiTi	0.87 (-0.41, 2.15)	0.18
16	Irregularity change	0-12 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: superelastic NiTi	-0.10 (-1.64, 1.44)	0.90
17	Irregularity change	0-12 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: thermal NiTi	-0.30 (-1.65, 1.05)	0.66
18	Irregularity change	0-12 weeks	El Shehawy 2020	No laser	Laser	0.03 (-0.21, 0.27)	0.80
19	Irregularity change	0-16 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: thermal NiTi	-0.30 (-1.76, 1.16)	0.69
20	Irregularity change	0-16 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: superelastic NiTi	0.10 (-1.46, 1.66)	0.90
21	Irregularity change	0-16 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: thermal NiTi	-0.40 (-1.76, 0.96)	0.56
22	Irregularity change	4-8 weeks	Jahanbin 2019	Conventional brackets	Self-ligating brackets	-0.70 (-1.21, -0.19)	0.007
23	Irregularity change	4-8 weeks	Sebastian 2019	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: coaxial superelastic NiTi	0.03 (-1.46, 1.52)	0.97
24	Irregularity change	4-8 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: superelastic NiTi	0.50 (-0.69, 1.69)	0.41
25	Irregularity change	4-8 weeks	El Shehawy 2020	No laser	Laser	-0.09 (-0.32, 0.14)	0.45
26	Irregularity change	8-12 weeks	Uribe 2017	No SAO	SAO	-1.11 (-2.34, 0.12)	0.08
27	Irregularity change	8-12 weeks	Jahanbin 2019	Conventional brackets	Self-ligating brackets	-0.70 (-1.00, -0.40)	<0.001
28	Irregularity change	8-12 weeks	Sebastian 2019	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: coaxial superelastic NiTi	-0.44 (-1.30, 0.42)	0.31
29	Irregularity change	8-12 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: superelastic NiTi	-0.35 (-0.83, 0.13)	0.15
30	Irregularity change	8-12 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: thermal NiTi	0.10 (-0.41, 0.61)	0.70
31	Irregularity change	8-12 weeks	El Shehawy 2020	No laser	Laser	0.11 (-0.13, 0.35)	0.37
32	Irregularity change	12-16 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: thermal NiTi	0.10 (-0.14, 0.34)	0.41
33	Irregularity change	12-16 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: Nitinol	Wire: superelastic NiTi	0.20 (-0.04, 0.44)	0.10
34	Irregularity change	12-16 weeks	Abdelrahman 2015	Wire: superelastic NiTi	Wire: thermal NiTi	-0.10 (-0.31, 0.11)	0.34
35	Irregularity change	12-16 weeks	Jahanbin 2019	Conventional brackets	Self-ligating brackets	-0.18 (-0.43, 0.07)	0.16

CI, confidence interval; Ex, extraction; MD, mean difference; NiTi, Nickel-Titanium; SAO, surgically assisted orthodontics.

Outcome	Time-	Comparison (studies)	MD (95% CI)	Р	I ²	tau ²
	point				(95% CI)	(95% CI)
Incisor-	-	Thermal NiTi versus NiTi	-0.39	0.94	0%	0
alignment		wire (n=2)	(-9.91, 9.13)		(NC)	(NC)
duration						
Incisor-	-	SAO versus no SAO (n=4)	-44.31	< 0.001	94%	534.17
alignment-			(-68.90, -20.04) *		(58%, 99%)	(48.12,
duration						>1000.00)
Whole-arch	-	Self-ligating versus	83.79	0.26	95%	>1000.00
alignment-		conventional brackets (n=2)	(-63.27, 230.86)		(NC)	(NC)
duration						
Irregularity	0-4	Thermal NiTi versus NiTi	-0.22	0.61	0%	0
change	weeks	wire (n=2)	(-1.04, 0.61)		(0%, 99%)	(0, 45.07)
Irregularity	0-8	Thermal NiTi versus NiTi	-0.05	0.91	0%	0
change	weeks	wire (n=2)	(-0.87, 0.77)		(0%, 98%)	(0, 17.79)
Irregularity	0-12	Thermal NiTi versus NiTi	-0.22	0.61	0%	0
change	weeks	wire (n=2)	(-1.06, 0.62)		(0%, 98%)	(0, 20.45)
Irregularity	4-8	Thermal NiTi versus NiTi	0.04	0.88	36%	0.09
change	weeks	wire (n=2)	(-0.49, 0.57)		(0%, 100%)	(0, 29.76)
Irregularity	8-12	Thermal NiTi versus NiTi	-0.15	0.02	0%	0
change	weeks	wire (n=2)	(-0.27, -0.02)		(0%, 98%)	(0, 1.66)
Irregularity	0-4	Thermal NiTi versus	0.01	0.98	0%	0
change	weeks	superelastic NiTi wire (n=2)	(-0.71, 0.73)		(0%, 99%)	(0, 36.95)
Irregularity	0-8	Thermal NiTi versus	-0.19	0.63	0%	0
change	weeks	superelastic NiTi wire (n=2)	(-0.98, 0.59)		(0%, 98%)	(0, 18.18)
Irregularity	4-8	Thermal NiTi versus	-0.10	0.78	0%	0
change	weeks	superelastic NiTi wire (n=2)	(-0.78, 0.58)		(0%, 99%)	(0, 15.79)
Irregularity	0-8	Self-ligating versus	0.49	0.23	0%	0
change	weeks	conventional brackets (n=2)	(-0.31, 1.30)		(0%, 99%)	(0, 29.22)
Irregularity	0-16	Self-ligating versus	0.25	0.57	0%	0
change	weeks	conventional brackets (n=2)	(-0.61, 1.11)		(0%, 99%)	(0, 54.17)
Irregularity	0-4	SAO versus no SAO (n=2)	2.30	0.33	97%	10.92
change	weeks		(-2.36, 6.95)		(78%, 100%)	(1.31, >1000.0)
Irregularity	0-8	SAO versus no SAO (n=2)	1.48	0.37	94%	5.09
change	weeks		(-1.75, 4.70)		(60%, 100%)	(0.48, 679.70)
Irregularity	0-12	SAO versus no SAO (n=2)	-0.10	0.93	88%	2.20
change	weeks		(-2.27, 2.07)		(21%, 100%)	(0.08, 312.13)
Irregularity	4-8	SAO versus no SAO (n=2)	-0.95	0.19	67%	0.72
change	weeks		(-2.36, 0.47)		(0%, 100%)	(0, 133.57)

Table 2.5 Direct meta-analytical comparisons with Mean Differences (MDs) on alignment duration and irregularity change

CI, confidence interval; MD, mean difference; NiTi, Nickel-Titanium; SAO, surgically-assisted

orthodontics.

* 95% predictive interval -157.13 to 68.51 days.



Figure 2.5 Contour-enhanced Forest plot of effect on incisor alignment duration.

It shows the effects of thermal NiTi archwires vs conventional NiTi for change in the duration of incisor alignment in days (a), and the effect of surgically-assisted orthodontics vs non-surgically assisted orthodontics for change in incisor alignment duration in days (b). Colour contours indicate increasing effect magnitude from the middle to the ends of the forest plot: small effects (white), moderate effects (light grey), large effects (mid-grey), and very large effects (dark grey). CI, confidence interval; MD, mean difference; NiTi, Nickel-Titanium wire; SAO, surgically-assisted orthodontics.

Table 2.6 Summary of findings table according to the GRADE approach.

	Anticipated abs	solute effects (§	95% CI)		
Outcome Studies (patients)	Control group ^a	Experimental group	Difference in experimental group	Quality of the evidence (GRADE) ^b	What happens with experimental treatment
	NiTi	Thermal NiTi			
Incisor-alignment duration 2 trials (90 patients)	94.2 days	-	0.4 day less (9.9 less to 9.1 more)	□□□ □ high	Little to no difference in initial alignment duration
	No surgical insult	Surgically- assisted orthodontics			
Incisor-alignment duration 4 trials (153 patients)	124.2 days	-	44.3 days less (20.0 to 68.9 less)	due to bias	Shorter initial alignment duration
· · ·					
	Conventional brackets	Self-ligating brackets			
Whole-arch alignment duration 2 trials (158 patients)	245.4 days	-	83.8 days more (63.3 less to 230.9 more)	□□□ high	Little to no difference in complete alignment duration

Intervention: orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances with/without extractions and with/without adjuncts / Population: adolescent and adult patients with crowding / Setting: university clinics, hospitals, and private practice (Greece, India, Jordan, Syria, United Kingdom, United States of America).

^a Response in the control group is based on random-effects meta-analysis duration among the control groups.

^b Starts from "high"

^c Downgrading by one level should be done for bias (3 trials in low risk of bias and 1 in high risk of bias), but omission of the trial in high risk of bias led to even larger effect estimates (MD=-52.3 days; 95% CI=-74.1 to -30.48 days; P<0.001); therefore, no downgrading was done.

^d Considerable inconsistency observed ($I^2=93\%$), but this does not affect our decision about surgical assisted orthodontics, as all trials were on the same side of the forest plot. However, caution is warranted by the quantification of the actual reduction in alignment duration.

CI, confidence interval; GRADE, Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation.

2.3.4.3 Individual-patient-data

Apart from aggregate data available in certain articles, raw IPD was obtained for 3 out of 4 studies reporting on the primary outcome of duration to achieve whole-arch alignment in the mandibular dentition (Scott et al., 2008, Songra et al., 2014, Woodhouse et al., 2015). Modification of acquired datasets (237 adolescent/adult patients in total) was undertaken to create three datasets with overlapping characteristics (n=143 adolescent patients) compatible for re-analysis (Tables 2.7 and 2.8). Amongst patients with great irregularity (>7.0 mm), patient age was significantly associated with increased duration, 12.7 days on average per additional patient year (n=3 trials; 95% CI=7.7-17.7 days; P<0.001; Figure 2.6; Table 2.9). Whilst, among patients with small to moderate irregularity (<7.0 mm), alignment duration was increased by 17.5 days per additional mm of baseline-irregularity (n=2 trials; 95% CI=9.8-25.2 mm; P<0.001).

2.3.5 Additional analyses

Only two indirect meta-analyses included ≥ 10 studies and could be assessed for reporting biases. The contour-enhanced funnel plots exhibit some hints of asymmetry (Figure 2.7), which was not confirmed by Egger's test for weeks 0-4 (P=0.10) or weeks 0-8 (P=0.50). Sensitivity analyses according to the sole inclusion of studies with low risk of bias or studies with adequate sample size (>30 patients) found that results were consistent with original analyses (Table 2.10). Significant differences were found by both sensitivity analyses for alignment changes at weeks 4-8 and weeks 8-12; however, these were clinically irrelevant.

Variable	Data	Scott 2008 [†]	Songra 2014 [¥]	Woodhouse 2015
Patients	n	62	98	77
Age	Mean (SD) [range]	16.1 (4.4)	14.0 (1.3)	14.0 (1.7)
		[10.5, 37.6]	[11.0, 17.08]	[12.0, 19.0]
Age>18	n (%)	14 (23%)	0 (0%)	3 (4%)
Male	n (%)	32 (52%)	35 (36%)	38 (49%)
Centre1	n (%)	22 (35%)	-	33 (43%)
Centre2	n (%)	40 (65%)	-	15 (19%)
Centre2	n (%)	-	-	29 (38%)
LII	Median (IQR)	11.5 (9.2, 13.6)	7.4 (5.6, 10.9)	7.9 (5.5, 10.4)
	[Range]	[6.7, 21.4]]	[1.7, 19.8]	[0.4, 23.3]]
Differences	By intervention*	P=0.27	P<0.001	P=0.56
Differences	By centre*	P=0.02	-	P=0.02

sis.
5

Table 2.8 Characteristic of the refined	datasets available for re-analysis with age & LII overlap
(with age<18 years and LII>7).	

Variable	Data	Scott 2008 [†]	Songra 2014 [¥]	Woodhouse 2015
Patients	n	47	54	42
Age	Mean (SD) [range]	14.2 (1.6)	14.1 (1.4)	13.9 (1.5)
		[10.5, 17.9]	[11.6, 17.1]	[12.0, 17.0]
Age>18	n (%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)
Male	n (%)	27 (57%)	20 (37%)	20 (48%)
Centre1	n (%)	13 (28%)	-	24 (57%)
Centre2	n (%)	34 (72%)	-	6 (14%)
Centre2	n (%)	-	-	12 (29%)
LII	Median (IQR)	11.6 (9.1, 13.5)	10.1 (8.1, 12.6)	10.0 (8.2, 11.7)
	[Range]	[7.1, 21.4]	[7.1, 19.8]	[7.0, 23.3]
Differences	By intervention*	0.21	0.03	0.76
Differences	By centre*	0.12	-	0.02

Note. Comment on the compatibility of the 3 available trial datasets: an overlap among the available 3 trial samples is refined with age<18 y and LII>7 mm to analyze them in a parallel manner.

IQR, interquartile range; LII, Little's irregularity index; SD, standard deviation; y, year.

* P value from 1-way analysis of variance on the transformed alignment duration; \oplus Re-analyzing the data of Scott 2008 in order to assess the effect of baseline patient age on alignment duration according to patient age category (underage <18 years vs overage >18 years), indicates that age has a different effect on underage patients (coefficient=11.45; 95% Confidence Interval [CI]=4.04 to 18.85) and overage patients (coefficient=-0.25; 95% CI=-0.45 to -0.05)—a difference that is statistically significant (P for subgroups=0.02); ¥ Re-analyzing the data of Songra 2014 in order to assess the effect of baseline patient age on alignment duration according to Little's Irregularity Index (LII) category (LII <7 mm vs. LII >7 mm), indicates that age has a different effect on patients with LII<7 mm (coefficient=-11.52; 95% Confidence Interval [CI]=-35.59 to 12.54) and patients with LII>7 mm (coefficient=20.88; 95% CI=-7.18 to 48.94)—a difference that is statistically significant (P for subgroups=0.08).



Figure 2.6 Contour-enhanced Forest plot of effect on whole-arch alignment duration.

It shows the effect of patient baseline age, sex, Little's irregularity index, and Frankfort mandibular plane angle on whole-arch mandibular alignment duration in days. Colour contours indicate increasing effect magnitude from the middle to the ends of the forest plot: small effects (white), moderate effects (light grey), large effects (mid-grey), and very large effects (dark grey). CI, confidence interval; FMA, Frankfort mandibular plane.

		Crude analysis				Adjusted-for-confounders analysis		
Variable	Studies	Coefficient	Р	I ²		Coefficient	Р	I ²
		(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)		(95% CI)
Patients a	ged<18 ye	ars & LII>7 mm						
Age	3	14.53	< 0.001	0%		12.67	< 0.001	0%
		(7.25, 21.81)		(0%,		(7.65, 17.68)		(0%, 91%)
				89%)				
Sex	3	-8.58	0.28	0%		-6.13	0.25	0%
		(-24.09, 6.94)		(0%,		(-16.48, 4.21)		(0%,
				100%)				100%)
LII	3	-0.64	0.87	82%		-0.13	0.98	83%
		(-8.57, 7.28)		(31%,		(-8.17, 7.91)		(36%,
				99%)				99%)
FMA	1	-8.08	0.68	-		-0.46	0.98	-
		(-46.64, 30.48)				(-45.78, 44.85)		
Patients a	ged<18 &	LII<7 mm						
Age	2	-11.28	0.24	0%		0.66	0.95	0%
		(-29.97, 7.41)		(0%,		(-19.85, 21.17)		(0%,
				100%)				100%)
Sex	2	-35.51	0.26	56%		-13.68	0.44	0%
		(-96.85, 25.83)		(0%,		(-48.10, 20.74)		(0%,
				100%)				100%)
LII	2	19.01	< 0.001	0%		17.47	< 0.001	0%
		(11.33, 26.69)		(0%,		(9.77, 25.17)		(0%,
				100%)				100%)
FMA	1	14.54	0.64			11.44	0.70	
		(-47.14, 76.23)				(-48.03, 70.90)		

Table	2.9	Random-effects	meta-analysis	of t	the eff	ect of	f patient	baseline	age,	sex,	Little's
irregu	larit	y index, and FMA	A angle on dura	ation	of alig	nmen	t.				

CI, confidence interval; LII, Little's irregularity index.



Figure 2.7 Contour-enhanced funnel plot of the indirect meta-analysis of incisor irregularity change between 0-4 and 0-8 weeks.

Chapter 2 Duration of tooth alignment

Table 2.10 Pooled average (indirect meta-analysis) for alignment duration and anterior irregularity changes across identified randomized trials.

Outcome	Time-	Original	Low risk of bias	Large trials (>30		
	point			Trial Trial		
		Trials	Trials	1 rials		
		Average	Average	Average		
		(95% CI)	(95% CI) D*	(95% CI) D*		
Tu'4'-1-1'			P*	P*		
Initial alignment	-	n=9	n=6	n=/		
duration		100.73	104.98	104.09		
		(84.05, 117.41)	(82.50, 127.45)	(84.45, 123.74)		
			P=0.06	P=0.66		
Irregularity change	0-4	n=10	n=6	n=6		
	weeks	2.88	3.21	2.76		
		(2.12, 3.63)	(1.96, 4.46)	(1.85, 3.68)		
			P=0.93	P=0.72		
Irregularity change	0-8	n=12	n=6	n=8		
	weeks	4.37	5.05	4.06		
		(3.48, 5.26)	(3.46, 6.63)	(3.08, 5.04)		
			P=0.48	P=0.49		
Irregularity change	0-12	n=8	n=5	n=5		
	weeks	5.55	6.06	5.59		
		(4.39, 6.71)	(4.38, 7.74)	(3.69, 7.50)		
			P=0.54	P=0.41		
Irregularity change	4-8	n=9	n=5	n=5		
	weeks	1.54	1.68	1.34		
		(1.18, 1.90)	(1.14, 2.22)	(0.88, 1.80)		
			P=0.01	P=0.002		
Irregularity change	8-12	n=7	n=4	n=3		
	weeks	0.73	0.97	0.33		
		(0.33, 1.14)	(0.44, 1.49)	(0.05, 0.60)		
			P=0.009	P=0.005		

CI, confidence interval

* P value for subgroup differences according to methodological characteristic.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 Summary of evidence

The current systematic review summarises evidence from RCTs on treatment duration to achieve alignment of the mandibular dentition during the initial phase of orthodontic treatment using fixed orthodontic appliances. Out of the initially identified 3016 publications from the literature search, 35 studies were ultimately included, with a total of 2258 patients. The duration of orthodontic treatment was assessed in terms of time to whole-arch or incisor-alignment of the mandibular dentition.

High heterogeneity among studies was observed for the primary outcome of duration to achieve whole-arch alignment, with an average pooled duration of 8.8 months. No significant differences were found between self-ligating and conventional-ligated brackets. However, a combined re-analysis of IPD obtained for three RCTs (Scott et al., 2008, Songra et al., 2014, Woodhouse et al., 2015) showed adolescent patient age significantly associated with the duration of time to achieve whole-arch alignment for (>7 mm) irregularity. After adjusting for confounding effects of baseline irregularity, gender, and mandibular plane angle, each additional patient year had an increased alignment duration of 12.7 days. There have previously been contradictory results for such a relationship (Abbing et al., 2006), but this could be due to the fact that this type of data is not identifiable from several small separate studies with different patient cohorts, whereas IPD enabled pooling among similar patient cohorts and increased statistical power. Likewise, among adolescent patients with <7mm irregularity, a relationship between baseline-irregularity and duration for whole-arch alignment was found, with 17.5 days added for each additional mm of irregularity, agreeing with previous data (Pandis et al., 2007).

Substantial variation was found in the incisor-alignment duration of the mandibular incisor teeth, with a pooled average of 100.7 days: and incisor irregularity changes during

treatment periods with pooled averages of 2.9 mm (month 1), 1.5 mm (months 1-2), 0.7 mm (months 2-3), 0.3 mm (months 3-4), 0.3 mm (months 4-5), and 0.2 mm (months 5-6). Interestingly, no clinically relevant differences were seen according to different NiTi archwires or the usage of surgical-assisted orthodontics. Nevertheless, there was extreme heterogeneity, which is to be expected due to the combination of different clinical settings, patient demographics, extractions, malocclusions, fixed appliances and treatment adjuncts (Abbing et al., 2020, Vig et al., 1990, Schubert et al., 2020, Vieira et al., 2018, Skidmore et al., 2006, Dudic et al., 2013). Furthermore, different time intervals between appointments were utilized across studies, including 2-weeks (Abdelrahman et al., 2015, Nahas et al., 2017), 3-weeks (Bansal et al., 2019), 4-weeks (Gibreal et al., 2019, Pandis et al., 2007, Uribe et al., 2017) and 10-weeks (Ong et al., 2011). This is potentially a key factor in clinical trials evaluating time periods to achieve teeth alignment, though it is difficult to control in real-world orthodontic care. Although the time between appointments is likely to affect alignment duration, there is no robust current evidence to support an ideal appointment interval (Keim, 2011).

Additionally, limited data is available on the effects of the rapidity of archwire progression during alignment. Overall, the effect of clinical setting variations and environment on treatment duration remains unknown (Mavreas and Athanasiou, 2008). Finally, the fact that initial alignment is a seemingly subjective variable also adds to heterogeneity.

Part of this heterogeneity can also be explained by the application of different treatment methods. Meta-analysis of four trials indicated that surgically-assisted orthodontics was associated with significantly shorter incisor-alignment duration compared to conventional orthodontics, which has previously been indicated (Fleming et al., 2015) and apparently applies to conventional (Afzal et al., 2020) or customised fixed appliances (Charavet et al., 2019) and OTM rate (Hoogeveen et al., 2014). However, no difference was observed for different NiTi archwires, which agrees with other studies demonstrating that there is insufficient evidence to

determine the effectiveness of different archwires in terms of alignment rate or duration (Wang et al., 2018, Riley and Bearn, 2009). Photobiomodulation was associated in a single trial with shorter incisor-alignment duration (Nahas et al., 2017), but contradicting results exist in the literature; some trials supporting (Doshi-Mehta and Bhad-Patil, 2012, AlShahrani et al., 2019, Cruz et al., 2004) and others rejecting (Limpanichkul et al., 2006a, Skidmore et al., 2006) the effectiveness of this intervention. Moreover, many of these studies only investigate the rate of OTM in the canine-retraction phase of treatment. Finally, one study found that self-ligating brackets significantly reduced incisor-alignment duration (Pandis et al., 2007), but this contradicts the findings of multiple other studies that have not reported this advantage (Miles, 2005, Miles et al., 2006, Scott et al., 2008, Songra et al., 2014).

Subgroup and meta-regression analyses showed that treatment-related characteristics were associated with tooth alignment. Premolar-extraction groups demonstrated greater alignment (irregularity-change) both in month 1 and month 2 compared to non-extraction groups (5.3 vs 2.3 mm; 7.5 vs 3.8 mm, respectively). This is consistent with other studies reporting significantly faster rates of alignment in extraction than non-extraction cases (Little and Spary, 2017, Ong et al., 2010, Scott et al., 2008). However, the overall treatment duration with extractions is significantly longer by around six months (Papageorgiou et al., 2017), with many other studies confirming this longer treatment duration with extractions (Alger, 1988, Fink and Smith, 1992, Skidmore et al., 2006). In addition, bracket slot size was associated with alignment alleviation at week 4-8, favouring minimally the 0.022-inch slot over 0.018-inch (1.6 vs 1.0 mm). This is similar to previous results demonstrating that the alignment rate is significantly faster for 0.022-inch bracket slot size in the mandibular arch (Cobb 3rd et al., 1998), but disagrees with another study and systematic review showing no difference (Yassir et al., 2019, Vieira et al., 2018). However, other studies reported longer treatment duration for
a 0.022-inch bracket slot size than a 0.018-inch slot (Detterline et al., 2010, Amditis and Smith, 2000).

2.4.2 Implications for clinical practice and research

This is the first comprehensive systematic review of the duration of teeth alignment during orthodontic treatment. It builds upon previous data on overall treatment duration using fixed appliances (Tsichlaki et al., 2016), the impact of various types of malocclusion (Mavreas and Athanasiou, 2008), treatment of adolescents and adults (Abbing et al., 2020), bracket or archwire design (Papageorgiou et al., 2014a, Riley and Bearn, 2009). The quality of data on overall treatment durations has improved in recent years, but there is now more data on alignment because this is a more often used and convenient metric in studies assessing the effectiveness of treatment interventions using fixed appliances. Researchers should work towards establishing studies that investigate the effect of different interventions on total treatment duration.

According to current data, most orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances will take just under two years to finish and will require approximately 18 visits (Tsichlaki et al., 2016). The findings of the current review indicate that teeth alignment might occupy almost one-third of the whole treatment duration. This indicates that shortening alignment time might contribute to shorter overall treatment durations, and practitioners should manage the alignment phase of treatment carefully. Interestingly, variations in appliance design had minimal influence on alignment rates, which was consistent with the findings of previous reviews (Papageorgiou et al., 2014a, Riley and Bearn, 2009). However, surgically-assisted orthodontics reduced incisor alignment time, and this adjunct treatment appears to be associated with higher rates of tooth movement - at least in the short term - for patients who are willing to undergo such a procedure.

2.4.3 Strengths and limitations

The strengths of this review include a priori registration (Sideri et al., 2018), extensive unrestricted comprehensive literature searching, the inclusion of RCTs (Papageorgiou et al., 2019, Papageorgiou et al., 2015b), contemporary statistics (Langan et al., 2019), assessment quality of meta-evidence according to GRADE (Guyatt et al., 2011) and transparent open dataset provision (Wazwaz et al., 2020).

However, this systematic review also has some limitations. The limitations are dependent upon methodological issues with the conduct of included studies, as well as high levels of heterogeneity between studies, which may introduce bias. Additionally, several studies had moderate to small sample sizes, which might influence the magnitude and precision of estimated effects (Cappelleri et al., 1996). Finally, due to the limited number of included trials and their incomplete reporting, all pre-planned subgroup and meta-regression analyses could not be carried out to identify factors associated with the outcome of interest.

2.5 Conclusions

The present systematic review identified 35 RCTs describing 2258 patients with a mean age of 17.8 years. The pooled duration for whole-arch alignment of the mandibular dentition was 263.0 days, whilst mandibular incisor-alignment took 100.7 days. Extreme heterogeneity was seen among trials for all indirect poolings. IPD analysis from three RCTs revealed that patient age was significantly associated with increased duration for the alignment of >7.0 mm irregularity, whereas for irregularity <7.0 mm, the alignment duration was increased for every mm of baseline irregularity. Future research studies investigating orthodontic tooth alignment rates would benefit from adequate sample sizes and more consistent outcome assessment methods. The data in this systematic analysis provide a basis for future RCTs assessing the rate of orthodontic teeth alignment using fixed appliances.

Chapter 3 Duration of canine retraction with fixed appliances: A systematic review and meta-analysis

3.1 Introduction

Comprehensive orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances can be divided into several phases, including alignment and levelling, space management (either creation or closure), correction of inter-arch relationships, and finishing or detailing of the occlusion. Comprehensive orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances is lengthy, with a previous systematic review reporting an average treatment duration of 24.9 months (Papageorgiou et al., 2017). In addition a recent systematic review reported that an average of 8.8 months (263.0 days) might be required to complete the first phase of teeth alignment (Wazwaz et al., 2022b). When orthodontic treatment involves the extraction of teeth, space closure can represent one of the most challenging phases of treatment (Ribeiro and Jacob, 2016) and can be associated with prolonged treatment duration (Papageorgiou et al., 2017, Mavreas and Athanasiou, 2008, Fisher et al., 2010, O'Brien et al., 1995, Skidmore et al., 2006, Germeç and Taner, 2008). In some cases, orthodontists will perform canine retraction mechanics as a separate stage of treatment, which can help to preserve anchorage during the establishment of inter-arch relationships. Furthermore, canine retraction is a common experimental model during investigations of different variables during OTM and determining average canine retraction duration and rate are useful metrics for evaluating treatment progress and planning future research in this domain.

Although a recent systematic review investigated the rate of canine retraction in patients undergoing orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances, it did not assess complete duration of

110

canine retraction, which is the most clinically relevant outcome for both patients and orthodontists. Additionally, studies included in the review used non-conventional measures (surgical and non-surgical adjuncts) to accelerate OTM; however, those that used conventional interventions were not included (MacDonald et al., 2020). Hence, the primary objective of this systematic review was to critically appraise clinical evidence from randomized clinical trials (RCTs) evaluating treatment duration required to fully retract maxillary canines following maxillary first premolar extractions in adolescent and adult patients undergoing orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances. The secondary objective was to assess the rate of canine retraction measured as the amount of canine tooth movement per unit time and identify associated factors.

3.2 Materials and methods

3.2.1 Protocol and registration

The protocol for this review was made a *priori* and registered in PROSPERO (CRD42020198596). This review was conducted and reported according to the Cochrane Handbook (version 6.3) (Higgins et al., 2021) and Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) 2020 statement (Page et al., 2021), respectively.

3.2.2 Eligibility criteria

According to the Participants-Intervention-Comparison-Outcome-Study design (PICOS) schema, included were: (P) human participants of any age, sex, ethnicity, or malocclusion in need of maxillary first premolar extraction followed by individual canine retraction as a part of an orthodontic treatment plan with full-arch fixed appliances; (I) retraction of maxillary canines

Chapter 3 Duration of canine retraction

using full-arch fixed appliances with or without any treatment adjuncts; (C) RCTs of any comparison involving various surgically-assisted or non-surgical treatment procedures, appliances, or adjuncts; (O) assessing duration and/or rate of maxillary canine retraction; (S) parallel-group or split-mouth (within patient randomized) RCTs. No limitations regarding language, publication year or status were applied. Excluded were studies involving animals, case reports or series, non-clinical and non-randomized studies, cross-sectional studies, studies using segmented arch mechanics or en-masse retraction, studies comprising patients with any systematic disease, craniofacial abnormalities, studies without comprehensive orthodontic treatment or eligible outcomes, and studies involving patients who had previously undergone orthodontic treatment, growth modification, or multidisciplinary treatment.

The primary outcome of this review was the duration of maxillary canine retraction in months from the start to completion of retraction. The amount of canine retraction relative to the observation time (canine retraction rate) was assessed as a secondary outcome.

3.2.3 Information sources, search strategy and study selection

Eight electronic databases (MEDLINE, Embase, Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials, Cochrane Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects, Scopus, Web of Science, and Latin American and Caribbean Health Sciences Literature) were searched systematically without restrictions for publication date, language or type from inception up to July 09, 2021, whereas the Directory of Open Access Journals (DOAJ), Digital Dissertations, metaRegister of Controlled Trials, Google Scholar as well as reference/citation lists of eligible articles or existing systematic reviews were manually searched additional papers. A detailed search strategy was created for each database. Individual search strategies were based on the search strategy developed for MEDLINE but modified appropriately for every database (Appendix 3.1).

3.2.4 Study selection, data items and collection

Two reviewers independently screened titles, abstracts, and full texts of identified studies to check for eligibility, with all discrepancies between reviewers resolved by discussion with a third reviewer. Data extraction was conducted independently by two reviewers, with similar discrepancy resolution using pre-determined and piloted extraction forms covering: (1) study characteristics (design, clinical setting, country); (2) patient characteristics (age/sex); (3) malocclusion and treatment characteristics; (4) appliance type; (5) intervention and/or adjunct interventions; (6) follow-up period; (7) outcome details.

3.2.5 Risk of bias in individual studies

The risk of bias of included studies was assessed according to Cochrane guidelines with the Risk of Bias 2.0 tool (Sterne et al., 2019) independently by two reviewers with the same discrepancy resolution approach.

3.2.6 Data synthesis and summary measures

An effort was made to maximize data output from included trials, and where data were missing, raw data from studies on the primary outcome were calculated by us. Since orthodontic treatment outcome is inevitably affected by patient and treatment-related characteristics, a random-effects model was used to calculate the average distribution of true effects based on clinical and statistical reasoning (Papageorgiou, 2014) and a restricted maximum likelihood

Chapter 3 Duration of canine retraction

random-effects model was used according to recent guidance (Langan et al., 2019) and with the Hartung-Knapp correction (Hartung and Knapp, 2001). Mean differences (MD) for continuous variables and their corresponding 95% CIs were calculated as effect sizes. Initially, indirect analyses of pooled averages were conducted to calculate average canine retraction duration or rate during orthodontic treatment with 95% CIs. Then direct meta-analysis was performed comparing trial-arms with different retraction methods or treatment adjuncts within each trial and pooling mean differences (MDs) across trials.

Between-study heterogeneity was assessed by inspecting forest plots by calculating τ^2 (absolute heterogeneity) and I² (relative heterogeneity) statistics, respectively. We considered I² over 75% to arbitrarily denote considerable heterogeneity while as well considering the localization of heterogeneity on the forest plot and the certainty around estimated heterogeneity estimates. Ninety-five per cent prediction intervals were calculated for meta-analyses of \geq 3 trials to incorporate and visualize existing heterogeneity and provide a range of probable effects in a future clinical setting.

All analyses were run in R (version 4.0.4)) and the dataset was openly provided (Wazwaz et al., 2022a). All P values were 2-sided (α =5%, except the test of between-studies or between-subgroups heterogeneity where α -value was 10% (Ioannidis, 2008)).

3.2.7 Additional analyses, risk of bias across studies and quality of evidence

Possible sources of heterogeneity were planned a *priori* to be sought through subgroup analyses and random-effects meta-regression in meta-analyses of at least five studies according to patient age, gender, anchorage type, force magnitude, bracket type, bracket slot size and methods of canine retraction. Reporting biases (including the possibility of publication bias) were assessed for meta-analysis with \geq 7 trials with contour-enhanced funnel plots and Egger's test.

The certainty and overall quality of clinical recommendations were rated using the Grades of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, Evaluation (GRADE) framework (Guyatt et al., 2011) and revised summary of findings tables (Carrasco-Labra et al., 2016) were constructed for direct meta-analyses at three months of retraction which was arbitrarily deemed to be clinically relevant because no canine could have been fully retracted yet. Forest plots were augmented with contours representing the magnitude of observed effects to assess heterogeneity, imprecision, and clinical relevance.

3.2.8 Sensitivity analyses

Robustness of results was checked for meta-analyses of \geq 3 trials with sensitivity analyses based on (1) RCT design (parallel or split-mouth); (2) precision of trials primarily according to sample size (most-precise half / least-precise half); (3) and risk of bias (low or some concerns; or high).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Study selection and characteristics

The electronic literature search yielded 2253 results. Following the removal of duplicates, 915 titles and abstracts were screened, and the full text of 167 publications was checked against eligibility criteria (Appendix Table 3.1), whilst six additional studies were found through hand-searching. Finally, 50 publications reporting 50 studies were included, as depicted in the PRISMA flow diagram (Figure 3.1).

The characteristics of included trials are shown in Table 3.1. Among the 50 included RCTs, 44 were split-mouth and six were of parallel-group design. Included studies were undertaken in university clinics (n=37; 74%), private practices (n=2; 4%), hospitals (n=10; 20%), or both private practice and university (n=1; 2%) and originated from 17 different countries, including Australia, Brazil, China, Dominican Republic, Egypt, India, Iran, Jordan, Japan, Malaysia, Pakistan, Switzerland, Saudi Arabia, Syria, Thailand, Turkey and the United States of America. Of the 50 trials included, 48 (96%) were single-centre and 2 (4%) were multi-centre. The 50 studies included 811 patients with a mean age of 19.86 years (reported in 38 trials). Out of the 40 trials reporting on patient gender, 561/844 patients were female (66%), and 283 (34%) were male.

Nineteen studies (38%) did not report on malocclusion type, 3 included class I (6%), 14 included class II division1 malocclusion (28%), 1 included class II malocclusion (2%), 6 included patients with either class I or class II division1 malocclusion (12%), 3 included patients with either class I or class II malocclusion (6%), 1 included patients with either class II division1 malocclusion or crowding (2%), 2 included patients with either severe crowding or protrusion that require first premolars extractions (4%), and 1 included patients with either class II or bimaxillary protrusion (2%).

Forty-six studies reported on the amount of canine tooth movement measured at certain time intervals, and 4 reported the amount of canine tooth movement and duration. Canine retraction duration is assessed as the time between the beginning of force application for canine retraction and the completion of full canine retraction, while the rate of canine retraction was determined as the amount of canine tooth movement divided by the time interval. The amount of canine tooth movement was calculated at a specific time interval by measuring the distance between numerous reference points. Canine tooth movement was assessed, either from stone models (n=13), scanned models (n=19), intra-orally (n=8), intra-oral scans (n=2), on digital

photocopies of models (n=5), both on scanned models and intra-orally (n=2), or both on stonemodels and intra-orally (n=1). Time points used in this study were 0, 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5 months, and the amount of tooth movement was measured for the following time intervals 0-1, 0-2, 0-3, 0-4, 0-5, 1-2, 2-3, 3-4, and 4-5 months, if possible.

Canine retraction duration and/or amount of canine tooth movement was compared between different interventions, including different retraction methods (n=1), different bracket types (n=3), different ligation methods (n=1), and different orthodontic forces (n=1). Most studies used adjuncts to orthodontic treatment, including surgically-assisted orthodontics (n=18), photobiomodulation (n=14), vibration (n=4), low-intensity pulsed ultrasound (n=1), both surgically-assisted orthodontics and photobiomodulation (n=3), both surgically-assisted orthodontics and local injection of platelet-rich fibrin (n=1), and local injection of platelet-rich fibrin or platelet-rich plasma (n=3).

Eighteen studies reported using temporary anchorage devices (TADs) to enhance anchorage: 15 used a transpalatal arch (TPA, including Nance button), 1 used both TADs and TPA, 1 used both TPA and headgear, 4 used ligations of second premolars and first molars together, 2 included the second molar in the anchor unit, 2 used vertical stopped loops, and 7 studies did not report on methods of anchorage reinforcement. In 46 studies, NiTi closed coil springs were used to retract the canines, delivering 150 grams (g) of force in 36 studies, 100 g in one study, 200 g in 3 studies, 120 g in one study, 180 g in one study, 61 g in one study, both 100 and 150 g in one study, and 50, 100, and 150 g in one study, with one study not reporting on force magnitude. At the same time, elastic chains were used in 4 studies delivering 150 g of force. Maxillary first premolars were extracted 0-6 weeks before fixed appliance placement in 22 studies, 6 months before retraction in 3 studies, 3 months before retraction in 2 studies, 0-4 weeks before retraction in 12 studies, with 11 studies not reporting on the timing of extraction.



Figure 3.1 Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses diagram for the identification and selection of studies eligible in this review. Reproduced from (Page et al., 2021).

Table 3.1 Characteristics of included studies.

Study	Design; setting;	Patients (M/F);	Malocclusion / Tx	Appliance	Intervention /	FU in wks	Outcome
· ·	country*	aget			Supplemental	(interval)	
(Abbas et al., 2016)	RCT (2 PA SMD);	A: 10 (NR); 15-25	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (Roth)	A: Corticotomy	0-(2)-12	RetractRate
	Uni; EGY	B: 10 (NR); 15-25			B: Piezocision		
(Ahmad et al	RCT (2 PA SMD):	(SMD)	NR / Ex of upper As	Labial CLB (NR)	Mucoperiosteal Flan /	0-2-6-14-16-	RetractRate:
(Anniad et al., 2020)	Uni; EGY	10 (0/10), 13-20	TAR / Ex of upper 45	Lablal CLD (IVK)	LLLT	End	RetractDur
(Abdelhameed and	RCT (3 PA SMD);	A: 10 (NR); 15-25	Cl. II or Bimax Prot / Ex of	Labial CLB (NR)	A: MOPs	0-(2)-12	RetractRate
Refai, 2018)	Uni; EGY	B: 10 (NR); 15-25	upper 4s		B: LLLT		
		C: 10 (NR); 15-25			C: MOPs + LLLT		
(Aboalnaga et al., 2019)	RCT (SMD); Uni; EGY	18 (F); 20.50	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (Roth)	MOPs	0-(4)-16	RetractRate
(Aboul-Ela et al.,	RCT (SMD); Uni;	13 (5/8); 19	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (NR)	Corticotomy	0-(4)-16	RetractRate
2011)	EGY						
(Alfawal et al.,	RCT (2 PA SMD);	A: 18 (7/11); 18.7 D: 18 (5/12): 17.47	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	A: Piezocision	0-(4)-16	RetractRate;
(Alikhani et al	PCT (2 PA SMD):	$\begin{array}{c} \text{D. 10} (5/13), 17.47 \\ \text{A: 10} (5/5): 26.8 \end{array}$	Cl II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	A: MOPs	0-(-)-4	RetractDui
(Alikilali et al., 2013)	Uni: USA	B: 10 (3/7): 24.7	CI. II/17 Ex of upper 43		B: CNT	0-(-)-4	RetractRate
(Alkebsi et al.,	RCT (SMD); Uni;	32 (8/24); 19.26	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	MOPs	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
2018)	JOR						
(Alqadasi et al.,	RCT (SMD); Hosp;	8 (NR); 15-40	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	MOPs	0-2-4-8-12	RetractRate
2019)	CHN						
(Alqadasi et al.,	RCT (2 PA SMD);	A: 10 (4/6); 20.89	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	A: MOPs	0-2-4-8-12	RetractRate
2021)	Hosp; CHN	B: 11 (5/6); 20.89			B: Piezocision	0.1.0.10.10	
(Al-Naoum et al., 2014)	SYR	30 (15/15); 20.04	CI. II / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	Corticotomy	0-1-2-4-8-12	RetractRate
(Al-Shafi et al.,	RCT (SMD); Hosp;	20 (10/10); 15.8	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial SLB	Light-emitting diode	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
2021)	CHE				lights		
(Araghbidikashani et al., 2017)	IRN	15 (6/9); 14.3	NR / Ex of upper 4s	NR	Different retraction methods / None	0-(4)-16	RetractRate
(Babanouri et al.,	RCT (2 PA SMD);	28 (NR); 16.3-35.2	Cl. I-II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	A: Buccal MOPs	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
2020)	Uni; IRN				B: Buccal and palatal		
(Cruz et al., 2004)	RCT (SMD): Pract:	11 (NR): 12-18	Crowding or Bimax Prot /	Labial CLB (Roth)	LLLT	0-(4)-8	RetractRate
	BRA		Ex of upper 4s	, í			
(Dakshina et al.,	RCT (SMD); Hosp;	24 (NR); > 18	NR/ Ex of upper 4s	NR	LLLT	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
2019)	IND						
(Deguchi et al.,	RCT (SMD); Uni;	30 (6/24); 21.30	Cl. I-II / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (NR)	Use of Clear Snap	0-(4)-End	RetractRate;
2007)	JPN						RetractDur

(Doshi-Mehta and Bhad-Patil, 2012)	RCT (SMD); Hosp; IND	20 (8/12); 12-23	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	LLLT	0-(NR)-12-End	RetractRate
(El-Timamy et al., 2020)	RCT (SMD); Uni; EGY	16 (0/16); 18	Crowding or Bimax Prot / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (Roth)	Local injection of Platelet-rich plasma	0-(4)-16	RetractRate
(Ekizer et al., 2016)	RCT (SMD); Uni; TUR	20 (7/13); 16.77	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (Roth)	Light-emitting diode lights	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
(Farid et al., 2019)	RCT (SMD); Uni; EGY	16 (0/16); 21.5	Cl. I-II / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (Roth)	Combined corticotomy and LLLT	0-(4)-16	RetractRate
(Feizbakhsh et al., 2018)	RCT (SMD); Uni; IRN	20 (12/8); 28	CI. I / Ex of 4s	Labial CLB (Roth)	MOPs	0-(0)-4	RetractRate
(Haliloglu-Ozkan et al., 2018)	RCT; Uni; TUR	EXP: 17 (10/7); 15.27 CNT: 15 (9/6); 16.13	NR / Ex of 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	MOPs	0-(4)-8	RetractRate
(Ozkan and Arici, 2021)	RCT (2 PA SMD); Uni; TUR	A: 12 (6/6); 17.27 B: 12 (6/6); 18.13	Cl. I-II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	A: MOPs B: CNT	0-(0)-4	RetractRate
(Hassan et al., 2016)	RCT (SMD); Uni; SYR	15 (4/11); 20.99	NR / Ex of upper 4s	One side: Labial CLB Other side: Labial SLB	Different bracket types / None	0-(0)-12	RetractRate
(Heravi et al., 2014)	RCT (SMD); Pract; IRN	20 (3/17); 22.1	NR / Ex of upper $4s \pm Ex$ of lower $4s$	Labial CLB (Roth)	LLLT	0-(4)-8	RetractRate
(Jaber et al., 2021)	RCT (SMD); Uni; SYR	18 (7/11); 16.9	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	LAFC	1-2-4-8-12	RetractRate
(Jivrajani and Bhad Patil, 2020)	RCT (SMD); Hosp; IND	10 (3/7); 14-24	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	LLLT	0-12-End	RetractRate; RetractDur
(Kansal et al., 2014)	RCT (SMD); Uni; IND	10 (NR); NR	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	LLLT	0-5-9	RetractRate
(Karci and Baka, 2021)	RCT (2 PA SMD); Uni; TUR	A: 12 (5/7); 16.84 B: 12 (5/7); 16.45	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	A: Piezocision B: Local injection of platelet-rich fibrin	1-(2)-12	RetractRate
(Kundi et al., 2020)	RCT; Uni; SAU	EXP/CNT: 30 (14/16); 27.9	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	MOPs	0-(0)-4	RetractRate
(Liao et al., 2017)	RCT (SMD); Uni; TUR & AUS	13 (NR); 13.6	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (NR)	Vibration	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
(Limpanichkul et al., 2006b)	RCT (SMD); Uni; THA	12 (4/8); 20.11	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (Roth) (SLB on upper 3s)	LLLT	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
(Mahmoudzadeh et al., 2020)	RCT (SMD); Uni & Pract; IRN	12 (3/9); 18.91	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	LAFC	0-4	RetractRate
(Mezomo et al., 2011)	RCT (SMD); Uni; BRA	15 (5/10); 18	Cl. I-II / Ex of upper 4s	One side: Labial CLB Other side: Labial SLB	Different bracket types / None	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
(Mistry et al., 2020)	RCT (SMD); Hosp; AUS	22 (7/15); 17.3	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial SLB (Hanson)	LLLT	0-(4)-12	RetractRate

(Reyes Pacheco et al., 2020)	RCT (SMD); Uni; DOM	17 (5/12); 33	Cl. I-II/1 / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	Using leukocyte- platelet–rich fibrin membranes	0-(4)-20	RetractRate
(Qamruddin et al., 2017)	RCT (SMD); Uni; PAK	22 (11/11); 19.8	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial SLB (MBT)	LLLT	0-(3)-9	RetractRate
(Qamruddin et al., 2021)	RCT (SMD); Uni; PAK	22 (11/11); 19.18	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	LIPUS	0-(3)-12	RetractRate
(Sharma et al., 2020)	RCT (SMD); Uni; IND	17 (NR); 18.87	Cl. I-II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	Corticotomy	0-(3)-End	RetractRate
(Siriphan et al., 2019)	RCT; Uni; THA	EXP1: 20 (3/17); 21.6 EXP2: 20 (5/15); 22.1 CNT: 20 (5/15); 20.9	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (Roth)	Vibration	0-12	RetractRate
(Taha et al., 2020)	RCT; Uni; USA	EXP: 10 (3/7); 15.9 CNT: 11 (4/7); 15.09	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	Vibration	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
(Telatar and Gungor, 2021)	RCT (2 PA); Uni; TUR	EXP: 11 (5/6); 15.8 CNT: 8 (5/3); 15.9	Crowding or Cl. II/I / Ex of 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	Vibration	0-(4)-24	RetractRate
(Thomas et al., 2021)	RCT (SMD); Hosp; IND	33 (9/24); 22.1	Cl. I-II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	MOPs	0-(2)-12	RetractRate
(Varella et al., 2018)	RCT (SMD); Hosp; IND	10 (4/6); 17.7	CI. I / Ex of 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	LLLT	0-(4)-8	RetractRate
(Wahab et al., 2013)	RCT; Uni; MYS	EXP/CNT: 20 (NR); 14-30	Cl. I-II/I / Ex of upper 4s	One side: Labial CLB Other side: Labial SLB	Different bracket types / None	0-(4)-12	RetractRate
(Wahab et al., 2015)	RCT (SMD); Uni; MYS	19 (6/13); 21.3	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial SLB (MBT)	Different orthodontic forces / None	0-(1)-5	RetractRate
(Yassaei et al., 2016)	RCT (SMD); Uni; IRN	11 (0/11); 19.0	CI. I / Ex of 4s	Labial CLB (NR)	LLLT	0-(4)-16	RetractRate
(Zeitounlouian et al., 2021)	RCT (SMD); Uni; SYR	21 (6/15); 20.85	Cl. II/I / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	Local injection of platelet-rich fibrin	0-(4)-20	RetractRate
(Zheng and Yang, 2021)	RCT (SMD); Hosp; CHN	12 (4/8); 18-28	NR / Ex of upper 4s	Labial CLB (MBT)	LLLT	0-(1)-4	RetractRate

* countries given with their alpha-3 codes.

[†] patient age is given either as mean (one value in without parenthesis) or if mean isn't reported as range (two values in parenthesis).

Bimax Prot, bimaxillary protrusion; Cl., (Angle's) Class; CLB, conventionally ligated bracket; CNT, control; Ex, extraction; EXP, experimental; FU, followup; Hosp, hospital; LAFC, laser-assisted flapless corticotomy; LIPUS, Low-intensity pulsed ultrasound; LLLT, low-level laser therapy; M/F, male / female; MBT, MacLaughlin-Bennet-Trevisi prescription; MOPs, micro-osteoperforations; NR, not reported; PA, parallel arms; Pract, private practice / clinic; RCT, randomized clinical trial; RetractDur, retraction duration; RetractRate, retraction rate; SLB, self-ligating bracket; SMD, split mouth design; Uni, university clinic; wk, week.

3.3.2 Risk of bias within studies

The risk of bias assessment for the 50 included studies is shown in Figures 3.2 and 3.3. The detailed risk of bias assessment for the included studies can be found in Appendix Table 3.2. A high risk of bias was observed in 14 studies (28%), with each study having at least one domain judged to have a high risk of bias or multiple domains judged to have some concerns. Nine studies were at high risk of bias due to issues with the randomization process, deviations from the intended interventions and missing outcome data. Four studies were at high risk of bias due to issues (lack of information concerning allocation concealment) and deviations from the intended interventions. One study was at high risk of bias due to a lack of random sequence generation and allocation concealment. Twenty studies (40%) showed concerns with the randomization process, mainly lack of information concealment (n=15), randomization sequence generation (n=4). The remaining 16 studies (32%) presented a low risk of bias except for the absence of a priori protocols, which would rule out selective reporting.



Figure 3.2 Overall risk of bias scores for the specific domains presented as percentages.

	D1	D2	Risk of bia	as domains	D5	Overall
Abbas 2016			-	(+	X
Ahmad 2020		Ň		A	A	Ň
Abdelhameed 2018		4	A	A	A	-
Aboalnaga 2019	Ā	A	A	A	H	A
Aboul-Ela 2011		A	A	A	A	
Alfawal 2018		A	A	A	A	$\overline{}$
Alikhani 2013		A	A	A	A	<u> </u>
Alkebsi 2018	Ā	A	Ā	A	A	A
Algadasi 2019	A	A	A	Ŧ	H	A
Algadasi 2020	A	A	A		A	A
Al-Naoum 2014	<u> </u>	Ŧ	A	Ŧ	Ŧ	-
Al-Shafi 2021	A	A	(Ŧ	H	A
Araghbidikashani 2017	· -	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	Ŧ	H	
Babanouri 2020	A	A	A	A	H	A
Cruz 2004	-	<u> </u>	-	A	(+)	Ň
Dakshina 2019	<u> </u>	-	<u> </u>	Ŧ	(+)	Ň
Deguchi 2007	ē	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	Ŧ	(+)	Ň
Doshi-Mehta 2012	<u> </u>	(+	((+)	H	-
El-Timamy 2020	A	Ŧ	(+)	Ŧ	H	+
Ekizer 2016	H	(+	(+	Ŧ	(+)	(+)
Farid 2019	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	Ŧ	(Ŧ
Feizbakhsh 2018	-	((+)	Ŧ	+	-
Haliloglu-Ozkan 2018		Ŧ	+	+	+	X
Haliloglu-Ozkan 2021	•	+	+	+	+	•
Hassan 2016	•	+	+	+	+	•
Heravi 2014	•	•	+	+	+	×
Jaber 2021	•	+	•	•	+	-
Jivrajani 2020		-	•	+	+	X
Kansal 2014	•	+	+	+	+	-
Karci 2021	•	+	+	+	+	-
Kundi 2020	+	+	+	+	+	+
Liao 2017	-	8	-	+	+	8
Limpanichkul 2006	-	-	-	+	+	
Mahmoudzadeh 2020	+	+	+	+	+	+
Mezomo 2011	-	+	+	+	+	-
Mistry 2020	•	+	+	+	+	+
Pacheco 2020	-	+	+	+	+	-
Qamruddin 2017	-	+	+	+	+	-
Qamruddin 2021	•	+	+	+	+	•
Sharma 2020	•	•	+	+	+	
Siriphan 2019	-	+	+	+	+	•
Taha 2020	-	+	+	+	+	-
Telatar 2020	-	+	+	+	+	-
Thomas 2021	•	+	+	+	+	+
Varella 2018	+	+	+	+	+	+
Wahab 2013	-	+	+	+	+	-
Wahab 2015	-	8	+	+	+	8
Yassaei 2016	-	+	+	+	+	-
Zeitounlouian 2021	-	+	+	+	+	-
Zheng 2021	-	-	+	+	+	8
	Domains: D1: Bias ar D2: Bias du D3: Bias du D4: Bias in D5: Bias in	ising from the le to deviation le to missing measuremen selection of t	e randomizations from intend outcome data to of the outco he reported re	on process. led intervention t. mo. esult.	Judgen n. 🔮 H - S - L	ment -ligh 3ome concerns _aw

Figure 3.3 Risk of bias assessments for included trials.

3.3.3 Results of individual studies, indirect analyses of pooled averages across trials, direct comparisons within and across trials

The pooled average duration to achieve total retraction of the maxillary canines was estimated from indirect meta-analyses at 4.98 months (2 trials; 95% CI=-2.92-12.88 months) (Table 3.2 and Figure 3.4). Pooled average canine tooth movement from baseline (beginning of canine retraction) was 0.97 mm at 1-month (23 trials; 95% CI=0.79-1.16), 1.83 mm at 2-months (20 trials; 95% CI=1.52-2.14), 2.44 mm at 3-months (23 trials; 95% CI=2.10-2.79), 3.49 mm at 4-months (6 trials; 95% CI=1.81-5.17), and 4.25 mm at 5-months (2 trials; 95% CI=0.36-8.14). Furthermore, pooled average canine retraction for each separate month was 0.84 mm for months 1-2 (21 trials; 95% CI=0.68-1.01), 0.73 mm for months 2-3 (17 trials; 95% CI=0.55-0.90) and 0.69 mm for months 3-4 (4 trials; 95% CI=0.08-1.31). As might be expected, substantial heterogeneity across studies was observed for most indirect poolings (I2>95%); thus, the 95% CIs might be more informative than the pooled point estimates (Appendix Figures 1-9).

Direct comparisons between different orthodontic forces, retraction methods, fixed appliances, or treatment adjuncts (including vibration, LLLT, surgically assisted orthodontics, or local injection of platelet-rich fibrin/plasma) were performed both in individual single studies (Appendix Table 3.3) and as meta-analyses of at least two studies (Table 3.3 and Appendix Figures 10-25). Meta-analysis of two trial arms demonstrated a significant reduction in canine retraction duration with surgical-assisted orthodontics (MD=1.11 months less; 95% CI=-2.32-0.10; P=0.05; Table 3.3 and Figure 3.5). Meta-analysis of 8 trial arms indicated that canine tooth movement was greater using LLLT (vs control; 0-3 months; MD=0.53 mm; P=0.05; Table 3.3 and Figure 3.6). Canine tooth movement was greater with surgically assisted orthodontics (vs non-surgical orthodontics) at month 0-1 (n=10; MD=0.52 mm; 95% CI=0.21

to 0.84 mm; P=0.004), months 0-2 (n= 8; MD=0.53 mm; 95% CI=0.06 to 0.97 mm; P=0.04), months 0-3 (n= 8; MD=0.67 mm; 95% CI=0.20 to 1.13 mm; P=0.01), and months 0-4 (n= 3; MD=1.13 mm; 95% CI=0.60 to 1.66 mm; P=0.01) (Table 3.3 and Figures 3.7 and 3.8).

Aside from these meta-analyses, several outcomes were assessed only by single studies and are listed in Appendix Table 3.3. Single study showed that total canine retraction duration was shorter using ClearSnap bracket attachments (vs none; MD=-2.43 months; 95% CI=-2.68 to -2.19 months; P<0.001), while a larger retraction force of 150g was found from a single study to be better both than a 100g force (MD=-0.50 month; 95% CI=-0.98 to -0.02 month; P=0.04) and a 50g force (MD=-1.30 month; 95% CI=-1.99 to -0.61 mm; P<0.001). Canine tooth movement was greater with coil spring (vs laceback; 0-4 months; MD=1.65 mm; 95% CI=0.04 to 3.26 mm; P=0.05) and with combined buccal/palatal MOPs (vs only buccal MOPs; 0-3 months; MD=0.79 mm; 95% CI=0.43 to 1.15 mm; P<0.001). Canine retraction rate was greater with self-ligating brackets (vs conventional-ligation; 0-3 months; MD=0.31 mm/month; P<0.001), and LLLT (vs control; 0-3 months; MD=0.42 mm/month; P<0.001).

Outcome	Trials	Pooled	Р	tau ² (95%	I ² (95% CI)	95%
		average		CI)		prediction
		(95% CI)				
Total retraction	2	4.98 (-2.92,	0.08	0.74 (-)	96% (89%,	-
duration		12.88)			99%)	
(months)						
Retraction month	23	0.97 (0.79,	< 0.001	0.16 (0.09,	99% (98%,	0.11, 1.83
0-1 (mm)		1.16)		0.33)	99%)	
Retraction month	20	1.83 (1.52,	< 0.001	0.39 (0.21,	98% (97%,	0.48, 3.17
0-2 (mm)		2.14)		0.89)	98%)	
Retraction month	23	2.44 (2.10,	< 0.001	0.60 (0.34,	99% (99%,	0.80, 4.08
0-3 (mm)		2.79)		1.21)	99%)	
Retraction month	6	3.49 (1.81,	0.003	2.48 (0.89,	100% (100%,	-1.25, 8.23
0-4 (mm)		5.17)		14.98)	100%)	
Retraction month	2	4.25 (0.36,	0.05	0.13 (-)	69% (0%,	-
0-5 (mm)		8.14)			93%)	
Retraction month	21	0.84 (0.68,	< 0.001	0.11 (0.06,	96% (95%,	0.12, 1.57
1-2 (mm)		1.01)		0.25)	97%)	
Retraction month	17	0.73 (0.55,	< 0.001	0.10 (0.05,	96% (95%,	0.04, 1.41
2-3 (mm)		0.90)		0.25)	97%)	
Retraction month	4	0.69 (0.08,	0.04	0.15 (0.04,	99% (99%,	-1.15, 2.54
3-4 (mm)		1.31)		1.98)	99%)	
Retraction month	4	0.92 (0.72,	< 0.001	0.01 (0,	65% (0%,	0.42, 1.42
0-3; averaged		1.12)		0.25)	88%)	
(mm/month)						

Fable 3.2 Indirect meta-analyses of 	pooled averages across the	control groups of all studies.
---	----------------------------	--------------------------------

Study	TE seTE	Total retraction duration (months)	Change 95%-CI Weight
Alfawal 2018 Deguchi 2007	4.36 0.19 5.60 0.17	+	4.36[3.99; 4.72]49.8%5.60[5.27; 5.93]50.2%
Random effects model Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 96\%$	-4	-2 0 2 4 6 8 10 12 1	4.98 [-2.92; 12.88] 100.0%

Figure 3.4 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on total retraction duration.

CI, confidence interval; seTE, standard error of the treatment effect; TE, treatment effect.

No	Experimental	Reference	Outcome	Trial	MD (95% CI)	Р	tau ² (95% CI)	I ² (95% CI)	95%
				arms		value			prediction
1	150g retraction	100g retraction	Retraction month	2	0.03 (-0.15, 0.22)	0.75	0 (-)	0% (-)	-
	force	force	0-1 (mm)						
2	PRP/PRF injection	Control /	Retraction month	2	-0.06 (3.42, 3.31)	0.87	0 (-)	69% (0%, 93%)	-
		saline injection	0-1 (mm)						
3	PRP/PRF injection	Control /	Retraction month	2	0.18 (-0.84, 1.19)	0.27	0 (-)	0% (-)	-
		saline injection	0-2 (mm)						
4	PRP/PRF injection	Control /	Retraction month	3	0.54 (-0.56, 1.63)	0.17	0.12 (0, 8,93)	49% (0, 85%)	-4,97, 6,04
	5	saline injection	0-3 (mm)						
5	PRP/PRF injection	Control /	Retraction month	2	0.24 (-3.66, 4.14)	0.58	0 (-)	0% (-)	-
	5	saline injection	0-4 (mm)						
6	PRP/PRF injection	Control /	Retraction month	2	-0.64 (-7.98, 6.71)	0.47	0.58 (-)	86% (46%, 97%)	-
	5	saline injection	0-5 (mm)						
7	PRP/PRF injection	Control /	Retraction month	2	0.26 (-2.08, 2.60)	0.39	0.02 (-)	36% (-)	-
	5	saline injection	1-2 (mm)						
8	PRP/PRF injection	Control /	Retraction month	2	-0.02 (-4.77, 4.73)	0.97	0.24 (-)	84% (32%, 96%)	-
	5	saline injection	2-3 (mm)						
9	PRP/PRF injection	Control /	Retraction month	2	0.23 (-0.27, 0.73)	0.11	0 (-)	0% (-)	-
	5	saline injection	3-4 (mm)						
10	LLLT	Control	Retraction month	9	0.22 (-0.04, 0.48)	0.09	0.11 (0.04, 0.37)	97% (96%, 98%)	-0.60, 1,04
			0-1 (mm)						
11	LLLT	Control	Retraction month	9	0.51 (-0.13, 1,15)	0.10	0.67 (0.27, 2.37)	98% (98%, 99%)	-1.53, 2.56
			0-2 (mm)						
12	LLLT	Control	Retraction month	8	0.53 (0.01, 1.05)	0.05	0.36 (0.14, 1.56)	99% (98%, 99%)	-1.04, 2.10
			0-3 (mm)						
13	LLLT	Control	Retraction month	9	0.32 (-0.08, 0.72)	0.11	0.27 (0.11, 0.95)	98% (97%, 99%)	-0.97, 1.61
			1-2 (mm)						
14	LLLT	Control	Retraction month	6	0.19 (-0.08, 0.45)	0.13	0.06 (0.02, 0.36)	97% (96%, 98%)	-0.57, 0.94
			2-3 (mm)						

15	Self-ligating	Conventional	Retraction month	3	0.59 (-0.45, 1.64)	0.13	0.15 (0.01, 5.73)	77% (24%, 93%)	-5.25, 6.44
	bracket	bracket	0-3 (mm)						
16	Adjunct vibration	Control	Retraction month	3	0.31 (-1.11, 1.73)	0.45	0.25 (0.01, 12.81)	77% (26%, 93%)	-7.29, 7.91
	-		0-3 (mm)						
17	Surgically-assisted	Control	Retraction month	10	0.52 (0.21, 0.84)	0.004	0.17 (0.07, 0.61)	95% (93%, 97%)	-0.47, 1.51
	orthodontics		0-1 (mm)						
18	Surgically-assisted	Control	Retraction month	8	0.53 (0.06, 0.97)	0.04	0.27 (0.10, 1.23)	91% (85%, 95%)	-0.84, 1.90
	orthodontics		0-2 (mm)						
19	Surgically-assisted	Control	Retraction month	8	0.67 (0.20, 1.13)	0.01	0.28 (0.10, 1.22)	94% (90%, 96%)	-0.71, 2.05
	orthodontics		0-3 (mm)						
20	Surgically-assisted	Control	Retraction month	3	1.13 (0.60, 1.66)	0.01	0 (0, 16.90)	46% (0%, 84%)	-0.50, 2.75
	orthodontics		0-4 (mm)						
21	Surgically-assisted	Control	Retraction month	9	0.25 (-0.01, 0.50)	0.05	0.06 (0.02, 0.51)	82% (68%, 90%)	-0.40, 0.89
	orthodontics		1-2 (mm)						
22	Surgically-assisted	Control	Retraction month	8	0.19 (-0.02, 0.40)	0.06	0.05 (0.02, 0.22)	90% (83%, 94%)	-0.41, 0.80
	orthodontics		2-3 (mm)						
23	Surgically-assisted	Control	Retraction month	2	-0.04 (-0.17, 0.08)	0.15	0 (-)	0% (-)	-
	orthodontics		3-4 (mm)						
24	Surgically-assisted	Control	Total retraction	2	-1.11 (-2.32, 0.10)	0.05	0 (-)	0% (-)	-
	orthodontics		duration (months)						

CI, confidence interval; LLLT, low level laser therapy; MD, mean difference; PRF, platelet-rich fibrin; PRP, platelet-rich plasma.



Figure 3.5 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on total retraction duration between surgically-assisted group and control group.

en, experimental number; em, experimental mean; esd, experimental standard deviation; cn, control mean; cm, control mean; csd, control standard deviation.



Figure 3.6 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 3 between LLLT group and control group.

en, experimental number; em, experimental mean; esd, experimental standard deviation; cn, control mean; cm, control mean; csd, control standard deviation.



Figure 3.7 Forest plots depicting the effect of surgically-assisted orthodontics vs non-surgically assisted orthodontics on the amount of canine tooth movement at months 0-1, 0-2, 0-3, 0-4 (in millimetres).

en, experimental number; em, experimental mean; esd, experimental standard deviation; cn, control mean; cm, control mean; csd, control standard deviation.



Figure 3.8 Forest plots depicting the effect of surgically-assisted orthodontics vs non-surgically assisted orthodontics on the amount of canine tooth movement at months 1-2 and 2-3 (in millimetres).

en, experimental number; em, experimental mean; esd, experimental standard deviation; cn, control mean; cm, control mean; csd, control standard deviation.

3.3.4 Additional analyses

Substantial heterogeneity was seen for most indirect poolings ($I^2>95\%$); therefore, subgroup and meta-regression analyses were employed to explore potential sources of heterogeneity. In the indirect analysis (Appendix Table 3.4), treatment with 0.018-inch slot brackets was associated with greater canine tooth movement than 0.022-inch slot brackets for months 0-2 (2.24 vs 1.72 mm, respectively; P=0.07), months 0-3 (3.41 vs 2.31 mm, respectively; P=0.003) and months 2-3 (0.96 vs 0.66 mm, respectively; P=0.06).

Subgroup analyses were likewise used to investigate sources of heterogeneity in the direct meta-analyses of MDs among the different modalities of surgically-assisted orthodontics (Table 3.4). Statistically significant subgroup differences were found among the four approaches (corticotomy, LAFC, MOPs, piezocision) for many time points. For the amount of total canine tooth movement in months 0-1, months 0-2 and months 0-3, consistent results were observed, implying laser corticotomy being the most effective, followed by piezocision and MOPs (P value for subgroup differences <0.10 in all instances). Similar results were observed for the monthly rates of canine retraction at months 1-2 or months 2-3, where LAFC or traditional corticotomy likewise proved most effective (P<0.001 amongst subgroups).

Subgroup and meta-regression analyses were employed to explore potential sources of heterogeneity for direct comparisons of MDs between different patient- or treatment-related characteristics (Appendix Table 3.5). Patient gender was significantly associated with the benefit of surgically-assisted orthodontics compared to conventional orthodontics (+0.22 mm per extra 10% males in the sample; P=0.03), which may possibly imply a gender-specific biological response to the former (Appendix Figure 3.25). Anchorage reinforcement with TADs was associated with reduced benefits of added canine retraction owing to surgically-assisted orthodontics compared to TPA-anchored mechanics for months 0-1 (0.33 vs 0.80 mm), months 0-2 (0.28 to 1.24 mm) and months 0-3 (0.43 to 1.36 mm) (P<0.001 in all cases). Nevertheless, these differences may indicate a measurement artefact not necessarily due to increased absolute canine retraction but rather an anchorage loss of the posterior unit that might affect canine movement measurements. Conventional-ligating brackets were associated with greater canine tooth movement than self-ligation (0.30 vs -0.05 mm; P=0.01).

Five indirect meta-analyses and six direct meta-analyses could be evaluated for reporting biases, but Egger's test showed no signs of funnel-plot asymmetry. Sensitivity analyses on the pooled average canine movement amounts (Table 3.5) demonstrated that RCTs

132

with parallel groups tended to report different canine retraction amounts than split-mouth RCTs, which may indicate artefacts due to different intra-arch configurations. No direct association between the risk of bias and amounts of canine retraction was found. Eventually, evidence of imprecision was found for the indirect analyses, where the most precise trials (i.e., those with probably larger sample sizes) demonstrated much more conservative amounts of retraction than more imprecise (smaller) trials.

For direct meta-analyses of MDs (Table 3.6), no differences were found between parallel groups and split-mouth RCTs or between studies with high risk and with low risk of bias/some concerns. Likewise, no considerable hints of reporting biases were observed with Egger's test. Sensitivity analyses according to study precision also did not detect any overestimation from imprecise studies (small-study effects) since in the two instances with P<0.10, the most precise trials showed greater treatment benefits from surgically-assisted orthodontics.

According to the GRADE analysis (Table 3.7), high quality of evidence supported increased canine retraction with surgically-assisted orthodontics, as well as a lack of effect for platelet-rich plasma/fibrin or self-ligating brackets. Moderate quality of evidence supported the finding of no benefit from adjunct use of vibration, due to the high risk-of-bias of one of the included studies.

		Effect with 959	% confidence interval		
Outcome	Corticotomy	Laser corticotomy	Micro-osteoperforations	Piezocision	Р
Retraction month 0-1 (mm)	-	n=2 MD 0.95 (-1.59, 3.49)	n=6 MD 0.27 (-0.08, 0.61)	n=2 MD 0.85 (0.41, 1.29)	< 0.001
Retraction month 0-2 (mm)	-	n=1 MD 1.15 (0.86, 1.43)	n=5 MD 0.27 (-0.21, 0.76)	n=2 MD 0.87 (-5.90, 7.64)	< 0.001
Retraction month 0-3 (mm)	-	n=1 MD 1.24 (0.90, 1.58)	n=4 MD 0.31 (-0.41, 1.03)	n=3 MD 0.97 (-0.20, 2.13)	0.005
Retraction month 0-4 (mm)	-	n=1 MD 1.08 (0.87, 1.29)	n=1 MD 0.05 (-1.27, 1.37)	n=1 MD 1.28 (0.98, 1.58)	0.16
Retraction month 1-2 (mm)	n=1 MD 0.63 (0.47, 0.80)	n=1 MD 0.39 (0.24, 0.53)	n=5 MD 0.17 (-0.03, 0.36)	n=2 MD -0.04 (-7.65, 7.57)	<0.001
Retraction month 2-3 (mm)	n=1 MD 0.65 (0.53, 0.77)	n=1 MD 0.10 (-0.06, 0.25)	n=4 MD 0.07 (-0.13, 0.28)	n=2 MD 0.15 (-0.53, 0.82)	<0.001
Retraction month 3-4 (mm)	-	n=1 MD -0.03 (-0.12, 0.06)	-	n=1 MD -0.05 (-0.12, 0.02)	0.72
Total retraction duration (months)	-	n=1 MD -1.20 (-1.76, -0.64)	-	n=1 MD -1.01 (-1.56, -0.46)	0.63

Table 3.4 Subgroup analyses for the various surgically assisted orthodontics approaches compared to control groups.

MD, mean difference.

		Retraction month 0-1 (mm)		(mm)	Retraction month 0-2 (mm)		Retraction month 0-3 (mm)		Retraction month 1-2 (mm)			Retraction month 2-3 (mm)				
Factor	Level	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Р
Design	Split-mouth	20	0.91	0.01	17	1.69	0.001	20	2.31	0.03	18	0.79	0.10	15	0.69	<0.001
			(0.72, 1.11)			(1.37, 2.01)			(1.96, 2.65)			(0.62, 0.95)			(0.50, 0.87)	
	Parallel	3	1.35		3	2.53		3	3.29		3	1.16		2	-0.05	
			(0.70, 1.99)			(1.61, 3.44)			(1.50, 5.08)			(0.24, 2.09)			(-0.33, 0.22)	
Risk of	Low / some	17	0.93	0.55	15	1.89	0.43	18	2.49	0.64	16	0.89	0.25	14	0.71	0.69
bias	concerns		(0.74, 1.13)			(1.51, 2.28)			(2.09, 2.87)			(0.68, 1.09)			(0.51, 0.91)	
	High	6	1.08		5	1.64		5	2.29		5	0.72		3	0.79	
			(0.51, 1.64)			(0.91, 2.37)			(1.27, 3.32)			(0.42, 1.02)			(0.05, 1.53)	
Egger's				0.34			0.13			0.20			0.32			0.63
test																
Precision	Most-precise	12	0.80	0.007	10	1.48	<0.001	12	2.17	0.04	11	0.68	0.002	9	0.65	0.23
	half		(0.54, 1.06)			(1.03, 1.92)			(1.67, 2.66)			(0.48, 0.88)			(0.41, 0.89)	
	Least-precise	11	1.21		10	2.25		11	2.78		10	1.08		8	0.84	
	half		(1.00, 1.41)			(1.97, 2.53)			(2.31, 3.26)			(0.87, 1.29)			(0.55, 1.13)	

Table 3.5 Sensitivity analyses and analyses of reporting biases for indirect meta-analyses from Table 3.2.

Table 3.6 Sensitivity analyses and analyses of reporting biases for direct meta-analyses from Table 3.3.

		LLLT vs control; retraction month 0-1 (mm)			Surgically-assisted orthodontics vs control; retraction month 0-1 (mm)			Surgically-assisted orthodontics vs control; retraction month 0-2 (mm)			Surgically-assisted orthodontics vs control; retraction month 0-3 (mm)			Surgically-assisted orthodontics vs control; retraction month 1-2 (mm)			or ret	Surgically-assisted orthodontics vs control; retraction month 2-3 (mm)	
		n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Ρ
Design	Split-mouth	9			9			7			8			8			8		
	Parallel	-			1			1			-			1			-		
Risk of bias	Low / some concerns	6	0.26 (-0.15, 0.66)	0.58	9	0.54 (0.19, 0.89)	0.66	7	0.53 (-0.02, 1.09)	0.91	8	-	-	8	0.26 (-0.03, 0.55)	0.48	8	-	
	High	3	0.14 (-0.50, 0.77)		1	0.40 (-0.12, 0.92)		1	0.49 (-0.08, 1.06)					1	0.09 (-0.30, 0.48)				
Egger's test		9		0.57	10		0.87	8		0.78	8		0.97	9		0.19	8		0.88
Precision	Most-precise half	4	0.29 (-0.36, 0.95)	0.54	5	0.38 (-0.10, 0.85)	0.20	4	0.83 (-0.06, 1.72)	0.02	4	0.43 (-0.30, 1.16)	0.15	4	0.34 (0.06, 0.61)	0.24	4	0.26 (-0.16, 0.68)	0.08
	Least- precise half	5	0.14 (-0.21, 0.50)		5	0.72 (0.15, 1.30)		4	0.13 (-0.26, 0.52)		4	0.96 (0.04, 1.89)		5	0.07 (-0.51, 0.65)		4	0 (-0.22, 0.22)	

Table 3.7 Summary of findings according to the GRADE approach for the month 0-3.

	Anticipated a	absolute effects (95	% CI)				
Outcome Studies (patients)	Control group ^a	Experimental group	Difference in experimental group	Quality of the evidence (GRADE) ^b	What happens with experimental treatment		
	Control	PRP/PRF					
Retraction in 3 months 3 trials (48 patients)	2.96 mm	-	0.5 mm more (0.5 less to 1.6 more)	ÅÅÅÅ high	Little to no difference in canine retraction		
	Control brackets	Self-ligating brackets					
Retraction in 3 months 3 trials (50 patients)	2.66 mm	-	0.6 mm more (0.5 less to 1.6 more)	ÅÅÅÅ high	Little to no difference in canine retraction		
	Control	Adjunct vibration					
Retraction in 3 months 3 trials (94 patients)	2.66 mm	-	0.3 mm more (1.1 less to 1.7 more)	ÅÅÅ• moderate ^c	Little to no difference in complete alignment duration		
	Control	Surgically- assisted orthodontics					
Retraction in 3 months 8 trials (152 patients)	2.28 mm	-	0.7 mm more (0.2 to 1.1 more)	ÅÅÅÅ high ^d	Greater canine retraction		

Intervention: orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances with extractions including canine retraction and with/without adjuncts / Population: adolescent and adult patients with crowding / Setting: university clinics, hospitals and private practice (Australia, Brazil, China, Egypt, Iran, Jordan, Malaysia, Syria, Thailand, Turkey, United States of America).

^a Response in the control group is based on random-effects meta-analysis duration among the control groups.

^b Starts from "high"

^c Downgraded by one levels for bias due to the inclusion of one trial with high risk of bias.

^d Considerable inconsistency observed (tau²=0.28; I^2 =94%), but this does not affect our decision about surgical assisted orthodontics, as the majority of trials were on the same side of the forest plot. However, caution is warranted by the quantification of the actual reduction in alignment duration.

CI, confidence interval; GRADE, Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation; PRF, platelet rich fibrin; PRP, platelet rich plasma

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Summary of evidence

This present systematic review summarises evidence from RCTs on canine retraction duration and rate following maxillary first premolar extractions using full-arch fixed orthodontic appliances. From the initially identified 2259 publications through the literature search, 50 trials were included, with a total of 811 patients. Canine retraction duration was assessed in terms of the time needed to fully retract maxillary canines, and canine retraction rate was determined as the amount of canine tooth movement per unit time.

This review found limited research evaluating our prespecified primary outcome, with only four studies assessing canine retraction duration. Two of the four studies were excluded from data synthesis because of missing data (Ahmad et al., 2020, Jivrajani and Bhad Patil, 2020). Clinical trials have focussed on canine retraction rate as a primary outcome of their interventions, but clinical data concerning complete retraction duration are lacking. The overall pooled average canine retraction duration was 4.98 months. The canine retraction phase is one of the most time-consuming phases of orthodontic treatment and shortening this time may lead to a shorter overall treatment duration (although choosing to retract the maxillary canine teeth as a separate phase of orthodontic treatment might be considered a more time-consuming process when compared with a single stage of en-masse retraction). The results of this review showed that surgically-assisted orthodontics caused a shorter retraction duration than control groups (1.11 months less). This is consistent with two recent reviews demonstrating that corticotomy-facilitated orthodontics results in a shorter treatment duration compared to conventional treatment (Gil et al., 2018, Apalimova et al., 2020). However, these results should be interpreted with caution because only two trials were included in data synthesis, and they might not be representative.

Substantial variation was observed in the amount of canine tooth movement taking place at different treatment-points. There was extreme heterogeneity across trials, explained by differences in clinical settings, patient demographics, type of malocclusion, anchorage reinforcement, fixed appliance type, treatment adjuncts, appointment intervals, and orthodontic mechanics (Mavreas and Athanasiou, 2008, Abbing et al., 2020, Vig et al., 1990, Schubert et al., 2020, Vieira et al., 2018). Furthermore, the timing of canine retraction initiation following premolar extraction varied among included trials. There is limited evidence available in relation to the timing of retraction; however, greater tooth movement at sites of recent extraction has been reported previously (Häsler et al., 1997), which could be related to the immediate tissue inflammatory responses after teeth extraction and RAP (Frost, 1989). Additionally, subgroup analysis indicated that 0.018-inch bracket slot size was associated with greater canine retraction than 0.022-inch. This agrees with previous findings that treatment duration is significantly shorter for 0.018-inch bracket slot size (Amditis and Smith, 2000, Detterline et al., 2010) but contradicts another study and systematic review finding no differences (Vieira et al., 2018, Yassir et al., 2019) and one study finding faster canine tooth movement with 0.022-inch slot size (Cobb et al., 1998).

Direct meta-analyses revealed that surgically-assisted orthodontics resulted in greater canine tooth movement than conventional orthodontics, which has previously been suggested (Fleming et al., 2015, Hoogeveen et al., 2014). High-quality evidence supported greater canine retraction with the surgically-assisted orthodontics at 3 months of treatment (8 trials; 152 patients). Subgroup analyses for the different surgically-assisted techniques showed significant differences. Between LAFC, MOPs and piezocision at months (0-1, 0-2, 0-3), the LAFC subgroup seemed to be the most effective, followed by piezocision and MOPs. Between the 4 subgroups at months (1-2, 2-3), corticotomy was the most efficient. Corticotomy is an invasive technique involving elevating a full thickness mucoperiosteal flap and causing trauma to the

bone, which suggests a scenario where bone injury accelerates all processes involved in healing, inflammation, bone modelling and remodelling- thus accelerating OTM (Frost, 1989, Cano et al., 2012, Wilcko et al., 2001). Previously, it has been demonstrated that corticotomy results in shorter orthodontic treatment duration (Gil et al., 2018, Bhattacharya et al., 2014) and faster OTM (Viwattanatipa and Charnchairerk, 2018, Aboul-Ela et al., 2011, Patterson et al., 2016, Kalemaj et al., 2015, Long et al., 2013). However, LAFC, MOPs, and piezocision are minimally invasive techniques with greater patient acceptance, yet there is limited evidence that these adjuncts may speed up OTM (Alfawal et al., 2016). The above-mentioned findings are consistent with previous results demonstrating that corticotomy was associated with a greater rate of canine tooth movement than piezocision (Viwattanatipa and Charnchairerk, 2018) and piezocision resulted in a greater tooth movement than MOP in a single trial (Alqadasi et al., 2021). Furthermore, piezocision and LAFC were associated in a single study with greater canine tooth movement than control groups (Alfawal et al., 2018). Moreover, after the first month, a reduced amount of canine tooth movement was evident with time, which might be explained by the transient effect of these techniques when carried out only once during orthodontic treatment (Frost, 1989).

Subgroup analyses for the direct meta-analyses showed that anchorage reinforcement methods were associated with amount of canine tooth movement. Orthodontic treatment without TADs or TPA was associated with greater tooth movement compared to TADs or TPA, and treatment with TPA was associated with greater tooth movement than TADs. This might be due to differences in the type of tooth movement, whether bodily or tipping. In trials that used TADs to enhance anchorage, NiTi closing coil springs were put between TADs and power arms; thus, the force passes through the centre of resistance, so bodily movement is anticipated. However, in other trials, NiTi closing coil springs were positioned at the bracket level between the first molar and canine hooks, and some tipping is inescapable. It has been shown previously

139

that tipping movements are associated with faster OTM rates than bodily movement (Lotzof et al., 1996, Huffman and Way, 1983, Shpack et al., 2008); nonetheless, the duration needed to fully retract the canine was longer because of the need for root uprighting canines retracted with tipping movement (Shpack et al., 2008). Furthermore, it is worth noting that most of the included trials followed up patients for three months after canine retraction, so the greater amount of canine tooth movement in those trials that did not use TADs might be due to tipping. In addition, different reference points were employed to measure the amount of canine tooth movement amongst the included trials, and some of these points are not stable, which may have influenced the estimates.

Finally, parallel groups RCTs tended to report a considerably greater amount of canine tooth movement compared to studies with a split-mouth design. Although a split-mouth trial design can eliminate inter-subject variability from the estimated treatment effect, cross-over effects, spilling of the effects, or contamination of one intervention to another are known drawbacks of this design (Pandis et al., 2013). Moreover, many studies had a small sample size, and most precise studies revealed different results than the least precise studies suggesting a small-study effect that might introduce bias and influence the precision of the estimates (Cappelleri et al., 1996).

3.4.2 Implications for clinical practice and research

Most studies employed a split-mouth design which assumes baseline equivalence between opposite sides of the dental arch and independence to various bilateral interventions, reducing sample size requirements. However, it should be noted that although canine retraction assays using split-mouth approaches are experimentally convenient models for investigating OTM, they have limited implications for understanding methods of reducing treatment duration;

Chapter 3 Duration of canine retraction

therefore, split-mouth design should be avoided, and randomization be performed at the level of the individual, not the dental arch. Another big concern is that a minority of studies reported on the time taken to achieve complete canine retraction (only 2 studies out of 50 included data on completion of retraction). Multiple studies reported retraction over different time intervals, with many of these only reporting over the short-term, often failing to follow up patients beyond one month. Even for those trials following canine retraction to completion, single canine retraction is only one component of orthodontic treatment in extraction cases, and whilst anchorage-conserving, it is likely to be more time-consuming than en-masse retraction of the six maxillary anterior teeth with sliding mechanics. Indeed, several of these trials use canine retraction against absolute anchorage, which is a sensible experimental model but will rarely be undertaken in routine treatment. In addition, another issue is the frequent reporting of percentage differences in OTM rates, which are mostly clinically meaningless. Future studies should ideally focus on the overall treatment duration, the influence of treatment adjuncts over this period, and the potential need for repeating them during orthodontic treatment. If canine retraction studies are performed, they should investigate complete retraction of the canines and avoid split-mouth designs. Our pooled duration of 5.0 months to achieve complete retraction of the canines presents useful guidance for future sample size calculations.

3.4.3 Strengths and limitations

The strengths of this review include a *priori* registered protocol (Sideri et al., 2018), extensive unrestricted comprehensive literature searching (Papageorgiou et al., 2019, Papageorgiou et al., 2015b), inclusion of RCTs (Langan et al., 2019), use of contemporary statistics, assessing the quality of evidence according to GRADE (Papageorgiou, 2014), and transparent provision of open dataset (Wazwaz et al., 2022a).

However, this systematic review also has some limitations, including methodological issues with the conduct of included studies and the high heterogeneity levels between studies that might influence conclusions. Furthermore, the limited number of trials with limited sample sizes reported on the primary outcome and the relatively short follow-up period after retraction might influence the precision of the effect. Moreover, most meta-analyses were based mainly on trials with split-mouth design and small sample sizes, which might influence the precision of the estimated effects (Cappelleri et al., 1996). Lastly, due to the small number of included studies and incomplete reporting, all pre-planned subgroup and meta-regression analyses could not be undertaken to identify factors associated with the outcome of interest.

3.5 Conclusions

This systematic review identified 50 studies describing 811 patients with a mean age of 19.9 years. Pooled duration to achieve complete retraction of the maxillary canines was approximately 5 months. Substantial heterogeneity was observed across trials which could be explained by the patient or treatment-related characteristics and differences in the included trial design. At 3 months of treatment, high-quality evidence supported greater canine retraction with surgically-assisted orthodontics, while the quality of evidence for the lack-of-benefit was high for both platelet-rich plasma/fibrin and self-ligating brackets and moderate for the adjunct vibration. Further high-quality, well-conducted, and transparently reported parallel-group RCTs with sufficient sample sizes (depending on adequate power calculations) and a more consistent methodology in outcome assessment should be considered to investigate clinically relevant outcomes, which will help identify methods to accelerate OTM. The findings of this systematic review should serve as a basis to inform power calculations for future research.

Chapter 4 The effect of adipokines on the production of inflammatory and ECM remodelling biomarkers in compressed human periodontal and gingival fibroblast: an in vitro cell culture study

4.1 Introduction

Orthodontic tooth movement (OTM) involves changes within the periodontium, which supports the teeth and consists of the periodontal ligament (PDL), gingiva, cementum, and alveolar bone. The PDL is a highly specialised connective tissue that attaches the tooth root cementum to the alveolar bone and is essential for tooth support and the structural integrity of these tissues (Kang et al., 2010, Yang et al., 2015a, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2009, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006). Approximately 50-60% of total PDL cellularity are fibroblasts (Jiang et al., 2016), which are mechanoresponsive and mediate periodontal tissue remodelling and regeneration during OTM (Jiang et al., 2016, Janjic et al., 2018, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2009). Gingival fibroblasts are the predominant cell type in human gingival connective tissue and are responsible for ECM remodelling, bone resorption, secretion of proteases and homeostasis under physiological and pathological conditions (Kong et al., 2018, Nan et al., 2019, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2009). Upon orthodontic force application, the tooth moves in the periodontal space inducing bone resorption on the compression side and bone deposition on the tension side (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006).

Initially, the tooth is displaced in the socket as a result of the force applied to the crown; this causes an immediate aseptic localised inflammatory reaction in the periodontal tissues, which is mediated by a variety of inflammatory cytokines, prostaglandins, proteases, and
Chapter 4 In vitro cell culture study

others, followed by extracellular matrix remodelling of the periodontium and ultimately tooth movement occurs (Meeran, 2012, Li et al., 2018, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006). IL-1 is a cytokine produced and released locally by mechanically stimulated cells as early as an hour and peaks at 24 hours, mediating the formative and resorptive stages of connective tissue remodelling during OTM (Meikle, 2006, Kapoor et al., 2014, Kumar et al., 2015). IL-1 has two isoforms, IL-1 α and IL-1 β , which have been demonstrated to have similar biological actions, both systemically and locally (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Kumar et al., 2015). Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) which play a crucial role in ECM remodelling of the periodontium during OTM, are a group of zinc-dependent proteases divided according to substrate specificity into six groups (Meeran, 2012, Behm et al., 2021a).

Obesity, which is on the rise in children and adults worldwide, is characterised by chronic low-grade inflammation (Fantuzzi, 2005, Weihrauch-Blüher and Wiegand, 2018). It has been demonstrated that the adipose tissue of obese individuals significantly increases the release of TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-8 (Fantuzzi, 2005, Ouchi et al., 2011). Adiponectin and leptin are adipokines mainly secreted by adipocytes (Ouchi et al., 2011), and obesity is associated with decreased adiponectin levels (Ouchi et al., 1999, Kadowaki and Yamauchi, 2005) and increased leptin levels (Considine et al., 1996). Leptin has a pro-inflammatory effect and is known to regulate the immune system and inflammatory reactions (Fantuzzi, 2005). Moreover, leptin is considered a cytokine whose receptor has a similar structure and functions with various long-chain helical cytokines such as IL-6 (Meeran, 2012, Williams et al., 2016, Ouchi et al., 2011). It has been reported previously that leptin increased the release of IL-6, IL-8, and MMPs in human periodontal fibroblasts (hPDLFs) and human gingival fibroblasts (hGFs) in vitro (Yun-Jung et al., 2013, Williams et al., 2016).

Adiponectin exerts anti-inflammatory effects (Iwayama et al., 2012). Low levels of adiponectin in patients with severe periodontal disease was reported previously (Zimmermann

144

Chapter 4 In vitro cell culture study

et al., 2013), and local injections of adiponectin reduced OTM in rats (Haugen et al., 2017). AdipoRon, an adiponectin receptor agonist, is an orally active substance that binds and activates adiponectin receptors (AdipoR1 and AdipoR2) and mimics some of the positive effects of adiponectin (Wu et al., 2019, Bhat et al., 2020). AdipoRon is widely known to have potent anti-obesity and anti-diabetic characteristics, making it a suitable candidate for the treatment of many disorders (Wu et al., 2019, Bhat et al., 2020).

Obesity and overweight pose a risk for the development and deterioration of periodontal diseases (Keller et al., 2015); also, obese and normal-weight patients respond differently to periodontal therapy (Papageorgiou et al., 2015a). Although there are very scarce studies in the literature on the association between obesity and OTM (Consolaro, 2017), some in vivo studies demonstrated that leptin levels in GCF considerably changed during OTM, indicating that leptin has a vital biological role in this process (Sar et al., 2019, Srinivasan et al., 2019, Saloom et al., 2017). Additionally, obesity impacts craniofacial and pubertal growth, bone metabolism and psychosocial well-being, which might affect orthodontic treatment of obese individuals (Neeley and Gonzales, 2007). Moreover, increased rates of OTM were observed in obese patients compared to normal weight-patients (Saloom et al., 2017).

OTM is a complex biological process involving several tissues, cells, and structures in vivo. Hence, in vitro models have evolved to simulate different forces during OTM using different cell types to investigate responses to forces at the cellular level. Various models have been used, including centrifugation, hydrostatic pressure, Flexercell tension system, fluid flow, vibration, and weight approaches (Janjic et al., 2018, Yang et al., 2015a, Schröder et al., 2020b, Long et al., 2002). The weight method has been considered the most appropriate approach to simulate orthodontic force generated on the compression side during OTM (Yang et al., 2015a, Janjic et al., 2018), which involves placing a weight over the cells to apply compressive force (Kanzaki et al., 2002).

Upon orthodontic force application, mechanical signals are transduced to the mechanosensory cells, and intracellular signalling pathways are activated. Several signalling pathways were reported to play a vital role in mechanical signal transduction and OTM (Li et al., 2021b, Fu et al., 2016, Janjic et al., 2018, Kang et al., 2010). The mechanistic target of rapamycin (mTOR) signalling pathway is a vital pathway that regulates cell growth, homeostasis, metabolism, proliferation, differentiation, and protein synthesis (Wang et al., 2019, Laplante and Sabatini, 2012). mTOR is a serine/threonine kinase and belongs to the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)-related kinase family (Xia et al., 2017, Laplante and Sabatini, 2012, Dancey, 2010). It interacts with several proteins to form two physically and functionally distinct complexes, mTOR complex 1 (mTORC1) and mTOR complex 2 (mTORC2) (Laplante and Sabatini, 2012, Ma and Blenis, 2009). mTORC1 controls protein synthesis and responds to different stimuli, including growth factors, amino acids, energy, oxygen, and stress (Laplante and Sabatini, 2012). The upstream Protein kinase B (AKT/PKB) activates mTORC1, which in turn can induce protein synthesis by directly phosphorylating two downstream proteins, S6K1 (ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1) and 4E-BP1 (the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E binding protein 1) (Qi and Zhang, 2014, Laplante and Sabatini, 2012, Dancey, 2010). Moreover, mTORC1 regulates cellular metabolism positively and autophagy negatively (Blawat et al., 2020, Laplante and Sabatini, 2012). Scarce information about mTORC2 is available; it directly activates Akt by phosphorylation and regulates cell survival and cytoskeletal organisation (Dancey, 2010, Laplante and Sabatini, 2012). In mTOR signalling, AKT is crucial as it is an upstream activator of mTORC1 as well as a downstream effector of mTORC2 (Dancey, 2010) (Figure 4.1). PI3K/AKT/mTOR/P70S6K signalling pathway was previously found to have a pivotal role in the remodelling of the periodontium and to be involved in OTM (Xu et al., 2017). Autophagy is considered a protective catabolic mechanism that involves degrading cellular organelles, cytoplasm, lipids, or aberrant proteins

triggered by stress or starvation (Li et al., 2021b, Rabinowitz and White, 2010). mTOR signalling is directly involved in autophagic vesicle formation, and mTOR inhibition promotes autophagy (Pattingre et al., 2008, Jiang et al., 2022, Li et al., 2021a). Autophagy was demonstrated to be induced by orthodontic loading of mice molars and was correlated with inflammatory biomarkers (Li et al., 2021a). Moreover, autophagy was increased in hPDLFs subjected to compressive forces (Huang et al., 2021, Chen et al., 2019).

It has been demonstrated that mTOR signalling pathway activity is triggered by hyperglycaemia or hyperlipidaemia (Pal China et al., 2018). Adiponectin shows cytoprotective effects and has been found to inhibit the mTOR signalling pathway (Choi et al., 2020) and induce autophagy (Pal China et al., 2018).

Cultured hPDLFs have been extensively used in vitro to study the biochemical responses of the cells to different stimuli due to their pivotal role in OTM and periodontal disease. However, hGFs have received scant attention, albeit of their importance in the overall response to orthodontic forces. Thereby, hPDLFs and hGFs will be investigated in this in vitro study using weight loading approach to simulate orthodontic forces. As described above, orthodontic forces induce inflammation and ECM remodelling of the periodontium, and obesity-related biomarkers have anti-inflammatory (adiponectin) and pro-inflammatory (leptin) effects. Therefore, this study aimed to measure the effect of adipokines on the expression of inflammation and ECM remodelling markers in compressed hPDLFs and hGFs cells. Specifically, to measure the effect of AdipoRon and leptin on IL-1 α -induced expression of inflammation (IL-6 and IL-8) and ECM remodelling markers (MMPs) in the presence or absence of compressive force. And finally, to investigate the mechanism of compressive force and adipokines through the phosphorylation of mTOR upstream and downstream proteins in hPDLFs and hGFs cells.



Figure 4.1 Overview of mTOR signalling pathway.

PI3K activates AKT by phosphorylation, then AKT activates mTORC1, which in turn directly phosphorylates S6K1 and 4E-BP1 to promote growth, proliferation, metabolism, and protein synthesis and inhibits autophagy. mTOR2 directly activates AKT via phosphorylation and regulates cell survival and cytoskeletal organisation. PI3K, phosphoinositol-3 kinase; p, phosphorylated; Thr; threonine; Ser, serine; AKT, protein kinase B; mTOR, mechanistic target of rapamycin; S6K1, ribosomal protein S6 kinase 1; 4E-BP1, eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E-binding protein 1 (Laplante and Sabatini, 2012, Gao et al., 2012, Ma and Blenis, 2009, Blawat et al., 2020, Dancey, 2010).

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Cell culture

Primary hGFs were derived from healthy gingival tissues isolated from third molar extraction sites, and primary hPDLFs were derived from the periodontal tissue around the mid-third of extracted lower third molars roots from healthy, non-smoking patients aged between 20-35 years old. Ethical approval was obtained from Kent NHS Research Ethics Committee (Reference No: 11/LO/0259), and informed written consent was obtained from all the patients. HPDLFs and hGFs were characterized by their spindle-shaped morphology (Figure 4.2); their isolation and characterization was performed by the periodontal group and have been previously described (Garna et al., 2022).

HGFs and hPDLFs were grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium (DMEM)– high glucose (4500 mg/L glucose) (D6429-500ML, Sigma-Aldrich), supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (F9665-100ML, Sigma-Aldrich), and 1% penicillin-streptomycin (P4333-100ML, Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO2 humidified incubator in T75 flasks (Greiner Bio-one), and they were split when approximately 80-90% confluent using 0.25 % trypsin-EDTA (1X) (25200056, Gibco). Cells from passages 4 to 8 were randomly seeded at a density of $3x10^5$ cells/well in 6-well culture plates (StarLab) for all conducted experiments and grown overnight in a humidified incubator at 37 °C with 5 % CO2. After overnight incubation, cells were stimulated with IL-1 α (12778-2UG, Sigma-Aldrich), Recombinant human Leptin (398-LP-05M, Biotechne), and AdipoRon (5096/10, Tocris, Biotechne). The chosen concentrations used in this study have been published and reported to be efficient for similar experiments with hPDLFs and hGFs. Cells were stimulated with leptin (10 μ g/ml) (Yun-Jung et al., 2013, Schröder et al., 2021, Williams et al., 2016), IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml) (Williams et al., 2016), and AdipoRon (40 μ M) (Wu et al., 2019), and compressive

Chapter 4 In vitro cell culture study

forces alone or in combination, for 24, 48, and 72 hours. Each experiment was repeated three times, and unstimulated cells at each time point served as a control.



Figure 4.2 The appearance of hPDLFs and hGFs under the light microscope. hPDLFs (**a**) and hGF (**b**) were seeded at a density of $3x10^5$ cells/well in 6-well culture plates and were characterised by their spindle-shaped morphology as observed under the light microscope.

4.2.2 Compressive force application

To reproduce orthodontic forces generated during orthodontic tooth movement in vitro, a static continuous compressive force was generated using a weight placed onto confluent hGFs, and hPDLFs cell layer in a way that gravity elicits a static, compressive, and unidirectional force according to the method developed by Kanzaki et al. (Kanzaki et al., 2002). In brief, a glass cylinder (30 mm in diameter) has been placed over a confluent cell layer in the well of a 6-well culture plate (Figure 4.3). The weight was adjusted by adding metal parts to generate a compressive force of 2 gm/cm², as previously used with the same method simulating the forces that periodontal ligament cells experience when they are compressed between the alveolar bone and the root on the compression side during OTM (Niederau et al., 2020, Ullrich et al., 2019, Janjic et al., 2018).



Figure 4.3 The method used to simulate orthodontic forces in vitro.

(a) Schematic diagram depicting the method of compressive force application, adapted from (Kanzaki et al., 2002). (b) Compressive force was generated using a weight placed onto confluent hGFs, and hPDLFs cell layer. A glass cylinder (30 mm in diameter) was placed over a confluent cell layer in the well of a 6-well culture plate, and the weight was adjusted by adding metal parts to induce a compressive force of 2 gm/cm².

4.2.3 Total protein analysis

Total protein concentration in the samples was quantified using the Thermo ScientificTM PierceTM Bicinchoninic Acid (BCA) Protein Assay (Thermo Scientific, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The protein concentration was measured with reference to bovine serum albumin (BSA), which was used to prepare a duplicate set of diluted standards. Samples were diluted in deionized water (1:10) before the BCA working reagent was added. Then, the plate was incubated at 37°C in the incubator for 30 minutes. The absorbance was then measured at 540 nm using a Thermo Scientific multiskan FC plate reader. The known concentration of diluted BSA standard and their absorbance values were used to create a standard curve to calculate the unknown sample protein concentration.

4.2.4 Cell viability assay

The MTT (3-(4,5- dimethylthiazole-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) assay was used to assess cell metabolic activity under the various experimental conditions according to the manufacturer's protocol (M5655, Sigma-Aldrich). MTT (3-(4,5- dimethylthiazole-2-yl)-2,5- diphenyl tetrazolium bromide) is reduced to purple formazan granules in the mitochondria of living cells. In brief, hPDLFs and hGFs were seeded in 6-well culture plates and were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), leptin (10 µg/ml), AdipoRon (40 µM), and compressive force (2 gm/cm²) alone or in combination. After 24, 48, and 72 hours 2000 µl DMEM medium containing 200 µl MTT solution (5 mg/ml MTT in PBS) was added, and the culture plates were incubated at 37°C for 4 hours in the dark. Next, the MTT solution was carefully removed to avoid disturbing the formazan granules, and then an equal volume of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) was added to dissolve the granules. The absorbance of the purple-coloured solution was measured at 590 nm with a reference filter of 620 nm using a Thermo Scientific multiskan FC plate reader. Data were obtained from three experiments, and cell viability was expressed as a fold change relative to the unstimulated control.

4.2.5 Cytotoxicity assay

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) is an enzyme found almost within the cytoplasm of all cells. When cells die, the plasma membrane is damaged, and the contents of the cytosol are released into the cell culture supernatant. This is a crucial feature of cell death, and the amount of LDH in cell supernatants is directly proportional to the number of dead cells (Kumar et al., 2018). LDH assay was performed to assess cytotoxicity for the different experimental conditions using Cytotoxicity Detection Kit^{PLUS} (LDH) (4744926001, Roche) according to according to the manufacturer's protocol by measuring LDH activity released from the cytosol of damaged cells. One hundred µl cell supernatants were mixed with 100 µl freshly prepared LDH reaction

mixture and incubated for 25 minutes at room temperature in the dark. After that, 50 mL of stop solution was added and shaken for 10 seconds, and then absorbance was measured at 490 nm, subtracting background absorbance at 690 nm using a Thermo Scientific multiskan FC plate reader. Data were obtained from three experiments and are presented as a fold change relative to the unstimulated control.

4.2.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (R&D systems) was used to assess total human MMP-1 (DY901B-05), total MMP-3 (DY513-05), total MMP-8 (DY908), and total IL-8 (DY208-05) (active and pro-active forms) levels in hPDLFs and hGFs supernatants according to the manufacturer's protocol. For each ELISA, 96-well microplates (ThermoFisher Scientific, UK) were coated with capture antibody diluted in Dulbecco's Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS) (D8537-100ml, Sigma-Aldrich) to the working concentration and incubated overnight at room temperature. The microplates were then aspirated and washed with wash buffer (0.05% Tween-20 in PBS) three times. The plates were then blocked by adding reagent diluent (1 % Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) (Sigma-Aldrich, UK) in PBS) for 1 hour at room temperature. In the meantime, 2-fold serial dilutions of the standard in reagent diluent were carried out to produce a seven-point standard curve (MMP-1 top standard: 10,000 pg/ml, MMP-3 top standard: 4,000 pg/ml, IL-8 top standard: 4,000 pg/ml, IL-24 top standard: 4 ng/ml). Next, the microplates were aspirated and washed as above, and then standards, samples (diluted in reagent diluent), and blanks (reagent diluent) were added in duplicate and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. After that, the microplates were aspirated and washed as above, then the detection antibody diluted in reagent diluent to the working concentration was added and incubated for 2 hours at room temperature. Afterward, microplates were aspirated and washed as above, and then a streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase (HRP) solution, diluted in reagent diluent to the working concentration, was added and incubated for 20 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Later, the microplates were aspirated and washed as above before adding a substrate solution (SureBlueTM TMB 1-Component Microwell Peroxidase Substrate, Seracare) for 20 minutes at room temperature in the dark. Finally, a stop solution was added to the microplates to stop colour development. The optical density of each well was determined immediately at 450 nm using a Thermo Scientific multiskan FC plate reader. The blank and standard concentrations mean readings were used to generate a four-parameter logistic (4-PL) curve-fit (Appendix Figure 4.1). The standard curve was then used to calculate the sample concentrations, which were then multiplied by any dilution factors. Data were obtained from three experiments, and protein levels were expressed as a fold change in relation to the unstimulated control.

4.2.7 Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (RT-qPCR) analysis

Total RNA extraction was performed using RNeasy Micro Kit (74004, Qiagen according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, hGFs and hPDLFs supernatants were collected and stored at – 80°C for later analysis. Direct lysis of the cells was performed using lysis buffer supplemented with 1% 2-mercaptoethanol (Sigma-Aldrich, UK). The lysates were then collected and processed immediately. An equal volume of 70 % ethanol was added to the cell lysates and vortexed for 30 seconds. Next, the samples were transferred to an RNeasy MinElute spin column and centrifuged at 10000 g for 15 seconds. The spin columns were then washed before DNase solution was added and kept for 15 minutes at room temperature. Afterward, the spin columns were washed and centrifuged several times before RNase-free water (Qiagen, UK) was added directly to the centre of the spin column membranes to elute RNA into a clean collection tube by centrifugation at 14000 for 1 minute. RNA yield and the A260/280 and A260/230 ratios were then measured with the NanoDrop Spectrophotometer (Thermo Fischer

Scientific, UK). Readings of more than 1.8 for both ratios were regarded as high purity and used for cDNA synthesis. Two hundred ng of extracted RNA were reverse transcribed using iScript[™] cDNA Synthesis kit (1708841, Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's instructions. 20 µl of reverse transcription reaction was incubated in a thermal cycler as follows: 5 minutes at 25°C to promote primer annealing, 20 minutes at 46 °C to promote reverse transcription, 1 minute at 95 °C to inhibit the activity of the enzyme, and the reaction was ceased by transferring the tubes to ice (4 °C); cDNA was then diluted 10-fold with nucleasefree water (Bio-Rad, UK), aliquoted, and stored at - 20 °C. RT-qPCR reactions were prepared by adding 2 µl cDNA, 0.5 µl of each forward and reverse primers (10 µM) (Eurofins, UK), 5 µl SsoAdvanced[™] Universal SYBR Green Supermix (1725272, Bio-Rad), and 2 µl nucleasefree water to give a final volume of 10 µl per reaction. The qPCR technique consists of three basic steps: denaturation, annealing, and extension. At high temperatures (90-97 °C), the double-stranded DNA is first denatured into two single strands of DNA. Primers bind to the DNA template strands in the second stage, which takes place at a lower temperature (50-60 $^{\circ}$ C), to prime extension. In the third step, extension is carried out by a DNA polymerase at the end of the annealed primers to produce a new complimentary strand of DNA (Joshi and Deshpande, 2011). These steps are repeated 40 times (cycles). RT-qPCR was carried out using Corbett Rotor-Gene 6000 System (Qiagen, UK) according to the protocol for Corbett Rotor-Gene in Table 4.1.

The design for COX-2, IL-6, MMP-8, TIMP-1, and GAPDH primers were obtained from (Grimm et al., 2020), IL-8 (Wu et al., 2011), MMP-1 and MMP-3 (Gotoh et al., 2013), MMP-2 and MMP-9 (Liu et al., 2018), and MMP-7 (Cury et al., 2007). Primer specificity was checked by melt curve analysis, and the Melting curves of all primers showed a single peak indicating an absence of primer dimers (Appendix Figure 4.2); primers used and their sequences are listed in Table 4.2, and GAPDH was used as the housekeeping gene.

155

Relative gene quantification of RT-qPCR experiments was assessed according to the $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ method; the data are displayed as the fold change in the target gene expression normalized to the housekeeping gene and relative to the unstimulated control (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Data were obtained from three experiments, and cDNA from each experiment was analysed in duplicate.

Table 4.1 Corbett Rotor-Gene thermal cycling protocol

Setting/Mode	Polymerase	Amplification			Melt curve
	Activation and	Denaturation	Annealing/Extension	Cycles	analysis
	DNA		At 60 °C		
	Denaturation				
Fast	2 minutes at 98 °C	15 seconds	30 seconds	40	65-95 °C
					0.5 °C increment
					2-5 seconds /step

 Table 4.2 List of primers and sequences used for RT-qPCR

Gene	Forward 5'-3'	Reverse 5'-3'
COX-2	TTG AAG ATTATG TGC AAC AC	ATA GAG TGC TTC CAA CTC TG
IL-6	AGC CCT GAG AAA GGA GAC AT	CTT TTT CAG CCATCT TTG GA
Il-8	CAAACCTTTCCACCCCAAAT	CTCAGCCCTCTTCAAAAACT
MMP-1	TGGGCTTGAAGCTGCTTAC	TCGATATGCTTCACAGTTCTAGG
MMP-2	CTCATCGCAGATGCCTGGAA	CAGCCTAGCCAGTCGGATTTG
MMP-3	TGTCTCAAGATGATATAAATGGCATTC	TGCTGACAGCATCAAAGG
MMP-7	AAAGAGATCCCCCTGCATTT	GTGAGCATCTCCTCCGAGAC
MMP-8	GTT CAG CAA GCATTT TCG TT	CAC GGA GGA CAG GTA GAATG
MMP-9	ACGCACGACGTCTTCCAGTA	CCACCTGGTTCAACTCACTCC
TIMP-1	TGG ACT CTT GCA CAT CAC TAC CTGC	AGG CAA GGT GAC GGG ACT GGAA
GAPDH	AAA AAC CTG CCA AAT ATG AT-3'	CAG TGA GGG TCT CTC TCT TC-3'

4.2.8 Western Blotting

HPDLFs and hGFs were seeded in 6-well plates as described previously (Section cell culture). Cells were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), Leptin (10 µg/ml), AdipoRon (40 µM), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and Torin 1 (200 nM) (Tocris Bioscience, UK) for 24 hours. The supernatants were discarded, then ice-cold PBS was used to wash the cells. After aspirating PBS, cells were lysed using ice-cold RIPA buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, Poole, Dorset, UK) supplemented with protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, UK). Cells were then scraped, collected, and kept on ice. Next, the lysates were centrifuged at 10,000 g for 5 minutes at 4°C, and supernatants were collected, aliquoted, and stored at - 80°C for later use.

Samples were prepared by mixing with 5% NuPage lithium dodecyl sulphate sample buffer (LDS, Invitrogen, UK), 10% 0.5 M DTT (dithiothreitol), and boiled at 100°C for 5 minutes. Next, samples were separated on precast 4-2% SDS-PAGE gel (NuPAGE® Novex™ Bis-Tris Gels, Invitrogen, UK) at 125 mA and 200 volts for 32 minutes in Xcell vertical electrophoresis unit (Invitrogen, UK) with 25 ml running buffer (NP0002, Novex) and 475 ml deionized water. Proteins were then transferred onto the surface of a 0.22 µm pore-size nitrocellulose membrane (1620097, Bio-Rad, UK). The transfer was performed with a nitrocellulose membrane placed on top of the gel and sandwiched between filter paper and a sponge soaked with transfer buffer (25ml transfer buffer (NP0006, Novex), 50ml of Methanol, and 425ml of deionized water) at 30 volts constant and 170 mA for 60 minutes. The membrane was then blocked with 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in Tris Buffered Saline with Tween-20 (TBST) (50 mM TRIS, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween-20, PH 7.5) for 1 hour at room temperature. After that, the membrane was washed three times with TBST, followed by incubation with the proper working dilution of the primary antibody overnight at 4°C. The membrane was then washed three times with TBST and incubated with the recommended dilution of conjugated secondary antibody in TBST for 1 hour at room temperature. Next, the

membrane was washed thoroughly with TBST 3 times, 5 minutes each (primary and secondary antibodies used, and their dilutions are listed in Table 4.3). A mixture of ECL Clarity Western Peroxide solution and Luminal/Enhancer solution (1:1) (Bio-Rad, UK) was used to visualize protein bands using ChemiDocTM MP System (Bio-Rad, UK). The membranes were re-probed using an internal control antibody (β -actin) to normalise protein levels detected. Each experiment was repeated four times, and unstimulated cells served as a control. Data are presented as the fold change relative to the unstimulated control. Band quantification was carried out using ImageJ (Fiji).

 Table 4.3 List of antibodies used for western blotting.

Antibody	Host	Working dilution
Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (9271, Cell Signalling Technology)	Rabbit	1:1000
Akt (pan) (C67E7) (4691, Cell Signalling Technology)	Rabbit	1:1000
Phospho-4E-BP1 (T37/46) (236B4, Cell Signalling Technology)	Rabbit	1:1000
4E-BP1 (9452, Cell Signalling Technology)	Rabbit	1:1000
β-actin (A2228-200µl, (Sigma Aldrich, UK)	Mouse	1 μg/mL
Polyclonal Goat Anti-Mouse Immunoglobulins- HRP (P0447, Dako)	Goat	1:3000
Polyclonal swine anti-rabbit Immunoglobulins-HRP (P0217, Dako)	Swine	1:2000

4.2.9 Statistical analysis

Data were tested for normality using Shapiro-Wilk test. One-way ANOVA was used to analyse the normally distributed data followed by correction for multiple testing using Dunnett's or Tukey's multiple comparisons tests. Key significant values related to the aims of the study were reported. The significant differences between the control and the following variables were reported: compressive force, IL-1 α , leptin, AdipoRon, force+leptin, force+IL-1 α , force+AdipoRon, leptin+IL-1 α , AdipoRon+IL-1 α , leptin+IL1 α +force, and AdipoRon+IL-1 α +force. Also, the significant differences between IL-1 α stimulated cells and the following: force+IL-1 α , leptin+IL-1 α , AdipoRon+IL-1 α , leptin+IL1 α +force, and AdipoRon+IL-1 α +force. Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 9.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, California USA). The differences were considered statistically significant if p<0.05.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Cell viability of human periodontal and gingival fibroblasts

The MTT assay was used to assess cell viability of hPDLFs and hGFs after stimulation with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), leptin (10 μ g/ml) and AdipoRon (40 μ M) alone or in combination for 24, 48, and 72 hours.

For hPDLFs, the MTT assay showed that the metabolic activity of all the experimental stimulants was comparable to unstimulated cells after 24 hours (P>0.05). After 48 and 72 hours, IL-1 α , leptin, AdipoRon, leptin+IL-1 α , and AdipoRon+IL-1 α had no effect on cell viability compared to unstimulated cells (P>0.05). However, the compressive force (2 gm/cm²) significantly reduced the metabolic activity of hPDLFs after 48 and 72 hours when applied alone (p<0.001; p<0.0001) or combined with IL-1 α (both p<0.01), leptin (p<0.01; p<0.001), AdipoRon (p<0.001; p<0.0001), leptin+IL-1 α (p<0.001; p<0.001), and AdipoRon+IL-1 α (p<0.001; p<0.001) (Figure 4.4a-c).

For hGFs, metabolic activity of all the experimental stimulants was comparable to unstimulated cells after 24 hours stimulation (P>0.05). After 48 and 72 hours, cell viability of hGFs stimulated with IL-1 α , leptin, or AdipoRon was comparable to unstimulated cells (P > 0.05). Nevertheless, when leptin or AdipoRon was combined with IL-1 α , a significant increase in metabolic activity of hGFs was observed after 72 hours (p<0.05) but not after 48 hours (p>0.05). On the other hand, the compressive force (2 gm/cm²) caused a significant reduction

Chapter 4 In vitro cell culture study

in cell viability of hGFs when applied alone (p<0.0001) or combined with IL-1 α (p<0.001), leptin (p<0.05), AdipoRon (p<0.0001), leptin+IL-1 α (p<0.001), and AdipoRon+IL-1 α (p<0.0001) (Figure 4.4d-f).



Figure 4.4 The effect of IL-1a, leptin, AdipoRon, and force on cell viability of hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (d-f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), leptin (10 µg/ml), and AdipoRon (40 µM) alone or in combination. Cell viability was assessed using MTT assay after 24 (a & d), 48 (b & e), and 72 hours (c & f) of stimulation. Cell viability was expressed as a fold change relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; AD, AdipoRon; LEP, leptin;2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Dunnett-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; **** = p<0.001.

4.3.2 Cytotoxicity of IL-1a, compressive force, leptin, and AdipoRon

LDH activity was assessed in the supernatants of hPDLFs and hGFs. Cells were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), leptin (10 µg/ml), and AdipoRon (40 µM) alone or in combination for 24, 48, and 72 hours. LDH analysis revealed no significant differences in the cytotoxicity of all the different experimental conditions compared to the unstimulated cells at 24, 48, and 72 hours for both hGFs and hPDLFs, indicating no cytotoxic effects for any cell stimulation applied (Appendix Figure 4.3).

4.3.3 IL-6 expression

IL-6 gene expression was assessed by RT-qPCR. Compressive force (2 gm/cm²), AdipoRon (40 μ M), and leptin (10 μ g/ml) had no significant effect on IL-6 mRNA levels in hPDLFs and hGFs after 24-, 48-, and 72-hour stimulation.

For hPDLFs, IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml) significantly increased IL-6 mRNA expression compared to the unstimulated cells at 24, 48, and 72 hours (Figures 4.5 and 4.6). However, when hPDLFs were stimulated with both IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml) and AdipoRon (40 μ M), AdipoRon reduced IL-6 mRNA levels induced by IL-1 α at 24 hours (47.63 folds), 48 hours (36 folds), and 72 hours (5 folds); with significance at 48 hours compared to IL-1 α -stimulated hPDLFs (p<0.01) (Figure 4.5a-c). In contrast, the compressive force significantly increased IL-6 mRNA levels induced by IL-1 α in force+IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs at 24 (98.3 folds; p<0.05), 48 (39.7 folds; p<0.01), and 72 hours (12.4 folds; p<0.05) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs. However, this increase was diminished by AdipoRon in Adiporon+IL-1 α +force stimulated hPDLFs, and IL-6 mRNA levels were comparable to those of IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs at 24, 48, and 72 hours (Figure 4.5a-c). On the other hand, leptin and IL-1 α synergised to significantly increase IL-6 mRNA levels in leptin+IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs at 24 hours (106.4 folds; p<0.001) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs but were not significant at 48 and 72 hours (P>0.05). Furthermore, IL-6 mRNA levels were further enhanced in leptin+IL1 α +force stimulated hPDLFs at 24 hours (143.3 folds; p<0.0001 compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs) (Figure 4.6a-c).

For hGFs, IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml) significantly increased IL-6 mRNA expression compared to the unstimulated cells at 24, 48, and 72 hours. However, AdipoRon attenuated IL-6 mRNA expression induced by IL-1 α in Adiporon+IL-1 α stimulated hGFs by 42.9, 21.6, and 14.1 folds at 24, 48, and 72 hours, respectively, but without showing any significance compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.5d-f). On the contrary, the compressive force enhanced IL-6 mRNA expression induced by IL-1 α in force+IL-1 α stimulated hGFs by 43.8, 8.8, and 16.5 folds at 24, 48, and 72 hours, respectively, though, without any significance compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs (p<0.05) (Figures 4.5 and 4.6). However, this increase in IL-6 mRNA expression was reduced in Adiporon+IL-1 α +force stimulated hGFs at all time points (Figure 4.5d-f). On the other hand, IL-6 mRNA levels induced by IL-1 α were enhanced in the presence of leptin by 26.2, 9.2, and 20 folds at 24, 48, and 72 hours, respectively showing a significant increase only at 24 hours in leptin+IL1 α +force stimulated hGFs compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs (p<0.01) (Figure 4.6d-f).





hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (d-f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and AdipoRon (40 μ M) alone or in combination for 24 (a & d), 48 (b & e), and 72 (c & f) hours. IL-6 mRNA expression was assessed using RT-qPCR and measured using the 2^{-ddCt} method using GAPDH as the housekeeping gene and relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; AD, AdipoRon; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001; **** = p<0.001.



Figure 4.6 Relative IL-6 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (d-f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and leptin (10 µg/ml) alone or in combination for 24 (a & d), 48 (b & e), and 72 (c & f) hours. IL-6 mRNA expression was assessed using RT-qPCR and measured using the 2^{-ddCt} method using GAPDH as the housekeeping gene and relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; LEP, leptin; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001; **** = p<0.001.

4.3.4 IL-8 expression

IL-8 gene expression was assessed by RT-qPCR, and IL-8 protein concentration in the supernatant was assessed by ELISA (Figures 4.7 and 4.8).

For hPDLFs, compressive force (2 gm/cm²), AdipoRon (40 μ M), and leptin (10 μ g/ml) did not significantly change IL-8 mRNA and protein levels in hPDLFs after 24-, 48-, and 72hour stimulation. IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml) caused a significant increase in IL-8 mRNA and proteins levels compared to the unstimulated cells at 24, 48, and 72 hours (Figures 4.7 and 4.8). When hPDLFs were stimulated with AdipoRon+IL-1a, AdipoRon significantly decreased IL-8 mRNA levels induced by IL-1a at 24 (1634 folds; p<0.0001) and 48 hours (2444 folds; p<0.001) compared to IL-1α-stimulated hPDLFs. At 72 hours, IL-8 mRNA levels increased to a comparable level to IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs (p>0.05) (Figure 4.7a-c). To determine whether AdipoRon had a similar effect on IL-8 protein secretion induced by IL-1 α , IL-8 concentrations in the supernatants were assessed using ELISA. AdipoRon attenuated IL-1ainduced IL-8 protein secretion in hPDLFs at all time points but was statistically significant at 48 hours (53.1 folds; p<0.0001) and 72 hours (24.6 folds; p<0.05) compared to IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.7d-f). Conversely, force+IL-1a significantly increased IL-8 mRNA levels induced by IL-1a by 1454 folds (24 hours; p<0.001), 2683 folds (48 hours; p<0.05) and 4203 folds (72 hours; p<0.01) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs. Moreover, IL-8 protein levels in force+IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs were enhanced by 16.7, 7.8, 13.2 folds at 24, 48, and 72 hours, respectively, compared to IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs, though this increase was not significant. Nevertheless, AdipoRon, in the presence of compressive force, reduced IL-1α-induced IL-8 mRNA levels by 1308 folds (24 hours; p<0.001), 1762 folds (48 hours, p<0.05), and1509 folds (72 hours; p>0.05), and IL-8 protein levels by 24.9 folds (24 hours; p>0.05), 35.3 folds (48 hours; p<0.001), and 18.7 folds (72 hours; p>0.05), compared to IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.7a-f). On the other hand, IL-8 mRNA levels induced by

IL-1 α were increased in leptin+IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs at all time points, showing a significant increase at 24 hours (p<0.0001) (Figure 4.8a-c). IL-8 protein levels were also increased at all timepoints but were not statistically significant compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.8d-f). Additionally, the combination of leptin and force caused a further increase in IL-1 α -induced IL-8 mRNA and protein levels; IL-8 mRNA levels were increased at 24 (3208 folds; p<0.0001), 48 (3231 folds; p<0.05), and 72 hours (5471 folds; p<0.01) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.8a-c). Also, IL-8 protein levels were further enhanced at 24 hours (28.32 folds; p<0.01), 48 hours (24.46 folds; p>0.05), and 72 hours (37.2 folds; p<0.01) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.8d-f).

For hGFs, AdipoRon (40 µM) and leptin (10 µg/ml) did not significantly change IL-8 mRNA and protein levels after 24-, 48-, and 72-hour stimulation. However, compressive force increased IL-8 mRNA levels at 24 hours (2 folds), 48 hours (4 folds); and 72 hours (267 folds), but this increase was not statistically significant compared to unstimulated cells. Also, force resulted in a similar increase in IL-8 protein levels but was statistically significant at 72 hours compared to unstimulated cells (18.28 folds; p<0.01). IL-1a (0.1 ng/ml) significantly increased IL-8 mRNA and protein levels compared to the unstimulated cells at all time points (Figures 4.7 and 4.8). AdipoRon decreased IL-1α-induced IL-8 mRNA and protein levels in AdipoRon+IL-1a stimulated hGFs at all time points, with IL-8 mRNA showing a significant decrease at 24 hours (678.7 folds; p<0.05) and 48 hours (292.2 folds; p<0.001) (Figure 4.7gi), and IL-8 protein levels showing a significant decrease at 48 hours (41.1 folds; p<0.0001) compared to IL-1a stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.7j-l). In contrast, IL-8 mRNA and protein levels in force+IL-1a stimulated hGFs were increased at all time points; however, with significance at 48 (182 folds; p<0.05) and 72 hours (752.8 folds; p<0.0001) for mRNA levels and at 48 hours (38.4 folds; p<0.0001) for protein levels, compared to IL-1α stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.7g-l). However, AdipoRon diminished IL-1α-induced IL-8 mRNA and protein upregulation with compressive force in Adiporon+IL-1 α +force stimulated hGFs, with only IL-8 protein levels being significantly reduced at 48 hours (p<0.0001) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs (Figures 4.7g-l). On the other hand, leptin+IL-1 α increased IL-8 mRNA levels by 543, 108, and 184 folds at 24, 48, and 72 hours, respectively, however this increase was not statistically significant compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs (p>0.05) (Figure 4.8g-i). Also, IL-8 protein levels were significantly increased at 48 hours (29.2 folds; p<0.001) in comparison to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.8j-l). In addition, IL-1 α -induced IL-8 mRNA levels were significantly enhanced in the presence of compressive force and leptin by 1378 folds (24 hours; p<0.001), 367.6 folds (48 hours; p<0.01), and 1022 folds (72 hours; p<0.0001) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.8g-i). Moreover, II-8 protein levels were also significantly increased by 10.18 (24 hours; p<0.05) and 56.7 folds (48 hours; p<0.0001) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.8g-i).



Figure 4.7 Relative IL-8 mRNA and protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-f) and hGFs (g-l) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and AdipoRon (40 μ M) alone or in combination for 24 (a, d, g, j), 48 (b, e, h, k), and 72 (c, f, i, l) hours. IL-8 mRNA expression was assessed using RT-qPCR for hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (g-i). IL-8 protein secretion was assessed using ELISA and measured as fold change relative to the unstimulated cells for hPDLFs (d-f) and hGFs (j-l). C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; AD, AdipoRon; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001; **** = p<0.0001.



Figure 4.8 Relative IL-8 mRNA and protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-f) and hGFs (g-l) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and leptin (10 µg/ml) alone or in combination for 24 (a, d, g, j), 48 (b, e, h, k), and 72 (c, f, i, l) hours. IL-8 mRNA expression was assessed using RT-qPCR for hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (g-i). IL-8 protein secretion was assessed using ELISA and measured as fold change relative to the unstimulated cells for hPDLFs (d-f) and hGFs (j-l). C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; LEP, leptin; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001; **** = p<0.0001.

4.3.5 MMP-1 expression

MMP-1 gene expression was assessed by RT-qPCR, and MMP-1 protein concentrations in the supernatants were assessed by ELISA (Figures 4.9 and 4.10).

For hPDLFs, compressive force (2 gm/cm²), AdipoRon (40 μ M), and leptin (10 μ g/ml) did not significantly affect MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels after 24-, 48-, and 72-hour stimulation compared to unstimulated cells. IL-1a significantly increased MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels at all time points compared to unstimulated cells (Figures 4.9 and 4.10). However, in AdipoRon+IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs, MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels were significantly reduced at all time points, though only showing a significant decrease at 48 (6.9 folds; p<0.01) and 72 hours (4.348 folds; p<0.01) for MMP-1 mRNA levels, and at 24 (3 folds; P<0.05) and 48 hours (2.2 folds; p<0.05) for MMP-1 protein levels, compared to IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs (Figures 4.9a-f). Conversely, compressive force enhanced IL-1a-induced MMP-1 mRNA levels in force+IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs at 24 (5.5 folds; p<0.05) and 48 hours (2 folds; p>0.05) compared to IL-1α stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.9a-c). IL-1α-induced MMP-1 protein levels were also enhanced in the presence of compressive force at all time points; however, the increase was not significant compared to IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs (p>0.05) (Figure 4.9d-f). Nevertheless, the increase in IL-1 α -induced MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels caused by compressive force was abolished in the presence of AdipoRon in Adiporon+IL-1a+force stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.9a-f). On the contrary, Leptin enhanced IL-1α-induced MMP-1 mRNA (24 and 48 hours) and protein levels (all time points), however without any significance compared to IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs. Furthermore, IL-1a-induced MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels were significantly enhanced in the presence of compressive force and leptin at 24 (p<0.01, p<0.05) and 48 hours (both compared to IL-1a stimulated hPDLFs (p>0.05) (Figure 4.10a-f).

For hGFs, AdipoRon (40 µM) and leptin (10 µg/ml) did not significantly affect MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels after 24-, 48-, and 72-hour stimulation compared to unstimulated cells. Compressive force increased MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels at all time points, showing significance only at 72 hours (both p<0.01) compared to unstimulated cells. Moreover, IL-1a significantly increased MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels at all time points compared to unstimulated cells (Figures 4.9 and 4.10). However, IL-1a-induced MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels were reduced in the presence of AdipoRon at all time points, though without any significance compared to IL-1a stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.9g-l). In contrast, compressive force in the presence of IL-1a increased MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels at all time points but were only statistically significant at 72 hours (6 folds; p<0.0001) for MMP-1 mRNA levels, compared to IL-1a stimulated hGFs (Figures 4.9 and 4.10). However, this increase in IL-1 α -induced MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels caused by compressive force was suppressed in the presence of AdipoRon in AdipoRon+IL-1a+force stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.9g-l). On the other hand, MMP-1 mRNA and protein levels significantly increased at 24 hours (p<0.0001) in leptin+IL-1 α stimulated hGFs. In addition, IL-1 α -induced MMP-1 mRNA levels were further enhanced in the presence of compressive force and leptin at 24 (50 folds; p<0.0001), 48 (6 folds; p>0.05), and 72 hours (10 folds; p<0.001) compared to IL-1a stimulated hGFs. Whereas MMP-1 protein levels were significantly increased at 24 hours (9 folds; p<0.0001) compared to IL-1α stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.10g-1).



Figure 4.9 Relative MMP-1 mRNA and protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-f) and hGFs (g-l) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and AdipoRon (40 μ M) alone or in combination for 24 (a, d, g, j), 48 (b, e, h, k), and 72 (c, f, i, l) hours. MMP-1 mRNA expression was assessed using RT-qPCR for hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (g-i). IL-8 protein secretion was assessed using ELISA and measured as fold change relative to the unstimulated cells for hPDLFs (d-f) and hGFs (j-l). C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; AD, AdipoRon; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001; **** = p<0.0001.



Figure 4.10 Relative MMP-1 mRNA protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-f) and hGFs (g-l) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and leptin (10 µg/ml) alone or in combination for 24 (a, d, g, j), 48 (b, e, h, k), and 72 (c, f, i, l) hours. MMP-1 mRNA expression was assessed using RT-qPCR for hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (g-i). IL-8 protein secretion was assessed using ELISA and measured as fold change relative to the unstimulated cells for hPDLFs (d-f) and hGFs (j-l). C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; LEP, leptin; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001; **** = p<0.001.

4.3.6 MMP-2 expression

MMP-2 gene expression was assessed by RT-qPCR, and even though MMP-2 was expressed constitutively, no significant differences in MMP-2 mRNA levels were detected in both hPDLFs and hGFs stimulated with compressive force (2 gm/cm²), AdipoRon (40 μ M), and leptin alone or in combination at all time points compared to the unstimulated cells. In addition, AdipoRon and leptin had no significant effect on IL-1 α -induced MMP-2 mRNA expression in the presence or absence of compressive force at all time points (Appendix Figures 4.4 and 4.5).

4.3.7 MMP-3 expression

MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels were assessed using RT-qPCR and ELISA, respectively. The force (2 gm/cm²), AdipoRon (40 μ M), and leptin (10 μ g/ml) did not significantly affect MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels in hPDLFs and hGFs after 24-, 48-, and 72-hour stimulation compared to unstimulated cells (p>0.05) (Figures 4.11 and 4.12).

For hPDLFs, IL-1 α significantly increased MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels at all time points compared to unstimulated cells. AdipoRon significantly attenuated MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels induced by IL-1 α in AdipoRon+IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs at 24 (37.8 and 2 folds, respectively; p<0.001, p<0.05), 48 (59.3 and 26 folds, respectively; p<0.05, p<0.001), and 72 hours (231 and 30.3 folds, respectively; p<0.05, p<0.001) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.11a-f). Conversely, compressive force enhanced IL-1 α -induced MMP-3 mRNA levels at 48 and 72 hours; however, without any significance compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs, whereas IL-1 α -induced MMP-3 proteins levels were significantly increased at 48 (p<0.05) and 72 hours (p<0.01) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs (Figures 4.11 and 4.12). However, this increase in IL-1 α -induced MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels caused by compressive force was abolished in the presence of AdipoRon at all time points, showing a significant decrease at 24 hours (p<0.01) for MMP-3 mRNA levels and at all time points for MMP-3 proteins compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs (p<0.0001) (Figure 4.11af). Leptin increased MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels in leptin+IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs at all time points, though without any significance compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs. Moreover, the presence of compressive force and leptin further enhanced IL-1 α -induced MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels at all time points, showing a significant increase at 48 hours (120 and 23 folds, respectively; p<0.05) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs (Figure 4.12a-f).

For hGFs, IL-1a significantly increased MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels at all time points compared to unstimulated cells. However, AdipoRon significantly attenuated IL-1ainduced MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels at 24 (6 and 3 folds, respectively; both p<0.01) and 48 hours (46 and 4.4 folds; p<0.01, p<0.05), compared to IL-1α stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.11gi). On the contrary, IL-1a-induced MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels were increased in the presence of compressive force at 48 and 72 hours; however, only showing a significant increase at 48 hours (P<0.05) for MMP-3 mRNA levels, compared to IL-1a stimulated hGFs. On the other hand, IL-1α-induced MMP-3 mRNA levels were significantly attenuated at 24 (5.3 folds; p<0.01) and 48 hours (45 folds; p<0.001), whereas MMP-3 protein levels were reduced but without any significance at all time points in Adiporon+IL-1 α +force stimulated hGFs compared to IL-1a stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.11g-l). On the contrary, IL-1a-induced MMP-3 mRNA and protein levels were increased at 24 hours in leptin+IL-1a stimulated hGFs compared to IL-1a stimulated hGFs, showing only significance for mRNA levels (p<0.001). In addition, IL-1 α -induced MMP-3 mRNA levels were increased more in the presence of compressive force and leptin at all time points but were statistically significant at 24 hours (13 folds; p<0.0001) compared to IL-1α stimulated hGFs. Likewise, leptin+IL1α+force induced more MMP-3 protein levels at all time points; however, without any significance compared to IL-1α stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.12g-l).



Figure 4.11 Relative MMP-3 mRNA and protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-f) and hGFs (g-l) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and AdipoRon (40 μ M) alone or in combination for 24 (a, d, g, j), 48 (b, e, h, k), and 72 (c, f, i, l) hours. MMP-3 mRNA expression was assessed using RT-qPCR for hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (g-i). IL-8 protein secretion was assessed using ELISA and measured as fold change relative to the unstimulated cells for hPDLFs (d-f) and hGFs (j-l). C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; AD, AdipoRon; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001; **** = p<0.0001.



Figure 4.12 MMP-3 mRNA protein expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-f) and hGFs (g-l) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and leptin (10 µg/ml) alone or in combination for 24 (a, d, g, j), 48 (b, e, h, k), and 72 (c, f, i, l) hours. MMP-3 mRNA expression was assessed using RT-qPCR for hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (g-i). IL-8 protein secretion was assessed using ELISA and measured as fold change relative to the unstimulated cells for hPDLFs (d-f) and hGFs (j-l). C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; LEP, leptin; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001; **** = p<0.0001.

4.3.8 MMP-8 expression

MMP-8 mRNA levels were assessed using RT-qPCR. AdipoRon and leptin did not significantly affect MMP-8 mRNA levels in hPDLFs and hGFs after 24-, 48-, and 72-hour stimulation compared to unstimulated cells (p>0.05) (Figures 4.13 and 4.14).

For hPDLFs, compressive force enhanced MMP-8 mRNA expression at all time points but was significant at 24 hours (3.3 folds; p<0.01) when applied alone and at 24 and 48 hours (4.9 and 2.1 folds, respectively; p<0.05) in the presence of leptin, compared to unstimulated cells (Figure 4.14). IL-1 α significantly increased MMP-8 mRNA levels at 24 hours (2.6 folds; p<0.05). IL-1 α -induced MMP-8 mRNA levels were attenuated in the presence of AdipoRon at 24 hours (p<0.05) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs. On the other hand, compressive force led to an increase in IL-1 α -induced MMP-8 mRNA levels at 24 and 48 hours (P<0.05 compared to unstimulated cells). However, this increase in IL-1 α -induced MMP-8 mRNA expression caused by compressive force was abolished in the presence of AdipoRon (Figure 4.13a-c). In contrast, leptin enhanced IL-1 α -induced MMP-8 mRNA levels at 48 hours. Still, the greatest increase in IL- α -induced MMP-8 mRNA levels was in the presence of compressive force and leptin at 24 (p<0.05 compared to IL-1 α stimulated hPDLFs) and 48 hours (p<0.0001) compared to unstimulated cells (Figure 4.14a-c).

For hGFs, force significantly increased MMP-8 mRNA levels at 24 hours (p<0.001) compared to unstimulated cells. IL- α significantly increased MMP-8 mRNA expression at 24, 48 and 72 hours compared to unstimulated cells (Figure 4.13). Compressive force enhanced IL-1 α -induced MMP-8 mRNA levels at 24 hours but without significance compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs. Conversely, AdipoRon attenuated IL-1 α -induced MMP-8 mRNA in the absence or presence of compressive force at all time points; though only significant at 48 (P<0.05) and 72 hours (p<0.010) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.13d-f).

However, leptin enhanced IL-1 α -induced MMP-8 mRNA levels at all time points; however, without any significance compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs. Furthermore, IL-1 α -induced MMP-8 mRNA levels were further significantly enhanced in the presence of leptin and compressive force at 24 hours (6 folds; p<0.0001) and 48 hours (4.4 folds; p<0.05) compared to IL-1 α stimulated hGFs (Figure 4.14d-f).

MMP-8 protein was not detected in the supernatants of unstimulated hPDLFs and hGFs or after stimulation with force, AdipoRon, leptin, and IL-1α when assessed using ELISA.



Figure 4.13 Relative MMP-8 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (d-f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and AdipoRon (40 μ M) alone or in combination for 24 (a & d), 48 (b & e), and 72 (c & f) hours. MMP-8 mRNA expression was measured using the 2^{-ddCt} method using GAPDH as the housekeeping gene and relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; AD, AdipoRon; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001.


Figure 4.14 MMP-8 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (d-f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and leptin (10 µg/ml) alone or in combination for 24 (a & d), 48 (b & e), and 72 (c & f) hours. MMP-8 mRNA expression was measured using the 2^{-ddCt} method using GAPDH as the housekeeping gene and relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; LEP, leptin; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected). * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; **** = p<0.001.

4.3.9 TIMP-1 expression

No significant differences in TIMP-1 mRNA levels were detected in both hPDLFs and hGFs stimulated with compressive force (2 gm/cm²), AdipoRon (40 μ M), and leptin (10 μ g/ml) alone or in combination at all time points. In addition, AdipoRon and leptin had no significant effect on IL-1 α -induced TIMP-1 mRNA levels in the presence or absence of compressive force at all time points (p>0.05) (Appendix Figures 4.6 and 4.7).

4.3.10 Other MMPs

MMP-7 and MMP-9 mRNA expression were not detected in hPDLFs and hGFs basally or after stimulation with force, AdipoRon, leptin, and IL-1 α alone or in combination.

4.3.11 Effect on mTOR pathway

HGFs and hPDLFs were stimulated with IL-1 α , compressive force, AdipoRon (40 μ M), leptin (10 μ g/ml) or Torin 1 (200 nM) for 24 hours. Western blotting analysis was used to assess the effect of those stimulants on upstream and downstream proteins of the mTOR pathway by assessing the alteration in the phosphorylation of AKT and 4E-BP1, respectively. In addition, the levels of corresponding total AKT and 4E-BP1, and the internal standard β -actin were assessed in the same samples using specific antibodies for these proteins. PAKT, total AKT, P4E-BP1 and total 4E-BP1 were normalized to β -actin, and the levels of PAKT and P4E-BP1 were calculated using the ratio of PAKT to total AKT and P4E-BP1 to total 4E-BP1, respectively. Torin 1 was used as a positive control, and it abolished the phosphorylation of AKT and 4E-BP1 in hPDLFs and hGFs, indicating inhibition of the mTOR pathway and that the western blotting system was successful.

No change in total AKT and 4E-BP1 was observed in all samples. Compared to the control, the compressive force significantly reduced PAKT and P4E-BP1 levels in hPDLFs and hGFs (p<0.05). In addition, this analysis showed that PAKT and P4E-BP1 levels were significantly decreased in hPDLFs and hGFs stimulated with AdipoRon compared to the control (p<0.05). On the other hand, both IL-1 α and leptin did not affect PAKT and P4E-BP-1 levels in both hPDLFs and hGFs (p>0.05) (Figures 4.15 and 4.16). Our findings suggest that the inhibitory effect of compressive force and AdipoRon resembled those of Torin 1, a known inhibitor of both mTORC1 and 2 (Park et al., 2016), indicating that compressive force and AdipoRon may play a role in mTORC1 and 2 inhibitions.



Figure 4.15 Effects of force, IL-1a, AdipoRon, or leptin on PAKT and P4E-BP1 expression in hPDLFs.

hPDLFs were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml) or compressive force (2 gm/cm²) (**a**, **c**), AdipoRon (40 μ M) or leptin (10 μ g/ml) (**b**, **d**) for 24 hours. The intensity of each protein band was quantified, and each value was calculated as follows: PAKT, total AKT, P4E-BP1, and total 4E-BP1 were normalized to β -actin, and PAKT/ β -actin and P4E-BP1/ β -actin were divided by total Akt/ β -action and total 4E-BP1, respectively. Data are presented as the fold change relative to the control and expressed as mean \pm SD. n=4. One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple-comparisons test. * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01.



Figure 4.16 Effects of force, IL-1a, AdipoRon, or leptin on PAKT and P4E-BP1 expression in hGFs.

hGFs were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml) or compressive force (2 gm/cm²) (**a**, **c**), AdipoRon (40 μ M) or leptin (10 μ g/ml) (**b**, **d**) for 24 hours. The intensity of each protein band was quantified, and each value was calculated as follows: PAKT, total AKT, P4E-BP1, and total 4E-BP1 were normalized to β -actin, and PAKT/ β -actin and P4E-BP1/ β -actin were divided by total Akt/ β -action and total 4E-BP1, consecutively. Data are presented as the fold change relative to the unstimulated cells (control) and expressed as mean ± SD. n=4. One-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's multiple-comparisons test. * = p<0.05.

4.4 Discussion

Obesity is increasing worldwide and is a risk factor for many diseases, including diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, and periodontitis (Guh et al., 2009, Nishida et al., 2005). Adipokines, mainly leptin and adiponectin, contribute to periodontal inflammation and healing, and have been extensively studied because of their vital role in immune responses. Leptin activates the innate and adaptive immune cells to induce a pro-inflammatory effect, and its serum levels are increased in patients with periodontitis (Li et al., 2015). On the other hand, Adiponectin serum levels are decreased, with anti-inflammatory properties (Wang et al., 2021b). Recently, it has been demonstrated in a prospective clinical cohort study that levels of leptin differed significantly between obese and normal weight patients before and during orthodontic treatment, with higher rates of OTM in obese patients (Saloom et al., 2017). There are barely any available data relating these adipokines to OTM; hence, it is crucial to explore their biological effects. To our knowledge, this is the first study to report the effect of simulated static compressive forces and adipokines on IL-1*a*-induced expression of MMPs in hPDLFs and hGFs. We demonstrated that leptin and AdipoRon enhanced and attenuated, respectively, IL-1α-induced expression of inflammatory and MMPs in compressed hPDLFs and hGFs. This suggests the pro- and ant-inflammatory local effects of leptin and AdipoRon, respectively.

Orthodontic forces induce an aseptic immediate inflammatory reaction, characterised by releasing IL-1 and TNF α as early as 1 hour (Jayaprakash et al., 2019, Gujar et al., 2019, Bletsa et al., 2006), which in turn, induce the release of other inflammatory mediators, such as IL-6, IL-8 and MMPs (Gujar et al., 2019). Hence, it is essential to have a closer look at IL-1induced expression of inflammatory and ECM remodelling biomarkers. Thus, to simulate these inflammatory conditions in vitro, hPDLFs and hGFs were incubated with IL-1 α . To simulate orthodontic forces that the cells are subjected to on the compression side of the tooth during OTM, a compressive force was applied using the weight method. A compressive force magnitude of 2 gm/cm² was used in this study because it is the most used one and has been demonstrated to induce the best cellular responses (Yang et al., 2015a, Janjic et al., 2018, Kang et al., 2010, Mitsuhashi et al., 2011, Roth et al., 2022, Huang et al., 2021); however, forces with higher magnitudes (4 gm/cm²) caused partial damage and induced death of hPDLFs (Kanzaki et al., 2002, Blawat et al., 2020).

Although several in vitro studies have been performed to find the association between mechanical forces and inflammatory and ECM remodelling biomarkers, inconsistent findings were observed in the literature. Our results showed that compressive force by itself caused a trivial increase in IL-6, IL-8, MMP-1, and MMP-3 expression in hPDLFs; however, this increase was not statistically significant. Similarly, compressive force increased the expression of those biomarkers in HGFs, but with significant increases for IL-8 and MMP-1. Multiple studies reported an increase in IL-6 and IL-8 production in hPDLFs by compressive forces (Brockhaus et al., 2021, Schröder et al., 2021, Schröder et al., 2019, Asano et al., 2011, Phusuntornsakul et al., 2018). However, others reported that IL-6 expression did not change over time in compressed hPDLFs (Grimm et al., 2020) and the paradental tissues of mice after force loading (Li et al., 2021a). Another study reported that compressive forces decreased and increased IL-6 production in healthy and diseased hPDLFs, respectively (El-Awady et al., 2013). Several studies showed that compression of hPDLFs increased MMP-1 and MMP-3 expression (Redlich et al., 2004, Hacopian et al., 2011, El-Awady et al., 2013, Lisboa et al., 2013); however, other studies reported that compression had no effect on MMP-2, and TIMP-1 expression in hPDLFs (Lisboa et al., 2013). Another study reported that compressive forces decreased MMP-1 expression in three-dimensional culture of hGFs (Nan et al., 2019). This inconsistency in the literature regarding the effect of mechanical forces on inflammatory and ECM remodelling biomarkers could be related to differences in force types, force levels, cell types, cultivation methods, stimulation times, assays used for biochemical analyses, individual variability, and the effects of other variables.

Increased MMP-8 levels in GCF of patients during orthodontic treatment were observed (Ingman et al., 2005, Apajalahti et al., 2003, Zhang et al., 2020). Our findings revealed that compressive force increased MMP-8 expression in hPDLFs and hGFs. This agrees with multiple studies reporting that compressive forces (Nettelhoff et al., 2016, Grimm et al., 2020) and tensile forces (Jacobs et al., 2014, Jacobs et al., 2018) increased MMP-8 production by hPDLFs. However, other studies reported that tensile forces decreased (Saminathan et al., 2012, Ma et al., 2015) or had no effect (Schröder et al., 2020a) on MMP-8 expression in hPDLFs. This indicates that MMP-8 plays a crucial role in ECM remodelling of the periodontium during OTM.

Our data demonstrated that compressive forces enhanced IL-1 α -induced expression of IL-6, IL-8, MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-8 in hPDLFs and hGFs. This agrees with two previous studies; the first study reported that cyclic compressive forces enhanced IL-1 β -induced IL-6 and MMP-8 expression in hPDLFs (Grimm et al., 2020). The second study showed that tensile forces enhanced IL-1 β - induced MMP-1 and MMP-2 expression in hPDLFs (Behm et al., 2021a). This indicates that compressive forces alone have a minor role and that the acute aseptic inflammatory reaction induced by orthodontic forces is a prerequisite for OTM and is the pivotal key for ECM remodelling in the periodontium.

Leptin receptors (long and short forms) are expressed in hPDLFs and hGFs (Yun-Jung et al., 2013, Li et al., 2015), indicating that these cells are sensitive and responsive to leptin. Our results demonstrated that leptin had no significant effect on IL-6, IL-8, MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-8 in the presence or absence of compressive force in hPDLFs and hGFs (except for MMP-8, whose levels increased by leptin in compressed hPDLFs). These findings disagree with two previous studies reporting that leptin increased IL-6 and IL-8 expression in hPDLFs

186

and hGFs (Yun-Jung et al., 2013) and MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-8 in hGFs (Williams et al., 2016). One study reported that response to leptin is dose-dependent, with high leptin levels enhanced IL-6 expression with compressive force in hPDLFs, but low leptin levels had no effect (Schröder et al., 2021). However, in this specific study, leptin with and without compressive force increased IL-6 expression by 3 and 1 folds, respectively, which was comparable to our results. On the other hand, a recent study reported that leptin reduced IL-1 β and IL-6 expression with tensile or compressive forces in macrophages (Paddenberg et al., 2022). These inconsistent results may be due to differences in leptin structure, sources, concentrations, cell types, and cultivation methods. Variability in MMPs expression between individuals has also been described previously in studies of hGFs (Sukkar et al., 2007, Williams et al., 2016); hence, ECM remodelling could be inherently different between donors.

The effect of leptin on the acute inflammatory reaction induced by orthodontic forces within the periodontium and the underlying cellular mechanism is still ambiguous. We found for the first time that leptin synergised with IL-1 α and enhanced IL-6, IL-8, MMP-1, MMP3, and MMP-8 in hPDLFs and hGFs. This is consistent with the findings of previous studies, which reported that leptin synergised with IL-1 α to increase MMP-1 and MMP-3, and MMP-8 production in chondrocytes and human osteoarthritic cartilage (Hui et al., 2012, Koskinen et al., 2011), and hGFs (Williams et al., 2016). This suggests that leptin with compressive force substantially enhances ECM remodelling during OTM under inflammatory conditions by promoting the production of cytokines and MMPs, which might explain the reported increased OTM rates observed in obese patients with higher leptin levels compared to normal-weight patients (Saloom et al., 2017).

There is very limited evidence available relating to the effect of adiponectin or its analogues on OTM. Adiponectin receptors, AdipoR1 and AdipoR2, are expressed constitutively in hPDLFs and hGFs and exert anti-inflammatory effects (Iwayama et al., 2012,

187

Wang et al., 2021b). Our results showed that AdipoRon had no significant effect on the expression of the inflammatory and ECM biomarkers studied in the presence or absence of compressive force. This finding is consistent with a previous study, which reported that globular adiponectin did not change IL-6 and IL-8 expression in hPDLFs and hGFs (Park et al., 2011). Still, it contradicts other studies reporting decreased production of proinflammatory biomarkers in diseased gingival tissues by AdipoRon (Wu et al., 2019) and rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts by adiponectin (Lee et al., 2008).

Additionally, we found that AdipoRon attenuated IL-1 α -induced expression of IL-6, IL-8, MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-8 in the presence or absence of compressive force, indicating an anti-inflammatory effect. This agrees with previous studies which reported that Adiponectin reduced IL-6 and IL-8 expression in IL-1 β -stimulated hGFs (Iwayama et al., 2012), decreased LPS-induced IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, MMP-1, and MMP-3 expression in human gingival epithelial cells (Kraus et al., 2012), and attenuated LPS-induced inflammatory biomarkers production in hPDLFs (Wu et al., 2021). From the above, it can be postulated that adiponectin might influence OTM by supressing the inflammation associated with it, and this might explain the finding of a previous study that revealed reduced rates of OTM in rates after local injection of adiponectin (Haugen et al., 2017).

MMP-7 and MMP-9 were not detected by RT-qPCR basally or after stimulation with any other stimulant in our study. This is consistent with previous studies that reported no detection of these MMPs in hPDLFs and hGFs (Williams et al., 2016, Zhou and Windsor, 2006, Bolcato-Bellemin et al., 2000). This could be explained by the fact that MMP-7 is mainly produced by epithelial cells (Nagase et al., 2006, Löffek et al., 2011), whereas MMP-9 is primarily produced by neutrophils (Restaíno et al., 2007) or gingival keratinocytes (Mäkelä et al., 1994), rather than fibroblasts.

Chapter 4 In vitro cell culture study

Western blotting analysis was used to measure the phosphorylation of key upstream and downstream regulatory proteins of the mTOR signalling pathway to investigate whether this signalling pathway is affected by the compressive force or adipokines. Our findings suggest an impact of compressive force and AdipoRon on the mTOR signalling pathway manifested by downregulating the expression of phosphorylated AKT and 4EPB1 proteins. However, leptin and inflammatory stimulation had no significant effect on this pathway.

Our results showed that the compressive force decreased phosphorylated levels of AKT and 4E-BP1 proteins in hPDLFs and hGFs. This was consistent with a previous study which reported that stimulation hPDLFs with 2 gm/cm² compressive force led to a decrease in the phosphorylated levels of 4E-BP1 and AKT; however, overloading hPDLFs by 4 and 8 gm/cm² compressive forces increased their phosphorylated levels (Blawat et al., 2020). In addition, another study reported that PI3K/AKT signalling pathway was significantly affected in hPDLFs subjected to 2 gm/cm² compressive force and that phosphorylated AKT was significantly decreased (Huang et al., 2021). On the other hand, this contradicts the finding of another study that found an increase in the phosphorylated levels of AKT in human periodontal tissues during OTM (Xu et al., 2017). However, those investigators measured levels of phosphorylated AKT in human periodontal tissue from extracted premolars after three days of orthodontic force application, which might explain the differences in the results.

mTOR signalling pathway is a vital pathway that integrates a variety of environmental signals to regulate cell growth, metabolism, haemostasis, proliferation, differentiation, protein synthesis, and autophagy (Wang et al., 2019, Laplante and Sabatini, 2012). It has been reported that moderate stress intensity can suppress mTOR activity to promote protective responses and facilitate a faster adaptation to stress, whilst abnormally increased mTOR activity during stress can be harmful to the cell (Aramburu et al., 2014). Several mechanisms inactivate mTORC1 kinase activity to maintain haemostasis and induce autophagy to enable stress adaptation and

189

survival (Rabinowitz and White, 2010). The two studies mentioned above (Blawat et al., 2020, Huang et al., 2021) that reported that 2 g/cm² reduced phosphorylated AKT demonstrated that this compressive force exerted a protective effect and activated autophagy. Hence, autophagy is considered a protective biological mechanism degrading organelles, cytoplasm, and proteins. Autophagy (a crucial process during OTM) is activated by compression and hypoxia (Chen et al., 2019, Li et al., 2021b, Memmert et al., 2019) and inhibited by mTORC1 activity (Jiang et al., 2022). Moreover, compressive forces increased autophagy in hPDLFs (Huang et al., 2021, Chen et al., 2019) and cementoblasts (Liu et al., 2019). A previous study demonstrated that orthodontic loading of mouse molars increased autophagy and inflammatory biomarkers during OTM. Moreover, those investigators administered rapamycin (an autophagy inducer and mTORC1 inhibitor) to the orthodontically loaded molars and found that OTM was reduced and autophagy was activated, implying that it may decrease inflammation during OTM (Li et al., 2021a). As a result, our findings suggest an influence of the 2 gm/cm^2 compressive force on the mTOR signalling pathway, which may be through inducing autophagy to protect cells and induce haemostasis. However, overloading the cells with higher magnitudes of forces might activate MTORC1 and inhibit autophagy leading to uncontrolled inflammatory responses and ECM remodelling of the periodontium.

mTOR signalling pathway is important for the modulation of innate and adaptive immunity (Thomson et al., 2009, Jiang et al., 2022), and dysregulation is linked to autoimmune disorders (Yang et al., 2015b). Adiponectin showed cytoprotective effects and was found to inhibit mTOR (Choi et al., 2020); also, AdipoRon was found to inhibit mTOR (Bhat et al., 2020, Pal China et al., 2018) and exhibit anti-inflammatory effects (Bhat et al., 2020). This is consistent with our findings, which demonstrated that AdipoRon inhibited the mTOR signalling pathway, and is also supported by our RT-qPCR and ELISA results, which showed that AdipoRon had an anti-inflammatory effect. It has been reported that AdipoRon could be a

potentially promising therapy to treat periodontitis associated with diabetes via regulating hyperglycaemia, repressing inflammation, improving bone regeneration, and inhibiting bone loss (Wu et al., 2019); it may also be beneficial for tooth stabilization and relapse prevention after orthodontic treatment.

Our results demonstrated that IL-1 α did not affect phosphorylated AKT and 4E-BP1 levels. This result disagrees with a previous study, which reported reduced and increased phosphorylated AKT levels with low and high concentrations of IL-1 β , respectively. This specific study also reported the same trend with 4E-BP1, suggesting that the effect on mTOR is dose-dependent (Blawat et al., 2020), which could explain the difference between that study and ours; thus, the concentration of the inflammatory mediator in our study was not enough to activate or inactivate the mTOR signalling pathway.

mTOR has been shown to play important roles in leptin signalling to regulate inflammation. Leptin induced phosphorylation of 4E-BP1, and was found to activate the mTOR signalling pathway in macrophages (Maya-Monteiro and Bozza, 2008). Our results showed leptin caused an increase in phosphorylated AKT and 4E-BP1 levels after 24 hours of stimulation; however, this increase was not significant. Another study demonstrated that phosphorylation of AKT increased at 15 minutes after leptin stimulation in hPDLFs, then decreased at 30 and 60 minutes (Yun-Jung et al., 2013). This inconsistency could be related to different concentrations, duration of stimulation, and cell types.

Our results in this study showed a significant decrease in cell viability in hPDLFs and hGFs subjected to compressive force, consistent with multiple studies (Kang et al., 2010, Kanjanamekanant et al., 2013, Ullrich et al., 2019, Schröder et al., 2019). On the other hand, our LDH cytotoxicity assay results confirmed no cytotoxic effect of the 2 gm/cm² compressive force. This agrees with a previous study demonstrating that a compressive force of 2 g/cm² did

not cause cell death but exerted a protective effect, but 4 and 8 gm/cm² compressive forces caused cell death in hPDLFs. (Blawat et al., 2020)

Gingival tissue has a fundamental role in OTM and has been reported to be modified clinically and histologically during OTM (Redlich et al., 1999). Both hPDLFs and hGFs play a vital role in OTM by the secretion of inflammatory and ECM remodelling mediators; therefore, both cell lines were investigated in this study. hPDLFs and hGFs are sensitive to forces and respond to mechanical stresses and regulate ECM remodelling during OTM (Jiang et al., 2016, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2009). Our results demonstrated that both hPDLFs and hGFs reacted similarly to all stimulants regarding the expression of the inflammatory cytokines and MMPs, albeit at different levels, apart from the significant effect of compressive force on IL-8 and MMP-1 expression in hGFs. These results agree with a previous study showing that hPDLFs and hGFs reacted to mechanical stretching by inducing a similar pattern of MMPs and TIMPs expression (Bolcato-Bellemin et al., 2000). The same results were also observed in another study showing a similar response of both hPDLFs and hGFs to leptin regarding IL-6, IL-8, and leptin receptors expression (Yun-Jung et al., 2013). A previous study reported substantial heterogeneity between different gingival fibroblast cell lines, with one cell line expressing hPDLFs-related marker genes and exhibiting hPDLFs-like properties. This specific paper explains these differences by indicating that the anatomical site from which the cells were derived might impact their characteristics (Garna et al., 2022). Moreover, it is worth noting that in cell culture, each cell type works on its own and responds separately to any stimulant; however, in vivo, it is a complex process with many interacting signals and factors affecting how each cell type responds to mechanical forces or any other stimulants; thus, this could have influenced their responses as well.

4.5 Conclusions

The results of this chapter demonstrated that leptin showed pro-inflammatory properties by selectively enhancing IL-1α-induced expression of inflammatory and ECM biomarkers in compressed hPDLFs and hGFs. Whereas AdipoRon exhibited anti-inflammatory properties by attenuating these biomarkers under similar conditions. This suggests that the extent of periodontal and gingival fibroblast-mediated ECM remodelling during OTM depends, in part, on the combination of compressive forces and adipokines in the presence of inflammation. Moreover, compressive forces and AdipoRon had regulatory effects on crucial target proteins of mTOR signalling pathway.

Overall, compression modulates inflammatory pathways, which can be further affected by adipokines. This response could be a mechanistic link between OTM and obesity.

Chapter 5 Salivary peptidome analysis and protease prediction during orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances: a retrospective study

5.1 Introduction

Whole mouth saliva (WMS) is a complex fluid that comprises secretions from the major and minor salivary glands, constituents from GCF, oral microbiome, and contains abundant proteins, peptides, and enzymes. Saliva bathes the oral hard and soft tissues, and its contents are responsible for vital functions, including food taste and digestion, along with protecting the oral mucosa from pathogenic bacteria to keep a healthy oral environment (Carpenter, 2013). Saliva collection is simple, easy, safe, convenient, and non-invasive, making it an ideal diagnostic bio-medium and a great alternative to other bodily fluids for research purposes. Recently, proteomic/peptidomic non-targeted approaches have become a recent focus in research and have shown that saliva analysis can detect the presence or absence of various biomarkers, which can serve as possible indicators for the early detection, progression monitoring, or response to many oral and systemic disorders treatments (Zhang et al., 2012, Pappa et al., 2021, Pfaffe et al., 2011, Castagnola et al., 2011).

Multiple enzymes have been identified in the WMS, including carbonic anhydrase, amylase, catalase, and proteases (Castagnola et al., 2011). More than 500 proteases are encoded in the human genome, making them the largest family of proteins. Proteases, which can be classified according to their mode of action into aspartic, glutamic, metalloproteases, cysteine, serine, and threonine proteases, are involved in all biological processes such as cell cycle progression, cell proliferation, differentiation, migration, morphogenesis, tissue remodelling, wound healing, angiogenesis, and apoptosis (Mulkern et al., 2020, Magalhães et al., 2018).

Proteases regulate the initiation, progression, and resolution of inflammation and ECM remodelling (Marshall et al., 2017),

There has been a tremendous interest in understanding the role of proteases during OTM. Therefore, several studies using targeted approaches have evaluated the presence or activity of specific proteases during orthodontic treatment. It has been reported that cathepsins and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are involved in ECM remodelling of the alveolar bone and PDL during OTM (Li et al., 2018, Henneman et al., 2008, Waddington and Embery, 2001). Among MMPs, MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-8, MMP-9, MMP-13, and MMP-14 levels have all been found to increase in GCF during orthodontic treatment (Garlet et al., 2007, Bildt et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2020, Apajalahti et al., 2003, Behm et al., 2021b, Cantarella et al., 2006). Furthermore, salivary MMP-8, MMP-9, and MMP-12 concentrations are increased during OTM (Xu et al., 2020).

WMS comprises many low molecular weight proteins, the salivary peptidome, which accounts for roughly 40-50% of total secreted proteins, as well as peptides produced by proteolysis of proteins from various sources. Proteases in saliva modulate several salivary proteins' structure and function, resulting in low molecular weight proteins and peptides. Hence, the characterisation of the salivary peptidome and identification of salivary proteases are crucial steps toward a molecular understanding of the oral microenvironment homeostasis and proteolysis-linked inflammatory disorders, allowing for the invention of molecular tools for disease diagnosis, precise prognosis, and follow-up on existing disease therapy. Therefore, attempts have been made to characterise the salivary peptidome, identifying approximately 2000 peptides, only 400-600 of which are produced from salivary glands, implying a considerable qualitative peptide input from other sources. Earlier research on saliva has shown that most peptides belong to the proline-rich proteins (PRPs) family, the histatin family, and statherin (Trindade et al., 2015a, Cabras et al., 2014, Amado et al., 2010).

195

Chapter 5 A retrospective study

Proteolysis processes are the primary source of peptides, and significant efforts have been undertaken to identify the resultant fragments, cleavage sites, and implicated proteases. A peptidomic approach, by mass spectrometry and bioinformatics, has been used to investigate the profile of naturally occurring peptides derived from proteins in several biological fluids, including urine, saliva, cerebrospinal fluid, wound fluid, and serum. In silico prediction of proteases using the open-source software- Proteasix (www.proteasix.org) has been conducted to predict proteases potentially implicated in the generation of these peptides in patients with periodontitis (Trindade et al., 2015b), wound infection (Hartman et al., 2021), cardiorenal syndrome (Petra et al., 2021), and diabetic nephropathy (Krochmal et al., 2017). Proteasix uses information about naturally occurring peptides (corresponding protein UniProt ID and start/stop amino acid position) as identified by mass spectrometry, to predict potential cleaving proteases; it retrieves information about cleavage sites from protease databases (MEROPS, BRENDA), resulting in a generated list of predicted proteases (Klein et al., 2013). The analysis of cleavage site specificity by Proteasix software can predict the likelihood of a large set of endogenous proteases being responsible for the generation of salivary peptides, and the obtained peptidome-protease profile can be beneficial to elucidate the peptidome dynamics and the proteolytic events underlying physiological and pathological processes taking place within the oral cavity (Trindade et al., 2018, Amado et al., 2010).

To the best of our knowledge, the natural peptidome generated in saliva during OTM has not previously been investigated. Hence, this retrospective longitudinal study aimed to use the peptidomic approach, supplemented by mass spectrometry and bioinformatics to predict the profile and activity pattern of proteases responsible for salivary peptide generation, identify susceptible protein targets, and to assess time-dependent changes in the salivary peptidome and predicted proteases during the alignment stage of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances.

Moreover, targeted approaches using zymography and ELISA were used to validate the prediction results.

5.2 Materials and methods

5.2.1 Study design and participants

This retrospective longitudinal study assessed WMS derived from 16 participants during the alignment phase of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances. Participants fulfilled the following inclusion criteria: underwent fixed appliance orthodontic treatment (with or without tooth extractions); 12-18 years old at treatment start; mandibular arch incisor irregularity of 4-12 mm; medically fit and healthy; taking no prescription medication and normal-weight body mass index.

Ethical approval of this project was obtained from the United Kingdom National Research Ethics Service, NRES Committee foundation (14/LO/0769), and written informed consent was obtained from all parents, guardians, and children before collecting the samples. All methods were conducted following the approved guidelines and regulations. Fixed appliances (Victory-APC 0.022-inch brackets, MBT prescription; 3M-Unitek) were placed for all participants at the Department of Orthodontics, Faculty of Dentistry, Oral & Craniofacial Sciences, King's College London (Guy's and St Thomas; NHS Foundation Trust). A particular archwire sequence was followed (0.014-inch nickel-titanium; 0.018-inch nickel-titanium; 0.017 x 0.025-inch nickel titanium and 0.019 x 0.025-inch stainless steel). Participants were reviewed every six weeks and were followed up to completion of alignment between January 2015 and June 2016.

The sample size was calculated based on a previous study that looked at time-dependent changes in MMP-8 and MMP-9 levels in saliva during orthodontic treatment. Differences in

the levels of those salivary biomarkers between time points were identified in this investigation, with a mean effect size of 0.87 (Sioustis et al., 2021). Using G*Power 3.1.9.7 software (Faul et al., 2007), a sample size of 13 was estimated to be sufficient to detect a significant difference in salivary biomarker levels between the different time points (assuming a significance level of 0.05 and power of 0.80). However, to compensate for power underestimation between the biomarkers, a sample size of 16 was used.

5.2.2 Saliva collection and processing

Unstimulated WMS was collected at four time points: (T1) start of treatment; (T2) 1 hour and (T3) 1 week following fixed appliance placement; and (T4) end of alignment stage (0.019 x 0.025-inch stainless steel rectangular archwire placed in the lower arch). Participants were asked to passively drool in a sterile plastic tube for 5 minutes. Samples were centrifuged at 9200 g for 5 minutes, aliquoted into small tubes (1000 μ l capacity), labelled, and stored at – 80 °C. Samples were defrosted on ice, and total protein concentration was measured using Thermo ScientificTM PierceTM Bicinchoninic Acid (BCA) Protein Assay (Thermo Scientific, USA) according to the manufacturer's protocol as detailed in section (4.2.3) in Chapter 4 of this thesis.

For all participants, plaque levels and gingival health were measured at T1, T3, and T4 using established validated plaque and gingival indices. The thickness of dental plaque adjacent to the gingival margin of the tooth was measured using Silness and Löe criteria (Silness and Loe, 1964), which assigns a score from 0 to 3 to each of the four surfaces of the tooth; these scores were then added and divided by four to yield the plaque index of the tooth. The plaque index for the individual was then computed by summing the scores from all teeth examined

and dividing them by the number of teeth examined. The gingival index was calculated using the same approach following Löe and Silness criteria (Löe and Silness, 1963).

5.2.3 Separation of naturally occurring peptides from saliva

Naturally occurring peptides were collected from WMS samples of 5 participants at each time point (20 samples). Ten kDa cut-off Spin filters (Amicon; Merck- Millipore, UK) were washed and conditioned with 500 μ L of ammonium bicarbonate (10 mM) solution by centrifugation at 4000 rpm, for 25 min. Afterward, spin filters were loaded with 1 ml saliva and centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 25 minutes; then, the resulting filtrate peptides were collected and sent for mass spectrometry analysis (Cambridge Institute for Medical Research Proteomics Centre, UK).

5.2.4 Mass spectrometry

100 µL of salivary peptide sample was dried down using a Savant SpeedVac Concentrator (Thermo Scientific). The dried-down sample was solubilized in a 50 µL loading solvent containing 3% acetonitrile (MeCN) and 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid and 1 µL was analyzed by LC-MS/MS using a Q Exactive Plus coupled to an RSLCnano3000 (Thermo Scientific). Peptides were resolved on a 50 cm EASY-spray column (Thermo Scientific) using a gradient rising from 3 to 40 % solvent B (80 % MeCN, 0.1 % formic acid) by 90 minutes. MS spectra were acquired at 70,000 (fwhm) between m/z 400 to 1500. The resulting filtrate peptides were analyzed by LC-MS/MS using a Q Exactive Plus coupled to an RSLCnano3000 (Thermo Scientific). Peptides were resolved on a 50 cm EASY-spray column (Thermo Scientific) using a gradient rising from 10 to 40 % solvent B (80 % MeCN, 0.1 % formic acid) by 42 minutes. The S-lens FR level was set to 50.0. MS spectra were acquired at 70,000 (fwhm) between m/z 200 to 2000. Data were processed using PEAKS Studio (version X, Bioinformatics Solutions Inc.) with the following measures: no enzyme; Human database (UniProt reference proteome

downloaded on 18 Dec 2018 containing 21066 proteins) or bacterial database (Uniprot proteome downloaded 5 Apr 2019 containing 161286 proteins) with further contaminant database (containing 246 common contaminants); oxidation (M), carbamidomethylation (C) as variable modifications at the PEAKS DB stage, LFQ was performed using PEAKS LFQ using normalization by total protein intensity. Protein and protein-peptide data were exported from PEAKS Studio.

5.2.5 Zymography

Samples were analysed using 10% zymogram gelatin gels electrophoresis (Novex, Life Technologies, UK). Equal amounts of non-reducing Tris-Glycine SDS sample buffer (2X) (Novex, Life Technologies, UK), and samples (10µg) were loaded into the wells of the gel, and the gel was run at 125 volts constant for 90 minutes with 10X Tris-Glycine SDS running buffer (100 ml 10X Tris-Glycine SDS running buffer to 900 ml deionized water) (Novex, Life Technologies, UK). After that, the gel was placed in zymogram renaturing buffer (Novex, Life Technologies, UK) for 30 minutes. The gel was then incubated in zymogram developing buffer (Novex, Life Technologies, UK) for another 30 minutes, which was later replaced with a fresh developing buffer, and the gel was incubated overnight at room temperature. Then, the gel was stained with Coomassie Brilliant Blue and de-stained. Protease digestion appeared as clear bands against a darkly stained blue background. Zymogram gel was scanned with ChemiDocTM MP Imaging System (Bio-Rad, UK). Densitometric analysis was carried out with Image J (Schneider et al., 2012).

5.2.6 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) (DuoSet ELISA, R&D systems) was used to assess total human MMP-8 (DY908) and MMP-9 (DY911-05) (active and pro-active forms) according to the manufacturer's instructions following the methodology described in section (4.2.6) in Chapter 4 of this thesis. The blank and standard concentrations mean readings were used to generate a four-parameter logistic (4-PL) curve fit (Appendix Figure 4.1).

5.2.7 Bioinformatic analysis

Protease prediction was performed using the Proteasix tool in function of the peptides identified by mass spectrometry. Proteasix is an open-source peptide-centric tool that can be used to predict in silico the proteases involved in generating naturally occurring peptides and returns all possible proteases at a cleavage site. It is available online at http://www.proteasix.org (Klein et al., 2013). Briefly, a spreadsheet was created with four columns from the list of peptides identified by mass spectrometry (peptide ID, protein accession number, position of the start amino acid, and position of the end amino acid). On the Proteasix website (http://www.proteasix.org), the input list was pasted from the spreadsheet into the appropriate section, and the analysis was then run until detailed results were produced. Thereafter, the whole output list was selected and pasted into an Excel spreadsheet where the number of cleavage events was counted using the Excel function "COUNTIF". Then the percentage of cleavage from the total cleavage events was calculated (Trindade et al., 2018) (Figure 5.1).

Jvenn (http://bioinfo.genotoul.fr/jvenn/example.html) is an online Venn diagram tool used to find unique proteins at each time point and those common to T1, T2, T3, and T4.

5.2.8 Statistical analysis

Data were checked for normality using Shapiro-Wilk and Kolmogorov–Smirnov normality tests. Repeated measures ANOVA was used to analyse the normally distributed data, followed by correction for multiple testing using Dunnett's multiple comparisons test. The Friedman test was used to analyse the not normally distributed data, followed by correction for multiple testing using Bonferroni correction. Regression analysis was performed of the outcome (MMP-8 and MMP-9 levels), the explorative factor (gingival index or plaque index) and the variation across time points. Statistical analyses were conducted using GraphPad Prism version 9.0 (GraphPad Software, USA). The difference was considered statistically significant if p < 0.05.





Figure 5.1 Representative example of the main steps of Proteasix analysis.

A spreadsheet was created with four columns from the list of detected peptides (peptide ID, protein accession number, position of the start amino acid, and position of the end amino acid) (a). On the Proteasix website (http://www.proteasix.org), the input list was pasted from the spreadsheet into the appropriate section (b). The analysis was then run until detailed results were produced (c); after that whole output list was selected and pasted into an Excel spreadsheet (d). The number of cleavage events was counted using the Excel function "COUNTIF", then the percentage of cleavage from the total cleavage events was calculated and presented in a bar chart using GraphPad Prism software (e).

5.3 Results

This study evaluated WMS from 16 participants (10 male, 6 female) with a mean (SD) age of 15.2 (1.6) years and a mean (SD) irregularity of 6.4 (2.2) mm. Mean (SD) plaque index was: 0.57 (0.3) at T1; 0.76 (0.32) at T3; and 1.09 (0.40) at T4. Mean (SD) gingival index was: 0.73 (0.31) at T1; 0.84 (0.22) at T3; and 1.25 (0.35) at T4. Plaque and gingival indices were increased significantly at T4 compared to T1 (P<0.001). Mean (SD) WMS flow rate (ml/min) was 0.67 (0.29) at T1; 0.85 (0.37) at T2; 1.03 (0.45) at T3; and 0.93 (0.37) at T4. Furthermore, mean (SD) protein content (mg/ml) was: 1.51 (0.48) at T1; 1.55 (0.34) at T2; 1.65 (0.68) at T3; and 1.14 (0.48) at T4. No significant differences were detected in either measurement between the time points.

5.3.1 Peptidome characteristics

Identifying which protein precursors the peptides belong to may reveal interesting aspects of the saliva proteome and proteolytic dynamics during OTM. Overall, 2852 naturally occurring peptides were identified by mass spectrometry, originating from 436 different proteins with 49 common to all time points, as depicted in the Venn diagram (Figure 5.2a). The percentage of peptides identified for each common protein was calculated, list of proteins and the percentages of peptides for the top 15 common protein precursors are presented in Figure 5.2b (and Appendix Table 5.1). The most abundant peptides belonged to the major salivary proteins, mainly proline-rich proteins, statherin, histatins, and P-B peptide. When the percentages of peptides identified for each common protein were compared over time, no significant changes were found for PIGR, PRP1, PRB2, PRB3, PRBC, SMR3B, and HIS1 at all time points of orthodontic alignment. Significant degradation of STAT, PROL4, CO1A1, and CO2A1 were observed at T2 compared with baseline levels (T1) (all p <0.01), and then this degradation

returned to the baseline levels at T4. Besides, peptides that belong to PRR27 were significantly increased at T2 and T3 (both p<0.05), returning to baseline levels at T4. On the contrary, the percentages of peptides that belong to PRB4 were significantly decreased at T2 (p<0.01.), returning to T1 levels by T4. The percentages of peptides that belong to HIS3 were significantly decreased at both T2 (p<0.01.) and T3 (p<0.05) (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.2 Venn diagram and heatmap of proteins of origin.

(a) Venn diagram showing the distribution of proteins of origin of the identified peptides by mass spectrometry at four time-points. T1, baseline (before placement of orthodontic appliance); T2, one hour after placement of orthodontic appliance; T3, one week after placement of orthodontic appliance; T4, end of the alignment. (b) Heatmap displaying the percentages of peptides for the most abundant common proteins among the participants (p1, p2, p3, p4, and p5) at four time-points. The scale refers to the percentages of peptides of each protein in the total number of peptides for each participant.



Figure 5.3 Graphs showing the percentage of peptides for each of the common proteins identified in unstimulated WMS at T1-T4.

T1, baseline (before placement of fixed appliances); T2, 1 hour after placement of fixed appliances; T3, 1 week after placement of fixed appliances; T4, completion of alignment. Data were analysed by repeated measures ANOVA; * = p < 0.05; ** = p < 0.01.

5.3.2 Prediction of protease activity

The profile of all proteases, as predicted by Proteasix, is shown in Figure 5.4a. In total, 73 proteases were predicted to be active in the WMS of the participants, and a list of the predicted proteases (symbols, accession numbers, and names) is shown in Table 5.1. For each protease, the percentage of cleavage from the total cleavages events for each participant was calculated, and a percentage threshold of cleavage was set at 1% to consider the activity of a particular protease, as shown in Figure 5.4 (Petra et al., 2021). Twenty-four proteases had a percentage threshold of cleavage above 1%; among these calpains, metalloproteinases and cathepsins were

the most prevalent groups of proteases potentially implicated in the generation of salivary peptides at all time points.

When the predicted activity of these proteases was compared over time, there was a significant increase in the predicted activity of CTSG (cathepsin G) (p<0.05, p<0.05), ELANE (neutrophil elastase) (p<0.001, p<0.01), MMP3 (p<0.01, p<0.05), MMP8 (p<0.001, p<0.01), MMP13 (p<0.01, p<0.05), MMP8 (p<0.001, p<0.01), MMP13 (p<0.01, p<0.05), PGA3 (pepsin) (p<0.01, p<0.05) at both T2 and T3 compared to T1. The predicted activity of MME (neprilysin) (p<0.05), MMP-9 (p<0.05), and MMP-25 (p<0.05) was significantly increased at T2, while MMP-12 (p<0.05) predicted activity was significantly increased at T4 compared to T1 (Figure 5.4b). Conversely, the predicted activity of CAPN1 (p<0.001, p<0.001), CAPN2 (p<0.001, p<0.001), CTSK (cathepsin K) (p<0.01, p<0.05), MEP1A (p<0.01, p<0.05), and TMPRSS7 (p<0.01, p<0.05) was significantly decreased at T3 compared to the baseline levels. Additionally, the predicted activity of MMP-7 (p<0.01) and KLK4 (kallikrein 4) (p<0.05) was significantly decreased at T3 and T2. No changes in the predicted activity level of ADAMTS4, CTSB (cathepsin B), CTSL (cathepsin L), CTSS (cathepsin S), KLK6 (kallikrein 4), MMP14, PLG (plasminogen) were observed at any time points of orthodontic alignment.

To search for proteases identified by peptides in the LC-MS/MS data, "VLOOKUP" function in Excel and the UniProt accession numbers were used to find them. Only two of the 73 proteases predicted by Proteasix were identified in the LC-MS/MS data, which are Transmembrane protease serine 11D (TMPRSS11D; O60235) and Prothrombin (F2; P00734).



Figure 5.4 Graph showing the profile of proteases as predicted by Proteasix.

(a) Graph showing the profile of all proteases as predicted by Proteasix. The bars represent the percentage of cleavages for each predicted protease at four timepoints. T1, baseline; T2, one hour after placement of orthodontic appliance; T3, one week after placement of orthodontic appliance; T4, end of the alignment. The interrupted line represents a percentage threshold (1%) to consider the activity of the proteases. (b) The predicted activity of ten proteases significantly increased during orthodontic treatment. Data are shown as mean \pm SD. Data were analysed by repeated measures ANOVA; * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001.

Protease	Accession	Protease name
symbol	number	
ADAM10	O14672	Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 10
ADAM17	P78536	Disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain-containing protein 17
ADAMTS4	075173	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs 4
BMP1	P13497	Bone morphogenetic protein 1
CAPN1	P07384	Calpain-1 catalytic subunit
CAPN2	P17655	Calpain-2 catalytic subunit
CASP1	P29466	Caspase-1
CASP2	P42575	Caspase-2
CASP3	P42574	Caspase-3
CASP6	P55212	Caspase-6
CASP7	P55210	Caspase-7
CASP8	Q14790	Caspase-8
CELA1	Q9UNI1	Chymotrypsin-like elastase family member 1
CTRC	Q99895	Chymotrypsin-C
CTSB	P07858	Cathepsin B
CTSD	P07339	Cathepsin D
CTSE	P14091	Cathepsin E
CTSG	P08311	Cathepsin G
CTSK	P43235	Cathepsin K
CTSL	P07711	Cathepsin L1
CTSS	P25774	Cathepsin S
ELANE	P08246	Neutrophil elastase
F10	P00742	Coagulation factor X
F2	P00734	Prothrombin
FURIN	P09958	Furin
GZMA	P12544	Granzyme A
GZMB	P10144	Granzyme B
GZMK	P49863	Granzyme K
GZMM	P51124	Granzyme M
HPN	P05981	Serine protease hepsin

Table 5.1 List of all proteases (symbols, accession numbers, and names) predicted by Proteasix.

HTRA2	O43464	Serine protease HTRA2, mitochondrial
KLK14	Q9P0G3	Kallikrein-14
KLK2	P20151	Kallikrein-2
KLK3	P07288	Prostate-specific antigen
KLK4	Q9Y5K2	Kallikrein-4
KLK5	Q9Y337	Kallikrein-5
KLK6	Q92876	Kallikrein-6
LGMN	Q99538	Legumain
MEP1A	Q16819	Meprin A subunit alpha
MME	P08473	Neprilysin
MMP1	P03956	Interstitial collagenase
MMP10	P09238	Stromelysin-2
MMP12	P39900	Macrophage metalloelastase
MMP13	P45452	Collagenase 3
MMP14	P50281	Matrix metalloproteinase-14
MMP17	Q9ULZ9	Matrix metalloproteinase-17
MMP2	P08253	72 kDa type IV collagenase
MMP20	O60882	Matrix metalloproteinase-20
MMP25	Q9NPA2	Matrix metalloproteinase-25
MMP3	P08254	Stromelysin-1
MMP7	P09237	Matrilysins
MMP8	P22894	Neutrophil collagenase
MMP9	P14780	Matrix metalloproteinase 9
NLN	Q9BYT8	Neurolysin, mitochondrial
PCSK1	P29120	Neuroendocrine convertase 1
PCSK2	P16519	Neuroendocrine convertase 2
PCSK4	Q6UW60	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 4
PCSK5	Q92824	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 5
PCSK6	P29122	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 6
PCSK7	Q16549	Proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 7
PGA3	P0DJD8	Pepsin A-3
PGC	P20142	Gastricsin

PITRM1	Q5JRX3	Presequence protease, mitochondrial
PLG	P00747	Plasminogen
PRSS3	P35030	Trypsin-3
PRTN3	P24158	Myeloblastin
ST14	Q9Y5Y6	Suppressor of tumorigenicity 14 protein
THOP1	P52888	Thimet oligopeptidase
TMPRSS11D	O60235	Transmembrane protease serine 11D
TMPRSS11E	Q9UL52	Transmembrane protease serine 11E
TMPRSS15	P98073	Enteropeptidase
TMPRSS6	Q8IU80	Transmembrane protease serine 6
TMPRSS7	Q7RTY8	Transmembrane protease serine 7

5.3.3 Targeted approaches to validate proteases predictions

WMS from all 16 participants were used with ELISA to directly assess protease abundance and with gelatin zymography to assess gelatinolytic activity. Three distinct clear bands were identified in all samples at approximately 190 kDa (band 1), 72 kDa (band 2), and 62 kDa (band 3) (Figure 5.5a). Gelatinolytic activity increased over time and returned to the baseline levels at T4, being around 1.8 times more elevated at T3 than T1 for band 2 (P<0.05) and 1.4 times more elevated at T3 than T1 for band 3 (p<0.05) (Figure 5.5b-d).

Results of ELISA demonstrated that MMP-8 levels increased over time but were only significant at T3 and T4 compared with baseline levels (T1) (P<0.001; P<0.05, respectively) (Figure 5.6a). In addition, MMP-9 levels were significantly increased at T3 compared with baseline levels (T1) (P<0.01) (Figure 5.6b).



Figure 5.5 Gelatin zymography.

Gelatin zymography for the investigation of gelatinolytic activity in unstimulated whole mouth saliva of 16 participants at four time-points. (a) Representative example of Coomassie-stained zymogram gel demonstrating bands with gelatinolytic activity at three different molecular weights. (b), (c), and (d) Relative quantification of band intensity of bands 1, 2, and 3. The fold change of gelatinolytic activity at T2, T3, and T4 for each band was assessed relative to T1. T1, baseline (before placement of orthodontic appliance); T2, one hour after placement of orthodontic appliance; T3, one week after placement of orthodontic appliance; T4, end of the alignment; m, molecular weight markers; MMP-9 std, matrix metalloproteinase-9 standard; * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01.



Figure 5.6 MMP-8 and MMP-9 levels measured by ELISA.

Graphs showing the levels of matrix metalloproteinase-8 (MMP-8) (a) and matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) (b), as measured by ELISA (Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay), in unstimulated whole mouth saliva of 16 participants at four time-points. T1, baseline (before placement of orthodontic appliance); T2, one hour after placement of orthodontic appliance; T3, one week after placement of orthodontic appliance; T4, end of the alignment. Data were analysed by repeated measures ANOVA; * = p<0.05; ** = p<0.01; *** = p<0.001.

5.4 Discussion

This study describes the first characterisation of a WMS peptidome and protease profile during OTM using a peptidomic approach supplemented by mass spectrometry and bioinformatic analysis.

Proteolytic activity plays a crucial role in ECM remodelling, and numerous enzymes have been implicated, including serine, aspartate, cysteine, metallo, and threonine proteases (Kerrigan et al., 2000, Waddington and Embery, 2001, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Puente et al., 2003). In this study, proteases possibly implicated in the endogenous cleavage of the naturally occurring peptides were predicted by Proteasix software (Klein et al., 2013). This in silico analysis resulted in 73 predicted proteases responsible for producing peptides identified by mass spectrometry, of which only 57 matched to a previous study of WMS using the same software (Trindade et al., 2015b). The additional 16 novel proteases predicted in our study could be attributed to changes in the Proteasix algorithm since the original publication (Mulkern et al., 2020), age-related differences in the WMS proteome and peptidome (as adults aged 33 years were included in their study, whereas adolescents aged 15.2 years were included in our study), or more likely due to the effect of OTM. Previous studies have reported agerelated changes in the salivary proteome, specific salivary proteins, or total proteins in the WMS (Denny et al., 1991, Cabras et al., 2009, Messana et al., 2015, Schulz et al., 2013). However, the literature contains contradictory conclusions addressing the association between age and saliva composition (Cabras et al., 2009). Of these 73, 24 proteases had a percentage of cleavage greater than 1% (Petra et al., 2021); calpains, metalloproteinases, and cathepsins were the most prevalent groups of the proteases that seem to participate in the proteolysis of salivary proteins. Similar results were obtained by previous studies that predicted the activity of proteases in WMS using Proteasix software (Trindade et al., 2015b, Mulkern et al., 2020).

OTM occurs through remodelling of the ECM of the periodontium. The mechanical stimulus generates an aseptic acute inflammatory reaction characterized by vascular changes and leukocytes infiltration (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Li et al., 2018, Apajalahti et al., 2003, Marcaccini et al., 2010), with neutrophils being among the initially infiltrating cells (Marcaccini et al., 2010, Korkmaz et al., 2010) as early as an hour (Jayaprakash et al., 2019). Our results in this study showed a significant increase in the predicted activity of CTSG (cathepsin G), ELANE (neutrophil elastase), and PGA3 (pepsin) one hour and one week after orthodontic appliance placement. Azurophilic granules of neutrophils contain ELANE and CTSG, which are secreted from neutrophils during inflammation and infection (Pisano et al., 2005, Hartman et al., 2021, van der Plas et al., 2021). These proteases play a crucial role in regulation of the inflammation and modulation of the immune response due to retaining pro-

and anti-inflammatory activities (Korkmaz et al., 2010). Although PGA3 (pepsin) is found in the stomach, PGA3 was found to be upregulated in infected wound samples (Hartman et al., 2021). These proteases have not previously been investigated in relation to OTM; however, they seem to have a crucial role in the regulation of the acute inflammatory reaction during the initial phase of OTM.

MMPs play a vital role in ECM remodelling and regulating inflammation (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Kerrigan et al., 2000, Magalhães et al., 2018). Moreover, MMP-8, MMP-9, and MMP-13 are produced by polymorphonuclear leukocytes (Pisano et al., 2005, Amado et al., 2010, Apajalahti et al., 2003). In previous research, MMPs have been extensively investigated in GCF and, to a lower extent, in WMS during OTM. Our results revealed a significant increase in the predicted activity of MMP-3, MMP-8, and MMP-13 at 1 hour and 1 week, whilst MMP-9, MMP-25, and MME were significantly increased 1 hour after appliance placement and MMP-12 only at the end of the alignment. This prediction was validated by ELISA, which confirmed that MMP-8 levels were significantly increased at 1 week after orthodontic appliance placement and continued until the end of the alignment, whereas MMP-9 levels were significantly increased only at 1 week. In contrast to the predicted results, there was no significant difference in total MMP-8 and MMP-9 levels 1 hour after orthodontic appliance placement when assessed by ELISA; this could be explained because ELISA detects total MMPs (both pro- and active forms) (Cheng et al., 2008), and the actual activity might be masked by total protein measurement. The existing literature can mostly support these predictions on the correlation between OTM and different MMPs. Notably, MMP-8, MMP-9, and MMP-12 levels in WMS increased at 1 hour (Xu et al., 2020) and 1 week (Sioustis et al., 2021) during OTM. Furthermore, MMP-3, MMP-8, MMP-9, and MMP-13 levels in GCF were previously positively correlated with OTM (Garlet et al., 2007, Bildt et al., 2009, Zhang et al., 2020, Apajalahti et al., 2003, Behm et al., 2021b, Cantarella et al., 2006). It has also been
demonstrated that orthodontic force application significantly increased MMP-8 levels (Apajalahti et al., 2003), MMP-3, MMP-13, and MMP-9 levels (Capelli Junior et al., 2011) in the GCF 1 hour following orthodontic appliance activation, which is in agreement with our predicted results.

The role of MME in OTM has never been studied previously. However, one previous study found that MME mRNA levels were higher in periodontitis-affected gingival tissues than in healthy gingival tissues and that MME expression was seen in fibroblasts and neutrophils in those tissues. In addition, they reported that MME contributes to the regulation of inflammation by degrading IL-1 β , an important cytokine in inflammation (Nezu et al., 2017). Thus, MME may have a role in the aseptic inflammatory reaction associated with OTM.

Additionally, our predicted results demonstrated that MMP-7 predicted activity was significantly decreased 1 week after orthodontic appliance placement. MMP-7 activity or presence has not been extensively studied; one previous study investigated MMP-7 levels in GCF of healthy teeth and found that MMP-7 levels were significantly decreased one hour after orthodontic force application (Patil et al., 2015). Whilst in another study, MMP-7 levels in GCF were not significantly changed over time (Canavarro et al., 2012).

The results of our study showed that CAPN1, CAPN2, MEP1A, TMPRSS7, and KLK4 predicted activity was significantly reduced during OTM. However, no information in the literature is available concerning the production of those proteases during this process. There are few studies in the literature on the role of cathepsins during OTM in humans, whilst OTM significantly increased CTSK gene expression in rats (Baloul et al., 2011, Kirschneck et al., 2020, Wang et al., 2021a). It has been reported that periodontal cells express CTSB but not CTSK (Sugiyama et al., 2003); therefore, previous studies focused on CTSB. Contradictory results were reported in the literature on CTSB levels in GCF; one study reported on an increase

in CTSB levels after 24 hours but no change after 1 hour and 1 week of orthodontic force application (Sugiyama et al., 2003), and the second study reported on a decrease CTSB levels after 24 hours (Rhee et al., 2009). The first study agrees with the present results that demonstrated no change in the predicted activity of CTSB one hour and one week after orthodontic appliance placement; however, the predicted activity of CTSB was not measured after 24 hours of force application in our study. Hence, further investigations are needed to establish the relationship between cathepsins and OTM in humans.

Proteolysis is the main source of peptides, and considerable efforts have been made to identify the resultant fragments, cleavage sites, and implicated proteases. In line with the literature, our results demonstrated that the most abundant peptides belonged to the major salivary proteins, mainly proline-rich proteins, histatins, statherin, and P-B peptide (Amado et al., 2010, Vitorino et al., 2009). The ECM of soft and hard periodontal tissues consists mainly of type I collagen, which is an essential element for the structural integrity of the supporting tissues and stability of the tooth in position. Collagen degradation is considered one of the critical factors in periodontal tissue and alveolar bone remodelling associated with OTM and periodontal disease (Ingman et al., 2012, Takahashi et al., 2003, Terajima et al., 2014). In addition, total type I collagenase activity in GCF has been reported to be increased ten times in GCF of orthodontic patients compared to control (Ingman et al., 2012). In the present study, levels of peptides derived from COL1A1 and COL1A2 were significantly increased 1-hour after orthodontic appliance placement, suggesting that these proteins display high susceptibility to proteolysis during OTM. This is supported by our protease activity prediction results which linked with the increased levels of detected collagen-derived peptides, as it is well-reported that MMPs play vital roles in collagen breakdown and ECM remodelling during OTM. MMP-8 and MMP-13 are members of the collagenase group, and MMP-9 is a member of the gelatinases group; these proteases degrade type I collagen and gelatin (Ingman et al., 2005,

Chapter 5 A retrospective study

Apajalahti et al., 2003, Ingman et al., 2012, Kerrigan et al., 2000), and our data showed increased predicted activity of these proteases. Furthermore, our gelatin zymography results demonstrated increased gelatinolytic activity for two bands identified at 72 and 62 kDa over time but was statistically significant only 1 week after orthodontic appliance placement. Differences in the methodology could justify the inability to detect the gelatinolytic activity 1 hour after orthodontic appliance placement but possibly suggests that the peptidomic approach may provide a better tool for detecting protease activity.

Our results also demonstrate that statherin, PROL4 and PRR27 show high susceptibility to proteolysis, while PRB4 and histatin-3 showed less susceptibility to proteolysis during OTM; but how they are related to OTM is unclear and has never been investigated before. However, it is worth noting that fixed orthodontic appliance placement involves acid etching of the teeth that leads to demineralization of teeth, and statherin is known to be involved in calcium homeostasis and remineralization of teeth (Vitorino et al., 2009, Amado et al., 2010) and it is known for its strong affinity for the tooth surface and was identified previously in the pellicle formed on metallic brackets (Siqueira et al., 2021). This might explain the increase in statherin-derived peptides 1 hour after orthodontic appliance placement. Further investigations will be necessary to establish the link between OTM, proteases, and protein substrates.

Bacterial plaque and inflamed gingiva can potentially influence the proteolytic activity of salivary proteases. However, there were no significant changes in plaque and gingival indices after 1 hour and 1 week of orthodontic force application compared to baseline levels, and linear regression results showed no significant association between MMP-8 and MMP-9 levels with the plaque and gingival indices over time. Consequently, since changes in the proteolytic activity were observed in this study 1 hour and 1 week following orthodontic appliance placement, we may assume that these changes were induced by orthodontic forces rather than by gingival inflammation or bacterial plaque, proposing that orthodontic forces modulate the proteolytic activity in the periodontal tissues.

Limitations of this study include its retrospective design and the use of a small sample size with the mass spectrometry and bioinformatics approaches. Hence, prospective clinical trials with a larger sample size should be ideally performed. Furthermore, additional research focusing on the detailed characterization of the role of each identified protease and its substrates may improve our understanding of OTM biology and possibly reveal novel biomarkers linked with OTM.

5.5 Conclusions

The profile and activity pattern of proteases responsible for salivary peptide generation were mapped, and susceptible protein targets were identified during the alignment stage of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances, setting the basis for further future validation. The proteases detected in WMS change over time, with the majority of MMPs and proteases associated with inflammation exhibiting increases as early as one hour after orthodontic force application, supported by elevated levels of collagen-derived peptides. Protease prediction using peptidome data demonstrates a potential tool for identifying and differentiating between the various phases of OTM.

Chapter 6 The influence of appointment interval on orthodontic tooth alignment: a prospective randomised controlled trial

6.1 Introduction

The first phase of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances is concerned with tooth alignment. Clinically efficient alignment reflects a balance between maximising the speed of tooth movement and minimising potential damage to the teeth and supporting structures, and patient discomfort. Accelerating OTM could potentially reduce treatment duration and the risk of longer-term side effects associated with orthodontic treatment (Huang et al., 2014). The rate of OTM is a major determinant of treatment time, which is mostly controlled by the rate of alveolar bone remodelling. Therefore, continued efforts have been directed toward the search for a safe, predictable, and acceptable method to reduce orthodontic treatment time without compromising clinical results. The time interval between reactivation of the fixed appliance may influence tooth alignment rates, overall treatment duration and other variables, such as periodontal status.

The appropriate length of time between orthodontic appointments, called the appointment interval, has been the subject of debate for many years. Clinicians generally have their own preferences regarding the timing of appliance reactivation, based either on what they were taught in their orthodontic speciality programs, community norms or their own philosophy. Little evidence is present in the orthodontic literature to support these biases, and there is no evidence-based standard appointment interval (Keim, 2011). According to a survey of 59 randomly chosen orthodontists, the most common interval between reactivation

appointments was 5-6 weeks, followed by 7-8 weeks, with the availability of highly resilient wires, constant-force springs, self-ligating brackets, and non-compliance appliances, as well as time constraints in families being among the most frequently mentioned reasons for extending the period between appointments. It was demonstrated that longer appointment intervals minimised total chair time and overheads, reduced patients' absence from school and allowed clinicians to see more patients. However, disadvantages of longer appointment intervals included an increase in the number of out-of-control or overcorrected cases, a longer total treatment duration and issues with monitoring of compliance-dependent appliances and fee collection (Sheridan, 2005, Jerrold and Naghavi, 2011). Furthermore, orthodontic appliances are plaque traps that are in contact with or adjacent to the supporting periodontal structures for lengthy periods of time. Because oral hygiene is monitoring of patients with periodontal disease and poor oral hygiene and a greater risk of delay in diagnosing periodontal disease and decalcification (Jerrold and Naghavi, 2011).

There are no clinical studies in the literature regarding the effect of appointment interval on OTM. However, shorter intervals between appointments seem to contribute to keeping treatment under control and have been recommended for the following: adults; patients with periodontal diseases and poor oral hygiene; decalcification and white spot lesions; root resorption after a 2-3 month resting period; extraction cases; patients being treated with compliance-dependent appliances such as elastics or headgear (Jerrold and Naghavi, 2011, Moresca, 2018).

6.2 Aims and objectives

The main aim of this prospective randomised controlled trial was to investigate the effect of appointment interval on OTM in adolescent patients during routine treatment with fixed-appliances. The primary objective of this study was to measure the time taken to achieve orthodontic tooth alignment using fixed appliances in patients treated with either 2- or 8-week appointment intervals. The secondary objectives were to measure rate of OTM and assess variations in periodontal biochemistry.

The null hypothesis was that there is no difference in the time to orthodontic tooth alignment between 2-week and 8-week appointment interval groups.

6.3 Methods

6.3.1 Ethical approval

Ethical approval was obtained by the United Kingdom National Research Ethics Service, North of Scotland Research Ethics Committee (19/NS/0099) on 10th September 2019, and written informed consent was received from all parents, guardians, and children. Data was reported and presented according to CONSORT (Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials) statement (Schulz et al., 2010). This trial was registered at ClinicalTrials.gov with identifier number NCT04050657.

6.3.2 Study design

This is a 2-arm parallel-group prospective randomized controlled trial comparing the effect of appointment interval on the duration and rate of orthodontic tooth alignment. Participants were

allocated randomly into 1 of 2 groups: the first was reviewed every 2 weeks (2-week group), and the second was reviewed every 8 weeks (8-week group).

6.3.3 Participants

The participants were recruited from patients attending the Department of Orthodontics at Guy's Hospital within the Faculty of Dentistry, Oral & Craniofacial Sciences, King's College London who satisfied the following criteria: undergoing routine fixed-appliance treatment with or without tooth extractions; 12-18 years old at the start of treatment; no medical contraindications or regular medication; non-smokers; in the permanent dentition; mandibular arch incisor irregularity index of 4-12 mm; and normal weight. Patients who had undergone any previous orthodontic treatment, growth modification or multidisciplinary treatment, those with systematic diseases and craniofacial abnormalities, and those unable to give consent were excluded.

Fixed appliances (Victory-APC 0.022-inch brackets, MBT prescription; 3M-Unitek) were placed for all participants. A particular archwire sequence was followed (0.014-inch nickel-titanium; 0.018-inch nickel-titanium; 0.017 x 0.025-inch nickel titanium and 0.019 x 0.025-inch stainless steel). Archwire progression occurred only if full bracket engagement was attainable, and the completion of alignment was indicated by placement of a 0.019 x 0.025-inch stainless steel archwire. All appliances were placed by consultant orthodontists. Participants in the first group were reviewed every 2-weeks, while the second group were reviewed every 8-weeks. Mandibular dental study casts were taken at taken at the start of treatment and each adjustment appointment.

For all participants, plaque levels and gingival health were measured at the start of treatment and each adjustment appointment using established validated plaque and gingival indices (Löe and Silness, 1963, Silness and Loe, 1964) as described in section (5.2.2) in Chapter 5 of this thesis.

6.3.4 Rate of tooth alignment

Tooth alignment was calculated from serial scanned dental stone casts taken at the start of treatment and each adjustment appointment using Little's irregularity index. This index calculates the horizontal linear contact point displacement of each mandibular incisor from the next tooth and hence represents the total of the five individual displacements (Little, 1975) (Figure 6.1). The overall alignment rate for each group was calculated from the difference in the irregularity index of scanned casts taken at the start and end of the alignment, divided by the number of days between the two measurements (duration of alignment in days).



Figure 6.1 Little's Irregularity Index to calculate teeth irregularity by measuring the five liner distances between the contact points of lower anterior teeth.

6.3.5 Sample Size Calculation

Sample size calculation was based upon previous randomised prospective data on time to alignment completion with fixed appliances, which found a mean time to alignment of 200.7 days with standard deviation (SD) 73.6 days in the presence of 8.9 mm incisor irregularity (Woodhouse et al., 2015). A total of 50 participants were required to detect with an unpaired t-test a hypothesized 30% reduction (Schulz and Grimes, 2005) in alignment time with a common SD across groups to yield 80% power at 5% significance level.

6.3.6 Randomisation

The 1:1 randomisation sequence was generated using the Randbetween function in Microsoft Excel, with participants allocation undertaken centrally at King's College London independently from the clinical operators. The randomisation sequences were kept by an independent individual, who would allocate each participant to the proper group after they were recruited to the study and had signed the consent before the bond up (allowing allocation concealment). The patients and clinical operators were not blinded to their group allocation throughout treatment.

6.3.7 Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarise the data. Parametric and non-parametric analyses were conducted after checking for the normality distribution using the Shapiro-Wilk test of normality. Mann Whitney U test was used to compare the not normally distributed data, whereas the independent t-test was used to compare the normally distributed data in both groups. The chi-square test was used for categorical variables (gender and extraction involvement). Kaplan-Meier analysis was used to evaluate treatment effect in terms of time to achieve alignment. Statistical analyses were done using GraphPad Prism version 9.0 (GraphPad Software, USA). Two-tailed P values were calculated, and the difference was considered statistically significant if p < 0.05.

6.4 Results

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the trial was halted for 18 months, so complete data is only currently available for 13 participants. The data for only these participants will be presented in this chapter as a pilot study.

6.4.1 Participants

A CONSORT diagram showing participant flow through the trial is presented in Figure 6.2 (Schulz et al., 2010). Thirteen participants (3 male, 10 female) were recruited, with n=7 and 6 participants allocated randomly to the 2-week and 8-week groups, respectively. Table 6.1 shows the demographics for the two groups at baseline (T1). The mean (SD) age of all participants at baseline before appliance placement (T1) was 17.46 (5.6) years; mean (SD) ages were 17.4 (6.3) and 17.5 (5.2) years for the 2-week and 8-week groups, respectively. The mean (SD) irregularity was 7.58 (3.8) mm in the 2-week group and 7.53(3.6) mm in the 8-week group. There were no statistically significant differences in demographics (age, gender, plaque index, gingival index, irregularity, and extraction involvement) between the two groups. All participants were followed up until alignment completion.

6.4.2 Primary outcome

The overall mean time to achieve alignment in the 2-week group was significantly lower than the 8-week group (122.7 (54.16) vs 291.7 (127.1) days; p=0.012). Overall, the 2-week group needed a mean of 168.5 days less than the 8-week group to achieve complete alignment (Table

6.2 and Figure 6.4a). Figure 6.3 shows Kaplan-Meier curves comparing alignment patterns for the 2-week and 8-week groups. There is a clear separation between the curves occurring as early as 80 days, which is continued throughout the duration of the trial, reflecting group alignment patterns significantly different from one another (P = 0.013; log-rank test).

Based on these results, we reject the null hypothesis that there would be no difference in the time to alignment completion between the 2-week and 8-week appointment interval groups.

6.4.3 Secondary outcomes

Overall mean alignment rate from baseline to completion of alignment was also significantly increased in the 2-week group than in the 8-week group (0.066 (0.03) vs 0.028 (0.014) mm/day; p=0.011) (Table 6.2 and Figure 6.4b). Moreover, the mean alignment rate from baseline to week 8 was higher in the 2-week group compared with the 8-week group but without any significant difference (0.096 (0.047) vs 0.071 (0.026) mm/day; p>0.05) (Table 6.2).

There were no significant differences in the number of appointments between the two groups (p>0.05). The 2-week group needed a mean number of 8.29 (3.64) visits compared to 6 (2.1) visits for the 8-week group.

Plaque and gingival indices deteriorated significantly for the 8-week group at the fifth and eighth adjustment appointments (T5 and T8) compared to baseline (T1) (both p<0.05). However, no significant changes in plaque and gingival indices were observed in the 2-week group over time (Figure 6.5).



Figure 6.2 CONSORT diagram depicting the flow of participants in the trial.

	Overall	2-week group	8-week group	P value
Patients (n)	13	7	6	
Female / male (n)	10/13	05/07	05/06	0.612 [¥]
Age - mean (SD)	17.46 (5.6)	17.4 (6.3)	17.5 (5.2)	0.703 #
Plaque index (SD)	0.15 (0.1)	0.14 (0.14)	0.16 (0.16)	0.99 #
Gingival index (SD)	0.15(0.1)	0.14 (0.14)	0.16 (0.16)	0.99 #
Irregularity - mean (SD)	7.6 (2.4)	7.58 (3.8)	7.53(3.6)	0.98*
Tooth extraction – n (%)	2 (15%)	2 (29%)	0	0.155 [¥]

Table 6.1 Demographics of participants at baseline.

SD, standard deviation; ¥ from chi-square test; * from independent t-test; # from Mann-Whitney test.

Outcome	Overall (n=13)	2-week group (n=7)	8-week group (n=6)	P value
Time to completion of alignment (d) – mean (SD)	200.7 (126.0)	122.7 (54.16)	291.7 (127.1)	0.012#
Tooth alignment rate: baseline to completion of alignment (mm/d) – mean (SD)	0.048 (0.029)	0.066 (0.03)	0.028 (0.014)	0.011*
Tooth alignment rate: baseline to week 8 (mm/d) - mean (SD)	0.084 (0.039)	0.096 (0.047)	0.071 (0.026)	0.304*

Table 6.2 Rate of tooth movement	t (mm/day) during the study period
----------------------------------	------------------------------------

d, days; SD, standard deviation; * from independent t-test; # from Mann-Whitney test.



Figure 6.3 Kaplan-Meier survival curves for the 2-week and 8- week groups used in the study.

The y-axis gives the proportion of participants still in treatment (not aligned) over time (days on x-axis). By drawing a line perpendicular to the x-axis at a given time value, the proportions of participants not completed for each group is determined from the corresponding y-axis. There is clear separation occurring as early as 80 days. This separation is maintained throughout the duration of the trial.



Figure 6.4 Box plots of measured values in 2-week and 8-week groups for study outcomes.

(a) primary (time to completion of alignment in days) and (b) secondary (tooth alignment rate from start of treatment to completion of alignment in mm/day) outcomes. Plotted boxes with horizontal lines indicate interquartile ranges with medians. Vertical whiskers represent upper and lower values.



Figure 6.5 Graph showing the plaque index (a & b) and the gingival index (c & d) of the 2-week and 8-week groups.

Plaque and gingival indices were measured at the start of treatment and each adjustment appointment for the 2-week (T1-T13) and the 8-week (T1-T9) groups. * = p<0.05: significant difference with T1 (p<0.05) for the 8-week group. Data were analysed by the Kruskal-Wallis test.

6.5 Discussion

This is the first RCT to assess the effect of appointment interval on treatment duration to achieve alignment of the mandibular dentition during the initial phase of orthodontic treatment using fixed orthodontic appliances. Interestingly, we found that patients reviewed every 2 weeks had significantly shorter alignment duration and increased the rate of OTM. Specifically, patients reviewed every 2 weeks needed a mean of 168.5 days less than the 8-week group to achieve complete alignment, equivalent to a 58% reduction in duration to alignment completion. Moreover, our results demonstrated a faster rate of OTM within the 2-week group with an overall rate of 0.07 mm per day compared to 0.03 mm per day in the 8-week group.

Orthodontic treatment duration is affected by the rate of OTM, which is mediated by PDL and alveolar bone remodelling. The orthodontic force causes tooth displacement within its socket, initiating an immediate aseptic acute inflammatory response characterised by the release of multiple inflammatory cytokines. This acute inflammatory reaction lasts for one or two days, then it subsides and is replaced by a chronic aseptic inflammation that persists until the orthodontic appliance is re-activated in the next orthodontic treatment appointment and thus inducing another acute inflammatory reaction (Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006). It is well reported in the literature the vital role of acute inflammation in OTM, confirmed by the early release of inflammatory mediators after orthodontic force application as early as 1 minute (Dudic et al., 2006) and 1 hour (Karacay et al., 2007, Hamamcı et al., 2012), then peaks at 24 hours (Sarı and Uçar, 2007, Alikhani et al., 2013, Ren et al., 2002). However, these inflammatory mediators returned to baseline levels at 48 hours, 7 days, 14 days, and 21 days (Sarı and Uçar, 2007, Karacay et al., 2007, Grieve et al., 1994). Therefore, by reviewing the patients every 2 weeks, the acute inflammatory reaction is induced at each adjustment appointment, leading to the release of inflammatory cytokines, which mediate PDL and alveolar bone resorption and hence increase OTM rate. This might explain the faster rate of OTM and shorter alignment duration in patients reviewed every 2 weeks than those reviewed every 8 weeks. However, this should be confirmed by measuring the levels of the inflammatory mediators in the saliva and GCF of those patients in future studies.

Our results demonstrated a faster OTM rate from baseline to week 8 in the 2-week group compared with the 8-week group but without any significant difference (0.096 vs 0.071 mm/day). However, it is worth noting that the 8-week time point represented the fourth visit for the 2-week group when most of the lower anterior irregularity was alleviated, whilst it was the second visit for the 8-week group. Furthermore, no significant differences in the number of visits were found between the two groups. Therefore, the alignment rate was measured for each group at the second visit, with the 2-week group exhibiting a significantly faster rate of OTM (0.18 mm per day) compared to the 8-week group (0.07 mm per day). This indicates that reviewing patients every 2 weeks causes a faster OTM rate.

Orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances can cause external root resorption and loss of periodontal attachment. However, no clinical evidence exists that accelerated OTM is associated with adverse changes in any of these parameters over the short or long term (Dab et al., 2019). There is little data relating to human studies of appointment interval periods, but a recent animal study found no correlation between interval periods and external root resorption in rats exposed to a retraction force (Nagata et al., 2016). Furthermore, there is no association between root resorption and the choice of archwire sequence used (Weltman et al., 2010). It is crucial not to use excessive force during treatment (Weltman et al., 2010), which is why in the present study, archwire progression was undertaken in both randomised groups when clinically indicated.

Orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances has a negative effect on oral health (Cantekin et al., 2011, Atack et al., 1996). It is associated with increased plaque retention and bleeding on probing (Ristic et al., 2007, Levin et al., 2008, Fornell et al., 2002), which can

232

jeopardize oral health, causing several adverse effects such as enamel demineralization (white spot lesions) and gingival inflammation (Fornell et al., 2002, Weyland et al., 2022), with white spot lesions being seen within 4 weeks of starting orthodontic treatment (Ogaard et al., 1988). Most orthodontic patients are adolescents who are reported to be more likely to miss orthodontic appointments and be poorly compliant with plaque prevention and control (Fornell et al., 2002, Weyland et al., 2022). Therefore, shorter intervals between appointments have been recommended to keep treatment under control for patients with periodontal diseases and poor oral hygiene, decalcification, and white spot lesions (Jerrold and Naghavi, 2011, Moresca, 2018). This is consistent with our findings which demonstrated a significant deterioration in plaque and gingival indices over time in patients reviewed every 8 weeks, whilst patients reviewed every 2 weeks exhibited no significant changes in those indices, indicating better treatment control when shorter appointment intervals are employed. This can be explained by the effects of motivation and oral hygiene instruction given at each adjustment appointment which can keep treatment under control.

Other factors that might affect the appointment interval period and should be taken into consideration include treatment financing, scheduling convenience, and monitoring of compliance-dependent appliances like elastics or headgear. In addition, the number of adults seeking orthodontic treatment is increasing. However, prolonged treatment time might lead to adults discontinuing or resorting to alternative treatments such as implants or veneers. As a result, approaches for reducing treatment duration are desired by adults (Ong and Wang, 2002). Also, with the slower cellular response and a higher risk for periodontal disease, adult patients might benefit from being seen at shorter appointment intervals.

The limitations of this study include the inability to: recruit the required sample, to measure in vivo levels of salivary and GCF biomarkers during OTM and the reported pain and discomfort, and to measure root resorption. These limitations were the results of halting the

233

study for an extended period due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The trial is still going at present, and the targeted sample size will be reached as well as these outcomes will be measured. On the other hand, the methods used in the study are robust, and the results of the pilot study showed a significant effect of appointment interval on tooth alignment.

6.6 Conclusions

This prospective randomized clinical trial found evidence that shorter intervals between appointments can significantly reduce the time required to achieve complete alignment and increase the rate of tooth alignment. Furthermore, shorter appointment intervals seem to contribute to keeping periodontal health under control during orthodontic treatment.

Chapter 7 General discussion

7.1 Duration and rate of OTM

People seeking orthodontic treatment have made shortening the duration of treatment a high priority. In the last few decades, patients and orthodontists have been interested in the factors that influence the speed of OTM; hence, the modulation of OTM rate has become the dominant focus of orthodontic trials, with several approaches and devices being reported to speed OTM. However, any adjunct treatment or new approaches to speed orthodontic OTM requires more robust clinical evidence of its efficiency before being marketed and introduced into orthodontic practices. Therefore, it was essential to systematically review the literature to assess the current evidence on the duration and rate of OTM during orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances and to evaluate factors associated with those variables.

Orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances encompasses several stages: alignment and levelling, overbite and overjet reduction, space closure, and finishing. According to a recent systematic review, the average duration of treatment with fixed appliances is 19.9 months; however, with a wide variation between studies (with mean values ranging from 14 to 33 months) (Tsichlaki et al., 2016). The alignment of dentition is the first phase and key goal of orthodontic treatment; consequently, the duration of this phase influences the overall duration and burden of a course of orthodontic treatment. In addition, it is a commonly selected outcome in clinical studies investigating orthodontic treatment interventions and the speed of OTM. Therefore, a systematic review of the literature was conducted to evaluate treatment duration to achieve alignment of the mandibular dentition using fixed appliances. Thirty-five RCTs were included, giving a pooled duration to achieve whole-arch alignment of the mandibular dentition of 263.0 days (8.8 months) and 110.7 days (3.4 months) to achieve mandibular incisor alignment.

Chapter 7 General discussion

In this systematic review, high levels of heterogeneity were observed across the studies. As a result, confidence intervals may be more informative than pooled averages. However, the overall strength of evidence using the GRADE approach suggested high-quality evidence about the results, which enhances our confidence in the findings. Specifically, the quality of evidence was high for the surgically-assisted orthodontics (reducing the time to initial alignment of the anterior teeth by 44.3 days) and for the lack of benefit for both thermal NiTi archwires and self-ligating brackets. This is consistent with previous reviews demonstrating the little effect of appliance design on alignment rates (Papageorgiou et al., 2014b, Papageorgiou et al., 2014a, Wang et al., 2018, Fleming and Johal, 2010). On the other hand, surgically assisted orthodontics reduced incisor alignment time, and this treatment adjunct seems to be associated with increased OTM rates, although on a relatively short-term basis (Fleming et al., 2015). This intervention's transient nature may be overcome if performed surgical procedure is repeated several times. However, most surgical procedures are invasive and might not be readily acceptable to most patients (Uribe et al., 2014).

Space closure is the most time-consuming phase of orthodontic treatment and shortening this time might lead to a shorter overall treatment duration. Space closure can be achieved by either retracting the maxillary canine teeth as a separate stage followed by retracting the four incisors as a second stage of treatment or by a single stage of en-masse retraction of all six anterior teeth simultaneously. Although the former approach is more time-consuming (Rizk et al., 2018), extensive investigations have used single canine retraction as an experimental model to assess the effectiveness of different treatment modalities during orthodontic treatment. Therefore, a second systematic review was performed to assess evidence from RCTs on duration and rate of single canine retraction following maxillary first premolar extraction using full-arch fixed appliances. Fifty RCTs were included, with the estimated average pooled duration to achieve complete canine retraction being 4.98 months. Similar to

236

the alignment duration systematic review, this review found that surgically-assisted orthodontics resulted in a shorter retraction duration than control groups (1.11 months less) and a greater canine retraction rate consistent with other reviews (Gil et al., 2018, Apalimova et al., 2020) while there was no effect of adjunct vibration, self-ligation, photobiomodulation, and platelet-rich plasma or fibrin.

Both reviews found limited research assessing the primary outcome of the complete duration of each phase. Out of the 35 included RCTs, 13 assessed alignment duration, with only 4 trials assessing complete alignment duration, while the rest of the studies assessed incisor alignment. However, out of the 50 included RCTs, 4 trials assessed complete canine retraction, with only 2 studies being used in the data synthesis. Most clinical trials have focused on OTM rate as a primary outcome of their interventions. However, useful clinical data on complete duration of each phase or overall treatment, which is the most clinically relevant outcome for both patient and orthodontist, is lacking. There is a recognition that outcomes of research should be of relevance and benefit to patients instead of focusing on technical features of interventions. However, it has been indicated that there is an overemphasis on technical and clinician-centred outcomes in dental research across all specialities (Fleming et al., 2016, Tsichlaki and Fleming, 2019). In addition, there was inconsistency in the definition of alignment duration among the included studies and in outcome assessment methods and tools of tooth alignment and canine retraction. There is a plethora of evidence showing that outcome heterogeneity is widespread in healthcare research. In orthodontic research, systematic reviews frequently conclude that there is a lack of quality evidence, an inability to do data synthesis from diverse studies, and a need for further research. This inability to undertake meaningful syntheses is one of the challenges associated with using inconsistent outcomes in clinical research investigations (Tsichlaki et al., 2018).

Chapter 7 General discussion

Overall treatment duration depends on many factors, which can be patient-related, such as age, gender, the severity of the underlying malocclusion, and compliance, or treatmentrelated, including factors such as teeth extraction, the need for overbite reduction, and space closure (Beckwith et al., 1999, Skidmore et al., 2006, Fisher et al., 2010). Subgroup and metaregression analyses in both systematic reviews indicated that patient and treatment-related characteristics could significantly affect tooth alignment and canine retraction duration. Premolar extraction and 0.022-inch bracket slot size were associated with greater tooth alignment, consistent with previous findings (Little and Spary, 2017, Cobb 3rd et al., 1998), while age and baseline irregularity were associated with longer alignment duration. On the other hand, anchorage reinforcement method and patient gender are associated with canine retraction rate. Furthermore, differences in applied treatment methods impacted alignment and canine retraction duration. Therefore, these factors should be taken into account both clinically and when designing trial outcomes.

The efficiency of most approaches for accelerating OTM proposed in recent years is limited, in addition to their high prices and orthodontists' and patients' opposition to more invasive surgical procedures (Moresca, 2018). Therefore, new non-invasive and cost-effective approaches should be pursued. Existing information about the effect of the interval between appointments on OTM is lacking. Hence, in this thesis, a prospective randomised controlled trial was conducted for the first time to investigate the effect of appointment interval on OTM in adolescent patients during routine orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances. Notably, the groups in this RCT were not different regarding baseline demographics, including plaque or gingival indices and baseline irregularity. In this RCT, we were able to reject our null hypothesis since we found that the duration to complete alignment was significantly shorter in patients reviewed every 2 weeks than those reviewed every 8 weeks (122.7 vs 291.7 days; p=0.012). In addition, the overall alignment rate was significantly higher in the 2-week group

Chapter 7 General discussion

compared to the 8-week group (0.066 vs 0.028 mm/day; p=0.011). Our first systematic review results demonstrated that the pooled duration to achieve complete alignment of mandibular dentition was nearly double that of the 2-week group (263 vs 122.7 days) whilst almost similar to that of the 8-week group (263 vs 291.7 days).

Orthodontic forces create an acute aseptic inflammation in the surrounding supporting structure that lasts 1-2 days and is characterised by the dilatation of blood vessels, leukocyte adhesion and migration, and the release of inflammatory mediators. This leads to ECM in the PDL, gingiva, and alveolar bone. This acute phase is then replaced by an aseptic and transitory chronic inflammation which continues until the next orthodontic treatment appointment, after which acute inflammation returns due to activation by orthodontic appliances (Andrade et al., 2012, Krishnan and Davidovitch, 2006, Meikle, 2006); this could be one explanation for the faster alignment and hence duration in the 2- week group. In addition, the presence of acute inflammation is confirmed by the results of chapter 5 of this thesis, which demonstrated increased levels of many proteases as early as 1 hour after orthodontic force application, with many of those proteases having essential roles in acute inflammation. Specifically, our results revealed a significant increase in the predicted activity of CTSG, ELANE, PGA3, MMP-3, MMP-8, and MMP-13 at 1 hour and 1 week, whilst MMP-9, MMP-25, and MME were significantly increased 1 hour after orthodontic force application.

Orthodontic treatment in patients with periodontal disease is particularly risky, as the combination of aseptic and periodontal-associated inflammation triggers accelerated attachment loss and disease progression (Li et al., 2018). The data of our RCT showed that plaque and gingival indices deteriorated significantly over time for the 8-week group confirming the results of the retrospective study in chapter 5 of this thesis, which demonstrated that plaque and gingival indices were increased significantly at the end of alignment compared to baseline in orthodontic patients who were reviewed every 6 weeks. Whilst no significant

changes in plaque and gingival indices were observed in the 2-week group over time, indicating that reviewing patients with shorter appointment intervals would be beneficial to patients providing control over periodontal health during orthodontic treatment.

7.2 Adipokines and OTM

Obesity is defined as an abnormal increase of body fat produced by adipocyte cells which are responsible for the dysregulation of immunological responses by producing bioactive molecules known as adipocytokines (Ouchi et al., 2011). Adipocytes produce a variety of adipokines, mainly increased amounts of pro-inflammatory adipokines like leptin and decreased amounts of anti-inflammatory adipokines like adiponectin. This imbalance between pro- and anti-inflammatory adipokines causes a subclinical chronic systemic inflammation status of obese individuals (Ruiz-Heiland et al., 2021, Deschner et al., 2014). Although there are very scarce studies in the literature on the association between obesity and OTM (Consolaro, 2017), our research group previously found that levels of leptin differed significantly between obese and normal-weight patients before and during orthodontic treatment, with higher rates of OTM in obese patients (Saloom et al., 2017).

Because OTM mainly depends on PDL and alveolar bone remodelling, obesity can potentially affect orthodontic treatment, specifically the inflammatory and ECM mediators secreted in the periodontal sulcus. Therefore, understanding the effect of leptin and adiponectin on OTM could make an important contribution to the long-term success of orthodontic treatment, especially in view of the increasing obesity rates in children and adolescents worldwide. Our in vitro study in chapter 4 of this thesis investigated the effect of compressive force, leptin, and AdipoRon on the expression of inflammatory and ECM remodelling biomarkers in hPDLFs and hGFs, as well as their effect on IL-1 α induced expression of inflammatory and ECM remodelling biomarkers in the presence or absence of compressive force. The results demonstrated that leptin showed pro-inflammatory properties by selectively enhancing IL-1 α -induced expression of IL-6 and IL-8 as well as several MMPs in compressed hPDLFs and hGFs. Whereas AdipoRon exhibited anti-inflammatory properties by attenuating these biomarkers under similar conditions. Because obese patients have higher levels of leptin and lower levels of adiponectin than normal weight patients, this might explain the increased rates of OTM observed in obese individuals (Saloom et al., 2017).

Elevated leptin concentrations during orthodontic treatment of obese individuals may result in higher bone resorption and thus increased orthodontic tooth movement, as well as increased inflammation, periodontal bone loss and dental root resorption due to increased osteoclast activity. Although enhanced tooth movement velocity in these patients would be beneficial clinically, the expected risk of increased related periodontal bone loss and dental root resorptions would advise caution and vigilance in the orthodontic treatment of obese individuals. Therefore, understanding the complicated molecular mechanisms induced by adipokines will hopefully assist in better estimating the likelihood of unwanted side effects during orthodontic treatment for obese individuals and hence ensure effective treatment (Schröder et al., 2021, Ruiz-Heiland et al., 2021).

Adiponectin warrants attention due to its numerous functions in metabolic processes. Based on the anti-inflammatory properties of adiponectin and continuous inflammation in periodontitis, it has been postulated that adiponectin might play a protective role in periodontitis. However, the administration of adiponectin is challenging because of the requirement for a megadose given via intravenous injection and the possible induction of adverse effects. Therefore, AdipoRon, an orally active synthetic analogue of endogenous adiponectin, has been introduced. It possesses pharmacological properties like those of adiponectin and can bind and activate both AdipoR1 and AdipoR2 receptors (Wang et al., 2021b, Bhat et al., 2020), making it a suitable candidate to treat several disorders. Hence, AdipoRon might have potential therapeutic value in treating periodontitis by inhibiting the inflammatory lesions, promoting wound healing and tissue regeneration contributing to bone tissue regeneration (Wu et al., 2021, Iwayama et al., 2012).

The work in this thesis demonstrated that in the absence of induced inflammation, compressive forces, AdipoRon, and leptin have little effect on the production of inflammatory and ECM remodelling biomarkers. The acute inflammation induced by orthodontic forces, which is characterized by blood vessel dilatations in the surrounding periodontal tissues, elicits a typical innate immune response, with neutrophils being among the first cells to infiltrate (Chaushu et al., 2022, Marcaccini et al., 2010, Korkmaz et al., 2010). Additionally, as demonstrated by the results in chapter 5 of this thesis, increased levels of several proteases, including CTSG, ELANE, MMP-8, MMP-9, and MMP-13, were observed 1 hour after orthodontic force application. These proteases are secreted mainly from neutrophils during inflammation and infection (Apajalahti et al., 2003, Pisano et al., 2005, Amado et al., 2010, van der Plas et al., 2021, Hartman et al., 2021). This might indicate that periodontal fibroblasts are not the first cells to respond to orthodontic forces. However, other cells, like neutrophils, are the first to respond and release inflammatory mediators initiating acute inflammation. After that, in the presence of acute inflammation, periodontal fibroblasts respond to compression and adipokines, enhancing the acute inflammation and promoting ECM remodelling.

Our findings suggest an impact of compressive force on the mTOR signalling pathway manifested by downregulating the expression of phosphorylated AKT and 4EPB1 proteins. Activation of the mTOR signalling pathway generally induces an anabolic response, such as protein synthesis (Jiang et al., 2022), whereas compressive forces induce catabolic changes on the compression side during OTM. Moreover, it has been suggested previously that the in vitro weight loading approach might induce hypoxia (Liu et al., 2019, Ullrich et al., 2019), which

in turn affects the mTOR signalling pathway by inhibiting mTORC1 signal transduction (Brugarolas et al., 2004). Therefore, mTOR integrates several inputs, and it is unclear if specific inputs are dominant over others and if regulatory mechanisms depend on cell type (Laplante and Sabatini, 2012).

7.3 Proteolytic activity during OTM

Proteases are responsible for shaping entire proteomes and peptidomes of tissues and body fluids. Peptides originating from large proteins are likely due to the net result of protease activity and the counterbalancing regulation from their inhibitors. Therefore, studying the peptidome could help decipher the coordinated action of proteases (Magalhães et al., 2018). Advances in proteomic and peptidomic fields have opened new possibilities and are expected to change how diseases are diagnosed. Screening human body fluids for disease biomarkers is challenging, but it is hoped that alterations in the proteome or peptidome can be detected even before clinical symptoms appear (Loo et al., 2010).

Aside from bone remodelling, constant remodelling and reorganization of the ECM of the PDL occurs during OTM (Tantilertanant et al., 2019, Behm et al., 2021a), involving secreting both matrix proteins (ECM deposition) and proteases (Behm et al., 2021b, Chen et al., 2013). The significance of proteases in orthodontics has drawn much interest. Their primary physiological function is the modulation and regulation of ECM turnover by direct proteolytic degradation of the ECM proteins, including collagen, proteoglycans and fibronectin (Klein and Bischoff, 2011).

Our findings demonstrated the first characterisation of the salivary peptidome and protease profile during OTM. Mass spectrometry and bioinformatics were used to identify 73 active proteases, of which around 25 % changed during OTM, suggesting an active role. This

Chapter 7 General discussion

far exceeds the usual targeted approach and opens up new areas regarding the cells involved and biological processes. Using this novel approach, the role of MMPs was confirmed, and new proteases possibly derived from inflammatory cells were identified, which may also be necessary during the alignment stage of fixed appliance orthodontic treatment.

Typically, MMP levels are very low in normal conditions; however, their expression is elevated in inflamed tissues or those undergoing remodelling in both physiological and pathological conditions (Birkedal-Hansen, 1993, Ye, 2015). This is confirmed by our results showing that levels of several MMPs increased 1 hour and 1 week after orthodontic force application. Furthermore, since no visible plaque and gingival inflammation was detected at these time points indicating healthy infection and inflammation-free periodontium, it was assumed that changes observed in MMPs, and other proteases were due to orthodontic treatment rather than periodontal infection, demonstrating the crucial role of those proteases in PDL remodelling during OTM.

7.4 Future work

The findings of this thesis point to the necessity for further clinical and biochemical research.

Data in each systematic review provides a basis for appropriate trial design for future RCTs investigating the duration and rate of OTM with fixed appliances. Substantial heterogeneity was observed across studies. Therefore, future research studies with adequate sample sizes (based on power calculation), appropriate trial design, and a more consistent methodology in outcome assessment are needed.

One noteworthy limitation of the literature assessed in both systematic reviews was that most included trials only report over the short-term, often failing to follow up patients beyond one or a few months. Orthodontic treatment is a time-consuming process comprising several phases and various occlusal goals. As a result, it is essential to assess the effectiveness of any adjuncts or interventions during the overall duration of treatment because any potential benefit of the adjuncts may decrease with time. Future prospective randomised parallel-group trials should be conducted to investigate the relative influence of single versus repeated applications assessing the complete duration of each phase or overall treatment. Overall treatment duration would enable a reasonable calculation of the adjunct efficiency and cost-benefit to justify its clinical relevance.

Additionally, the thesis showed that the overall duration and rate of tooth movement significantly increased in the 2-week group compared to the 8-week group during the alignment phase of orthodontic treatment. Therefore, it would be interesting also to measure the duration and rate of tooth movement of the canine retraction phase and complete course of treatment, to assess the differences in pain and discomfort between the two groups, and to closely assess the difference in the root resorption between the two groups.

Chapter 7 General discussion

Orthodontic forces initiate local inflammation and greater capillary permeability in paradental tissues during orthodontic treatment. GCF occurs near the sites of these activities and is unlikely to be diluted, so it has a better diagnostic potential than saliva for the biomarkers of these activities (Rody et al., 2011). It would be valuable to use mass spectrometry and bioinformatics to investigate the profile of naturally occurring peptides in the GCF of the 2-week and 8-week groups and to predict proteases potentially implicated in the generation of these peptides using Proteasix software. In addition, it would be essential to use targeted approaches to assess the differences between the 2-week and 8-week groups from the biochemical aspect in the saliva and GCF. This was not possible in this thesis because of limited time and funding.

The weight method used in this thesis to simulate orthodontic forces in vitro might induce hypoxia, especially in the central area of the glasses. This is an inherent limitation of this method. Additionally, it is worth noting that an in vitro model can never attain the complexity of the in vivo conditions. Therefore, future studies should aim to apply this knowledge and investigate these findings using an in vivo model.

AdipoRon could be a potential promising therapy to treat periodontitis associated with diabetes via regulating hyperglycaemia, repressing inflammation, improving bone regeneration, and inhibiting bone loss (Wu et al., 2019). Data of this thesis highlight potential implication for orthodontic treatment by using AdipoRon to enhance retention and reduce relapse after orthodontic treatment by attenuating the inflammation induced by orthodontic forces.

Analysis of MMPs and TIMPs in orthodontics may contribute to more predictable treatment regimens in the future. It may serve as a diagnostic aid to predict the rate of OTM, root resorption severity, and the relapse (Bildt et al., 2009). Chairside MMP tests have already

246

been developed to monitor the treatment of periodontitis (Mäntylä et al., 2003). It would be valuable to develop MMP tests to monitor OTM during orthodontic treatment with different interventions.

Further studies should be performed to investigate the extra- and intracellular mechanisms by which leptin and AdipoRon exert their pro- and anti-inflammatory properties in compressed hPDLFs and hGFs. In addition, our results suggest that the mTOR signalling pathway might have an influence on autophagy regulation; hence, it is crucial to explore the role of autophagy in OTM, as aberrant autophagy is associated with uncontrolled degradation of the periodontium. Future in vitro studies should be conducted to measure autophagy activity and markers in compressed hPDLFs and hGFs. In addition, further research on the relationship between the mTOR signalling pathway with other regulatory pathways and how to target this signalling pathway will be necessary from the orthodontic perspective.

In addition, inhibitors of the mTOR signalling pathway may help to prevent protein synthesis and cell growth which would be beneficial for tooth stabilization after orthodontic treatment. Therefore, it would be interesting to use non-invasive localized drug delivery to accelerate OTM and hence shorten treatment duration or reversibly stop OTM for anchorage reinforcement and retention enhancement. Moreover, modulating autophagy and inflammation may present novel targets for treating periodontitis and orthodontic-induced root resorption.

References

- ABBAS, N. H., SABET, N. E. & HASSAN, I. T. 2016. Evaluation of corticotomy-facilitated orthodontics and piezocision in rapid canine retraction. *American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics*, 149, 473-480.
- ABBING, A., KORETSI, V., ELIADES, T. & PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N. 2020. Duration of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances in adolescents and adults: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Progress in Orthodontics*, 21, 37.
- ABDELHAMEED, A. N. & REFAI, W. M. M. 2018. Evaluation of the effect of combined low energy laser application and micro-osteoperforations versus the effect of application of each technique separately on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement. *Open access macedonian journal of medical sciences*, 6, 2180-2185.
- ABDELRAHMAN, R., AL-NIMRI, K. S. & AL MAAITAH, E. F. 2015. A clinical comparison of three aligning archwires in terms of alignment efficiency: A prospective clinical trial. *Angle Orthodontist*, 85, 434-9.
- ABOALNAGA, A. A., FAYED, M. M. S., EL-ASHMAWI, N. A. & SOLIMAN, S. A. 2019. Effect of micro-osteoperforation on the rate of canine retraction: a split-mouth randomized controlled trial. *Progress in Orthodontics*, 20.
- ABOUL-ELA, S., EL-BEIALY, A. R., EL-SAYED, K. M. F., SELIM, E. M. N., EL-MANGOURY, N. H. & MOSTAFA, Y. A. 2011. Miniscrew implant-supported maxillary canine retraction with and without corticotomy-facilitated orthodontics. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 139, 252-259.
- ADAM, D. J., MILNE, A. A., EVANS, S. M., ROULSTON, J. E., LEE, A. J., RUCKLEY, C. V. & BRADBURY, A. W. 1999. Serum amylase isoenzymes in patients undergoing operation for ruptured and non-ruptured abdominal aortic aneurysm. *J Vasc Surg*, 30, 229-35.
- AFZAL, E., FIDA, M., MALIK, D. S., IRFAN, S. & GUL, M. 2020. Comparison between conventional and piezocision-assisted orthodontics in relieving anterior crowding: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 43, 360-366.
- AHMAD, M., HARTSFIELD, J., AL-AHMADY, H. & IBRAHIM, S. 2020. Effect of using full thickness mucoperiosteal flap versus low level laser application on orthodontic tooth movement acceleration. *Al-Azhar Dental Journal for Girls*, 7, 285.
- AL-NAOUM, F., HAJEER, M. Y. & AL-JUNDI, A. 2014. Does alveolar corticotomy accelerate orthodontic tooth movement when retracting upper canines? A split-mouth design randomized controlled trial. *Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery*, 72, 1880-1889.
- AL-SHAFI, S., PANDIS, N., DARENDELILER, M. A. & PAPADOPOULOU, A. K. 2021. Effect of light-emitting diode-mediated photobiomodulation on extraction space closure in adolescents and young adults: a split-mouth, randomized controlled trial. *American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics*.
- ALBERTI, K. G., ZIMMET, P. & SHAW, J. 2006. Metabolic syndrome--a new world-wide definition. A Consensus Statement from the International Diabetes Federation. *Diabet Med*, 23, 469-80.
- ALFAWAL, A. M., HAJEER, M. Y., AJAJ, M. A., HAMADAH, O. & BRAD, B. 2016. Effectiveness of minimally invasive surgical procedures in the acceleration of tooth movement: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Prog Orthod*, 17, 33.
- ALFAWAL, A. M. H., HAJEER, M. Y., AJAJ, M. A., HAMADAH, O. & BRAD, B. 2018. Evaluation of piezocision and laser-assisted flapless corticotomy in the acceleration of canine retraction: a randomized controlled trial. *Head & face medicine*, 14, 4.

- ALGER, D. W. 1988. Appointment frequency versus treatment time. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 94, 436-9.
- ALHASHIMI, N., FRITHIOF, L., BRUDVIK, P. & BAKHIET, M. 2001. Orthodontic tooth movement and de novo synthesis of proinflammatory cytokines. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 119, 307-312.
- ALIKHANI, M., CHOU, M. Y., KHOO, E., ALANSARI, S., KWAL, R., ELFERSI, T., ALMANSOUR, A., SANGSUWON, C., AL JEARAH, M., NERVINA, J. M. & TEIXEIRA, C. C. 2018. Age-dependent biologic response to orthodontic forces. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop, 153, 632-644.
- ALIKHANI, M., RAPTIS, M., ZOLDAN, B., SANGSUWON, C., LEE, Y. B., ALYAMI, B., CORPODIAN, C., BARRERA, L. M., ALANSARI, S., KHOO, E. & TEIXEIRA, C.
 2013. Effect of micro-osteoperforations on the rate of tooth movement. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 144, 639-48.
- ALJABAA, A., ALMOAMMAR, K., ALDREES, A. & HUANG, G. 2018. Effects of vibrational devices on orthodontic tooth movement: A systematic review. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 154, 768-779.
- ALJEHANI, D. & BAESHEN, H. A. 2018. Effectiveness of the American Board of Orthodontics Discrepancy Index in predicting Treatment Time. J Contemp Dent Pract, 19, 647-650.
- ALKEBSI, A., AL-MAAITAH, E., AL-SHORMAN, H. & ABU ALHAIJA, E. 2018. Threedimensional assessment of the effect of micro-osteoperforations on the rate of tooth movement during canine retraction in adults with Class II malocclusion: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics*, 153, 771-785.
- ALQADASI, B., ALDHORAE, K., HALBOUB, E., MAHGOUB, N., ALNASRI, A., ASSIRY, A. & XIA, H. Y. 2019. The Effectiveness of Micro-osteoperforations during Canine Retraction: A Three-dimensional Randomized Clinical Trial. *Journal of International Society of Preventive & Community Dentistry*, 9, 637-645.
- ALQADASI, B., XIA, H. Y., ALHAMMADI, M. S., HASAN, H., ALDHORAE, K. & HALBOUB, E. 2021. Three-dimensional assessment of accelerating orthodontic tooth movement—micro-osteoperforations vs piezocision: A randomized, parallel-group and split-mouth controlled clinical trial. *Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research*, 24, 335-343.
- ALSHAHRANI, I., TOGOO, R. A., HOSMANI, J. & ALHAIZAEY, A. 2019. Photobiomodulation in acceleration of orthodontic tooth movement: A systematic review and meta analysis. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine*, 47, 102220.
- AMADO, F., LOBO, M. J., DOMINGUES, P., DUARTE, J. A. & VITORINO, R. 2010. Salivary peptidomics. *Expert Rev Proteomics*, 7, 709-21.
- AMDITIS, C. & SMITH, L. F. 2000. The duration of fixed orthodontic treatment: a comparison of two groups of patients treated using Edgewise brackets with 0.018" and 0.022" slots. *Aust Orthod J*, 16, 34-9.
- ANDRADE, I., TADDEI, S. R. A. & SOUZA, P. E. A. 2012. Inflammation and Tooth Movement: The Role of Cytokines, Chemokines, and Growth Factors. Seminars in Orthodontics, 18, 257-269.
- ANDRIAN, E., MOSTEFAOUI, Y., ROUABHIA, M. & GRENIER, D. 2007. Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases by Porphyromonas gingivalis in an engineered human oral mucosa model. *J Cell Physiol*, 211, 56-62.

- ANITUA, E., ANDIA, I., ARDANZA, B., NURDEN, P. & NURDEN, A. T. 2004. Autologous platelets as a source of proteins for healing and tissue regeneration. *Thromb Haemost*, 91, 4-15.
- ANTOSZEWSKA-SMITH, J., BOHATER, M., KAWALA, M., SARUL, M. & RZEPECKA-SKUPIEŃ, M. 2017. Treatment of Adults with Anterior Mandibular Teeth Crowding: Reliability of Little's Irregularity Index. *Int J Dent*, 2017, 5057941.
- APAJALAHTI, S., SORSA, T., RAILAVO, S. & INGMAN, T. 2003. The in vivo levels of matrix metalloproteinase-1 and -8 in gingival crevicular fluid during initial orthodontic tooth movement. J Dent Res, 82, 1018-22.
- APALIMOVA, A., ROSELLÓ, À., JANÉ-SALAS, E., ARRANZ-OBISPO, C., MARÍ-ROIG, A. & LÓPEZ-LÓPEZ, J. 2020. Corticotomy in orthodontic treatment: systematic review. *Heliyon*, 6, e04013-e04013.
- ARAGHBIDIKASHANI, M., HOSSEINKHATIBI, A., MERATI, M., KOJOORI, S. S., SABZIJATE, M., BADIEE, M. & GHIASIAN, T. 2017. The Impact of Canine Retraction on Anchorage Loss in Two Methods of Active Lace Back and NiTi Closed Coil Spring. *International Journal of Advanced Biotechnology and Research*, 8, 1630-+.
- ARAMBURU, J., ORTELLS, M. C., TEJEDOR, S., BUXADÉ, M. & LÓPEZ-RODRÍGUEZ, C. 2014. Transcriptional regulation of the stress response by mTOR. *Science Signaling*, 7, re2-re2.
- ARIFFIN, S. H., ABIDIN, I. Z., YAZID, M. D. & WAHAB, R. M. 2010. Differentiation analyses of adult suspension mononucleated peripheral blood cells of Mus musculus. *Cell Commun Signal*, 8, 29.
- ÅRTUN, J. & BROBAKKEN, B. O. 1986. Prevalence of carious white spots after orthodontic treatment with multibonded appliances. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 8, 229-234.
- ASANO, M., YAMAGUCHI, M., NAKAJIMA, R., FUJITA, S., UTSUNOMIYA, T., YAMAMOTO, H. & KASAI, K. 2011. IL-8 and MCP-1 induced by excessive orthodontic force mediates odontoclastogenesis in periodontal tissues. *Oral Dis*, 17, 489-98.
- ATACK, N. E., SANDY, J. R. & ADDY, M. 1996. Periodontal and microbiological changes associated with the placement of orthodontic appliances. A review. *J Periodontol*, 67, 78-85.
- AYDIN, B., SEMSIK, N. E. & KOSKAN, O. 2018. Evaluation of the alignment efficiency of nickel-titanium and copper-nickel-titanium archwires in patients undergoing orthodontic treatment over a 12-week period: A single-center, randomized controlled clinical trial. *Korean Journal of Orthodontics*, 48, 153-162.
- BABANOURI, N., AJAMI, S. & SALEHI, P. 2020. Effect of mini-screw-facilitated microosteoperforation on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: a single-center, splitmouth, randomized, controlled trial. *Progress in orthodontics*, 21, 7.
- BADO, A., LEVASSEUR, S., ATTOUB, S., KERMORGANT, S., LAIGNEAU, J. P., BORTOLUZZI, M. N., MOIZO, L., LEHY, T., GUERRE-MILLO, M., LE MARCHAND-BRUSTEL, Y. & LEWIN, M. J. 1998. The stomach is a source of leptin. *Nature*, 394, 790-3.
- BALOUL, S. S., GERSTENFELD, L. C., MORGAN, E. F., CARVALHO, R. S., VAN DYKE, T. E. & KANTARCI, A. 2011. Mechanism of action and morphologic changes in the alveolar bone in response to selective alveolar decortication-facilitated tooth movement. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 139, S83-101.
- BANSAL, M., SHARMA, R., KUMAR, D. & GUPTA, A. 2019. Effects of mini-implant facilitated micro-osteoperforations in alleviating mandibular anterior crowding: A randomized controlled clinical trial. *Journal of orthodontic science*, 8, 19-19.

- BARRETT, A. J. 2004. Bioinformatics of proteases in the MEROPS database. *Curr Opin Drug Discov Devel*, 7, 334-41.
- BARTOLD, P. M. & NARAYANAN, A. S. 2006. Molecular and cell biology of healthy and diseased periodontal tissues. *Periodontol 2000*, 40, 29-49.
- BARTZELA, T., TÜRP, J. C., MOTSCHALL, E. & MALTHA, J. C. 2009. Medication effects on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: A systematic literature review. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 135, 16-26.
- BAŞARAN, G., ÖZER, T., KAYA, F. A. & HAMAMCI, O. 2006a. Interleukins 2, 6, and 8 levels in human gingival sulcus during orthodontic treatment. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 130, 7.e1-7.e6.
- BAŞARAN, G., OZER, T., KAYA, F. A., KAPLAN, A. & HAMAMCI, O. 2006b. Interleukine-1beta and tumor necrosis factor-alpha levels in the human gingival sulcus during orthodontic treatment. *Angle Orthod*, 76, 830-6.
- BASDRA, E. K. & KOMPOSCH, G. 1997. Osteoblast-like properties of human periodontal ligament cells: an in vitro analysis. *Eur J Orthod*, 19, 615-21.
- BEAZLEY, W. W. 1971. Assessment of mandibular arch length discrepancy utilizing an individualized arch form. *Angle Orthod*, 41, 45-54.
- BECKWITH, F. R., ACKERMAN, R. J., JR., COBB, C. M. & TIRA, D. E. 1999. An evaluation of factors affecting duration of orthodontic treatment. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 115, 439-47.
- BEERTSEN, W., MCCULLOCH, C. A. G. & SODEK, J. 1997. The periodontal ligament: a unique, multifunctional connective tissue. *Periodontology 2000*, 13, 20-40.
- BEHM, C., NEMEC, M., BLUFSTEIN, A., SCHUBERT, M., RAUSCH-FAN, X., ANDRUKHOV, O. & JONKE, E. 2021a. Interleukin-1β Induced Matrix Metalloproteinase Expression in Human Periodontal Ligament-Derived Mesenchymal Stromal Cells under In Vitro Simulated Static Orthodontic Forces. *Int J Mol Sci*, 22.
- BEHM, C., NEMEC, M., WEISSINGER, F., RAUSCH, M. A., ANDRUKHOV, O. & JONKE, E. 2021b. MMPs and TIMPs Expression Levels in the Periodontal Ligament during Orthodontic Tooth Movement: A Systematic Review of In Vitro and In Vivo Studies. *Int J Mol Sci*, 22.
- BERNABÉ, E. & FLORES-MIR, C. 2006. Estimating arch length discrepancy through Little's Irregularity Index for epidemiological use. *Eur J Orthod*, 28, 269-73.
- BHAD PATIL, W. A. & KAREMORE, A. A. 2022. Efficacy of pulsed electromagnetic field in reducing treatment time: A clinical investigation. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 161, 652-658.
- BHAT, I. A., KABEER, S. W., REZA, M. I., MIR, R. H. & DAR, M. O. 2020. AdipoRon: A Novel Insulin Sensitizer in Various Complications and the Underlying Mechanisms: A Review. *Curr Mol Pharmacol*, 13, 94-107.
- BHATTACHARYA, P., BHATTACHARYA, H., ANJUM, A., BHANDARI, R., AGARWAL, D. K., GUPTA, A. & ANSAR, J. 2014. Assessment of corticotomy facilitated tooth movement and changes in alveolar bone thickness - A ct scan study. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, 8, ZC26-ZC30.
- BILDT, M. M., BLOEMEN, M., KUIJPERS-JAGTMAN, A. M. & VON DEN HOFF, J. W. 2009. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in gingival crevicular fluid during orthodontic tooth movement. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 31, 529-535.
- BILDT, M. M., HENNEMAN, S., MALTHA, J. C., KUIJPERS-JAGTMAN, A. M. & VON DEN HOFF, J. W. 2007. CMT-3 inhibits orthodontic tooth displacement in the rat. *Arch Oral Biol*, 52, 571-8.
- BIRKEDAL-HANSEN, H. 1993. Role of Matrix Metalloproteinases in Human Periodontal Diseases. *Journal of Periodontology*, 64, 474-484.
- BLAWAT, K., MAYR, A., HARDT, M., KIRSCHNECK, C., NOKHBEHSAIM, M., BEHL, C., DESCHNER, J., JÄGER, A. & MEMMERT, S. 2020. Regulation of Autophagic Signaling by Mechanical Loading and Inflammation in Human PDL Fibroblasts. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21, 9446.
- BLETSA, A., BERGGREEN, E. & BRUDVIK, P. 2006. Interleukin-1alpha and tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression during the early phases of orthodontic tooth movement in rats. *Eur J Oral Sci*, 114, 423-9.
- BLICHARZ, T. M., SIQUEIRA, W. L., HELMERHORST, E. J., OPPENHEIM, F. G., WEXLER, P. J., LITTLE, F. F. & WALT, D. R. 2009. Fiber-optic microsphere-based antibody array for the analysis of inflammatory cytokines in saliva. *Analytical chemistry*, 81, 2106-2114.
- BOLCATO-BELLEMIN, A.-L., ELKAIM, R., ABEHSERA, A., FAUSSER, J., HAIKEL, Y. & TENENBAUM, H. 2000. Expression of mRNAs encoding for α and β integrin subunits, MMPs, and TIMPs in stretched human periodontal ligament and gingival fibroblasts. *Journal of Dental Research*, 79, 1712-1716.
- BONAFE-OLIVEIRA, L., FALTIN, R. M. & ARANA-CHAVEZ, V. E. 2003. Ultrastructural and histochemical examination of alveolar bone at the pressure areas of rat molars submitted to continuous orthodontic force. *European Journal of Oral Sciences*, 111, 410-416.
- BOSSARD, M. J., TOMASZEK, T. A., THOMPSON, S. K., AMEGADZIE, B. Y., HANNING, C. R., JONES, C., KURDYLA, J. T., MCNULTY, D. E., DRAKE, F. H., GOWEN, M. & LEVY, M. A. 1996. Proteolytic activity of human osteoclast cathepsin K. Expression, purification, activation, and substrate identification. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 12517-24.
- BROCKHAUS, J., CRAVEIRO, R., AZRAQ, I., NIEDERAU, C., SCHRÖDER, S., WEISKIRCHEN, R., JANKOWSKI, J. & WOLF, M. 2021. In Vitro Compression Model for Orthodontic Tooth Movement Modulates Human Periodontal Ligament Fibroblast Proliferation, Apoptosis and Cell Cycle. *Biomolecules*, 11, 932.
- BRUGAROLAS, J., LEI, K., HURLEY, R. L., MANNING, B. D., REILING, J. H., HAFEN, E., WITTERS, L. A., ELLISEN, L. W. & KAELIN, W. G., JR. 2004. Regulation of mTOR function in response to hypoxia by REDD1 and the TSC1/TSC2 tumor suppressor complex. *Genes Dev*, 18, 2893-904.
- BUMANN, A., CARVALHO, R. S., SCHWARZER, C. L. & YEN, E. H. K. 1997. Collagen synthesis from human PDL cells following orthodontic tooth movement. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 19, 29-37.
- BUSCHANG, P. H., CAMPBELL, P. M. & RUSO, S. 2012. Accelerating Tooth Movement With Corticotomies: Is It Possible and Desirable? *Seminars in Orthodontics*, 18, 286-294.
- BUTLER, G. S. & OVERALL, C. M. 2009. Updated biological roles for matrix metalloproteinases and new "intracellular" substrates revealed by degradomics. *Biochemistry*, 48, 10830-45.
- CABRAS, T., IAVARONE, F., MANCONI, B., OLIANAS, A., SANNA, M. T., CASTAGNOLA, M. & MESSANA, I. 2014. Top-down analytical platforms for the characterization of the human salivary proteome. *Bioanalysis*, 6, 563-81.
- CABRAS, T., PISANO, E., BOI, R., OLIANAS, A., MANCONI, B., INZITARI, R., FANALI, C., GIARDINA, B., CASTAGNOLA, M. & MESSANA, I. 2009. Age-dependent modifications of the human salivary secretory protein complex. *J Proteome Res*, 8, 4126-34.

- CANAVARRO, C., TELES, R. P. & CAPELLI JÚNIOR, J. 2012. Matrix metalloproteinases -1, -2, -3, -7, -8, -12, and -13 in gingival crevicular fluid during orthodontic tooth movement: a longitudinal randomized split-mouth study. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 35, 652-658.
- CANO, J., CAMPO, J., BONILLA, E. & COLMENERO, C. 2012. Corticotomy-assisted orthodontics. *Journal of clinical and experimental dentistry*, 4, e54-e59.
- CANTARELLA, G., CANTARELLA, R., CALTABIANO, M., RISUGLIA, N., BERNARDINI, R. & LEONARDI, R. 2006. Levels of matrix metalloproteinases 1 and 2 in human gingival crevicular fluid during initial tooth movement. *American Journal* of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 130, 568.e11-568.e16.
- CANTEKIN, K., CELIKOGLU, M., KARADAS, M., YILDIRIM, H. & ERDEM, A. 2011. Effects of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances on oral health status: A comprehensive study. *Journal of Dental Sciences*, 6, 235-238.
- CAO, J. J. 2011. Effects of obesity on bone metabolism. *Journal of Orthopaedic Surgery and Research*, 6, 30.
- CAPELLI JUNIOR, J., KANTARCI, A., HAFFAJEE, A., TELES, R. P., FIDEL, R., JR & FIGUEREDO, C. M. 2011. Matrix metalloproteinases and chemokines in the gingival crevicular fluid during orthodontic tooth movement. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 33, 705-711.
- CAPPELLERI, J. C., IOANNIDIS, J. P., SCHMID, C. H., DE FERRANTI, S. D., AUBERT, M., CHALMERS, T. C. & LAU, J. 1996. Large trials vs meta-analysis of smaller trials: how do their results compare? *Jama*, 276, 1332-8.
- CAREY, C. W. 1958. Treatment planning and the technical program in the four fundamental treatment forms. *American Journal of Orthodontics*, 44, 887-898.
- CARPENTER, G. H. 2013. The Secretion, Components, and Properties of Saliva. *Annual Review of Food Science and Technology*, 4, 267-276.
- CARRASCO-LABRA, A., BRIGNARDELLO-PETERSEN, R., SANTESSO, N., NEUMANN, I., MUSTAFA, R. A., MBUAGBAW, L., ETXEANDIA IKOBALTZETA, I., DE STIO, C., MCCULLAGH, L. J., ALONSO-COELLO, P., MEERPOHL, J. J., VANDVIK, P. O., BROZEK, J. L., AKL, E. A., BOSSUYT, P., CHURCHILL, R., GLENTON, C., ROSENBAUM, S., TUGWELL, P., WELCH, V., GARNER, P., GUYATT, G. & SCHÜNEMANN, H. J. 2016. Improving GRADE evidence tables part 1: a randomized trial shows improved understanding of content in summary of findings tables with a new format. J Clin Epidemiol, 74, 7-18.
- CASSETTA, M., DI CARLO, S., GIANSANTI, M., POMPA, V., POMPA, G. & BARBATO, E. 2012. The impact of osteotomy technique for corticotomy-assisted orthodontic treatment (CAOT) on oral health-related quality of life. *European Review for Medical* and Pharmacological Sciences, 16, 1735-1740.
- CASTAGNOLA, M., CABRAS, T., VITALI, A., SANNA, M. T. & MESSANA, I. 2011. Biotechnological implications of the salivary proteome. *Trends in Biotechnology*, 29, 409-418.
- CASTAGNOLA, M., SCARANO, E., PASSALI, G. C., MESSANA, I., CABRAS, T., IAVARONE, F., DI CINTIO, G., FIORITA, A., DE CORSO, E. & PALUDETTI, G. 2017. Salivary biomarkers and proteomics: future diagnostic and clinical utilities. *Acta otorhinolaryngologica Italica : organo ufficiale della Societa italiana di otorinolaringologia e chirurgia cervico-facciale*, 37, 94-101.
- CELIKOGLU, M., BAYRAM, M., NUR, M. & KILKIS, D. 2014. Mandibular changes during initial alignment with SmartClip self-ligating and conventional brackets: A single-center prospective randomized controlled clinical trial. *Korean Journal of Orthodontics*, 45, 89-94.

- CHAFFEE, B. W. & WESTON, S. J. 2010. Association between chronic periodontal disease and obesity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Periodontol*, 81, 1708-24.
- CHANG, H. H., WU, C. B., CHEN, Y. J., WENG, C. Y., WONG, W. P., CHEN, Y. J., CHANG, B. E., CHEN, M. H. & YAO, C. C. 2008. MMP-3 response to compressive forces in vitro and in vivo. *J Dent Res*, 87, 692-6.
- CHANG, Y.-H., CHANG, D.-M., LIN, K.-C., SHIN, S.-J. & LEE, Y.-J. 2011. Visfatin in overweight/obesity, type 2 diabetes mellitus, insulin resistance, metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular diseases: a meta-analysis and systemic review. *Diabetes/Metabolism Research and Reviews*, 27, 515-527.
- CHARAVET, C., LECLOUX, G., BRUWIER, A., ROMPEN, E., MAES, N., LIMME, M. & LAMBERT, F. 2016. Localized Piezoelectric Alveolar Decortication for Orthodontic Treatment in Adults: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *J Dent Res*, 95, 1003-9.
- CHARAVET, C., LECLOUX, G., JACKERS, N., ALBERT, A. & LAMBERT, F. 2019. Piezocision-assisted orthodontic treatment using CAD/CAM customized orthodontic appliances: a randomized controlled trial in adults. *Eur J Orthod*, 41, 495-501.
- CHAUSHU, S., KLEIN, Y., MANDELBOIM, O., BARENHOLZ, Y. & FLEISSIG, O. 2022. Immune Changes Induced by Orthodontic Forces: A Critical Review. *Journal of Dental Research*, 101, 11-20.
- CHEN, L., MO, S. & HUA, Y. 2019. Compressive force-induced autophagy in periodontal ligament cells downregulates osteoclastogenesis during tooth movement. *J Periodontol*, 90, 1170-1181.
- CHEN, Y.-J., JENG, J.-H., CHANG, H.-H., HUANG, M.-Y., TSAI, F.-F. & JANE YAO, C.-C. 2013. Differential regulation of collagen, lysyl oxidase and MMP-2 in human periodontal ligament cells by low- and high-level mechanical stretching. *Journal of Periodontal Research*, 48, 466-474.
- CHENG, X.-C., FANG, H. & XU, W.-F. 2008. Advances in assays of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and their inhibitors. *Journal of Enzyme Inhibition and Medicinal Chemistry*, 23, 154-167.
- CHOI, H. M., DOSS, H. M. & KIM, K. S. 2020. Multifaceted Physiological Roles of Adiponectin in Inflammation and Diseases. *Int J Mol Sci*, 21.
- CHOI, K. M., KIM, J. H., CHO, G. J., BAIK, S. H., PARK, H. S. & KIM, S. M. 2007. Effect of exercise training on plasma visfatin and eotaxin levels. *European Journal of Endocrinology*, 157, 437-442.
- CHUNG, L., DINAKARPANDIAN, D., YOSHIDA, N., LAUER-FIELDS, J. L., FIELDS, G. B., VISSE, R. & NAGASE, H. 2004. Collagenase unwinds triple-helical collagen prior to peptide bond hydrolysis. *The EMBO Journal*, 23, 3020-3030.
- CLEMMER, E. J. & HAYES, E. W. 1979. Patient cooperation in wearing orthodontic headgear. *American Journal of Orthodontics*, 75, 517-524.
- COBB 3RD, N. W., KULA, K. S., PHILLIPS, C. & PROFFIT, W. R. 1998. Efficiency of multi-strand steel, superelastic Ni-Ti and ion-implanted Ni-Ti archwires for initial alignment. *Clinical orthodontics and research*, 1, 12-19.
- COBB, N. W., 3RD, KULA, K. S., PHILLIPS, C. & PROFFIT, W. R. 1998. Efficiency of multi-strand steel, superelastic Ni-Ti and ion-implanted Ni-Ti archwires for initial alignment. *Clin Orthod Res*, 1, 12-9.
- COLE, T. J. 1979. A method for assessing age-standardized weight-for-height in children seen cross-sectionally. *Annals of Human Biology*, 6, 249-268.
- CONSIDINE, R. V., SINHA, M. K., HEIMAN, M. L., KRIAUCIUNAS, A., STEPHENS, T. W., NYCE, M. R., OHANNESIAN, J. P., MARCO, C. C., MCKEE, L. J., BAUER, T. L. & ET AL. 1996. Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. *N Engl J Med*, 334, 292-5.

- CONSOLARO, A. 2017. Obesity and orthodontic treatment: is there any direct relationship? *Dental Press J Orthod*, 22, 21-25.
- CRUZ, D. R., KOHARA, E. K., RIBEIRO, M. S. & WETTER, N. U. 2004. Effects of lowintensity laser therapy on the orthodontic movement velocity of human teeth: a preliminary study. *Lasers Surg Med*, 35, 117-20.
- CUI, N., HU, M. & KHALIL, R. A. 2017. Biochemical and Biological Attributes of Matrix Metalloproteinases. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci*, 147, 1-73.
- CUNNINGHAM, S., HUNT, N. & FEINMANN, C. 1996. Perceptions of outcome following orthognathic surgery. *British Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 34, 210-213.
- CURY, P. R., ARAÚJO, V. C., CANAVEZ, F., FURUSE, C. & ARAÚJO, N. S. 2007. Hydrocortisone affects the expression of matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-1, -2, -3, -7, and -11) and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases (TIMP-1) in human gingival fibroblasts. *J Periodontol*, 78, 1309-15.
- D'APUZZO, F., CAPPABIANCA, S., CIAVARELLA, D., MONSURRÒ, A., SILVESTRINI-BIAVATI, A. & PERILLO, L. 2013. Biomarkers of periodontal tissue remodeling during orthodontic tooth movement in mice and men: overview and clinical relevance. *ScientificWorldJournal*, 2013, 105873.
- DAB, S., CHEN, K. & FLORES-MIR, C. 2019. Short- and long-term potential effects of accelerated osteogenic orthodontic treatment: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Orthod Craniofac Res*, 22, 61-68.
- DAKSHINA, C. K., HANUMANTHAIAH, S., RAMAIAH, P. T., THOMAS, T., SABU, J. K. & SUBRAMONIA, S. 2019. Efficacy of Low-level Laser Therapy in Increasing the Rate of Orthodontic Tooth Movement: A Randomized Control Clinical Trial. World Journal of Dentistry.
- DANCEY, J. 2010. mTOR signaling and drug development in cancer. *Nature Reviews Clinical Oncology*, 7, 209-219.
- DANIELS, S. R., JACOBSON, M. S., MCCRINDLE, B. W., ECKEL, R. H. & SANNER, B. M. 2009. American Heart Association Childhood Obesity Research Summit: executive summary. *Circulation*, 119, 2114-23.
- DARENDELILER, M. A., SINCLAIR, P. M. & KUSY, R. P. 1995. The effects of samariumcobalt magnets and pulsed electromagnetic fields on tooth movement. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 107, 578-588.
- DARENDELILER, M. A., ZEA, A., SHEN, G. & ZOELLNER, H. 2007. Effects of pulsed electromagnetic field vibration on tooth movement induced by magnetic and mechanical forces: a preliminary study. *Australian Dental Journal*, 52, 282-287.
- DAVIDOVITCH, Z., NICOLAY, O. F., NGAN, P. W. & SHANFELD, J. L. 1988. Neurotransmitters, cytokines, and the control of alveolar bone remodeling in orthodontics. *Dent Clin North Am*, 32, 411-35.
- DAWES, C. & WONG, D. T. W. 2019. Role of Saliva and Salivary Diagnostics in the Advancement of Oral Health. *J Dent Res*, 98, 133-141.
- DE ALMEIDA PDEL, V., GRÉGIO, A. M., MACHADO, M. A., DE LIMA, A. A. & AZEVEDO, L. R. 2008. Saliva composition and functions: a comprehensive review. *J Contemp Dent Pract*, 9, 72-80.
- DE ARAÚJO GURGEL, J., PINZAN-VERCELINO, C. R. M., FERREIRA, M. C., DE OLIVEIRA DA SILVA, D., FLORES-MIR, C. & SCHWARTZ, E. A. 2020. Effectiveness of two thermal activated orthodontic archwire sequences based on transition temperature range during alignment: A randomized non-controlled comparative study. *International Orthodontics*, 18, 706-713.

- DEGUCHI, T., IMAI, M., SUGAWARA, Y., ANDO, R., KUSHIMA, K. & TAKANO-YAMAMOTO, T. 2007. Clinical evaluation of a low-friction attachment device during canine retraction. *Angle orthodontist*, 77, 968-972.
- DELAISSÉ, J. M., EECKHOUT, Y., NEFF, L., FRANÇOIS-GILLET, C., HENRIET, P., SU, Y., VAES, G. & BARON, R. 1993. (Pro)collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase-1) is present in rodent osteoclasts and in the underlying bone-resorbing compartment. *J Cell Sci*, 106 (Pt 4), 1071-82.
- DENG, T., LYON, C. J., BERGIN, S., CALIGIURI, M. A. & HSUEH, W. A. 2016. Obesity, Inflammation, and Cancer. *Annu Rev Pathol*, 11, 421-49.
- DENNY, P. C., DENNY, P. A., KLAUSER, D. K., HONG, S. H., NAVAZESH, M. & TABAK, L. A. 1991. Age-related Changes in Mucins from Human Whole Saliva. *Journal of Dental Research*, 70, 1320-1327.
- DESCHNER, J., EICK, S., DAMANAKI, A. & NOKHBEHSAIM, M. 2014. The role of adipokines in periodontal infection and healing. *Mol Oral Microbiol*, 29, 258-69.
- DETTERLINE, D. A., ISIKBAY, S. C., BRIZENDINE, E. J. & KULA, K. S. 2010. Clinical outcomes of 0.018-inch and 0.022-inch bracket slot using the ABO objective grading system. *Angle Orthod*, 80, 528-32.
- DIBART, S., SEBAOUN, J. D. & SURMENIAN, J. 2009. Piezocision: a minimally invasive, periodontally accelerated orthodontic tooth movement procedure. *Compendium of continuing education in dentistry (Jamesburg, N.J. : 1995)*, 30, 342-344,346,348.
- DIBIASE, A. T., WOODHOUSE, N. R., PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N., JOHNSON, N., SLIPPER, C., GRANT, J., ALSALEH, M., KHAJA, Y. & COBOURNE, M. T. 2018. Effects of supplemental vibrational force on space closure, treatment duration, and occlusal outcome: A multicenter randomized clinical trial. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 153, 469-480.e4.
- DILSIZ, A., KILIÇ, N., AYDIN, T., ATES, F. N., ZIHNI, M. & BULUT, C. 2010. Leptin Levels in Gingival Crevicular Fluid During Orthodontic Tooth Movement. *The Angle Orthodontist*, 80, 504-508.
- DODDS, M., ROLAND, S., EDGAR, M. & THORNHILL, M. 2015. Saliva A review of its role in maintaining oral health and preventing dental disease. *BDJ Team*, 2, 15123.
- DOHAN EHRENFEST, D. M., RASMUSSON, L. & ALBREKTSSON, T. 2009. Classification of platelet concentrates: from pure platelet-rich plasma (P-PRP) to leucocyte- and platelet-rich fibrin (L-PRF). *Trends Biotechnol*, 27, 158-67.
- DOLCE, C., KINNIBURGH, A. J. & DZIAK, R. 1996. Immediate early-gene induction in rat osteoblastic cells after mechanical deformation. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 41, 1101-1108.
- DOMON, S., SHIMOKAWA, H., MATSUMOTO, Y., YAMAGUCHI, S. & SOMA, K. 1999. In situ hybridization for matrix metalloproteinase-1 and cathepsin K in rat rootresorbing tissue induced by tooth movement. *Arch Oral Biol*, 44, 907-15.
- DOSHI-MEHTA, G. & BHAD-PATIL, W. A. 2012. Efficacy of low-intensity laser therapy in reducing treatment time and orthodontic pain: a clinical investigation. *American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics*, 141, 289-297.
- DOUCET, A., BUTLER, G. S., RODRÍGUEZ, D., PRUDOVA, A. & OVERALL, C. M. 2008. Metadegradomics: toward in vivo quantitative degradomics of proteolytic posttranslational modifications of the cancer proteome. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 7, 1925-51.
- DRAKE, F. H., DODDS, R. A., JAMES, I. E., CONNOR, J. R., DEBOUCK, C., RICHARDSON, S., LEE-RYKACZEWSKI, E., COLEMAN, L., RIEMAN, D., BARTHLOW, R., HASTINGS, G. & GOWEN, M. 1996. Cathepsin K, but Not Cathepsins B, L, or S, Is Abundantly Expressed in Human Osteoclasts (*). Journal of Biological Chemistry, 271, 12511-12516.

- DUDIC, A., GIANNOPOULOU, C. & KILIARIDIS, S. 2013. Factors related to the rate of orthodontically induced tooth movement. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 143, 616-21.
- DUDIC, A., KILIARIDIS, S., MOMBELLI, A. & GIANNOPOULOU, C. 2006. Composition changes in gingival crevicular fluid during orthodontic tooth movement: comparisons between tension and compression sides. *Eur J Oral Sci*, 114, 416-22.
- EGOLF, R. J., BEGOLE, E. A. & UPSHAW, H. S. 1990. Factors associated with orthodontic patient compliance with intraoral elastic and headgear wear. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 97, 336-348.
- EKIZER, A., TÜRKER, G., UYSAL, T., GÜRAY, E. & TAŞDEMIR, Z. 2016. Light emitting diode mediated photobiomodulation therapy improves orthodontic tooth movement and miniscrew stability: A randomized controlled clinical trial. *Lasers Surg Med*, 48, 936-943.
- EL-ANGBAWI, A., MCINTYRE, G. T., FLEMING, P. S. & BEARN, D. R. 2015. Nonsurgical adjunctive interventions for accelerating tooth movement in patients undergoing fixed orthodontic treatment. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 2015, Cd010887.
- EL-AWADY, A. R., LAPP, C. A., GAMAL, A. Y., SHARAWY, M. M., WENGER, K. H., CUTLER, C. W. & MESSER, R. L. 2013. Human periodontal ligament fibroblast responses to compression in chronic periodontitis. *J Clin Periodontol*, 40, 661-71.
- EL-TIMAMY, A., EL SHARABY, F., EID, F., EL DAKROURY, A., MOSTAFA, Y. & SHAKR, O. 2020. Effect of platelet-rich plasma on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: a split-mouth randomized trial. *Angle orthodontist*.
- EL SHEHAWY, T. O., HUSSEIN, F. A. & EI AWADY, A. A. 2020. Outcome of photodynamic therapy on orthodontic leveling and alignment of mandibular anterior segment: A controlled clinical trial. *Photodiagnosis Photodyn Ther*, 31, 101903.
- ENGSIG, M. T., CHEN, Q. J., VU, T. H., PEDERSEN, A. C., THERKIDSEN, B., LUND, L. R., HENRIKSEN, K., LENHARD, T., FOGED, N. T., WERB, Z. & DELAISSÉ, J. M. 2000. Matrix metalloproteinase 9 and vascular endothelial growth factor are essential for osteoclast recruitment into developing long bones. *J Cell Biol*, 151, 879-89.
- EVERTS, V., DELAISSÉ, J. M., KORPER, W., NIEHOF, A., VAES, G. & BEERTSEN, W. 1992. Degradation of collagen in the bone-resorbing compartment underlying the osteoclast involves both cysteine-proteinases and matrix metalloproteinases. *J Cell Physiol*, 150, 221-31.
- FÁBIÁN, T. K., HERMANN, P., BECK, A., FEJÉRDY, P. & FÁBIÁN, G. 2012. Salivary defense proteins: their network and role in innate and acquired oral immunity. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 13, 4295-4320.
- FALAGAS, M. E. & KOMPOTI, M. 2006. Obesity and infection. *Lancet Infect Dis*, 6, 438-46.
- FANTUZZI, G. 2005. Adipose tissue, adipokines, and inflammation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, 115, 911-9; quiz 920.
- FANTUZZI, G. & FAGGIONI, R. 2000. Leptin in the regulation of immunity, inflammation, and hematopoiesis. *J Leukoc Biol*, 68, 437-46.
- FARID, K. A., EID, A. A., KADDAH, M. A. & ELSHARABY, F. A. 2019. The effect of combined corticotomy and low level laser therapy on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: Split mouth randomized clinical trial. *Laser Therapy*, 28, 275-283.
- FAUL, F., ERDFELDER, E., LANG, A. G. & BUCHNER, A. 2007. G*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav Res Methods*, 39, 175-91.

- FEIZBAKHSH, M., ZANDIAN, D., HEIDARPOUR, M., FARHAD, S. Z. & FALLAHI, H. R. 2018. The use of micro-osteoperforation concept for accelerating differential tooth movement. *Journal of the World Federation of Orthodontists*, 7, 56-60.
- FELLER, L., KHAMMISSA, R. A., SCHECHTER, I., MOODLEY, A., THOMADAKIS, G. & LEMMER, J. 2015a. Periodontal Biological Events Associated with Orthodontic Tooth Movement: The Biomechanics of the Cytoskeleton and the Extracellular Matrix. *ScientificWorldJournal*, 2015, 894123.
- FELLER, L., KHAMMISSA, R. A., SCHECHTER, I., THOMADAKIS, G., FOURIE, J. & LEMMER, J. 2015b. Biological Events in Periodontal Ligament and Alveolar Bone Associated with Application of Orthodontic Forces. *ScientificWorldJournal*, 2015, 876509.
- FELLER, L. & LEMMER, J. 2004. Tooth mobility after periodontal surgery. *Sadj*, 59, 407, 409-11.
- FENG, L., YANG, R., LIU, D., WANG, X., SONG, Y., CAO, H., HE, D., GAN, Y., KOU, X. & ZHOU, Y. 2016. PDL Progenitor-Mediated PDL Recovery Contributes to Orthodontic Relapse. J Dent Res, 95, 1049-56.
- FINK, D. F. & SMITH, R. J. 1992. The duration of orthodontic treatment. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop, 102, 45-51.
- FISCHER, T., SENN, N. & RIEDL, R. 2019. Design and Structural Evolution of Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibitors. *Chemistry A European Journal*, 25, 7960-7980.
- FISHER, M. A., WENGER, R. M. & HANS, M. G. 2010. Pretreatment characteristics associated with orthodontic treatment duration. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 137, 178-86.
- FLEMING, P. S., DIBIASE, A. T., SARRI, G. & LEE, R. T. 2009. Efficiency of mandibular arch alignment with 2 preadjusted edgewise appliances. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 135, 597-602.
- FLEMING, P. S., FEDOROWICZ, Z., JOHAL, A., EL-ANGBAWI, A. & PANDIS, N. 2015. Surgical adjunctive procedures for accelerating orthodontic treatment. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.
- FLEMING, P. S. & JOHAL, A. 2010. Self-ligating brackets in orthodontics. A systematic review. *Angle Orthod*, 80, 575-84.
- FLEMING, P. S., KOLETSI, D., O'BRIEN, K., TSICHLAKI, A. & PANDIS, N. 2016. Are dental researchers asking patient-important questions? A scoping review. *J Dent*, 49, 9-13.
- FLORIANO, P. N., CHRISTODOULIDES, N., MILLER, C. S., EBERSOLE, J. L., SPERTUS, J., ROSE, B. G., KINANE, D. F., NOVAK, M. J., STEINHUBL, S., ACOSTA, S., MOHANTY, S., DHARSHAN, P., YEH, C.-K., REDDING, S., FURMAGA, W. & MCDEVITT, J. T. 2009. Use of saliva-based nano-biochip tests for acute myocardial infarction at the point of care: a feasibility study. *Clinical chemistry*, 55, 1530-1538.
- FORNELL, A. C., SKÖLD-LARSSON, K., HALLGREN, A., BERGSTRAND, F. & TWETMAN, S. 2002. Effect of a hydrophobic tooth coating on gingival health, mutans streptococci, and enamel demineralization in adolescents with fixed orthodontic appliances. Acta Odontologica Scandinavica, 60, 37-41.
- FORSGARD, N., SALEHPOUR, M. & POSSNERT, G. 2010. Accelerator mass spectrometry in the attomolar concentration range for 14C-labeled biologically active compounds in complex matrixes. *Journal of Analytical Atomic Spectrometry*, 25, 74-78.
- FRANCO, C., PATRICIA, H. R., TIMO, S., CLAUDIA, B. & MARCELA, H. 2017. Matrix Metalloproteinases as Regulators of Periodontal Inflammation. *Int J Mol Sci*, 18.

- FRIEDMAN, J. M. & HALAAS, J. L. 1998. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature*, 395, 763-70.
- FROST, H. M. 1989. The biology of fracture healing. An overview for clinicians. Part II. *Clin Orthop Relat Res*, 294-309.
- FU, H. D., WANG, B. K., WAN, Z. Q., LIN, H., CHANG, M. L. & HAN, G. L. 2016. Wnt5a mediated canonical Wnt signaling pathway activation in orthodontic tooth movement: possible role in the tension force-induced bone formation. J Mol Histol, 47, 455-66.
- FU, T., LIU, S., ZHAO, H., CAO, M. & ZHANG, R. 2019. Effectiveness and Safety of Minimally Invasive Orthodontic Tooth Movement Acceleration: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Journal of Dental Research*, 98, 1469-1479.
- FUNAHASHI, T., NAKAMURA, T., SHIMOMURA, I., MAEDA, K., KURIYAMA, H., TAKAHASHI, M., ARITA, Y., KIHARA, S. & MATSUZAWA, Y. 1999. Role of adipocytokines on the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis in visceral obesity. *Intern Med*, 38, 202-6.
- GAO, W., LI, J. Z., CHAN, J. Y., HO, W. K. & WONG, T. S. 2012. mTOR Pathway and mTOR Inhibitors in Head and Neck Cancer. *ISRN Otolaryngol*, 2012, 953089.
- GARLET, T. P., COELHO, U., REPEKE, C. E., SILVA, J. S., CUNHA, F. D. Q. & GARLET,
 G. P. 2008. Differential expression of osteoblast and osteoclast chemmoatractants in compression and tension sides during orthodontic movement. *Cytokine*, 42, 330-335.
- GARLET, T. P., COELHO, U., SILVA, J. S. & GARLET, G. P. 2007. Cytokine expression pattern in compression and tension sides of the periodontal ligament during orthodontic tooth movement in humans. *European Journal of Oral Sciences*, 115, 355-362.
- GARNA, D. F., HUGHES, F. J. & GHUMAN, M. S. 2022. Regulation of gingival fibroblast phenotype by periodontal ligament cells in vitro. *J Periodontal Res*, 57, 402-411.
- GARRETO, L., CHARNEAU, S., MANDACARU, S. C., NÓBREGA, O. T., MOTTA, F. N., DE ARAÚJO, C. N., TONET, A. C., MODESTO, F. M. B., PAULA, L. M., DE SOUSA, M. V., SANTANA, J. M., ACEVEDO, A. C. & BASTOS, I. M. D. 2021. Mapping Salivary Proteases in Sjögren's Syndrome Patients Reveals Overexpression of Dipeptidyl Peptidase-4/CD26. Frontiers in Immunology, 12.
- GAY, C. V. & WEBER, J. A. 2000. Regulation of differentiated osteoclasts. *Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr*, 10, 213-30.
- GERMEÇ, D. & TANER, T. U. 2008. Effects of extraction and nonextraction therapy with airrotor stripping on facial esthetics in postadolescent borderline patients. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 133, 539-49.
- GIBREAL, O., HAJEER, M. Y. & BRAD, B. 2019. Efficacy of piezocision-based flapless corticotomy in the orthodontic correction of severely crowded lower anterior teeth: a randomized controlled trial. *Eur J Orthod*, 41, 188-195.
- GIL, A. P. S., HAAS, O. L., MÉNDEZ-MANJÓN, I., MASIÁ-GRIDILLA, J., VALLS-ONTAÑÓN, A., HERNÁNDEZ-ALFARO, F. & GUIJARRO-MARTÍNEZ, R. 2018. Alveolar corticotomies for accelerated orthodontics: A systematic review. *Journal of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery*, 46, 438-445.
- GIUCA, M. R., PASINI, M., TECCO, S., MARCHETTI, E., GIANNOTTI, L. & MARZO, G. 2012. Skeletal maturation in obese patients. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 142, 774-779.
- GKANTIDIS, N., MISTAKIDIS, I., KOUSKOURA, T. & PANDIS, N. 2014. Effectiveness of non-conventional methods for accelerated orthodontic tooth movement: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Dent*, 42, 1300-19.
- GOLUB, L. M., SORSA, T., LEE, H.-M., CIANCIO, S., SORBI, D., RAMAMURTHY, N. S., GRUBER, B., SALO, T. & KONTTINEN, Y. T. 1995. Doxycycline inhibits neutrophil

(PMN)-type matrix metalloproteinases in human adult periodontitis gingiva. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, 22, 100-109.

- GOONEWARDENE, R. W., GOONEWARDENE, M. S., RAZZA, J. M. & MURRAY, K. 2008. Accuracy and validity of space analysis and irregularity index measurements using digital models. *Aust Orthod J*, 24, 83-90.
- GOTOH, K., NEMOTO, E., KANAYA, S. & SHIMAUCHI, H. 2013. Extracellular β-NAD(+) inhibits interleukin-1-induced matrix metalloproteinase-1 and -3 expression on human gingival fibroblasts. *Connect Tissue Res*, 54, 204-9.
- GRABER, L. W., . &, VANARSDALL JR, R. L. & VIG, K. W. 2011. Orthodontics: current principles and techniques. *Elsevier Health Sciences*.
- GRANT, M., WILSON, J., ROCK, P. & CHAPPLE, I. 2013. Induction of cytokines, MMP9, TIMPs, RANKL and OPG during orthodontic tooth movement. *Eur J Orthod*, 35, 644-51.
- GRIEVE, W. G., 3RD, JOHNSON, G. K., MOORE, R. N., REINHARDT, R. A. & DUBOIS, L. M. 1994. Prostaglandin E (PGE) and interleukin-1 beta (IL-1 beta) levels in gingival crevicular fluid during human orthodontic tooth movement. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 105, 369-74.
- GRIMM, S., WOLFF, E., WALTER, C., PABST, A. M., MUNDETHU, A., JACOBS, C., WEHRBEIN, H. & JACOBS, C. 2020. Influence of clodronate and compressive force on IL-1ß-stimulated human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. *Clin Oral Investig*, 24, 343-350.
- GRÖSCHL, M., RAUH, M., WAGNER, R., NEUHUBER, W., METZLER, M., TAMGÜNEY, G., ZENK, J., SCHOOF, E., DÖRR, H. G., BLUM, W. F., RASCHER, W. & DÖTSCH, J. 2001. Identification of leptin in human saliva. J Clin Endocrinol Metab, 86, 5234-9.
- GUH, D. P., ZHANG, W., BANSBACK, N., AMARSI, Z., BIRMINGHAM, C. L. & ANIS, A. H. 2009. The incidence of co-morbidities related to obesity and overweight: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Public Health*, 9, 88.
- GUJAR, A. N., BAESHEN, H. A., ALHAZMI, A., BHANDI, S., RAJ, A. T., PATIL, S. & BIRKHED, D. 2019. Cytokine levels in gingival crevicular fluid during orthodontic treatment with aligners compared to conventional labial fixed appliances: a 3-week clinical study. *Acta Odontol Scand*, 77, 474-481.
- GUYATT, G. H., OXMAN, A. D., SCHÜNEMANN, H. J., TUGWELL, P. & KNOTTNERUS, A. 2011. GRADE guidelines: a new series of articles in the Journal of Clinical Epidemiology. *J Clin Epidemiol*, 64, 380-2.
- HACOPIAN, N., NIK, T. H., GHAHREMANI, M. H., RAHIMI, H. R. & OSTAD, S. N. 2011. Effects of continuous and interrupted forces on gene transcription in periodontal ligament cells in vitro. *Acta Med Iran*, 49, 643-9.
- HALILOGLU-OZKAN, T., ARICI, N. & ARICI, S. 2018. In-vivo effects of flapless osteopuncture-facilitated tooth movement in the maxilla and the mandible. *Journal of clinical and experimental dentistry*, 10, e761-e767.
- HAMAMC1, N., ACUN KAYA, F., UYSAL, E. & YOKUŞ, B. 2012. Identification of interleukin 2, 6, and 8 levels around miniscrews during orthodontic tooth movement. *Eur J Orthod*, 34, 357-61.
- HARTMAN, E., WALLBLOM, K., VAN DER PLAS, M. J. A., PETRLOVA, J., CAI, J., SALEH, K., KJELLSTRÖM, S. & SCHMIDTCHEN, A. 2021. Bioinformatic Analysis of the Wound Peptidome Reveals Potential Biomarkers and Antimicrobial Peptides. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 11.
- HARTUNG, J. & KNAPP, G. 2001. On tests of the overall treatment effect in meta-analysis with normally distributed responses. *Stat Med*, 20, 1771-82.

- HÄSLER, R., SCHMID, G., INGERVALL, B. & GEBAUER, U. 1997. A clinical comparison of the rate of maxillary canine retraction into healed and recent extraction sites—a pilot study. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 19, 711-719.
- HASSAN, S. E., HAJEER, M. Y., ALALI, O. H. & KADDAH, A. S. 2016. The Effect of Using Self-ligating Brackets on Maxillary Canine Retraction: a Split-mouth Design Randomized Controlled Trial. *Journal of contemporary dental practice*, 17, 496-503.
- HAUGEN, S., AASARØD, K. M., STUNES, A. K., MOSTI, M. P., FRANZEN, T., VANDEVSKA-RADUNOVIC, V., SYVERSEN, U. & RESELAND, J. E. 2017. Adiponectin prevents orthodontic tooth movement in rats. *Arch Oral Biol*, 83, 304-311.
- HAYASHI, K., UECHI, J., MURATA, M. & MIZOGUCHI, I. 2004. Comparison of maxillary canine retraction with sliding mechanics and a retraction spring: a three-dimensional analysis based on a midpalatal orthodontic implant. *Eur J Orthod*, 26, 585-9.
- HE, Y., MACARAK, E. J., KOROSTOFF, J. M. & HOWARD, P. S. 2004. Compression and Tension: Differential Effects on Matrix Accumulation by Periodontal Ligament Fibroblasts In Vitro. *Connective Tissue Research*, 45, 28-39.
- HENNEMAN, S., VON DEN HOFF, J. W. & MALTHA, J. C. 2008. Mechanobiology of tooth movement. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 30, 299-306.
- HERAVI, F., MORADI, A. & AHRARI, F. 2014. The effect of low level laser therapy on the rate of tooth movement and pain perception during canine retraction. *Oral health and dental management*, 13, 183-8.
- HIGGINS, J., THOMAS J, CHANDLER J, CUMPSTON M, L. T., PAGE MJ & (EDITORS)., W. V. 2021. Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.2 (updated February 2021). In: <u>WWW.TRAINING.COCHRANE.ORG/HANDBOOK</u>., A. F. (ed.).
- HIGGINS, J. P., THOMPSON, S. G., DEEKS, J. J. & ALTMAN, D. G. 2003. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *Bmj*, 327, 557-60.
- HIGGINS, J. P. T. & GREEN, S. 2011. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions, Wiley.
- HILL, P. A. 1998. Bone Remodelling. British Journal of Orthodontics, 25, 101-107.
- HOFFMANN, S., PAPADOPOULOS, N., VISEL, D., VISEL, T., JOST-BRINKMANN, P. G. & PRÄGER, T. M. 2017. Influence of piezotomy and osteoperforation of the alveolar process on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: a systematic review. J Orofac Orthop, 78, 301-311.
- HOLGUIN, N., MUIR, J., RUBIN, C. & JUDEX, S. 2009. Short applications of very lowmagnitude vibrations attenuate expansion of the intervertebral disc during extended bed rest. *The Spine Journal*, 9, 470-477.
- HOLLIDAY, L. S., VAKANI, A., ARCHER, L. & DOLCE, C. 2003a. Effects of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors on bone resorption and orthodontic tooth movement. *J Dent Res*, 82, 687-91.
- HOLLIDAY, L. S., WELGUS, H. G., HANNA, J., LEE, B. S., LU, M., JEFFREY, J. J. & GLUCK, S. L. 2003b. Interstitial collagenase activity stimulates the formation of actin rings and ruffled membranes in mouse marrow osteoclasts. *Calcif Tissue Int*, 72, 206-14.
- HOOGEVEEN, E. J., JANSMA, J. & REN, Y. 2014. Surgically facilitated orthodontic treatment: a systematic review. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 145, S51-64.
- HU, S., WANG, J., MEIJER, J., IEONG, S., XIE, Y., YU, T., ZHOU, H., HENRY, S., VISSINK, A., PIJPE, J., KALLENBERG, C., ELASHOFF, D., LOO, J. A. & WONG, D. T. 2007. Salivary proteomic and genomic biomarkers for primary Sjögren's syndrome. *Arthritis Rheum*, 56, 3588-600.

- HUANG, D. Y., JI, L., HE, H. & ZHONG, X. L. 2010. Evaluation of heat-activated and common nickel-titanium wire for orthodontic treatment. *Journal of Clinical Rehabilitative Tissue Engineering Research*, 14, 2929-2932.
- HUANG, H., WILLIAMS, R. C. & KYRKANIDES, S. 2014. Accelerated orthodontic tooth movement: Molecular mechanisms. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 146, 620-632.
- HUANG, S.-F., LI, Y.-H., REN, Y.-J., CAO, Z.-G. & LONG, X. 2008. The effect of a single nucleotide polymorphism in the matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MMP-1) promoter on force-induced MMP-1 expression in human periodontal ligament cells. *European Journal of Oral Sciences*, 116, 319-323.
- HUANG, Y., LIU, H., GUO, R., HAN, Y., YANG, Y., ZHAO, Y., ZHENG, Y., JIA, L. & LI, W. 2021. Long Non-coding RNA FER1L4 Mediates the Autophagy of Periodontal Ligament Stem Cells Under Orthodontic Compressive Force via AKT/FOXO3 Pathway. Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology, 9.
- HUFFMAN, D. J. & WAY, D. C. 1983. A clinical evaluation of tooth movement along arch wires of two different sizes. *Am J Orthod*, 83, 453-9.
- HUI, W., LITHERLAND, G. J., ELIAS, M. S., KITSON, G. I., CAWSTON, T. E., ROWAN, A. D. & YOUNG, D. A. 2012. Leptin produced by joint white adipose tissue induces cartilage degradation via upregulation and activation of matrix metalloproteinases. *Ann Rheum Dis*, 71, 455-62.
- HUMPHREY, S. P. & WILLIAMSON, R. T. 2001. A review of saliva: normal composition, flow, and function. *J Prosthet Dent*, 85, 162-9.
- INGMAN, T., APAJALAHTI, S., MÄNTYLÄ, P., SAVOLAINEN, P. & SORSA, T. 2005. Matrix metalloproteinase-1 and -8 in gingival crevicular fluid during orthodontic tooth movement: a pilot study during 1 month of follow-up after fixed appliance activation. *Eur J Orthod*, 27, 202-7.
- INGMAN, T., APAJALAHTI, S., RICE, D. & SORSA, T. 2012. Gingival Crevicular Fluid, Matrix Metalloproteinases, and Their Bioactive Regulators as Potential Adjunctive Chair-Side Point-of-Care Biomarkers in Orthodontic Tooth Movement. Seminars in Orthodontics, 18, 270-277.
- INGMAN, T., SORSA, T., SUOMALAINEN, K., HALINEN, S., LINDY, O., LAUHIO, A., SAARI, H., KONTTINEN, Y. T. & GOLUB, L. M. 1993. Tetracycline inhibition and the cellular source of collagenase in gingival crevicular fluid in different periodontal diseases. A review article. *J Periodontol*, 64, 82-8.
- INGMAN, T., TERVAHARTIALA, T., DING, Y., TSCHESCHE, H., HAERIAN, A., KINANE, D. F., KONTTINEN, Y. T. & SORSA, T. 1996. Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in gingival crevicular fluid and saliva of periodontitis patients. J Clin Periodontol, 23, 1127-32.
- INTHOUT, J., IOANNIDIS, J. P., ROVERS, M. M. & GOEMAN, J. J. 2016. Plea for routinely presenting prediction intervals in meta-analysis. *BMJ Open*, 6, e010247.
- IOANNIDIS, J. P. 2008. Interpretation of tests of heterogeneity and bias in meta-analysis. J Eval Clin Pract, 14, 951-7.
- IRVINE, R., POWER, S. & MCDONALD, F. 2004. The effectiveness of laceback ligatures: Arandomized controlled clinical trial. *Journal of Orthodontics*, 31, 303-311.
- ISOLA, G., MATARESE, G., CORDASCO, G., PERILLO, L. & RAMAGLIA, L. 2016. Mechanobiology of the tooth movement during the orthodontic treatment: a literature review. *Minerva Stomatol*, 65, 299-327.
- ISSA, R. I. & GRIFFIN, T. M. 2012. Pathobiology of obesity and osteoarthritis: integrating biomechanics and inflammation. *Pathobiol Aging Age Relat Dis*, 2.

- IWAYAMA, T., YANAGITA, M., MORI, K., SAWADA, K., OZASA, M., KUBOTA, M., MIKI, K., KOJIMA, Y., TAKEDACHI, M., KITAMURA, M., SHIMABUKURO, Y., HASHIKAWA, T. & MURAKAMI, S. 2012. Adiponectin regulates functions of gingival fibroblasts and periodontal ligament cells. J Periodontal Res, 47, 563-71.
- JABER, S. T., AL-SABBAGH, R. & HAJEER, M. Y. 2021. Evaluation of the efficacy of laserassisted flapless corticotomy in accelerating canine retraction: a split-mouth randomized controlled clinical trial. *Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery-Heidelberg*.
- JACOBS, C., SCHRAMM, S., DIRKS, I., WALTER, C., PABST, A., MEILA, D., JACOBS, C. & WEHRBEIN, H. 2018. Mechanical loading increases pro-inflammatory effects of nitrogen-containing bisphosphonate in human periodontal fibroblasts. *Clinical Oral Investigations*, 22, 901-907.
- JACOBS, C., WALTER, C., ZIEBART, T., GRIMM, S., MEILA, D., KRIEGER, E. & WEHRBEIN, H. 2014. Induction of IL-6 and MMP-8 in human periodontal fibroblasts by static tensile strain. *Clin Oral Investig*, 18, 901-8.
- JÄGER, A., ZHANG, D., KAWARIZADEH, A., TOLBA, R. H., BRAUMANN, B., LOSSDÖRFER, S. & GÖTZ, W. 2005. Soluble cytokine receptor treatment in experimental orthodontic tooth movement in the rat. *European journal of orthodontics*, 27 1, 1-11.
- JAHANBIN, A., HASANZADEH, N., KHAKI, S. & SHAFAEE, H. 2019. Comparison of selfligating Damon3 and conventional MBT brackets regarding alignment efficiency and pain experience: A randomized clinical trial. J Dent Res Dent Clin Dent Prospects, 13, 281-288.
- JANJIC, M., DOCHEVA, D., TRICKOVIC JANJIC, O., WICHELHAUS, A. & BAUMERT, U. 2018. In Vitro Weight-Loaded Cell Models for Understanding Mechanodependent Molecular Pathways Involved in Orthodontic Tooth Movement: A Systematic Review. *Stem Cells Int*, 2018, 3208285.
- JANSON, G., MARIA, F. R., BARROS, S. E., FREITAS, M. R. & HENRIQUES, J. F. 2006. Orthodontic treatment time in 2- and 4-premolar-extraction protocols. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop, 129, 666-71.
- JASIM, H., OLAUSSON, P., HEDENBERG-MAGNUSSON, B., ERNBERG, M. & GHAFOURI, B. 2016. The proteomic profile of whole and glandular saliva in healthy pain-free subjects. *Scientific Reports*, 6, 39073.
- JAYACHANDRAN, T., SRINIVASAN, B. & PADMANABHAN, S. 2017. Salivary leptin levels in normal weight and overweight individuals and their correlation with orthodontic tooth movement. *The Angle Orthodontist*, 87, 739-744.
- JAYAPRAKASH, P. K., BASAVANNA, J. M., GREWAL, H., MODI, P., SAPAWAT, P. & BOHARA, P. D. 2019. Elevated levels of Interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6, tumor necrosis factor-α, epidermal growth factor, and β2-microglobulin levels in gingival crevicular fluid during human Orthodontic tooth movement (OTM). *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, 8, 1602-1606.
- JERROLD, L. & NAGHAVI, N. 2011. Evidence-based considerations for determining appointment intervals. J Clin Orthod, 45, 379-83.
- JIAN, F., LAI, W., FURNESS, S., MCINTYRE, G. T., MILLETT, D. T., HICKMAN, J. & WANG, Y. 2013. Initial arch wires for tooth alignment during orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 2013, Cd007859.
- JIANG, C., LI, Z., QUAN, H., XIAO, L., ZHAO, J., JIANG, C., WANG, Y., LIU, J., GOU, Y., AN, S., HUANG, Y., YU, W., ZHANG, Y., HE, W., YI, Y., CHEN, Y. & WANG, J. 2015. Osteoimmunology in orthodontic tooth movement. *Oral Dis*, 21, 694-704.

- JIANG, N., GUO, W., CHEN, M., ZHENG, Y., ZHOU, J., KIM, S. G., EMBREE, M. C., SONGHEE SONG, K., MARAO, H. F. & MAO, J. J. 2016. Periodontal Ligament and Alveolar Bone in Health and Adaptation: Tooth Movement. *Front Oral Biol*, 18, 1-8.
- JIANG, Q., HUANG, X., YU, W., HUANG, R., ZHAO, X. & CHEN, C. 2022. mTOR Signaling in the Regulation of CD4+ T Cell Subsets in Periodontal Diseases. *Front Immunol*, 13, 827461.
- JIVRAJANI, S. J. & BHAD PATIL, W. A. 2020. Effect of Low Intensity Laser Therapy (LILT) on MMP-9 expression in gingival crevicular fluid and rate of orthodontic tooth movement in patients undergoing canine retraction: a randomized controlled trial. *International orthodontics*.
- JOHAL, A., FLEMING, P. S. & AL JAWAD, F. A. 2014. A prospective longitudinal controlled assessment of pain experience and oral health-related quality of life in adolescents undergoing fixed appliance treatment. *Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research*, 17, 178-186.
- JOHAL, A. S. & BATTAGEL, J. M. 1997. Dental crowding: a comparison of three methods of assessment. *Eur J Orthod*, 19, 543-51.
- JOHNSON, R. B. & SERIO, F. G. 2001. Leptin within healthy and diseased human gingiva. *J Periodontol*, 72, 1254-7.
- JOSHI, M. M. & DESHPANDE, J. D. 2011. POLYMERASE CHAIN REACTION: METHODS, PRINCIPLES AND APPLICATION. *International journal of biomedical research*, 2, 81-97.
- KADOWAKI, T. & YAMAUCHI, T. 2005. Adiponectin and adiponectin receptors. *Endocr Rev*, 26, 439-51.
- KAKLAMANOS, E. G., MAKRYGIANNAKIS, M. A. & ATHANASIOU, A. E. 2019. Does medication administration affect the rate of orthodontic tooth movement and root resorption development in humans? A systematic review. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 42, 407-414.
- KALEMAJ, Z., DEBERNARD, I. C. & BUTI, J. 2015. Efficacy of surgical and non-surgical interventions on accelerating orthodontic tooth movement: a systematic review. *Eur J Oral Implantol*, 8, 9-24.
- KANG, Y. G., NAM, J. H., KIM, K. H. & LEE, K. S. 2010. FAK pathway regulates PGE₂ production in compressed periodontal ligament cells. *J Dent Res*, 89, 1444-9.
- KANJANAMEKANANT, K., LUCKPROM, P. & PAVASANT, P. 2013. Mechanical stressinduced interleukin-1beta expression through adenosine triphosphate/P2X7 receptor activation in human periodontal ligament cells. *Journal of Periodontal Research*, 48, 169-176.
- KANSAL, A., KITTUR, N., KUMBHOJKAR, V., KELUSKAR, K. M. & DAHIYA, P. 2014. Effects of low-intensity laser therapy on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: A clinical trial. *Dent Res J (Isfahan)*, 11, 481-8.
- KANZAKI, H., CHIBA, M., SHIMIZU, Y. & MITANI, H. 2002. Periodontal ligament cells under mechanical stress induce osteoclastogenesis by receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand up-regulation via prostaglandin E2 synthesis. J Bone Miner Res, 17, 210-20.
- KAPOOR, P., KHARBANDA, O. P., MONGA, N., MIGLANI, R. & KAPILA, S. 2014. Effect of orthodontic forces on cytokine and receptor levels in gingival crevicular fluid: a systematic review. *Prog Orthod*, 15, 65.
- KARACAY, S., SAYGUN, I., BENGI, A. O. & SERDAR, M. 2007. Tumor necrosis factoralpha levels during two different canine distalization techniques. *Angle Orthod*, 77, 142-7.

- KARCI, I. C. & BAKA, Z. M. 2021. Assessment of the effects of local platelet-rich fibrin injection and piezocision on orthodontic tooth movement during canine distalization. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 160, 29-40.
- KARTHIKEYAN, B. V. & PRADEEP, A. R. 2007. Leptin levels in gingival crevicular fluid in periodontal health and disease. *J Periodontal Res*, 42, 300-4.
- KATCHOOI, M., COHANIM, B., TAI, S., BAYIRLI, B., SPIEKERMAN, C. & HUANG, G. 2018. Effect of supplemental vibration on orthodontic treatment with aligners: A randomized trial. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 153, 336-346.
- KAUFMAN, E. & LAMSTER, I. B. 2002. The diagnostic applications of saliva--a review. *Crit Rev Oral Biol Med*, 13, 197-212.
- KAWARIZADEH, A., BOURAUEL, C., GÖTZ, W. & JÄGER, A. 2005. Early responses of periodontal ligament cells to mechanical stimulus in vivo. *J Dent Res*, 84, 902-6.
- KEELING, S. D., KING, G. J., MCCOY, E. A. & VALDEZ, M. 1993. Serum and alveolar bone phosphatase changes reflect bone turnover during orthodontic tooth movement. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 103, 320-6.
- KEIM, R. G. 2011. Some thoughts on appointment intervals. J Clin Orthod, 45, 361-2.
- KELLER, A., ROHDE, J. F., RAYMOND, K. & HEITMANN, B. L. 2015. Association Between Periodontal Disease and Overweight and Obesity: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Periodontology*, 86, 766-776.
- KERRIGAN, J. J., MANSELL, J. P. & SANDY, J. R. 2000. Matrix Turnover. Journal of Orthodontics, 27, 227-233.
- KHOSLA, S. 2001. Minireview: the OPG/RANKL/RANK system. *Endocrinology*, 142, 5050-5.
- KHUDA, F., ANUAR, N. N. M., BAHARIN, B. & NASRUDDIN, N. S. 2021. A mini review on the associations of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) -1, -8, -13 with periodontal disease. *AIMS Molecular Science*, 8, 13-31.
- KILINC, B. & BAKA, Z. M. 2022. Comparison of the effectiveness of piezocision and microosteoperforation in leveling mandibular anterior teeth. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*.
- KIRSCHNECK, C., BAUER, M., GUBERNATOR, J., PROFF, P. & SCHRÖDER, A. 2020. Comparative assessment of mouse models for experimental orthodontic tooth movement. *Scientific Reports*, 10, 12154.
- KITASE, Y., YOKOZEKI, M., FUJIHARA, S., IZAWA, T., KURODA, S., TANIMOTO, K., MORIYAMA, K. & TANAKA, E. 2009. Analysis of gene expression profiles in human periodontal ligament cells under hypoxia: The protective effect of CC chemokine ligand 2 to oxygen shortage. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 54, 618-624.
- KLEIN, A. 1988. Informed consent: a practical approach. Risk Management Report, 1, 1-3.
- KLEIN, J., EALES, J., ZÜRBIG, P., VLAHOU, A., MISCHAK, H. & STEVENS, R. 2013. Proteasix: a tool for automated and large-scale prediction of proteases involved in naturally occurring peptide generation. *Proteomics*, 13, 1077-82.
- KLEIN, T. & BISCHOFF, R. 2011. Physiology and pathophysiology of matrix metalloproteases. *Amino Acids*, 41, 271-290.
- KNOP, L. A. H., SHINTCOVSK, R. L., RETAMOSO, L. B., RIBEIRO, J. S. & TANAKA, O. M. 2011. Non-steroidal and steroidal anti-inflammatory use in the context of orthodontic movement. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 34, 531-535.
- KOBAYASHI, K., TAKAHASHI, N., JIMI, E., UDAGAWA, N., TAKAMI, M., KOTAKE, S., NAKAGAWA, N., KINOSAKI, M., YAMAGUCHI, K., SHIMA, N., YASUDA, H., MORINAGA, T., HIGASHIO, K., MARTIN, T. J. & SUDA, T. 2000. Tumor necrosis factor alpha stimulates osteoclast differentiation by a mechanism independent of the ODF/RANKL-RANK interaction. J Exp Med, 191, 275-86.

- KOÇYIĞIT, I. D., TUNALI, M., ÖZDEMIR, H., KARTAL, Y. & SÜER, B. T. 2012. Clinical application of second generation trombosite concentration. *Cumhuriyet Dental Journal*, 15, 279-287.
- KÖLE, H. 1959. Surgical operations on the alveolar ridge to correct occlusal abnormalities. *Oral Surgery, Oral Medicine, Oral Pathology*, 12, 515-529.
- KONG, S., AOKI, A., IWASAKI, K., MIZUTANI, K., KATAGIRI, S., SUDA, T., ICHINOSE, S., OGITA, M., PAVLIC, V. & IZUMI, Y. 2018. Biological effects of Er:YAG laser irradiation on the proliferation of primary human gingival fibroblasts. *Journal of Biophotonics*, 11, e201700157.
- KOOK, S.-H., JANG, Y.-S. & LEE, J.-C. 2011. Involvement of JNK-AP-1 and ERK-NF-κB signaling in tension-stimulated expression of Type I collagen and MMP-1 in human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. *Journal of Applied Physiology*, 111, 1575-1583.
- KORKMAZ, B., HORWITZ, M. S., JENNE, D. E. & GAUTHIER, F. 2010. Neutrophil elastase, proteinase 3, and cathepsin G as therapeutic targets in human diseases. *Pharmacological reviews*, 62, 726-759.
- KOSKINEN, A., VUOLTEENAHO, K., NIEMINEN, R., MOILANEN, T. & MOILANEN, E. 2011. Leptin enhances MMP-1, MMP-3 and MMP-13 production in human osteoarthritic cartilage and correlates with MMP-1 and MMP-3 in synovial fluid from OA patients. *Clin Exp Rheumatol*, 29, 57-64.
- KRAUS, D., WINTER, J., JEPSEN, S., JÄGER, A., MEYER, R. & DESCHNER, J. 2012. Interactions of adiponectin and lipopolysaccharide from Porphyromonas gingivalis on human oral epithelial cells. *PLoS One*, 7, e30716.
- KRISHNAN, V. & DAVIDOVITCH, Z. 2006. Cellular, molecular, and tissue-level reactions to orthodontic force. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 129, 469.e1-32.
- KRISHNAN, V. & DAVIDOVITCH, Z. 2009. On a path to unfolding the biological mechanisms of orthodontic tooth movement. *J Dent Res*, 88, 597-608.
- KROCHMAL, M., KONTOSTATHI, G., MAGALHÃES, P., MAKRIDAKIS, M., KLEIN, J., HUSI, H., LEIERER, J., MAYER, G., BASCANDS, J.-L., DENIS, C., ZOIDAKIS, J., ZÜRBIG, P., DELLES, C., SCHANSTRA, J. P., MISCHAK, H. & VLAHOU, A. 2017. Urinary peptidomics analysis reveals proteases involved in diabetic nephropathy. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 15160.
- KUMAR, A., SARAVANAN, K., KOHILA, K. & KUMAR, S. 2015. Biomarkers in orthodontic tooth movement. *Journal of Pharmacy And Bioallied Sciences*, 7, 325-330.
- KUMAR, P., NAGARAJAN, A. & UCHIL, P. D. 2018. Analysis of Cell Viability by the Lactate Dehydrogenase Assay. *Cold Spring Harb Protoc*, 2018.
- KUNDI, I., ALAM, M. K. & SHAHEED, S. 2020. Micro-osteo perforation effects as an intervention on canine retraction. *Saudi Dental Journal*, 32, 15-20.
- KUROL, J., OWMAN-MOLL, P. & LUNDGREN, D. 1996. Time-related root resorption after application of acontrolled continuous orthodontic force. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 110, 303-310.
- LANGAN, D., HIGGINS, J. P. T., JACKSON, D., BOWDEN, J., VERONIKI, A. A., KONTOPANTELIS, E., VIECHTBAUER, W. & SIMMONDS, M. 2019. A comparison of heterogeneity variance estimators in simulated random-effects metaanalyses. *Res Synth Methods*, 10, 83-98.
- LAPLANTE, M. & SABATINI, D. M. 2012. mTOR signaling in growth control and disease. *Cell*, 149, 274-93.
- LARONHA, H. & CALDEIRA, J. 2020. Structure and Function of Human Matrix Metalloproteinases. *Cells*, 9.
- LEE, B. W. 1995. The force requirements for tooth movement, Part I: Tipping and bodily movement. *Australian orthodontic journal*, 13, 238-248.

- LEE, K. J., PARK, Y. C., YU, H. S., CHOI, S. H. & YOO, Y. J. 2004. Effects of continuous and interrupted orthodontic force on interleukin-1beta and prostaglandin E2 production in gingival crevicular fluid. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 125, 168-77.
- LEE, S. W., KIM, J. H., PARK, M. C., PARK, Y. B. & LEE, S. K. 2008. Adiponectin mitigates the severity of arthritis in mice with collagen-induced arthritis. *Scand J Rheumatol*, 37, 260-8.
- LEKIC, P. & MCCULLOCH, C. A. G. 1996. Periodontal ligament cell populations: The central role of fibroblasts in creating a unique tissue. *Anatomical Record*, 245, 327-341.
- LEON-SALAZAR, R., JANSON, G., HENRIQUES, J. F. & LEON-SALAZAR, V. 2014. Influence of initial occlusal severity on time and efficiency of Class I malocclusion treatment carried out with and without premolar extractions. *Dental Press J Orthod*, 19, 38-49.
- LEVIN, L., SAMORODNITZKY-NAVEH, G. R. & MACHTEI, E. E. 2008. The Association of Orthodontic Treatment and Fixed Retainers With Gingival Health. *Journal of Periodontology*, 79, 2087-2092.
- LI, W., HUANG, B., LIU, K., HOU, J. & MENG, H. 2015. Upregulated Leptin in Periodontitis Promotes Inflammatory Cytokine Expression in Periodontal Ligament Cells. *J Periodontol*, 86, 917-26.
- LI, X., XU, Z. R., TANG, N., YE, C., ZHU, X. L., ZHOU, T. & ZHAO, Z. H. 2016. Effect of intervention using a messaging app on compliance and duration of treatment in orthodontic patients. *Clin Oral Investig*, 20, 1849-1859.
- LI, Y., JACOX, L. A., COATS, S., KWON, J., XUE, P., TANG, N., RUI, Z., WANG, X., KIM, Y.-I., WU, T. J., LEE, Y.-T., WONG, S. W., CHIEN, C. H., CHENG, C.-W., GROSS, R., LIN, F.-C., TSENG, H., MARTINEZ, J. & KO, C.-C. 2021a. Roles of autophagy in orthodontic tooth movement. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 159, 582-593.
- LI, Y., JACOX, L. A., LITTLE, S. H. & KO, C. C. 2018. Orthodontic tooth movement: The biology and clinical implications. *Kaohsiung J Med Sci*, 34, 207-214.
- LI, Y., ZHAN, Q., BAO, M., YI, J. & LI, Y. 2021b. Biomechanical and biological responses of periodontium in orthodontic tooth movement: up-date in a new decade. *International Journal of Oral Science*, 13, 20.
- LIAO, Z., ELEKDAG-TURK, S., TURK, T., GROVE, J., DALCI, O., CHEN, J., ZHENG, K., ALI DARENDELILER, M., SWAIN, M. & LI, Q. 2017. Computational and clinical investigation on the role of mechanical vibration on orthodontic tooth movement. *Journal of biomechanics*, 60, 57-64.
- LIBERATI, A., ALTMAN, D. G., TETZLAFF, J., MULROW, C., GØTZSCHE, P. C., IOANNIDIS, J. P. A., CLARKE, M., DEVEREAUX, P. J., KLEIJNEN, J. & MOHER, D. 2009. The PRISMA Statement for Reporting Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses of Studies That Evaluate Health Care Interventions: Explanation and Elaboration. *PLOS Medicine*, 6, e1000100.
- LIMPANICHKUL, W., GODFREY, K., SRISUK, N. & RATTANAYATIKUL, C. 2006a. Effects of low-level laser therapy on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement. *Orthod Craniofac Res*, 9, 38-43.
- LIMPANICHKUL, W., GODFREY, K., SRISUK, N. & RATTANAYATIKUL, C. 2006b. Effects of low-level laser therapy on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement. *Orthodontics & craniofacial research*, 9, 38-43.
- LINDAUER, S. J. & DENIS BRITTO, A. 2000. Biological response to biomechanical signals:Orthodontic mechanics to control tooth movement. *Seminars in Orthodontics*, 6, 145-154.

- LISBOA, R. A., ANDRADE, M. V. & CUNHA-MELO, J. R. 2013. Toll-like receptor activation and mechanical force stimulation promote the secretion of matrix metalloproteinases 1, 3 and 10 of human periodontal fibroblasts via p38, JNK and NF-kB. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 58, 731-739.
- LISBOA, R. A., LISBOA, F. A., DE CASTRO SANTOS, G., ANDRADE, M. V. M. & CUNHA-MELO, J. R. 2009. Matrix metalloproteinase 2 activity decreases in human periodontal ligament fibroblast cultures submitted to simulated orthodontic force. *In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology Animal*, 45, 614-621.
- LITTLE, R. A. & SPARY, D. J. 2017. The effect of conventional versus figure-of-eight module ligation on mandibular incisor alignment: a randomised controlled trial. *J Orthod*, 44, 231-240.
- LITTLE, R. M. 1975. The Irregularity Index: A quantitative score of mandibular anterior alignment. *American Journal of Orthodontics*, 68, 554-563.
- LITTLEWOOD-EVANS, A., KOKUBO, T., ISHIBASHI, O., INAOKA, T., WLODARSKI, B., GALLAGHER, J. A. & BILBE, G. 1997. Localization of cathepsin K in human osteoclasts by in situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry. *Bone*, 20, 81-86.
- LIU, H., HUANG, Y., ZHANG, Y., HAN, Y., ZHANG, Y., JIA, L., ZHENG, Y. & LI, W. 2019. Long noncoding RNA expression profile of mouse cementoblasts under compressive force. *The Angle Orthodontist*, 89, 455-463.
- LIU, J. & KHALIL, R. A. 2017. Chapter Ten Matrix Metalloproteinase Inhibitors as Investigational and Therapeutic Tools in Unrestrained Tissue Remodeling and Pathological Disorders. *In:* KHALIL, R. A. (ed.) *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science*. Academic Press.
- LIU, L., IGARASHI, K., KANZAKI, H., CHIBA, M., SHINODA, H. & MITANI, H. 2006. Clodronate Inhibits PGE2 Production in Compressed Periodontal Ligament Cells. *Journal of Dental Research*, 85, 757-760.
- LIU, X., ZHANG, Z., PAN, S., SHANG, S. & LI, C. 2018. Interaction between the Wnt/βcatenin signaling pathway and the EMMPRIN/MMP-2, 9 route in periodontitis. *J Periodontal Res*, 53, 842-852.
- LIVAK, K. J. & SCHMITTGEN, T. D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods*, 25, 402-8.
- LOBSTEIN, T., BAUR, L. & UAUY, R. 2004. Obesity in children and young people: a crisis in public health. *Obes Rev*, 5 Suppl 1, 4-104.
- LÖE, H. & SILNESS, J. 1963. Periodontal Disease in Pregnancy I. Prevalence and Severity. *Acta Odontologica Scandinavica*, 21, 533-551.
- LÖFFEK, S., SCHILLING, O. & FRANZKE, C. W. 2011. Series "matrix metalloproteinases in lung health and disease": Biological role of matrix metalloproteinases: a critical balance. *Eur Respir J*, 38, 191-208.
- LONG, H., PYAKUREL, U., WANG, Y., LIAO, L., ZHOU, Y. & LAI, W. 2013. Interventions for accelerating orthodontic tooth movement: a systematic review. *The Angle orthodontist*, 83, 164-171.
- LONG, P., HU, J., PIESCO, N., BUCKLEY, M. & AGARWAL, S. 2001. Low magnitude of tensile strain inhibits IL-1beta-dependent induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines and induces synthesis of IL-10 in human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. *J Dent Res*, 80, 1416-20.
- LONG, P., LIU, F., PIESCO, N. P., KAPUR, R. & AGARWAL, S. 2002. Signaling by mechanical strain involves transcriptional regulation of proinflammatory genes in human periodontal ligament cells in vitro. *Bone*, 30, 547-552.
- LOO, J. A., YAN, W., RAMACHANDRAN, P. & WONG, D. T. 2010. Comparative human salivary and plasma proteomes. *J Dent Res*, 89, 1016-23.

- LOTZOF, L. P., FINE, H. A. & CISNEROS, G. J. 1996. Canine retraction: A comparison of two preadjusted bracket systems. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 110, 191-196.
- LUNDSTROM, A. 1955. The significance of early loss of deciduous teeth in the etiology of malocclusion. *American Journal of Orthodontics*, 41, 819-826.
- MA, J., ZHAO, D., WU, Y., XU, C. & ZHANG, F. 2015. Cyclic stretch induced gene expression of extracellular matrix and adhesion molecules in human periodontal ligament cells. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 60, 447-455.
- MA, X. M. & BLENIS, J. 2009. Molecular mechanisms of mTOR-mediated translational control. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 10, 307-318.
- MACDONALD, L., ZANJIR, M., LAGHAPOUR LIGHVAN, N., COSTA, B., SURI, S. & AZARPAZHOOH, A. 2020. Efficacy and Safety of Different Interventions to Accelerate Maxillary Canine Retraction Following Premolar Extraction: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-analysis. *Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research*, 24.
- MACK, K. B., PHILLIPS, C., JAIN, N. & KOROLUK, L. D. 2013. Relationship between body mass index percentile and skeletal maturation and dental development in orthodontic patients. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 143, 228-234.
- MAGALHÃES, B., TRINDADE, F., BARROS, A. S., KLEIN, J., AMADO, F., FERREIRA, R. & VITORINO, R. 2018. Reviewing Mechanistic Peptidomics in Body Fluids Focusing on Proteases. *Proteomics*, 18, e1800187.
- MAHMOUDZADEH, M., FARHADIAN, M., ALIJANI, S. & AZIZI, F. 2018. Clinical comparison of two initial arch wires (A-NiTi and Heat Activated NiTi) for amount of tooth alignment and perception of pain: A randomized clinical trial. *International Orthodontics*, 16, 60-72.
- MAHMOUDZADEH, M., POORMORADI, B., ALIJANI, S., FARHADIAN, M. & KAZEMISALEH, A. 2020. Efficacy of Er,Cr Laser incision Corticotomy in Rapid Maxillary Canine Retraction: A Split-Mouth Randomized Clinical Trial. *Journal of lasers in medical sciences*, 11, 442-449.
- MÄKELÄ, M., SALO, T., UITTO, V. J. & LARJAVA, H. 1994. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) of the oral cavity: cellular origin and relationship to periodontal status. *J Dent Res*, 73, 1397-406.
- MAKRYGIANNAKIS, M. A., KAKLAMANOS, E. G. & ATHANASIOU, A. E. 2018. Does common prescription medication affect the rate of orthodontic tooth movement? A systematic review. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 40, 649-659.
- MALAMUD, D. 1997. Oral diagnostic testing for detecting human immunodeficiency virus-1 antibodies: a technology whose time has come. *Am J Med*, 102, 9-14.
- MALLICK, P. & KUSTER, B. 2010. Proteomics: a pragmatic perspective. *Nat Biotechnol*, 28, 695-709.
- MANDALL, N., LOWE, C., WORTHINGTON, H., SANDLER, J., DERWENT, S., ABDI-OSKOUEI, M. & WARD, S. 2006. Which orthodontic archwire sequence? A randomized clinical trial. *Eur J Orthod*, 28, 561-6.
- MÄNTYLÄ, P., STENMAN, M., KINANE, D. F., TIKANOJA, S., LUOTO, H., SALO, T. & SORSA, T. 2003. Gingival crevicular fluid collagenase-2 (MMP-8) test stick for chairside monitoring of periodontitis. *J Periodontal Res*, 38, 436-9.
- MARCACCINI, A. M., AMATO, P. A. F., LEÃO, F. V., GERLACH, R. F. & FERREIRA, J. T. L. 2010. Myeloperoxidase activity is increased in gingival crevicular fluid and whole saliva after fixed orthodontic appliance activation. *American Journal of Orthodontics* and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 138, 613-616.

- MARCANTONIO, C. C., NOGUEIRA, A. V. B., LEGUIZAMÓN, N. D. P., DE MOLON, R. S., LOPES, M. E. S., SILVA, R. C. L., CERRI, P. S., DESCHNER, J. & CIRELLI, J. A. 2021. Effects of obesity on periodontal tissue remodeling during orthodontic movement. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 159, 480-490.
- MARSHALL, N. C., FINLAY, B. B. & OVERALL, C. M. 2017. Sharpening Host Defenses during Infection: Proteases Cut to the Chase. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 16, S161-s171.
- MARTINEZ, R. H. & JOHNSON, R. B. 1987. Effects of orthodontic forces on the morphology and diameter of Sharpey fibers of the alveolar bone of the rat. *Anat Rec*, 219, 10-20.
- MASELLA, R. S. & MEISTER, M. 2006. Current concepts in the biology of orthodontic tooth movement. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 129, 458-468.
- MASUZAKI, H., OGAWA, Y., SAGAWA, N., HOSODA, K., MATSUMOTO, T., MISE, H., NISHIMURA, H., YOSHIMASA, Y., TANAKA, I., MORI, T. & NAKAO, K. 1997. Nonadipose tissue production of leptin: leptin as a novel placenta-derived hormone in humans. *Nat Med*, 3, 1029-33.
- MATARESE, G., MOSCHOS, S. & MANTZOROS, C. S. 2005. Leptin in immunology. J Immunol, 174, 3137-42.
- MAVREAS, D. & ATHANASIOU, A. E. 2008. Factors affecting the duration of orthodontic treatment: a systematic review. *Eur J Orthod*, 30, 386-95.
- MAYA-MONTEIRO, C. M. & BOZZA, P. T. 2008. Leptin and mTOR: partners in metabolism and inflammation. *Cell Cycle*, 7, 1713-7.
- MCFARLANE, A., POHLER, E. & MORAGA, I. 2022. Molecular and cellular factors determining the functional pleiotropy of cytokines. *Febs j.*
- MCLAUGHLIN, R. P. & BENNETT, J. C. 2015. Evolution of treatment mechanics and contemporary appliance design in orthodontics: A 40-year perspective. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 147, 654-62.
- MEAGER, A. 1999. Cytokine regulation of cellular adhesion molecule expression in inflammation. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev*, 10, 27-39.
- MEERAN, N. A. 2012. Biological response at the cellular level within the periodontal ligament on application of orthodontic force An update. *J Orthod Sci*, 1, 2-10.
- MEIKLE, M. C. 2006. The tissue, cellular, and molecular regulation of orthodontic tooth movement: 100 years after Carl Sandstedt. *Eur J Orthod*, 28, 221-40.
- MEMMERT, S., DAMANAKI, A., WEYKOPF, B., RATH-DESCHNER, B., NOKHBEHSAIM, M., GÖTZ, W., GÖLZ, L., TILL, A., DESCHNER, J. & JÄGER, A. 2019. Autophagy in periodontal ligament fibroblasts under biomechanical loading. *Cell and Tissue Research*, 378, 499-511.
- MESSANA, I., CABRAS, T., IAVARONE, F., MANCONI, B., HUANG, L., MARTELLI, C., OLIANAS, A., SANNA, M. T., PISANO, E., SANNA, M., ARBA, M., D'ALESSANDRO, A., DESIDERIO, C., VITALI, A., PIROLLI, D., TIRONE, C., LIO, A., VENTO, G., ROMAGNOLI, C., CORDARO, M., MANNI, A., GALLENZI, P., FIORITA, A., SCARANO, E., CALÒ, L., PASSALI, G. C., PICCIOTTI, P. M., PALUDETTI, G., FANOS, V., FAA, G. & CASTAGNOLA, M. 2015. Chrono-Proteomics of Human Saliva: Variations of the Salivary Proteome during Human Development. *Journal of Proteome Research*, 14, 1666-1677.
- MESSANA, I., CABRAS, T., IAVARONE, F., VINCENZONI, F., URBANI, A. & CASTAGNOLA, M. 2013. Unraveling the different proteomic platforms. *J Sep Sci*, 36, 128-39.

- MEZOMO, M., DE LIMA, E. S., DE MENEZES, L. M., WEISSHEIMER, A. & ALLGAYER, S. 2011. Maxillary canine retraction with self-ligating and conventional brackets. *Angle orthodontist*, 81, 292-297.
- MILES, P. 2017. Accelerated orthodontic treatment what's the evidence? *Aust Dent J*, 62 Suppl 1, 63-70.
- MILES, P. & FISHER, E. 2016. Assessment of the changes in arch perimeter and irregularity in the mandibular arch during initial alignment with the AcceleDent Aura appliance vs no appliance in adolescents: A single-blind randomized clinical trial. *American Journal* of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 150, 928-936.
- MILES, P., SMITH, H., WEYANT, R. & RINCHUSE, D. J. 2012. The effects of a vibrational appliance on tooth movement and patient discomfort: a prospective randomised clinical trial. *Australian Orthodontic Journal*, 28, 213-218.
- MILES, P. G. 2005. SmartClip versus conventional twin brackets for initial alignment: is there a difference? *Aust Orthod J*, 21, 123-7.
- MILES, P. G., WEYANT, R. J. & RUSTVELD, L. 2006. A clinical trial of Damon 2 vs conventional twin brackets during initial alignment. *Angle Orthod*, 76, 480-5.
- MISTRY, D., DALCI, O., PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N., DARENDELILER, M. A. & PAPADOPOULOU, A. K. 2020. The effects of a clinically feasible application of low-level laser therapy on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: A triple-blind, split-mouth, randomized controlled trial. *American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics : official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics*, 157, 444-453.
- MITSUHASHI, M., YAMAGUCHI, M., KOJIMA, T., NAKAJIMA, R. & KASAI, K. 2011. Effects of HSP70 on the compression force-induced TNF-α and RANKL expression in human periodontal ligament cells. *Inflammation Research*, 60, 187-194.
- MIYAGAWA, A., CHIBA, M., HAYASHI, H. & IGARASHI, K. 2009. Compressive force induces VEGF production in periodontal tissues. *J Dent Res*, 88, 752-6.
- MORESCA, R. 2018. Orthodontic treatment time: can it be shortened? *Dental Press J Orthod*, 23, 90-105.
- MOSTAFA, Y. A., ISKANDER, K. G. & EL-MANGOURY, N. H. 1991. Iatrogenic pulpal reactions to orthodontic extrusion. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 99, 30-34.
- MULKERN, D., HEWITT, A., PARKER, H., BATT, J., YONEL, Z. & GRANT, M. M. 2020. Predicted salivary human protease activity in experimental gingivitis revealed by endoProteo-FASP approach. *Eur J Oral Sci*, 128, 386-394.
- MUSICH, D. R. & ACKERMAN, J. L. 1973. The catenometer: a reliable device for estimating dental arch perimeter. *Am J Orthod*, 63, 366-75.
- MUST, A. & STRAUSS, R. S. 1999. Risks and consequences of childhood and adolescent obesity. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*, 23 Suppl 2, S2-11.
- MYSLIWY, J., DINGLEY, A. J., SEDLACEK, R. & GRÖTZINGER, J. 2006. Structural characterization and binding properties of the hemopexin-like domain of the matrixmetalloproteinase-19. *Protein Expression and Purification*, 46, 406-413.
- NABBAT, S. A. & YASSIR, Y. A. 2020. A clinical comparison of the effectiveness of two types of orthodontic aligning archwire materials: a multicentre randomized clinical trial. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 42, 626-634.
- NAGASE, H., VISSE, R. & MURPHY, G. 2006. Structure and function of matrix metalloproteinases and TIMPs. *Cardiovasc Res*, 69, 562-73.
- NAGATA, J., NOJIMA, K., , N. Y., SUEISHI Y, YAMAZAKI T & Y, M. 2016. Influence of interval period on root resorption due to orthodontic force. *J Orthod Endo* 22, 1-5.

- NAHAS, A. Z., SAMARA, S. A. & RASTEGAR-LARI, T. A. 2017. Decrowding of lower anterior segment with and without photobiomodulation: a single center, randomized clinical trial. *Lasers in Medical Science*, 32, 129-135.
- NAKAGAWA, M., KUKITA, T., NAKASIMA, A. & KURISU, K. 1994. Expression of the type I collagen gene in rat periodontal ligament during tooth movement as revealed by in situ hybridization. *Arch Oral Biol*, 39, 289-94.
- NAKAMURA, Y., NODA, K., SHIMODA, S., OIKAWA, T., ARAI, C., NOMURA, Y. & KAWASAKI, K. 2008. Time-lapse observation of rat periodontal ligament during function and tooth movement, using microcomputed tomography. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 30, 320-326.
- NAKAMURA, Y., TANAKA, T. & KUWAHARA, Y. 1996. New findings in the degenerating tissues of the periodontal ligament during experimental tooth movement. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 109, 348-354.
- NAKASONE, N., KUBOTA, T., HOSHINO, C., NOHNO, K., ITAGAKI, M., SHIMIZU, T. & YOSHIE, H. 2009. Differential gene and protein expression of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMP)-3 and TIMP-4 in gingival tissues from drug induced gingival overgrowth. Archives of Oral Biology, 54, 634-641.
- NAN, L., ZHENG, Y., LIAO, N., LI, S., WANG, Y., CHEN, Z., WEI, L., ZHAO, S. & MO, S. 2019. Mechanical force promotes the proliferation and extracellular matrix synthesis of human gingival fibroblasts cultured on 3D PLGA scaffolds via TGF-β expression. *Mol Med Rep*, 19, 2107-2114.
- NANCI, A. 2018. 8. Ten Cate's Oral Histology E-Book : Development, Structure, and Function. *St. Louis, Missouri, Elsevier*.
- NAVAZESH, M. 1993. Methods for collecting saliva. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 694, 72-7.
- NEELEY, W. W., 2ND & GONZALES, D. A. 2007. Obesity in adolescence: implications in orthodontic treatment. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 131, 581-8.
- NEMOTO, T., KAJIYA, H., TSUZUKI, T., TAKAHASHI, Y. & OKABE, K. 2010. Differential induction of collagens by mechanical stress in human periodontal ligament cells. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 55, 981-987.
- NETTELHOFF, L., GRIMM, S., JACOBS, C., WALTER, C., PABST, A. M., GOLDSCHMITT, J. & WEHRBEIN, H. 2016. Influence of mechanical compression on human periodontal ligament fibroblasts and osteoblasts. *Clinical Oral Investigations*, 20, 621-629.
- NEZU, A., KUBOTA, T., MARUYAMA, S., NAGATA, M., NOHNO, K., MOROZUMI, T. & YOSHIE, H. 2017. Expression of neprilysin in periodontitis-affected gingival tissues. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 79, 35-41.
- NIEDERAU, C., CRAVEIRO, R. B., AZRAQ, I., BROCKHAUS, J., BASTIAN, A., KIRSCHNECK, C. & WOLF, M. 2020. Selection and validation of reference genes by RT-qPCR for murine cementoblasts in mechanical loading experiments simulating orthodontic forces in vitro. *Sci Rep*, 10, 10893.
- NIKLAS, A., PROFF, P., GOSAU, M. & RÖMER, P. 2013. The Role of Hypoxia in Orthodontic Tooth Movement. *International journal of dentistry*, 2013, 841840.
- NIMERI, G., KAU, C. H., ABOU-KHEIR, N. S. & CORONA, R. 2013. Acceleration of tooth movement during orthodontic treatment--a frontier in orthodontics. *Prog Orthod*, 14, 42.
- NISHIDA, N., TANAKA, M., HAYASHI, N., NAGATA, H., TAKESHITA, T., NAKAYAMA, K., MORIMOTO, K. & SHIZUKUISHI, S. 2005. Determination of Smoking and Obesity as Periodontitis Risks Using the Classification and Regression Tree Method. *Journal of Periodontology*, 76, 923-928.

- NISHIMURA, M., CHIBA, M., OHASHI, T., SATO, M., SHIMIZU, Y., IGARASHI, K. & MITANI, H. 2008. Periodontal tissue activation by vibration: Intermittent stimulation by resonance vibration accelerates experimental tooth movement in rats. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 133, 572-583.
- NOJIMA, N., KOBAYASHI, M., SHIONOME, M., TAKAHASHI, N., SUDA, T. & HASEGAWA, K. 1990. Fibroblastic cells derived from bovine periodontal ligaments have the phenotypes of osteoblasts. *Journal of Periodontal Research*, 25, 179-185.
- NOKHBEHSAIM, M., KESER, S., NOGUEIRA, A. V. B., CIRELLI, J. A., JEPSEN, S., JÄGER, A., EICK, S. & DESCHNER, J. 2014. Beneficial effects of adiponectin on periodontal ligament cells under normal and regenerative conditions. *Journal of Diabetes Research*, 2014.
- NORDSTROM, B., SHOJI, T., ANDERSON, W. C., FIELDS, H. W., BECK, F. M., KIM, D. G., TAKANO-YAMAMOTO, T. & DEGUCHI, T. 2018. Comparison of changes in irregularity and transverse width with nickel-titanium and niobium-titanium-tantalum-zirconium archwires during initial orthodontic alignment in adolescents: A double-blind randomized clinical trial. *Angle Orthodontist*, 88, 348-354.
- O'BRIEN, K. D., ROBBINS, R., VIG, K. W., VIG, P. S., SHNORHOKIAN, H. & WEYANT, R. 1995. The effectiveness of Class II, division 1 treatment. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 107, 329-34.
- O'CONNOR, P. J. 2000. Patients' perceptions before, during, and after orthodontic treatment. *Journal of clinical orthodontics : JCO*, 34, 591-592.
- OGAARD, B., RØLLA, G. & ARENDS, J. 1988. Orthodontic appliances and enamel demineralization. Part 1. Lesion development. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 94, 68-73.
- OGDEN, C. L., CARROLL, M. D., CURTIN, L. R., LAMB, M. M. & FLEGAL, K. M. 2010. Prevalence of High Body Mass Index in US Children and Adolescents, 2007-2008. *JAMA*, 303, 242-249.
- OKADA, Y., NAKA, K., KAWAMURA, K., MATSUMOTO, T., NAKANISHI, I., FUJIMOTO, N., SATO, H. & SEIKI, M. 1995. Localization of matrix metalloproteinase 9 (92-kilodalton gelatinase/type IV collagenase = gelatinase B) in osteoclasts: implications for bone resorption. *Lab Invest*, 72, 311-22.
- OKAMOTO, A., OHNISHI, T., BANDOW, K., KAKIMOTO, K., CHIBA, N., MAEDA, A., FUKUNAGA, T., MIYAWAKI, S. & MATSUGUCHI, T. 2009. Reduction of orthodontic tooth movement by experimentally induced periodontal inflammation in mice. *European Journal of Oral Sciences*, 117, 238-247.
- ONG, E., HO, C. & MILES, P. 2011. Alignment efficiency and discomfort of three orthodontic archwire sequences: A randomized clinical trial. *Journal of Orthodontics*, 38, 32-39.
- ONG, E., MCCALLUM, H., GRIFFIN, M. P. & HO, C. 2010. Efficiency of self-ligating vs conventionally ligated brackets during initial alignment. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 138, 138.e1-7; discussion 138-9.
- ONG, M. M. & WANG, H. L. 2002. Periodontic and orthodontic treatment in adults. *Am J* Orthod Dentofacial Orthop, 122, 420-8.
- OUCHI, N., KIHARA, S., ARITA, Y., MAEDA, K., KURIYAMA, H., OKAMOTO, Y., HOTTA, K., NISHIDA, M., TAKAHASHI, M., NAKAMURA, T., YAMASHITA, S., FUNAHASHI, T. & MATSUZAWA, Y. 1999. Novel Modulator for Endothelial Adhesion Molecules. *Circulation*, 100, 2473-2476.
- OUCHI, N., KIHARA, S., FUNAHASHI, T., MATSUZAWA, Y. & WALSH, K. 2003. Obesity, adiponectin and vascular inflammatory disease. *Current Opinion in Lipidology*, 14, 561-566.

- OUCHI, N., PARKER, J. L., LUGUS, J. J. & WALSH, K. 2011. Adipokines in inflammation and metabolic disease. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 11, 85-97.
- OZKAN, T. H. & ARICI, S. 2021. The effect of different micro-osteoperforation depths on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: A single-center, single-blind, randomized clinical trial. *The Korean journal of orthodontics*, 51, 157-165.
- PACHÊCO-PEREIRA, C., PEREIRA, J. R., DICK, B. D., PEREZ, A. & FLORES-MIR, C. 2015. Factors associated with patient and parent satisfaction after orthodontic treatment: A systematic review. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 148, 652-659.
- PADDENBERG, E., OSTERLOH, H., JANTSCH, J., NOGUEIRA, A., PROFF, P., KIRSCHNECK, C. & SCHRÖDER, A. 2022. Impact of Leptin on the Expression Profile of Macrophages during Mechanical Strain In Vitro. *Int J Mol Sci*, 23.
- PAGE, M. J., MCKENZIE, J. E., BOSSUYT, P. M., BOUTRON, I., HOFFMANN, T. C., MULROW, C. D., SHAMSEER, L., TETZLAFF, J. M., AKL, E. A., BRENNAN, S. E., CHOU, R., GLANVILLE, J., GRIMSHAW, J. M., HRÓBJARTSSON, A., LALU, M. M., LI, T., LODER, E. W., MAYO-WILSON, E., MCDONALD, S., MCGUINNESS, L. A., STEWART, L. A., THOMAS, J., TRICCO, A. C., WELCH, V. A., WHITING, P. & MOHER, D. 2021. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Syst Rev*, 10, 89.
- PAL CHINA, S., SANYAL, S. & CHATTOPADHYAY, N. 2018. Adiponectin signaling and its role in bone metabolism. *Cytokine*, 112, 116-131.
- PANDIS, N., POLYCHRONOPOULOU, A. & ELIADES, T. 2007. Self-ligating vs conventional brackets in the treatment of mandibular crowding: a prospective clinical trial of treatment duration and dental effects. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 132, 208-15.
- PANDIS, N., POLYCHRONOPOULOU, A. & ELIADES, T. 2009. Alleviation of mandibular anterior crowding with copper-nickel-titanium vs nickel-titanium wires: A double-blind randomized control trial. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 136.
- PANDIS, N., WALSH, T., POLYCHRONOPOULOU, A., KATSAROS, C. & ELIADES, T. 2013. Split-mouth designs in orthodontics: an overview with applications to orthodontic clinical trials. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 35, 783-789.
- PAOLONI, J., DE VOS, R. J., HAMILTON, B., MURRELL, G. A. C. & ORCHARD, J. 2011. Platelet-rich plasma treatment for ligament and tendon injuries. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, 21, 37-45.
- PAPAGEORGIOU, S. 2014. Meta-analysis for orthodontists: Part I How to choose effect measure and statistical model. *Journal of Orthodontics*, 41, 317-26.
- PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N., ANTONOGLOU, G. N., MARTIN, C. & ELIADES, T. 2019. Methods, transparency and reporting of clinical trials in orthodontics and periodontics. *J Orthod*, 46, 101-109.
- PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N., HÖCHLI, D. & ELIADES, T. 2017. Outcomes of comprehensive fixed appliance orthodontic treatment: A systematic review with meta-analysis and methodological overview. *The korean journal of orthodontics*, 47, 401-413.
- PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N., KONSTANTINIDIS, I., PAPADOPOULOU, K., JÄGER, A. & BOURAUEL, C. 2014a. Clinical effects of pre-adjusted edgewise orthodontic brackets: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Eur J Orthod*, 36, 350-63.
- PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N., KONSTANTINIDIS, I., PAPADOPOULOU, K., JÄGER, A. & BOURAUEL, C. 2014b. A systematic review and meta-analysis of experimental clinical evidence on initial aligning archwires and archwire sequences. *Orthod Craniofac Res*, 17, 197-215.

- PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N., REICHERT, C., JÄGER, A. & DESCHNER, J. 2015a. Effect of overweight/obesity on response to periodontal treatment: systematic review and a metaanalysis. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology*, 42, 247-261.
- PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N., XAVIER, G. M. & COBOURNE, M. T. 2015b. Basic study design influences the results of orthodontic clinical investigations. *J Clin Epidemiol*, 68, 1512-22.
- PAPPA, E., VOUGAS, K., ZOIDAKIS, J., PAPAIOANNOU, W., RAHIOTIS, C. & VASTARDIS, H. 2021. Downregulation of Salivary Proteins, Protective against Dental Caries, in Type 1 Diabetes. *Proteomes*, 9, 33.
- PARK, H. G., BAK, E. J., KIM, J. H., LEE, Y.-S., CHOI, S.-H., CHA, J.-H. & YOO, Y.-J. 2011. Effect of globular adiponectin on interleukin-6 and interleukin-8 expression in periodontal ligament and gingival fibroblasts. *J Periodontal Implant Sci*, 41, 149-156.
- PARK, S., SIM, H. & LEE, K. 2016. Rapamycin-resistant and torin-sensitive mTOR signaling promotes the survival and proliferation of leukemic cells. *BMB Rep*, 49, 63-8.
- PATIL, A., SABLE, R., APHALE, S., MOGE, A. & OSWAL, D. 2015. Levels of matrix metalloproteinase-7 and osteopontin in human gingival crevicular fluid during initial tooth movement. *APOS Trends in Orthodontics*, 5.
- PATIL, A. K., KELUSKAR, K. M. & GAITONDE, S. D. 2005. The Clinical Application of Prostaglandin E1 on Orthodontic Tooth Movement A Clinical Trial. *Journal of Indian Orthodontic Society*, 39, 91-98.
- PATIL, V. A. & DESAI, M. H. Biology of Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor Kappa-B Ligand (RANKL) and Osteoprotegerin (OPG) in Periodontal Health and Disease-A Review. 2014.
- PATTERSON, B. M., DALCI, O., DARENDELILER, M. A. & PAPADOPOULOU, A. K. 2016. Corticotomies and Orthodontic Tooth Movement: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery*, 74, 453-473.
- PATTINGRE, S., ESPERT, L., BIARD-PIECHACZYK, M. & CODOGNO, P. 2008. Regulation of macroautophagy by mTOR and Beclin 1 complexes. *Biochimie*, 90, 313-23.
- PAUL, R. F., HASSAN, M., NAZAR, H. S., GILLANI, S., AFZAL, N. & QAYYUM, I. 2011. Effect of body mass index on serum leptin levels. *J Ayub Med Coll Abbottabad*, 23, 40-3.
- PENNING, E. W., PEERLINGS, R. H. J., GOVERS, J. D. M., RISCHEN, R. J., ZINAD, K., BRONKHORST, E. M., BREUNING, K. H. & KUIJPERS-JAGTMAN, A. M. 2017. Orthodontics with Customized versus Noncustomized Appliances: A Randomized Controlled Clinical Trial. J Dent Res, 96, 1498-1504.
- PETRA, E., HE, T., LYGIROU, V., LATOSINSKA, A., MISCHAK, H., VLAHOU, A. & JANKOWSKI, J. 2021. Urine peptidome analysis in cardiorenal syndrome reflects molecular processes. *Scientific Reports*, 11, 16219.
- PFAFFE, T., COOPER-WHITE, J., BEYERLEIN, P., KOSTNER, K. & PUNYADEERA, C. 2011. Diagnostic potential of saliva: current state and future applications. *Clin Chem*, 57, 675-87.
- PHUSUNTORNSAKUL, P., JITPUKDEEBODINTRA, S., PAVASANT, P. & LEETHANAKUL, C. 2018. Vibration enhances PGE2, IL-6, and IL-8 expression in compressed hPDL cells via cyclooxygenase pathway. *Journal of Periodontology*, 89, 1131-1141.
- PIERPONT, Y. N., DINH, T. P., SALAS, R. E., JOHNSON, E. L., WRIGHT, T. G., ROBSON, M. C. & PAYNE, W. G. 2014. Obesity and surgical wound healing: a current review. *ISRN Obes*, 2014, 638936.

- PILON, J. J., KUIJPERS-JAGTMAN, A. M. & MALTHA, J. C. 1996. Magnitude of orthodontic forces and rate of bodily tooth movement. An experimental study. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop, 110, 16-23.
- PISANO, E., CABRAS, T., MONTALDO, C., PIRAS, V., INZITARI, R., OLMI, C., CASTAGNOLA, M. & MESSANA, I. 2005. Peptides of human gingival crevicular fluid determined by HPLC-ESI-MS. *Eur J Oral Sci*, 113, 462-8.
- POLYZOS, S. A., KOUNTOURAS, J., ZAVOS, C. & TSIAOUSI, E. 2010. The role of adiponectin in the pathogenesis and treatment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Diabetes, Obesity and Metabolism,* 12, 365-383.
- POPOWICH, K., FLORES-MIR, C., NEBBE, B., HEO, G. & MAJOR, P. W. 2006. Comparison of Class I and Class II Treatment Duration Among Three Different Orthodontic Practices. *Seminars in Orthodontics*, 12, 52-59.
- POPOWICH, K., NEBBE, B., HEO, G., GLOVER, K. E. & MAJOR, P. W. 2005. Predictors for Class II treatment duration. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 127, 293-300.
- PROFF, P., REICHENEDER, C., FALTERMEIER, A., KUBEIN-MEESENBURG, D. & RÖMER, P. 2014. Effects of mechanical and bacterial stressors on cytokine and growth-factor expression in periodontal ligament cells. *Journal of Orofacial Orthopedics / Fortschritte der Kieferorthopädie*, 75, 191-202.
- PROFFIT, W. R., FIELDS, H. W., LARSON, B. E. & SARVER, D. M. 2019. Contemporary orthodontics.
- PUENTE, X. S., SÁNCHEZ, L. M., OVERALL, C. M. & LÓPEZ-OTÍN, C. 2003. Human and mouse proteases: a comparative genomic approach. *Nat Rev Genet*, 4, 544-58.
- QAMRUDDIN, I., ALAM, M. K., MAHROOF, V., FIDA, M., KHAMIS, M. F. & HUSEIN, A. 2017. Effects of low-level laser irradiation on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement and associated pain with self-ligating brackets. *American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics*, 152, 622-630.
- QAMRUDDIN, I., ALAM, M. K., MAHROOF, V., KARIM, M., FIDA, M., KHAMIS, M. F.
 & HUSEIN, A. 2021. Biostimulatory Effects of Low-Intensity Pulsed Ultrasound on Rate of Orthodontic Tooth Movement and Associated Pain, Applied at 3-Week Intervals: A Split-Mouth Study. *Pain Research & Management*, 2021, 6624723.
- QI, L. & ZHANG, Y. 2014. The microRNA 132 regulates fluid shear stress-induced differentiation in periodontal ligament cells through mTOR signaling pathway. *Cell Physiol Biochem*, 33, 433-45.
- RABINOWITZ, J. D. & WHITE, E. 2010. Autophagy and metabolism. Science, 330, 1344-8.
- RAMSEIER, C. A., KINNEY, J. S., HERR, A. E., BRAUN, T., SUGAI, J. V., SHELBURNE, C. A., RAYBURN, L. A., TRAN, H. M., SINGH, A. K. & GIANNOBILE, W. V. 2009. Identification of pathogen and host-response markers correlated with periodontal disease. *J Periodontol*, 80, 436-46.
- RANGIANI, A., JING, Y., REN, Y., YADAV, S., TAYLOR, R. & FENG, J. Q. 2016. Critical roles of periostin in the process of orthodontic tooth movement. *Eur J Orthod*, 38, 373-8.
- REDLICH, M., PALMON, A., ZAKS, B., GEREMI, E., RAYZMAN, S. & SHOSHAN, S. 1998. The effect of centrifugal force on the transcription levels of collagen type I and collagenase in cultured canine gingival fibroblasts. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 43, 313-316.
- REDLICH, M., ROOS, H., REICHENBERG, E., ZAKS, B., GROSSKOP, A., BAR KANA, I., PITARU, S. & PALMON, A. 2004. The effect of centrifugal force on mRNA levels of collagenase, collagen type-I, tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases and β-actin in cultured human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. *Journal of Periodontal Research*, 39, 27-32.

- REDLICH, M., SHOSHAN, S. & PALMON, A. 1999. Gingival response to orthodontic force. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 116, 152-158.
- REID, I. R. 2008. Relationships between fat and bone. Osteoporos Int, 19, 595-606.
- REN, Y., MALTHA, J. C., STOKROOS, I., LIEM, R. S. & KUIJPERS-JAGTMAN, A. M. 2008. Effect of duration of force application on blood vessels in young and adult rats. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 133, 752-7.
- REN, Y., MALTHA, J. C., VAN'T HOF, M. A., VON DEN HOFF, J. W., KUIJPERS-JAGTMAN, A. M. & ZHANG, D. 2002. Cytokine levels in crevicular fluid are less responsive to orthodontic force in adults than in juveniles. *J Clin Periodontol*, 29, 757-62.
- REN, Y. & VISSINK, A. 2008. Cytokines in crevicular fluid and orthodontic tooth movement. *Eur J Oral Sci*, 116, 89-97.
- RESELAND, J. E., SYVERSEN, U., BAKKE, I., QVIGSTAD, G., EIDE, L. G., HJERTNER, O., GORDELADZE, J. O. & DREVON, C. A. 2001. Leptin is expressed in and secreted from primary cultures of human osteoblasts and promotes bone mineralization. *J Bone Miner Res*, 16, 1426-33.
- RESTAÍNO, C. G., CHAPARRO, A., VALENZUELA, M. A., KETTLUN, A. M., VERNAL, R., SILVA, A., PUENTE, J., JAQUE, M. P., LEÓN, R. & GAMONAL, J. 2007. Stimulatory response of neutrophils from periodontitis patients with periodontal pathogens. *Oral Dis*, 13, 474-81.
- REYES PACHECO, A. A., COLLINS, J. R., CONTRERAS, N., LANTIGUA, A., PITHON, M. M. & TANAKA, O. M. 2020. Distalization rate of maxillary canines in an alveolus filled with leukocyte-platelet-rich fibrin in adults: A randomized controlled clinical split-mouth trial. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 158, 182-191.
- RHEE, S. H., KANG, J. & NAHM, D. S. 2009. Cystatins and cathepsin B during orthodontic tooth movement. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 135, 99-105.
- RIBAGIN, L. S. & RASHKOVA, M. R. 2012. Matrix metalloproteinase-8 and interleukin-1beta in gingival fluid of children in the first three months of orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances. *Folia Med (Plovdiv)*, 54, 50-6.
- RIBEIRO, G. L. U. & JACOB, H. B. 2016. Understanding the basis of space closure in Orthodontics for a more efficient orthodontic treatment. *Dental press journal of orthodontics*, 21, 115-125.
- RICE, D. P., KIM, H. J. & THESLEFF, I. 1997. Detection of gelatinase B expression reveals osteoclastic bone resorption as a feature of early calvarial bone development. *Bone*, 21, 479-86.
- RILEY, M. & BEARN, D. R. 2009. A Systematic Review of Clinical Trials of Aligning Archwires. *Journal of Orthodontics*, 36, 42-51.
- RISTIC, M., SVABIC, M. V., SASIC, M. & ZELIC, O. 2007. Clinical and microbiological effects of fixed orthodontic appliances on periodontal tissues in adolescents. *Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research*, 10, 187-195.
- RIZK, M. Z., MOHAMMED, H., ISMAEL, O. & BEARN, D. R. 2018. Effectiveness of en masse versus two-step retraction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Progress in orthodontics*, 18, 41-41.
- ROBB, S. I., SADOWSKY, C., SCHNEIDER, B. J. & BEGOLE, E. A. 1998. Effectiveness and duration of orthodontic treatment in adults and adolescents. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 114, 383-386.
- ROBERTS, W. E. & CHASE, D. C. 1981. Kinetics of cell proliferation and migration associated with orthodontically-induced osteogenesis. *J Dent Res*, 60, 174-81.
- RODY, W. J., JR., AKHLAGHI, H., AKYALCIN, S., WILTSHIRE, W. A., WIJEGUNASINGHE, M. & FILHO, G. N. 2011. Impact of orthodontic retainers on

periodontal health status assessed by biomarkers in gingival crevicular fluid. Angle Orthod, 81, 1083-9.

- RODY, W. J., JR., WIJEGUNASINGHE, M., WILTSHIRE, W. A. & DUFAULT, B. 2014. Differences in the gingival crevicular fluid composition between adults and adolescents undergoing orthodontic treatment. *Angle Orthod*, 84, 120-6.
- ROMANELLI, R., MANCINI, S., LASCHINGER, C., OVERALL, C. M., SODEK, J. & MCCULLOCH, C. A. 1999. Activation of neutrophil collagenase in periodontitis. *Infect Immun*, 67, 2319-26.
- ROSSELLI-MURAI, L. K., ALMEIDA, L. O., ZAGNI, C., GALINDO-MORENO, P., PADIAL-MOLINA, M., VOLK, S. L., MURAI, M. J., RIOS, H. F., SQUARIZE, C. H. & CASTILHO, R. M. 2013. Periostin responds to mechanical stress and tension by activating the MTOR signaling pathway. *PloS one*, 8, e83580.
- ROSVALL, M. D., FIELDS, H. W., ZIUCHKOVSKI, J., ROSENSTIEL, S. F. & JOHNSTON,
 W. M. 2009. Attractiveness, acceptability, and value of orthodontic appliances. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 135, 276.e1-12; discussion 276-7.
- ROTH, C. E., CRAVEIRO, R. B., NIEDERAU, C., MALYARAN, H., NEUSS, S., JANKOWSKI, J. & WOLF, M. 2022. Mechanical Compression by Simulating Orthodontic Tooth Movement in an In Vitro Model Modulates Phosphorylation of AKT and MAPKs via TLR4 in Human Periodontal Ligament Cells. *Int J Mol Sci*, 23.
- RUBIN, C. T., RECKER, R., CULLEN, D., RYABY, J., MCCABE, J. & MCLEOD, K. 2004. Prevention of postmenopausal bone loss by a low-magnitude, high-frequency mechanical stimuli: A clinical trial assessing compliance, efficacy, and safety. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Research*, 19, 343-351.
- RUIZ-HEILAND, G., YONG, J. W., VON BREMEN, J. & RUF, S. 2021. Leptin reduces in vitro cementoblast mineralization and survival as well as induces PGE2 release by ERK1/2 commitment. *Clin Oral Investig*, 25, 1933-1944.
- RYGH, P., BOWLING, K., HOVLANDSDAL, L. & WILLIAMS, S. 1986. Activation of the vascular system: a main mediator of periodontal fiber remodeling in orthodontic tooth movement. *Am J Orthod*, 89, 453-68.
- SAHU, A. 2003. Leptin signaling in the hypothalamus: emphasis on energy homeostasis and leptin resistance. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology*, 24, 225-253.
- SAITO, M., SAITO, S., NGAN, P. W., SHANFELD, J. & DAVIDOVITCH, Z. 1991. Interleukin 1 beta and prostaglandin E are involved in the response of periodontal cells to mechanical stress in vivo and in vitro. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 99, 226-40.
- SAITO, T., YAMAGUCHI, N., SHIMAZAKI, Y., HAYASHIDA, H., YONEMOTO, K., DOI, Y., KIYOHARA, Y., IIDA, M. & YAMASHITA, Y. 2008. Serum levels of resistin and adiponectin in women with periodontitis: the Hisayama study. J Dent Res, 87, 319-22.
- SALOOM, H. F., PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N., CARPENTER, G. H. & COBOURNE, M. T. 2017. Impact of Obesity on Orthodontic Tooth Movement in Adolescents: A Prospective Clinical Cohort Study. J Dent Res, 96, 547-554.
- SAMINATHAN, A., VINOTH, K. J., WESCOTT, D. C., PINKERTON, M. N., MILNE, T. J., CAO, T. & MEIKLE, M. C. 2012. The effect of cyclic mechanical strain on the expression of adhesion-related genes by periodontal ligament cells in two-dimensional culture. J Periodontal Res, 47, 212-21.
- SAMUELS, R. H., RUDGE, S. J. & MAIR, L. H. 1993. A comparison of the rate of space closure using a nickel-titanium spring and an elastic module: a clinical study. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 103, 464-7.
- SANDHU, S. S., SHETTY, V. S., MOGRA, S., VARGHESE, J., SANDHU, J. & SANDHU, J. S. 2012. Efficiency, behavior, and clinical properties of superelastic NiTi versus

multistranded stainless steel wires: a prospective clinical trial. *Angle Orthod*, 82, 915-21.

- SAR, S. K., SHETTY, D., KUMAR, P., JUNEJA, S. & SHARMA, P. 2019. Leptin levels in gingival crevicular fluid during canine retraction: in vivo comparative study. *Journal* of Orthodontics, 46, 27-33.
- SAR1, E. & UÇAR, C. 2007. Interleukin 1β Levels around Microscrew Implants during Orthodontic Tooth Movement. *The Angle Orthodontist*, 77, 1073-1078.
- SCHNEIDER, C. A., RASBAND, W. S. & ELICEIRI, K. W. 2012. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nat Methods*, 9, 671-5.
- SCHRÖDER, A., GUBERNATOR, J., NAZET, U., SPANIER, G., JANTSCH, J., PROFF, P. & KIRSCHNECK, C. 2020a. Effects of sodium chloride on the gene expression profile of periodontal ligament fibroblasts during tensile strain. *Journal of Orofacial Orthopedics / Fortschritte der Kieferorthopädie*, 81, 360-370.
- SCHRÖDER, A., KÄPPLER, P., NAZET, U., JANTSCH, J., PROFF, P., CIEPLIK, F., DESCHNER, J. & KIRSCHNECK, C. 2020b. Effects of Compressive and Tensile Strain on Macrophages during Simulated Orthodontic Tooth Movement. *Mediators Inflamm*, 2020, 2814015.
- SCHRÖDER, A., KÜCHLER, E. C., OMORI, M., SPANIER, G., PROFF, P. & KIRSCHNECK, C. 2019. Effects of ethanol on human periodontal ligament fibroblasts subjected to static compressive force. *Alcohol*, 77, 59-70.
- SCHRÖDER, A., MEYER, A., SPANIER, G., DAMANAKI, A., PADDENBERG, E., PROFF, P. & KIRSCHNECK, C. 2021. Impact of Leptin on Periodontal Ligament Fibroblasts during Mechanical Strain. *Int J Mol Sci*, 22.
- SCHROEDER, H. E. & LISTGARTEN, M. A. 1997. The gingival tissues: the architecture of periodontal protection. *Periodontol 2000*, 13, 91-120.
- SCHUBERT, A., JÄGER, F., MALTHA, J. C. & BARTZELA, T. N. 2020. Age effect on orthodontic tooth movement rate and the composition of gingival crevicular fluid : A literature review. *J Orofac Orthop*, 81, 113-125.
- SCHULZ, B. L., COOPER-WHITE, J. & PUNYADEERA, C. K. 2013. Saliva proteome research: current status and future outlook. *Crit Rev Biotechnol*, 33, 246-59.
- SCHULZ, K. F., ALTMAN, D. G., MOHER, D. & THE, C. G. 2010. CONSORT 2010 Statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMC Medicine*, 8, 18.
- SCHULZ, K. F. & GRIMES, D. A. 2005. Sample size calculations in randomised trials: mandatory and mystical. *Lancet*, 365, 1348-53.
- SCOTT, P., DIBIASE, A. T., SHERRIFF, M. & COBOURNE, M. T. 2008. Alignment efficiency of Damon3 self-ligating and conventional orthodontic bracket systems: a randomized clinical trial. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 134, 470.e1-8.
- SEBASTIAN, B. 2012. Alignment efficiency of superelastic coaxial nickel-titanium vs superelastic single-stranded nickel-titanium in relieving mandibular anterior crowding A randomized controlled prospective study. *Angle Orthodontist*, 82, 703-708.
- SEBASTIAN, B., ABRAHAM, M. E., SARMA, P. S. & CHERIAN, K. K. 2019. Alignment efficiency of coaxial tubular superelastic nickel-titanium vs single-stranded superelastic nickel-titanium in relieving mandibular anterior crowding in extraction cases: A singlecentre randomized controlled clinical trial. Orthodontics and Craniofacial Research, 22, 105-111.
- SEDDON, C. 2005. Preventing childhood obesity BMA June 2005.
- SEGAL, G. R., SCHIFFMAN, P. H. & TUNCAY, O. C. 2004. Meta analysis of the treatmentrelated factors of external apical root resorption. *Orthodontics and Craniofacial Research*, 7, 71-78.

- SERAFIM, C. M., GURGEL JDE, A., TIAGO, C. M., TAVAREZ, R. R. & MAIA FILHO, E. M. 2015. Clinical Efficiency of Two Sequences of Orthodontic Wires to Correct Crowding of the Lower Anterior Teeth. *ScientificWorldJournal*, 2015, 690280.
- SEXTON, W. M., LIN, Y., KRYSCIO, R. J., DAWSON, D. R., 3RD, EBERSOLE, J. L. & MILLER, C. S. 2011. Salivary biomarkers of periodontal disease in response to treatment. J Clin Periodontol, 38, 434-41.
- SHAHABEE, M., SHAFAEE, H., ABTAHI, M., RANGRAZI, A. & BARDIDEH, E. 2020. Effect of micro-osteoperforation on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement-a systematic review and a meta-analysis. *Eur J Orthod*, 42, 211-221.
- SHARMA, S., GUPTA, S., AHUJA, S., BHAMBRI, E. & SHARMA, R. 2020. Does corticotomy accelerate canine retraction with adequate anchorage control? A split mouth randomized controlled trial. *Orthodontic Waves*.
- SHERIDAN, J. J. 2005. The Readers' Corner, J. Clin. Orthod., 39, 535-537.
- SHIA, G. J. 1986. Treatment overruns. J Clin Orthod, 20, 602-4.
- SHIROZAKI, M. U., DA SILVA, R. A. B., ROMANO, F. L., DA SILVA, L. A. B., DE ROSSI, A., LUCISANO, M. P., MESSORA, M. R., FERES, M. & NOVAES JÚNIOR, A. B. 2020. Clinical, microbiological, and immunological evaluation of patients in corrective orthodontic treatment. *Progress in Orthodontics*, 21, 6.
- SHOWKATBAKHSH, R., JAMILIAN, A. & SHOWKATBAKHSH, M. 2010. The effect of pulsed electromagnetic fields on the acceleration of tooth movement. *World J Orthod*, 11, e52-6.
- SHPACK, N., DAVIDOVITCH, M., SARNE, O., PANAYI, N. & VARDIMON, A. 2008. Duration and Anchorage Management of Canine Retraction with Bodily Versus Tipping Mechanics. *The Angle orthodontist*, 78, 95-100.
- SIDERI, S., PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N. & ELIADES, T. 2018. Registration in the international prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO) of systematic review protocols was associated with increased review quality. *J Clin Epidemiol*, 100, 103-110.
- SILNESS, J. & LOE, H. 1964. PERIODONTAL DISEASE IN PREGNANCY. II. CORRELATION BETWEEN ORAL HYGIENE AND PERIODONTAL CONDTION. *Acta Odontol Scand*, 22, 121-35.
- SIOUSTIS, I.-A., MARTU, M.-A., AMINOV, L., PAVEL, M., CIANGA, P., KAPPENBERG-NITESCU, D. C., LUCHIAN, I., SOLOMON, S. M. & MARTU, S. 2021. Salivary Metalloproteinase-8 and Metalloproteinase-9 Evaluation in Patients Undergoing Fixed Orthodontic Treatment before and after Periodontal Therapy. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18, 1583.
- SIQUEIRA, W. L., CANALES, M. P., CROSARA, K. T. B., MARIN, L. M. & XIAO, Y. 2021. Proteome difference among the salivary proteins adsorbed onto metallic orthodontic brackets and hydroxyapatite discs. *PLoS One*, 16, e0254909.
- SIRES, U. I., SCHMID, T. M., FLISZAR, C. J., WANG, Z. Q., GLUCK, S. L. & WELGUS, H. G. 1995. Complete degradation of type X collagen requires the combined action of interstitial collagenase and osteoclast-derived cathepsin-B. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 95, 2089-2095.
- SIRIPHAN, N., LEETHANAKUL, C. & THONGUDOMPORN, U. 2019. Effects of two frequencies of vibration on the maxillary canine distalization rate and RANKL and OPG secretion: A randomized controlled trial. *Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research*, 22, 131-138.
- SIRRI, M. R., BURHAN, A. S., HAJEER, M. Y., NAWAYA, F. R. & ABDULHADI, A. 2020. Efficiency of corticision in accelerating leveling and alignment of crowded lower

anterior teeth in young adult patients: A randomised controlled clinical trial. *J Clin Diag Res*, 14, ZC26-ZC31.

- SKIDMORE, K. J., BROOK, K. J., THOMSON, W. M. & HARDING, W. J. 2006. Factors influencing treatment time in orthodontic patients. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 129, 230-8.
- SONESSON, M., DE GEER, E., SUBRAIAN, J. & PETRÉN, S. 2016. Efficacy of low-level laser therapy in accelerating tooth movement, preventing relapse and managing acute pain during orthodontic treatment in humans: A systematic review. *BMC Oral Health*, 17.
- SONGRA, G., CLOVER, M., ATACK, N. E., EWINGS, P., SHERRIFF, M., SANDY, J. R. & IRELAND, A. J. 2014. Comparative assessment of alignment efficiency and space closure of active and passive self-ligating vs conventional appliances in adolescents: A single-center randomized controlled trial. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 145, 569-578.
- SORSA, T., DING, Y., SALO, T., LAUHIO, A., TERONEN, O., INGMAN, T., OHTANI, H., ANDOH, N., TAKEHA, S. & KONTTINEN, Y. T. 1994. Effects of tetracyclines on neutrophil, gingival, and salivary collagenases. A functional and western-blot assessment with special reference to their cellular sources in periodontal diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 732, 112-31.
- SPIELMANN, T., WIESLANDER, L. & HEFTI, A. F. 1989. [Acceleration of orthodontically induced tooth movement through the local application of prostaglandin (PGE1)]. *Schweiz Monatsschr Zahnmed*, 99, 162-5.
- SPROGAR, S., VAUPOTIC, T., CÖR, A., DREVENSEK, M. & DREVENSEK, G. 2008. The endothelin system mediates bone modeling in the late stage of orthodontic tooth movement in rats. *Bone*, 43, 740-7.
- SRINIVASAN, B., CHITHARANJAN, A., KAILASAM, V., LAVU, V. & GANAPATHY, V. 2019. Evaluation of leptin concentration in Gingival Crevicular Fluid (GCF) during orthodontic tooth movement and its correlation to the rate of tooth movement. *journal* of orthodontic science, 8, 6-6.
- STARK, T. M. & SINCLAIR, P. M. 1987. Effect of pulsed electromagnetic fields on orthodontic tooth movement. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 91, 91-104.
- STARNBACH, H. K. & KAPLAN, A. 1975. Profile of an excellent orthodontic patient. *Angle Orthod*, 45, 141-5.
- STERNE, J. A. C., SAVOVIĆ, J., PAGE, M. J., ELBERS, R. G., BLENCOWE, N. S., BOUTRON, I., CATES, C. J., CHENG, H.-Y., CORBETT, M. S., ELDRIDGE, S. M., EMBERSON, J. R., HERNÁN, M. A., HOPEWELL, S., HRÓBJARTSSON, A., JUNQUEIRA, D. R., JÜNI, P., KIRKHAM, J. J., LASSERSON, T., LI, T., MCALEENAN, A., REEVES, B. C., SHEPPERD, S., SHRIER, I., STEWART, L. A., TILLING, K., WHITE, I. R., WHITING, P. F. & HIGGINS, J. P. T. 2019. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomised trials. *BMJ*, 366, 14898.
- STOREY, E. 1973. The nature of tooth movement. Am J Orthod, 63, 292-314.
- STOYCHEVA, M. S. & MURDJEVA, M. A. 2005. Correlation between Serum Levels of Interleukin-1β, Interleukin- 1RA, Interleukin-6, Interleukin-10, Interleukin 12, Tumor Necrosis Factor-α and Interferon-γ with some Clinical and Laboratory Parameters in Patients with Salmonellosis. *Biotechnology & Biotechnological Equipment*, 19, 143-146.
- STRAUCH, B., HERMAN, C., DABB, R., IGNARRO, L. J. & PILLA, A. A. 2009. Evidence-Based Use of Pulsed Electromagnetic Field Therapy in Clinical Plastic Surgery. *Aesthetic Surgery Journal*, 29, 135-143.

- SUGIMORI, T., YAMAGUCHI, M., SHIMIZU, M., KIKUTA, J., HIKIDA, T., HIKIDA, M., MURAKAMI, Y., SUEMITSU, M., KUYAMA, K. & KASAI, K. 2018. Microosteoperforations accelerate orthodontic tooth movement by stimulating periodontal ligament cell cycles. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 154, 788-796.
- SUGIYAMA, Y., YAMAGUCHI, M., KANEKAWA, M., YOSHII, M., NOZOE, T., NOGIMURA, A. & KASAI, K. 2003. The level of cathepsin B in GCF during human orthodontic tooth movement. *European journal of orthodontics*, 25, 71-6.
- SUKKAR, T. Z., THOMASON, J. M., CAWSTON, T. E., LAKEY, R., JONES, D., CATTERALL, J. & SEYMOUR, R. A. 2007. Gingival fibroblasts grown from cyclosporin-treated patients show a reduced production of matrix metalloproteinase-1 (MMP-1) compared with normal gingival fibroblasts, and cyclosporin down-regulates the production of MMP-1 stimulated by pro-inflammatory cytokines. *Journal of Periodontal Research*, 42, 580-588.
- SURLIN, P., SILOSI, I., RAUTEN, A. M., COJOCARU, M. & FOIA, L. 2014. Involvement of TSP1 and MMP9/NGAL in Angiogenesis during Orthodontic Periodontal Remodeling. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2014, 421029.
- SUVAN, J., D'AIUTO, F., MOLES, D. R., PETRIE, A. & DONOS, N. 2011. Association between overweight/obesity and periodontitis in adults. A systematic review. *Obes Rev*, 12, e381-404.
- TAGA, T. & KISHIMOTO, T. 1997. Gp130 and the interleukin-6 family of cytokines. *Annu Rev Immunol*, 15, 797-819.
- TAHA, K., CONLEY, R. S., ARANY, P., WARUNEK, S. & AL-JEWAIR, T. 2020. Effects of mechanical vibrations on maxillary canine retraction and perceived pain: a pilot, single-center, randomized-controlled clinical trial. *Odontology*.
- TAKAHASHI, I., NISHIMURA, M., ONODERA, K., BAE, J. W., MITANI, H., OKAZAKI, M., SASANO, Y. & MITANI, H. 2003. Expression of MMP-8 and MMP-13 genes in the periodontal ligament during tooth movement in rats. *J Dent Res*, 82, 646-51.
- TAKAHASHI, I., ONODERA, K., NISHIMURA, M., MITNAI, H., SASANO, Y. & MITANI, H. 2006. Expression of genes for gelatinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases in periodontal tissues during orthodontic tooth movement. J Mol Histol, 37, 333-42.
- TAN, S. D., XIE, R., KLEIN-NULEND, J., VAN RHEDEN, R. E., BRONCKERS, A. L. J. J., KUIJPERS-JAGTMAN, A. M., VON DEN HOFF, J. W. & MALTHA, J. C. 2009. Orthodontic Force Stimulates eNOS and iNOS in Rat Osteocytes. *Journal of Dental Research*, 88, 255-260.
- TANTILERTANANT, Y., NIYOMPANICH, J., EVERTS, V., SUPAPHOL, P., PAVASANT, P. & SANCHAVANAKIT, N. 2019. Cyclic tensile force-upregulated IL6 increases MMP3 expression by human periodontal ligament cells. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 107, 104495.
- TASEVSKI, V., SORBETTI, J. M., CHIU, S. S., SHRIVE, N. G. & HART, D. A. 2005. Influence of mechanical and biological signals on gene expression in human MG-63 cells: evidence for a complex interplay between hydrostatic compression and vitamin D3 or TGF-beta1 on MMP-1 and MMP-3 mRNA levels. *Biochem Cell Biol*, 83, 96-107.
- TEIXEIRA, C. C., KHOO, E., TRAN, J., CHARTRES, I., LIU, Y., THANT, L. M., KHABENSKY, I., GART, L. P., CISNEROS, G. & ALIKHANI, M. 2010. Cytokine expression and accelerated tooth movement. *J Dent Res*, 89, 1135-41.
- TELATAR, B. C. & GUNGOR, A. Y. 2021. Effectiveness of vibrational forces on orthodontic treatment : A randomized, controlled clinical trial. *J Orofac Orthop*, 82, 288-294.

- TEN CATE, A. R., DEPORTER, D. A. & FREEMAN, E. 1976. The role of fibroblasts in the remodeling of periodontal ligament during physiologic tooth movement. *Am J Orthod*, 69, 155-68.
- TERAJIMA, M., PERDIVARA, I., SRICHOLPECH, M., DEGUCHI, Y., PLESHKO, N., TOMER, K. B. & YAMAUCHI, M. 2014. Glycosylation and cross-linking in bone type I collagen. J Biol Chem, 289, 22636-22647.
- TERVAHARTIALA, T., PIRILÄ, E., CEPONIS, A., MAISI, P., SALO, T., TUTER, G., KALLIO, P., TÖRNWALL, J., SRINIVAS, R., KONTTINEN, Y. T. & SORSA, T. 2000. The in vivo Expression of the Collagenolytic Matrix Metalloproteinases (MMP-2, -8, -13, and -14) and Matrilysin (MMP-7) in Adult and Localized Juvenile Periodontitis. *Journal of Dental Research*, 79, 1969-1977.
- THEODOROU, C. I., KUIJPERS-JAGTMAN, A. M., BRONKHORST, E. M. & WAGENER, F. 2019. Optimal force magnitude for bodily orthodontic tooth movement with fixed appliances: A systematic review. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 156, 582-592.
- THOMAS, S., DAS, S. K., BARIK, A. K., RAJ, S. C., RAJASEKARAN, A. & MISHRA, M. 2021. Evaluation of physiodispenser assisted micro-osteoperforation on the rate of tooth movement and associated periodontal tissue status during individual canine retraction in first premolar extraction cases: A split-mouth randomized controlled clinical trial. *Journal of the World Federation of Orthodontists*, 07, 07.
- THOMSON, A. W., TURNQUIST, H. R. & RAIMONDI, G. 2009. Immunoregulatory functions of mTOR inhibition. *Nat Rev Immunol*, 9, 324-37.
- TORTAMANO, A., LENZI, D. C., HADDAD, A. C., BOTTINO, M. C., DOMINGUEZ, G. C. & VIGORITO, J. W. 2009. Low-level laser therapy for pain caused by placement of the first orthodontic archwire: a randomized clinical trial. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop, 136, 662-7.
- TRINDADE, F., AMADO, F., GOMES, P. S. & VITORINO, R. 2015a. endoProteoFASP: a novel FASP approach to profile salivary peptidome and disclose salivary proteases. *Talanta*, 132, 486-93.
- TRINDADE, F., AMADO, F., OLIVEIRA-SILVA, R. P., DANIEL-DA-SILVA, A. L., FERREIRA, R., KLEIN, J., FARIA-ALMEIDA, R., GOMES, P. S. & VITORINO, R. 2015b. Toward the definition of a peptidome signature and protease profile in chronic periodontitis. *Proteomics Clin Appl*, 9, 917-27.
- TRINDADE, F., FALCÃO-PIRES, I., LEITE-MOREIRA, A., GOMES, P. S., KLEIN, J., FERREIRA, R. & VITORINO, R. 2018. EndoProteoFASP as a Tool to Unveil the Peptidome-Protease Profile: Application to Salivary Diagnostics. *Methods Mol Biol*, 1719, 293-310.
- TSICHLAKI, A., CHIN, S. Y., PANDIS, N. & FLEMING, P. S. 2016. How long does treatment with fixed orthodontic appliances last? A systematic review. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 149, 308-18.
- TSICHLAKI, A. & FLEMING, P. S. 2019. Prioritising patients in research and practice why and how? *Journal of Orthodontics*, 46, 17-20.
- TSICHLAKI, A., O'BRIEN, K., JOHAL, A. & FLEMING, P. S. 2018. Orthodontic trial outcomes: Plentiful, inconsistent, and in need of uniformity? A scoping review. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 153, 797-807.
- TSUJI, K., UNO, K., ZHANG, G. X. & TAMURA, M. 2004. Periodontal ligament cells under intermittent tensile stress regulate mRNA expression of osteoprotegerin and tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloprotease-1 and -2. *Journal of Bone and Mineral Metabolism*, 22, 94-103.

- TUNCER, B. B., OZMERIÇ, N., TUNCER, C., TEOMAN, I., CAKILCI, B., YÜCEL, A., ALPAR, R. & BALOŞ, K. 2005. Levels of interleukin-8 during tooth movement. *Angle Orthod*, 75, 631-6.
- TURBILL, E. A., RICHMOND, S. & WRIGHT, J. L. 2001. The time-factor in orthodontics: what influences the duration of treatments in National Health Service practices? *Community Dent Oral Epidemiol*, 29, 62-72.
- TURNER, S., HARRISON, J. E., SHARIF, F. N., OWENS, D. & MILLETT, D. T. 2021. Orthodontic treatment for crowded teeth in children. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 12, Cd003453.
- UEMATSU, S., MOGI, M. & DEGUCHI, T. 1996. Interleukin (IL)-1 beta, IL-6, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, epidermal growth factor, and beta 2-microglobulin levels are elevated in gingival crevicular fluid during human orthodontic tooth movement. *J Dent Res*, 75, 562-7.
- ULHAQ, A., ESMAIL, Z., KAMARUDDIN, A., MEADOWS, S., DAUS, J., VITALE, M., PERILLO, L., SHERRIFF, M. & BISTER, D. 2017. Alignment efficiency and esthetic performance of 4 coated nickel-titanium archwires in orthodontic patients over 8 weeks: A multicenter randomized clinical trial. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 152, 744-752.
- ULLRICH, N., SCHRÖDER, A., JANTSCH, J., SPANIER, G., PROFF, P. & KIRSCHNECK, C. 2019. The role of mechanotransduction versus hypoxia during simulated orthodontic compressive strain—an in vitro study of human periodontal ligament fibroblasts. *International Journal of Oral Science*, 11, 33.
- URIBE, F., DAVOODY, L., MEHR, R., JAYARATNE, Y. S. N., ALMAS, K., SOBUE, T., ALLAREDDY, V. & NANDA, R. 2017. Efficiency of piezotome-corticision assisted orthodontics in alleviating mandibular anterior crowding-a randomized clinical trial. *European Journal of Orthodontics*, 39, 595-600.
- URIBE, F., PADALA, S., ALLAREDDY, V. & NANDA, R. 2014. Patients', parents', and orthodontists' perceptions of the need for and costs of additional procedures to reduce treatment time. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 145, S65-73.
- VAN DER PLAS, M. J. A., CAI, J., PETRLOVA, J., SALEH, K., KJELLSTRÖM, S. & SCHMIDTCHEN, A. 2021. Method development and characterization of the low molecular weight peptidome of human wound fluids. *medRxiv*, 2020.10.29.20222208.
- VANDEVSKA-RADUNOVIC, V., KVINNSLAND, I. H., KVINNSLAND, S. & JONSSON, R. 1997. Immunocompetent cells in rat periodontal ligament and their recruitment incident to experimental orthodontic tooth movement. *Eur J Oral Sci*, 105, 36-44.
- VARELLA, A. M., REVANKAR, A. V. & PATIL, A. K. 2018. Low-level laser therapy increases interleukin-1 β in gingival crevicular fluid and enhances the rate of orthodontic tooth movement. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 154, 535-544.e5.
- VERBORGT, O., GIBSON, G. J. & SCHAFFLER, M. B. 2000. Loss of osteocyte integrity in association with microdamage and bone remodeling after fatigue in vivo. *J Bone Miner Res*, 15, 60-7.
- VIEIRA, E. P., WATANABE, B. S. D., PONTES, L. F., MATTOS, J. N. F., MAIA, L. C. & NORMANDO, D. 2018. The effect of bracket slot size on the effectiveness of orthodontic treatment: A systematic review. *Angle Orthod*, 88, 100-106.
- VIG, K. W., WEYANT, R., VAYDA, D., O'BRIEN, K. & BENNETT, E. 1998. Orthodontic process and outcome: efficacy studies--strategies for developing process and outcome measures: a new era in orthodontics. *Clin Orthod Res*, 1, 147-55.
- VIG, P. S., WEINTRAUB, J. A., BROWN, C. & KOWALSKI, C. J. 1990. The duration of orthodontic treatment with and without extractions: a pilot study of five selected practices. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 97, 45-51.

- VISSE, R. & NAGASE, H. 2003. Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases: structure, function, and biochemistry. *Circ Res*, 92, 827-39.
- VITORINO, R., BARROS, A., CASEIRO, A., DOMINGUES, P., DUARTE, J. & AMADO, F. 2009. Towards defining the whole salivary peptidome. *PROTEOMICS–Clinical Applications*, 3, 528-540.
- VIWATTANATIPA, N. & CHARNCHAIRERK, S. 2018. The effectiveness of corticotomy and piezocision on canine retraction: A systematic review. *Korean J Orthod*, 48, 200-211.
- VON BÖHL, M., MALTHA, J. C., VON DEN HOFF, J. W. & KUIJPERS-JAGTMAN, A. M. 2004. Focal hyalinization during experimental tooth movement in beagle dogs. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop, 125, 615-23.
- VON BREMEN, J., LORENZ, N. & RUF, S. 2016. Impact of body mass index on oral health during orthodontic treatment: an explorative pilot study. *Eur J Orthod*, 38, 386-92.
- VON BREMEN, J., WAGNER, J. & RUF, S. 2013. Correlation between body mass index and orthodontic treatment outcome. *Angle Orthod*, 83, 371-5.
- VU, C. Q., ROBERTS, W. E., HARTSFIELD, J. K., JR. & OFNER, S. 2008. Treatment complexity index for assessing the relationship of treatment duration and outcomes in a graduate orthodontics clinic. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 133, 9.e1-13.
- WADDINGTON, R. J. & EMBERY, G. 2001. Proteoglycans and orthodontic tooth movement. *J Orthod*, 28, 281-90.
- WAHAB, R. M. A., IDRIS, H., YACOB, H. & ARIFFIN, S. H. Z. 2013. Canine retraction: A randomised clinical trial comparing Damon[™] 3 self-ligating with conventional ligating brackets. *Sains Malaysiana*, 42, 251-255.
- WAHAB, R. M. A., YAMAMOTO, Z., SINTIAN, A., ABU KASIM, N., ABIDIN, I. Z. Z., SENAFI, S., ARIFFIN, Z. Z. & ARIFFIN, S. H. Z. 2015. The Effects of Orthodontic Forces during Canine Retraction Using Self-ligating Brackets on Gingival Crevicular Fluid Enzyme Activity, Canine Movement and Root Resorption. *Sains Malaysiana*, 44, 249-256.
- WANG, H., LIU, Y., WANG, D., XU, Y., DONG, R., YANG, Y., LV, Q., CHEN, X. & ZHANG, Z. 2019. The Upstream Pathway of mTOR-Mediated Autophagy in Liver Diseases. *Cells*, 8.
- WANG, J., JIAO, D., HUANG, X. & BAI, Y. 2021a. Osteoclastic effects of mBMMSCs under compressive pressure during orthodontic tooth movement. *Stem Cell Research & Therapy*, 12, 148.
- WANG, L., LEE, W., LEI, D. L., LIU, Y. P., YAMASHITA, D. D. & YEN, S. L. 2009. Tisssue responses in corticotomy- and osteotomy-assisted tooth movements in rats: histology and immunostaining. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop*, 136, 770.e1-11; discussion 770-1.
- WANG, Y., LIU, C., JIAN, F., MCINTYRE, G. T., MILLETT, D. T., HICKMAN, J. & LAI,
 W. 2018. Initial arch wires used in orthodontic treatment with fixed appliances. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*, 7, Cd007859.
- WANG, Z., CHEN, Z., FANG, F. & QIU, W. 2021b. The role of adiponectin in periodontitis: Current state and future prospects. *Biomed Pharmacother*, 137, 111358.
- WASINGER, V. C., CORDWELL, S. J., CERPA-POLJAK, A., YAN, J. X., GOOLEY, A. A., WILKINS, M. R., DUNCAN, M. W., HARRIS, R., WILLIAMS, K. L. & HUMPHERY-SMITH, I. 1995. Progress with gene-product mapping of the Mollicutes: Mycoplasma genitalium. *Electrophoresis*, 16, 1090-4.
- WAZWAZ, F., SEEHRA J, CARPENTER GH, PAPAGEORGIOU SN & MT., C. 2022a. Duration of canine retraction with fixed appliances: A systematic review and metaanalysis [Data set]. Zenodo <u>http://doi.org/105281/zenodo.6560641</u>.

- WAZWAZ, F., SEEHRA, J., CARPENTER, G. H., IRELAND, A. J., PAPAGEORGIOU, S. N. & COBOURNE, M. T. 2022b. Duration of tooth alignment with fixed appliances: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics*, 161, 20-36.
- WAZWAZ, F., SEEHRA, J., PAPAGEORGIOU, S., IRELAND, A. J. & COBOURNE, M. 2020. Duration of tooth alignment with fixed appliances: a with meta-analysis [Data set]. Zenodo <u>http://doiorg/105281/zenodo4310105</u>.
- WEIHRAUCH-BLÜHER, S. & WIEGAND, S. 2018. Risk Factors and Implications of Childhood Obesity. *Curr Obes Rep*, 7, 254-259.
- WELTMAN, B., VIG, K. W., FIELDS, H. W., SHANKER, S. & KAIZAR, E. E. 2010. Root resorption associated with orthodontic tooth movement: a systematic review. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop, 137, 462-76; discussion 12A.
- WESCOTT, D. C., PINKERTON, M. N., GAFFEY, B. J., BEGGS, K. T., MILNE, T. J. & MEIKLE, M. C. 2007. Osteogenic Gene Expression by Human Periodontal Ligament Cells under Cyclic Tension. *Journal of Dental Research*, 86, 1212-1216.
- WESTERLUND, U., INGMAN, T., LUKINMAA, P. L., SALO, T., KJELDSEN, L., BORREGAARD, N., TJÄDERHANE, L., KONTTINEN, Y. T. & SORSA, T. 1996. Human neutrophil gelatinase and associated lipocalin in adult and localized juvenile periodontitis. *J Dent Res*, 75, 1553-63.
- WEYLAND, M. I., JOST-BRINKMANN, P.-G. & BARTZELA, T. 2022. Management of white spot lesions induced during orthodontic treatment with multibracket appliance: a national-based survey. *Clinical Oral Investigations*, 26, 4871-4883.
- WILCKO, W. M., WILCKO, T., BOUQUOT, J. E. & FERGUSON, D. J. 2001. Rapid orthodontics with alveolar reshaping: two case reports of decrowding. *Int J Periodontics Restorative Dent*, 21, 9-19.
- WILKINS, M. R., SANCHEZ, J.-C., GOOLEY, A. A., APPEL, R. D., HUMPHERY-SMITH, I., HOCHSTRASSER, D. F. & WILLIAMS, K. L. 1996. Progress with Proteome Projects: Why all Proteins Expressed by a Genome Should be Identified and How To Do It. *Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering Reviews*, 13, 19-50.
- WILLIAMS, G. A., WANG, Y., CALLON, K. E., WATSON, M., LIN, J.-M., LAM, J. B. B., COSTA, J. L., ORPE, A., BROOM, N., NAOT, D., REID, I. R. & CORNISH, J. 2009. In Vitro and in Vivo Effects of Adiponectin on Bone. *Endocrinology*, 150, 3603-3610.
- WILLIAMS, R., SKELTON, A., TODRYK, S., ROWAN, A., PRESHAW, P. & TAYLOR, J. 2016. Leptin and Pro-Inflammatory Stimuli Synergistically Upregulate MMP-1 and MMP-3 Secretion in Human Gingival Fibroblasts. *PLOS ONE*, 11, e0148024.
- WISE, G. E. & KING, G. J. 2008. Mechanisms of Tooth Eruption and Orthodontic Tooth Movement. *Journal of Dental Research*, 87, 414-434.
- WOODHOUSE, N. R., DIBIASE, A. T., JOHNSON, N., SLIPPER, C., GRANT, J., ALSALEH, M., DONALDSON, A. N. & COBOURNE, M. T. 2015. Supplemental vibrational force during orthodontic alignment: a randomized trial. *J Dent Res*, 94, 682-9.
- WU, H. H., GUO, Y., PU, Y. F. & TANG, Z. H. 2021. Adiponectin inhibits lipoplysaccharideinduced inflammation and promotes osteogenesis in hPDLCs. *Biosci Rep*, 41.
- WU, J., LI, Y., FAN, X., ZHANG, C., WANG, Y. & ZHAO, Z. 2011. Analysis of gene expression profile of periodontal ligament cells subjected to cyclic compressive force. *DNA Cell Biol*, 30, 865-73.
- WU, X., QIU, W., HU, Z., LIAN, J., LIU, Y., ZHU, X., TU, M., FANG, F., YU, Y., VALVERDE, P., TU, Q., YU, Y. & CHEN, J. 2019. An Adiponectin Receptor Agonist Reduces Type 2 Diabetic Periodontitis. J Dent Res, 98, 313-321.

- XIA, Y., SUN, M., XIE, Y. & SHU, R. 2017. mTOR Inhibition Rejuvenates the Aging Gingival Fibroblasts through Alleviating Oxidative Stress. Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2017, 6292630.
- XU, X., ZHANG, Q., LV, Y., YU, T., CHEN, J., ZENG, P., WANG, L., LIU, T. & DIAO, H. Levels of matrix metalloproteinases in saliva during orthodontic tooth movement. 2020.
- XU, Y., SHEN, J., MUHAMMED, F. K., ZHENG, B., ZHANG, Y. & LIU, Y. 2017. Effect of orthodontic force on the expression of PI3K, Akt, and P70S6 K in the human periodontal ligament during orthodontic loading. *Cell Biochem Funct*, 35, 372-377.
- YAMAGUCHI, M. 2009. RANK/RANKL/OPG during orthodontic tooth movement. Orthod Craniofac Res, 12, 113-9.
- YAMAGUCHI, M., AIHARA, N., KOJIMA, T. & KASAI, K. 2006. RANKL Increase in Compressed Periodontal Ligament Cells from Root Resorption. *Journal of Dental Research*, 85, 751-756.
- YAMAGUCHI, M. & KASAI, K. 2005. Inflammation in periodontal tissues in response to mechanical forces. *Arch Immunol Ther Exp (Warsz)*, 53, 388-98.
- YAMAGUCHI, M., OZAWA, Y., NOGIMURA, A., AIHARA, N., KOJIMA, T., HIRAYAMA, Y. & KASAI, K. 2004. Cathepsins B and L increased during response of periodontal ligament cells to mechanical stress in vitro. *Connect Tissue Res*, 45, 181-9.
- YAMAGUCHI, N., HAMACHI, T., KAMIO, N., AKIFUSA, S., MASUDA, K., NAKAMURA, Y., NONAKA, K., MAEDA, K., HANAZAWA, S. & YAMASHITA, Y. 2010. Expression levels of adiponectin receptors and periodontitis. *Journal of Periodontal Research*, 45, 296-300.
- YAMAMOTO, K., YAMAMOTO, T., ICHIOKA, H., AKAMATSU, Y., OSEKO, F., MAZDA, O., IMANISHI, J., KANAMURA, N. & KITA, M. 2011. Effects of mechanical stress on cytokine production in mandible-derived osteoblasts. *Oral Dis*, 17, 712-9.
- YAMASAKI, K., SHIBATA, Y., IMAI, S., TANI, Y., SHIBASAKI, Y. & FUKUHARA, T. 1984. Clinical application of prostaglandin E1 (PGE1) upon orthodontic tooth movement. Am J Orthod, 85, 508-18.
- YANG, L., YANG, Y., WANG, S., LI, Y. & ZHAO, Z. 2015a. In vitro mechanical loading models for periodontal ligament cells: From two-dimensional to three-dimensional models. *Archives of Oral Biology*, 60, 416-424.
- YANG, Z., GORONZY, J. J. & WEYAND, C. M. 2015b. Autophagy in autoimmune disease. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 93, 707-717.
- YASSAEI, S., AGHILI, H., AFSHARI, J. T., BAGHERPOUR, A. & ESLAMI, F. 2016. Effects of diode laser (980 nm) on orthodontic tooth movement and interleukin 6 levels in gingival crevicular fluid in female subjects. *Lasers in medical science*, 31, 1751-1759.
- YASSIR, Y. A., EL-ANGBAWI, A. M., MCINTYRE, G. T., REVIE, G. F. & BEARN, D. R. 2019. A randomized clinical trial of the effectiveness of 0.018-inch and 0.022-inch slot orthodontic bracket systems: part 1-duration of treatment. *Eur J Orthod*, 41, 133-142.
- YE, S. 2015. Putative targeting of matrix metalloproteinase-8 in atherosclerosis. *Pharmacol Ther*, 147, 111-22.
- YOUSEFIAN, J., FIROUZIAN, F., SHANFELD, J., NGAN, P., LANESE, R. & DAVIDOVITCH, Z. 1995. A new experimental model for studying the response of periodontal ligament cells to hydrostatic pressure. *American Journal of Orthodontics* and Dentofacial Orthopedics, 108, 402-409.
- YUN-JUNG, Y., *, HONG-GYU, P., JI-HYE, K., JEONG-HEON, C. & EUN-JUNG, B. 2013. Induction of IL-6 and IL-8 Expression by Leptin Treatment in Periodontal Ligament Cells and Gingival Fibroblasts. *International Journal of Oral Biology*, 38, 73-80.
- ZAINAL ARIFFIN, S. H., YAMAMOTO, Z., ZAINOL ABIDIN, L. Z., MEGAT ABDUL WAHAB, R. & ZAINAL ARIFFIN, Z. 2011. Cellular and Molecular Changes in Orthodontic Tooth Movement. *TheScientificWorldJOURNAL*, 11, 761768.
- ZEITOUNLOUIAN, T. S., ZENO, K. G., BRAD, B. A. & HADDAD, R. A. 2021. Effect of injectable platelet-rich fibrin (i-PRF) in accelerating orthodontic tooth movement : A randomized split-mouth-controlled trial. *Journal of Orofacial Orthopedics*, 82, 268-277.
- ZHANG, B., YANG, L., ZHENG, W. & LIN, T. 2020. MicroRNA-34 expression in gingival crevicular fluid correlated with orthodontic tooth movement. *The Angle Orthodontist*, 90, 702-706.
- ZHANG, J., ZHOU, S., ZHENG, H., ZHOU, Y., CHEN, F. & LIN, J. 2012. Magnetic beadbased salivary peptidome profiling analysis during orthodontic treatment durations. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 421, 844-9.
- ZHANG, L., FARRELL, J. J., ZHOU, H., ELASHOFF, D., AKIN, D., PARK, N. H., CHIA, D. & WONG, D. T. 2010. Salivary transcriptomic biomarkers for detection of resectable pancreatic cancer. *Gastroenterology*, 138, 949-57.e1-7.
- ZHANG, Y., PROENCA, R., MAFFEI, M., BARONE, M., LEOPOLD, L. & FRIEDMAN, J. M. 1994. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature*, 372, 425-32.
- ZHAO, Y., WANG, C., LI, S., SONG, H., WEI, F., PAN, K., ZHU, K., YANG, P., TU, Q. & CHEN, J. 2008. Expression of Osterix in mechanical stress-induced osteogenic differentiation of periodontal ligament cells in vitro. *European Journal of Oral Sciences*, 116, 199-206.
- ZHENG, J. & YANG, K. 2021. Clinical research: low-level laser therapy in accelerating orthodontic tooth movement. *BMC Oral Health*, 21, 324.
- ZHONG, W., XU, C., ZHANG, F., JIANG, X., ZHANG, X. & YE, D. 2008. Cyclic stretching force-induced early apoptosis in human periodontal ligament cells. *Oral Diseases*, 14, 270-276.
- ZHOU, J. & WINDSOR, L. J. 2006. Porphyromonas gingivalis affects host collagen degradation by affecting expression, activation, and inhibition of matrix metalloproteinases. *J Periodontal Res*, 41, 47-54.
- ZHU, J., GUO, B., GAN, X., ZHANG, L., HE, Y., LIU, B., CHEN, X., ZHANG, S. & YU, H. 2017. Association of circulating leptin and adiponectin with periodontitis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Oral Health*, 17, 104.
- ZHU, J., HOOP, C. L., CASE, D. A. & BAUM, J. 2018. Cryptic binding sites become accessible through surface reconstruction of the type I collagen fibril. *Scientific Reports*, 8, 16646.
- ZIEGLER, N., ALONSO, A., STEINBERG, T., WOODNUTT, D., KOHL, A., MÜSSIG, E., SCHULZ, S. & TOMAKIDI, P. 2010. Mechano-transduction in periodontal ligament cells identifies activated states of MAP-kinases p42/44 and p38-stress kinase as a mechanism for MMP-13 expression. *BMC Cell Biology*, 11, 10.
- ZIMMERMANN, G. S., BASTOS, M. F., DIAS GONÇALVES, T. E., CHAMBRONE, L. & DUARTE, P. M. 2013. Local and circulating levels of adipocytokines in obese and normal weight individuals with chronic periodontitis. *J Periodontol*, 84, 624-33.

Chapter 2

Appendix 2.1. Search strategies applied for each database

MEDLINE (Ovid) Search Strategy (searched from 1946 to 07/01/2021)

- 1 orthodon\$.mp.
- 2 orthodontic.ti,ab.
- 3 ((tooth or teeth) adj5 move\$).ti,ab.
- 4 1 or 2 or 3
- 5 exp Orthodontic Wires/
- 6 "orthodontic wire\$".mp.
- 7 (wire\$ or "arch-wire" or archwire\$ or "arch wire").mp.
- 8 5 or 6 or 7

9 (initial\$ or first or aligning or sequence\$ or order or crowd\$ or decrowd\$ or "de-crowd\$" or levelling\$ or alleviat\$).mp.

10 4 and 8 and 9

This subject search was linked to the Cochrane Highly Sensitive Search Strategy (CHSSS) for identifying randomized trials in MEDLINE: sensitivity maximising version (2008 revision) as referenced in Chapter 6.4.11.1 and detailed in box 6.4.c of The Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions, Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011] (Higgins 2011).

- 1. randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 2. controlled clinical trial.pt.
- 3. randomized.ab.
- 4. placebo.ab.
- 5. drug therapy.fs.
- 6. randomly.ab.
- 7. trial.ab.
- 8. groups.ab.
- 9. or/1-8
- 10. exp animals/ not humans.sh.
- 11. 9 not 10

Embase (Ovid) search strategy (searched from 1947 to 07/01/2021)

- 1 orthodontic.ti,ab.
- 2 orthodon*.mp.
- 3 ((tooth or teeth) adj5 move\$).ti,ab.
- 4 1 or 2 or 3 (60718)
- 5 exp orthodontic wire/ or exp stainless steel/ or exp nickel/ or exp titanium/
- 6 exp orthodontic wire/
- 7 orthodontic wire\$.mp.
- 8 (wire\$ or "arch-wire" or archwire\$ or "arch wire").mp
- 9 5 or 6 or 7 or 8 (203903)

10 (initial\$ or first or aligning or sequence\$ or order or crowd\$ or decrowd\$ or "de-crowd\$" or levelling\$ or alleviat\$).mp.

11 4 and 9 and 10

This subject search was linked to an adapted version of the Cochrane Centralised Search Project filter for identifying RCTs in Embase Ovid

- 1. Randomized controlled trial/
- 2. Controlled clinical study/
- 3. Random\$.ti,ab.
- 4. randomization/
- 5. intermethod comparison/
- 6. placebo.ti,ab.
- 7. (compare or compared or comparison).ti.

8. ((evaluated or evaluate or evaluating or assessed or assess) and (compare or compared or comparing or comparison)).ab.

- 9. (open adj label).ti,ab.
- 10. ((double or single or doubly or singly) adj (blind or blinded or blindly)).ti,ab.
- 11. double blind procedure/
- 12. parallel group\$1.ti,ab.
- 13. (crossover or cross over).ti,ab.

14. ((assign\$ or match or matched or allocation) adj5 (alternate or group\$1 or intervention\$1 or patient\$1 or subject\$1 or participant\$1)).ti,ab.

- 15. (assigned or allocated).ti,ab.
- 16. (controlled adj7 (study or design or trial)).ti,ab.
- 17. (volunteer or volunteers).ti,ab.
- 18. trial.ti.

19. or/1-1820. (exp animal/ or animal.hw. or nonhuman/) not (exp human/ or human cell/ or (human or humans).ti.)21. 19 not 20

Cochrane database of systematic reviews (CDSR) search via Cochrane Library

orthodon* AND (wire* OR "arch-wire" OR archwire* OR "archwire")

Cochrane Central Register of controlled trials (CENTRAL) search strategy via Cochrane Library

orthodon* AND (wire* OR "arch-wire" OR archwire* OR "archwire")

Scopus search strategy

Orthodont* AND random* AND (wire* OR "arch-wire*" OR archwire*)

Web of Science search strategy

(orthodont* AND random* AND (wire* OR "arch-wire*" OR archwire*))

LILACS search strategy

http://pesquisa.bvsalud.org/portal/?lang=en

(orthodon* AND random* AND (wire* OR "arch-wire" OR archwire*) AND (initial* OR first OR aligning OR sequence* OR order OR crowd* OR decrowd* OR "de-crowd*))

The Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE)

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/CRDWeb

Appendix Table 2.1List of excluded studies by full text with reasons.

Paper	Status
Excluded by full text with reasons	
Alam MK. Laser assisted orthodontic tooth movement in saudi population: A randomized clinical trial. Bangladesh Journal of Medical Science. 2019;18(2):385-90.	Excluded; movement of upper canines
Andreasen G. A clinical trial of alignment of teeth using a 0.019 inch thermal nitinol wire with a transition temperature range between 31 degrees C. and 45 degrees C. American journal of orthodontics. 1980;78(5):528-37.	Excluded, case report
Alzahawi K, Færøvig E, Brudvik P, Bøe OE, Mavragani M. Root resorption after leveling with super-elastic and conventional steel arch wires: a prospective study. Progress in Orthodontics. 2014;15(1).	Excluded; no lower teeth alignment rate or time
Aragón MLC, Bichara LM, Flores-Mir C, Almeida G, Normando D. Efficiency of compensatory orthodontic treatment of mild class III malocclusion with two different bracket systems. Dental Press Journal of Orthodontics. 2017;22(6):49-55.	Excluded; total treatment duration
Atik E, Akarsu-Guven B, Kocadereli I. Mandibular dental arch changes with active self-ligating brackets combined with different archwires. Nigerian journal of clinical practice. 2018;21(5):566-72.	Excluded; no lower teeth alignment rate or time
Bloom KL, Bhatia SN. Comparison of copper NiTi and Nitinol archwires in initial alignment. European journal of orthodontics. 1998;20(5):614.	Excluded; no full-text found
DiBiase AT, Nasr IH, Scott P, Cobourne MT. Duration of treatment and occlusal outcome using Damon3 self- ligated and conventional orthodontic bracket systems in extraction patients: A prospective randomized clinical trial. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2011;139(2).	Excluded; no lower teeth alignment rate or time
DiBiase AT, Woodhouse NR, Papageorgiou SN, Johnson N, Slipper C, Grant J, et al. Effect of supplemental vibrational force on orthodontically induced inflammatory root resorption: A multicenter randomized clinical trial. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2016;150(6):918-27.	Excluded; no lower teeth alignment rate or time
Dywer L, Littlewood SJ, Rahman S, Spencer RJ, Barber SK, Russell JS. A multi-center randomized controlled trial to compare a self-ligating bracket with a conventional bracket in a UK population: Part 1: Treatment efficiency. Angle Orthod. 2016;86(1):142-8.	Excluded; no lower teeth alignment rate or time
Gravina MA, Brunharo IH, Fraga MR, Artese F, Campos MJ, Vitral RW, et al. Clinical evaluation of dental alignment and leveling with three different types of orthodontic wires. Dental Press J Orthod. 2013;18(6):31-7.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Johansson K, Lundstrom F. Orthodontic treatment efficiency with self-ligating and conventional edgewise twin brackets A prospective randomized clinical trial. Angle Orthodontist. 2012;82(5):929-34.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Jones ML, Staniford H, Chan C. Comparison of superelastic NiTi and multistranded stainless steel wires in initial alignment. Journal of clinical orthodontics : JCO. 1990;24(10):611-3.	Excluded; no full-text found
Kaklamanos EG, Mavreas D, Tsalikis L, Karagiannis V, Athanasiou AE. Treatment duration and gingival inflammation in Angle's Class I malocclusion patients treated with the conventional straight-wire method and the Damon technique: a single-centre, randomised clinical trial. Journal of Orthodontics. 2017;44(2):75-81.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Lew K. A comparison of archwires used for initial alignment in Begg treatment. Australian orthodontic journal. 1988;10(3):180-2.	Excluded; no full-text found
Lo Giudice A, Nucera R, Perillo L, Paiusco A, Caccianiga G. IS LOW-LEVEL LASER THERAPY AN EFFECTIVE METHOD TO ALLEVIATE PAIN INDUCED BY ACTIVE ORTHODONTIC ALIGNMENT ARCHWIRE? A RANDOMIZED CLINICAL TRIAL. Journal of Evidence-Based Dental Practice. 2019;19(1):71-8.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Markovic E, Fercec J, Scepan I, Glisic B, Nedeljkovic N, Juloski J. The correlation between pain perception among patients with six different orthodontic archwires and the degree of dental crowding. Srpski arhiv za celokupno lekarstvo. 2015;143(3-4):134-40.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Megat Abdul Wahab R, Idris H, Yacob H, Zainal Ariffin SH. Comparison of self- and conventional-ligating brackets in the alignment stage. European Journal of Orthodontics. 2012;34(2):176-81.	Excluded; alignment of upper anterior teeth
Nagalakshmi S, Sriram G, Balachandar K, Dhayanithi D. A comparative evaluation of mandibular incisor decrowding with coaxial and optiflex arch wires and their load-deflection rates. Journal of Pharmacy and Bioallied Sciences. 2014;6(SUPPL. 1):S118-S21.	Excluded; not RCT
O'Brien K, Lewis D, Shaw W, Combe E. A clinical trial of aligning archwires. European Journal of Orthodontics. 1990;12(4):380-4.	Excluded; alignment of upper anterior teeth
O'Dywer L, Littlewood SJ, Rahman S, Spencer RJ, Barber SK, Russell JS. A multi-center randomized controlled trial to compare a self-ligating bracket with a conventional bracket in a UK population: Part 1: Treatment efficiency. Angle Orthodontist. 2016;86(1):142-8.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Ong E, McCallum H, Griffin MP, Ho C. Efficiency of self-ligating vs conventionally ligated brackets during initial alignment. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop. 2010;138(2):138.e1-7; discussion -9.	Excluded; retrospective study
Sandhu SS, Sandhu J. Arandomized clinical trial investigating pain associated with superelastic nickel- titanium and multistranded stainless steel archwires during the initial leveling and aligning phase of orthodontic treatment. Journal of Orthodontics. 2013;40(4):276-85.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Pandis N, Polychronopoulou A, Makou M, Eliades T. Mandibular dental arch changes associated with treatment of crowding using self-ligating and conventional brackets. Eur J Orthod. 2010;32(3):248-53.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time

Appendices	
Pandis N, Polychronopoulou A, Sifakakis I, Makou M, Eliades T. Effects of levelling of the curve of Spee on the proclination of mandibular incisors and expansion of dental arches: a prospective clinical trial. Aust Orthod J. 2010;26(1):61-5.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Quintao CCA, Jones ML, Menezes LM, Koo D, Elias CN. A prospective clinical trial to compare the performance of four initial orthodontic archwires. Korean journal of orthodontics. 2005;35(5):381-7.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Koroluk LD. A randomized clinical trial investigating pain associated with superelastic nickel-titanium and multistranded stainless steel archwires during the initial leveling and aligning phase of orthodontic treatment. Journal of Orthodontics. 2013;40(4):273.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Joseph J, Ninan VS, Abraham ME, John J, Cherian KK, Thomas RM. Arch Expansion Efficiency of Coaxial Tubular Superelastic Nickel-Titanium in Comparison to Single-Stranded Superelastic Nickel-Titanium While Relieving Mandibular Anterior Crowding: A Randomized Controlled Study. Journal of International Society of Preventive & Community Dentistry. 2019;9(1):60-4.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Yildirim K, Saglam-Aydinatay B. Comparative assessment of treatment efficacy and adverse effects during nonextraction orthodontic treatment of Class I malocclusion patients with direct and indirect bonding: A parallel randomized clinical trial. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 2018;154(1):26-+.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Evans TJ, Jones ML, Newcombe RG. Clinical comparison and performance perspective of three aligning arch wires. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1998;114(1):32-9.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
West AE, Jones ML, Newcombe RG. MULTIFLEX VERSUS SUPERELASTIC - A RANDOMIZED CLINICAL- TRIAL OF THE TOOTH ALIGNMENT ABILITY OF INITIAL ARCH WIRES. Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop 1995;108(5):464-71.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Kau CH, Kantarci A, Shaughnessy T, Vachiramon A, Santiwong P, de la Fuente A, et al. Photobiomodulation accelerates orthodontic alignment in the early phase of treatment. Prog Orthod, 2013;14:30	Excluded; not RCT
Shaughnessy T, Kantarci A, Kau CH, Skrenes D, Skrenes S, Ma D. Intraoral photobiomodulation-induced orthodontic tooth alignment: a preliminary study. Bmc Oral Health. 2016;16.	Excluded; not RCT
Ren X, Li J, Zhao Y, Li H, Lei L. Torque expression by active and passive self-ligating brackets in patients with four premolar extractions: A retrospective study. Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research.23(4):509-16.	Excluded; retrospective study
Wichelhaus A, Dulla M, Sabbagh H, Baumert U, Stocker T. Stainless steel and NiTi torque archwires and	Excluded;
Aksoy A, Cesur MG, Dagdeviren BH, Ozkaynak YA, Karacin G, Gultekin F. Assessment of Pain, Anxiety, and Cortisol Levels During the Initial Aligning Phase of Fixed Orthodontic Treatment. Turkish Journal of Orthodontics.32(1):34-40.	Excluded; not RCT
Alexander L, Kommi PB, Arani N, Mathew A, Yashwant A, Senkutvan RS. Evaluation and comparison of surface characteristics of commercially available TMA wires using scanning electron microscopy and optical profilometer. Indian journal of dental research. 2019;30(4):548-52.	Excluded; not RCT
Alsabti N, Bourauel C, Talic N. Comparison of force loss during sliding of low friction and conventional TMA orthodontic archwires : An in vitro study. Journal of Orofacial Orthopedics. 2020;02:02.	Excluded; not RCT
Alsabti N, Talic N. Comparison of static friction and surface topography of low friction and conventional TMA orthodontic arch wires: An in-vitro study. Saudi Dental Journal, 2020.	Excluded; not RCT
Amaya S, Perez A, Guzman H, Espinosa A, Motta G, Mojica J, et al. Changes in the mechanical properties of two nickel-titanium archwires after 3 months of clinical usage. Journal of the World Federation of Orthodontists. 2020;9(4):175-80.	Excluded; not RCT
Amm EW, Antoszewska-Smith J, Boley J. Canine substitution of congenitally missing maxillary lateral incisors in Class I and Class III malocclusions by using skeletal anchorage. American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics : official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics. 2019;156(4):512-21.	Excluded; not RCT
Ata-Ali F, Ata-Ali J, Lanuza-Garcia A, Ferrer-Molina M, Melo M, Plasencia E. Clinical outcomes of lingual fully customized vs labial straight wire systems : Assessment based on American Board of Orthodontics criteria. Journal of Orofacial Orthopedics. 2020;08:08.	Excluded; not RCT
Deana NF, Alves N, Sandoval P. Effectiveness of photobiomodulation therapy in accelerating orthodontic tooth movement: A meta-analysis of randomized clinical trials. Journal of Oral Research. 2019;8(5):416-32.	Excluded; not RCT
Jung M-H. Factors influencing treatment efficiency. The Angle orthodontist. 2020.	Excluded; not RCT
electrophoretic deposition on esthetical, bending, and frictional performance of orthodontic stainless steel wire. Dental materials journal. 2020.	Excluded; not RCT
Ledra IM, Gandini LG, Martins RP. Expansion with transpalatal arch or continuous arch mechanics. American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics : official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics. 2020;157(5):611-8.	Excluded; not RCT
Manikandan S, Chandra D, Gnanashanmugam K, Sivakumar S. Evaluation of intrusive forces created by 'v' bend, intrusion arches at various deflections: An invitro study. Indian Journal of Public Health Research and Development. 2020;11(2):523-6.	Excluded; not RCT
Moyano J, Montagut D, Perera R, Fernandez-Bozal J, Puigdollers A. Comparison of changes in the dental transverse and sagittal planes between patients treated with self-ligating and with conventional brackets. Dental press journal of orthodontics. 2020;25(1):47-55.	Excluded; not RCT
Nahas-Scocate ACR, Neves MB, de Souza LT, de Cerqueira Kasaz A, Listik E, da Silva HDP, et al. An in vitro assessment of the influences of different wire materials and bracket systems when correcting dental crowding. Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine. 2020;31(11).	Excluded; not RCT
Palone M, Spedicato GA, Lombardo L. Analysis of tooth anatomy in adults with ideal occlusion: A preliminary study. American Journal of Orthodontics & Dentofacial Orthopedics.157(2):218-27.	Excluded; not RCT

Pradal A Nucci L Derton N. De Felice ME, Turco G, Grassia V, et al. Mechanical evaluation of the stability of	
one or two miniscrews under loading on synthetic bone. Journal of functional biomaterials. 2020;11(4).	Excluded; not RCT
Sar SK, Shetty D, Kumar P, Juneja S, Sharma P. Leptin levels in gingival crevicular fluid during canine	Excluded; not RCT
Soboku T. Motegi E. Sueishi K. Effect of Different Bracket Prescriptions on Orthodontic Treatment Outcomes	
Measured by Three-dimensional Scanning. Bulletin of Tokyo Dental College.60(2):69-80.	Excluded; not RC1
Yazicioglu S, Oz AA, Oz AZ, Arici N, Ozer M, Arici S. Buccolingual Inclination Effects of Self-Ligating and Conventional Premolar Brackets: A Cone Beam Computed Tomography Study. Turkish Journal of Orthodontics.33(2):110-4.	Excluded; not RCT
Abu Alhaija ES, Taha NA. A comparative study of initial changes in pulpal blood flow between conventional and self-ligating fixed orthodontic brackets during leveling and alignment stage. Clinical oral investigations. 2020.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Abu Alhaija ESJ, Al-Abdallah SY, Taha NA. A comparative study of initial changes in pulpal blood flow between clear aligners and fixed orthodontic appliances. American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics. 2019;156(5):603-10.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Afshar MK, Safarian F, Torabi M, Farsinejad A, Mohammadzadeh I. Comparison of TNF-alpha and IL-1beta concentrations in gingival crevicular fluid during early alignment stage of orthodontic treatment in adults and adolescents. Pesquisa Brasileira em Odontopediatria e Clinica Integrada. 2020;20:1-8.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Al Shayea El. Comparative Assessment between Ibuprofen, Chewing Gum, and Bite Wafers in Pain Control Following First Archwire Placement in Orthodontic Patients. The journal of contemporary dental practice. 2020;21(4):416-20.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Alqareer A, Alyahya A, Al-Anezi SA, AlAwadhi A, Al Qabandi S, Alyaseen M. Efficacy of Chewing Gum to Reduce Orthodontic Pain Compared to Placebo: A Blinded, Parallel-Group, Preliminary Clinical Trial. Journal of Oral & Facial Pain and Headache. 2019;33(3):301-7.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
AlSayed Hasan MMA, Sultan K, Ajaj M, Voborná I, Hamadah O. Low-level laser therapy effectiveness in reducing initial orthodontic archwire placement pain in premolars extraction cases: a single-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized clinical trial. BMC oral health. 2020;20(1):1-9.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Alyassiri HAA, Kamaruddin AF, Ismail K, Shafiai NAA, Rahman NA, Ahmad WMAW. Preliminary result of	Excluded; no lower
randomised controlled trial of three different coated archwires Part 1: Tooth alignment and coating loss. Malaysian Journal of Medicine and Health Sciences, 2020:16:1-8.	anterior teeth
Arash V, Teimoorian M, Farajzadeh Jalali Y, Sheikhzadeh S. Clinical comparison between Multi-Stranded	Excluded; no lower
Wires and Single strand Ribbon wires used for lingual fixed retainers. Progress in orthodontics.	anterior teeth
Babanouri N, Ajami S, Salehi P. Effect of mini-screw-facilitated micro-osteoperforation on the rate of	Excluded; no lower
orthodontic tooth movement: a single-center, split-mouth, randomized, controlled trial. Progress in	anterior teeth
Orthodontics. 2020;21(1).	alignment rate or time
changes with self-ligating and conventional brackets in patients requiring premolar extraction - A randomised	anterior teeth
clinical trial. International orthodontics. 2019;17(4):687-92.	alignment rate or time
orthodontics and piezocision technique in adult population - Protocol for a in vivo study. European Journal of	anterior teeth
Molecular and Clinical Medicine. 2020;7(2):2144-50.	alignment rate or time
Charavet C. Localized Piezoelectric Alveolar Decortication for Orthodontic Treatment in Adults: a Randomized Controlled Trial. Journal of oral and maxillofacial surgery. 2019;77(9):e56-e7.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Chen H, Han B, Jiang R, Su H, Feng T, Teng F, et al. PASS versus MBTTM for evaluation of anchorage control in three-dimensional measurements: a randomized controlled trial. European journal of orthodontics. 2020.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Costa Lima KC, Benini Paschoal MA, Gurgel JdA, Salvatore Freitas KM, Maio Pinzan-Vercelino CR.	Excluded: no lower
Comparative analysis of microorganism adhesion on coated, partially coated, and uncoated orthodontic archwires: A prospective clinical study. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics. 2019:156(5):611-6.	anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Delavarian M, Imani MM, Delavarian F, Bayani S. Comparison of chewing gum and ibuprofen in alleviating orthodontic pain: a single centre, randomised clinical trial. Australasian Orthodontic Journal. 2020;36(1):38-	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth
44.	alignment rate or time
Diddige R, Negi G, Kiran KVS, Chitra P. Comparison of pain levels in patients treated with 3 different orthodontic appliances - a randomized trial. Medicine and Pharmacy Reports. 2020;93(1):81-8.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
EI-Timamy A, EI Sharaby F, Eid F, EI Dakroury A, Mostafa Y, Shaker O. Effect of platelet-rich plasma on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: A split-mouth randomized trial. Angle Orthodontist. 2020;90(3):354-61.	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth alignment rate or time
Farid KA, Eid AA, Kaddah MA, Elsharaby FA. The effect of combined corticotomy and low level laser therapy on the rate of orthodontic tooth movement: Split mouth randomized clinical trial. Laser Therapy. 2010;29(4):275,92	Excluded; no lower anterior teeth
Gnaneswar SM, Sridhar P, Comparison of dual-dimensional and rectangular wires in terms of space closure	Excluded: no lower
and anchorage loss during retraction with minimplants: A prospective clinical study. Journal of dental research, dental clinics, dental prospects, 2020;14(1):54-60	anterior teeth
Goymen M, Gulec A. Effect of photobiomodulation therapies on the root resorbtion associated with	Excluded: no lower
orthodontic forces: a pilot study using micro computed tomography. Clinical oral investigations. 2020;24(4):1431-8.	anterior teeth alignment rate or time

Appendices	
Hasan MMAA, Sultan K, Ajaj M, Voborna I, Hamadah O. Low-level laser therapy effectiveness in reducing	Excluded; no lower
initial orthodontic archwire placement pain in premolars extraction cases: a single-blind, placebo-controlled,	anterior teeth
randomized clinical trial. Bmc Oral Health. 2020;20(1).	alignment rate or time
Lai T-T, Chiou J-Y, Lai T-C, Chen T, Wang H-Y, Li C-H, et al. Perceived pain for orthodontic patients with	Excluded; no lower
conventional brackets or self-ligating brackets over 1 month period: A single-center, randomized controlled	anterior teeth
clinical trial. Journal of the Formosan Medical Association. 2020;119(1):282-9.	alignment rate or time
Maan AS, Patil AK. Assessment of salivary interleukin-1beta (IL-1beta), prostaglandin E ₂	Excluded; no lower
(PGE ₂) levels and pain intensity in children and adults during initial orthodontic treatment.	anterior teeth
Journal of Orthodontic Science.8:16.	alignment rate or time
Mollabashi V, Farmany A, Alikhani MY, Sattari M, Soltanian AR, Kahvand P, et al. Effects of tio2-coated	Excluded; no lower
stainless steel orthodontic wires on streptococcus mutans bacteria: a clinical study. International journal of	anterior teeth
nanomedicine. 2020;15:8759-66.	alignment rate or time
Monini AdC, Gandini I G, Jr. Vianna AP, Martins RP, Jacob HB, Tooth movement rate and anchorage lost	Excluded; no lower
during canine retraction: A maxillary and mandibular comparison. Angle Orthodontist, 2019;89(4):559-65.	anterior teeth
	alignment rate or time
Pacheco AAR, Collins JR, Contreras N, Lantigua A, Pithon MM, Tanaka OM. Distalization rate of maxillary	Excluded; no lower
canines in an alveolus filled with leukocyte-platelet-rich fibrin in adults: A randomized controlled clinical split-	anterior teeth
mouth trial. American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentotacial Orthopedics. 2020;158(2):182-91.	alignment rate or time
Ramaiah PT, Thomas T, Hanumanthaiah S, Dakshina CK, Sabu JK, Subramonia S. Use of single-dose low-	Excluded; no lower
level laser therapy for pain control on initial archwire activation of orthodontic appliance: A randomized	anterior teeth
control clinical trial. World Journal of Dentistry. 2019;10(3):214-8.	alignment rate or time
Ren C, McGrath C, Gu M, Jin L, Zhang C, Sum F, et al. Low-level laser-aided orthodontic treatment of	Excluded; no lower
periodontally compromised patients: a randomised controlled trial. Lasers in medical science.	anterior teeth
2020;35(3):729-39.	alignment rate or time
Reves Pacheco AA, Collins JR, Contreras N, Lantigua A, Pithon MM, Tanaka OM. Distalization rate of	Excluded; no lower
maxiliary canines in an alveolus filled with leukocyte-platelet-rich fibrin in adults: a randomized controlled	anterior teeth
Clinical split-mouth trial. American journal of orthodontics and dentotacial orthopedics. 2020;158(2):182-91.	alignment rate or time
Sanu A, Bhosale V, Ghunawat D, Madanshetty P, Rathi G, Khan MY. An In Vivo Randomized Clinical	Excluded; no lower
Evaluation of the Surface Morphology of Nickel-Hanlum, Beta-titanium, and Copper-Nickel-Hanlum. The	anterior teeth
Shahrin AA, Ghani SHA, Norman NH. Pain experience with micro-osteoperforations during initial orthodontic	excluded, no lower
alignment: A randomized clinical trial. Journal of Oral Research. 2020;9(4):309-18.	alignment rate or time
	Excluded: no lower
Shetty M, Sangamesh B, Shetty A, Patil A. Evaluation of the efficacy of bite wafer chewing in pain reduction	anterior teeth
in fixed orthodontic appliance treatment. Gulhane Medical Journal. 2020;62:28-32.	alignment rate or time
Wang G, Li M, Han Y, Xu, X, Xu, L, Huang S, Comparison of the impacts of two kinds of brackets on external	Excluded: no lower
apical root resonation in orthodontic treatment of himaxillary protrusion patients. Chinese journal of tissue	anterior teeth
engineering research 2021:25(10):1539-44	alignment rate or time
	Excluded: no lower
Xiao L, Chen R-X, Luo N. Effect of single low level laser therapy on initial pain during fixed orthodontic	anterior teeth
treatment. Shanghai kou qiang yi xue = Shanghai journal of stomatology. 2019;28(5):549-52.	alignment rate or time
	Excluded: no lower
Yilmaz HN, Alakus E, Erdem B, Kucukkeles N. Effect of piezocision on molar intrusion in open-bite treatment	anterior teeth
using a modified MEAW technique. Journal of Orotacial Orthopedics. 2020;25:25.	alignment rate or time
Zhan OV Mann VV Mann MV Mann Liber F. Mann D. Effect of devide shear mothed on the slower of	Excluded; no lower
znao CY, Wang YY, Wang IVY, Wang J, Huo F, Wang P. Effect of double chain method on the closure of	anterior teeth
ornodonuc teeth. [Uninese]. Acta Anatomica Sinica. 2020;51(1):66-71.	alignment rate or time
Atik E, Gorucu-Coskuner H, Akarsu-Guven B, Taner T. A comparative assessment of clinical efficiency	Excluded: alignment
between premium heat-activated copper nickel-titanium and superelastic nickel-titanium archwires during	of upper anterior
initial orthodontic alignment in adolescents: a randomized clinical trial. Progress in orthodontics.	teeth
2019;20(1):46.	

RCT, randomised clinical trial.

Domain	Reference	Abdelrahman 2015	Aydın 2018	Bansal 2019	Celikoglu 2014	Charavet 2019	Cobb 1998	de Araujo Gurgel 2020	El Shehawy a 2020	Fleming 2009	Gibreal 2019	Huang 2010	Irvine 2004
1.	1.1	NI	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NI	Y
Randomization	1.2	NI	NI	Y	NI	Y	NI	Y	PY	PY	Y	NI	NI
process	1.3	Ν	PN	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	PN	PN	N	Ν	NI	Ν
	Assessor's	Some concerns	Some	Low	Some	Low	Some	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some	Some
	Judgement		concern s		concerns		concerns					concerns	concerns
2. Deviations	2.1	N	N	Y	Y	NI	NI	N	NI	NI	Y	NI	NI
from intended	2.2	N	Y	Y	NI	NI	NI	Y	NI	NI	Y	NI	NI
interventions	2.3	NA	N	N	N	N	PN	N	PN	N	N	PN	PN
	2.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	2.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	2.6	PY	PY	Y	PY	Y	PY	PY	PY	Y	Y	PY	Y
	2.7	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
3. Mising	3.1	Y	PY	Y	PY	Y	PY	PY	PN	Y	Y	Υ	PY
outcome data	3.2	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA	NA	NA	NA
	3.3	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA	NA	NA	NA
	3.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
4. Measurement	4.1	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	N	N
of the outcome	4.2	N	N	N	N	N	N	N	Ν	N	N	PN	N
	4.3	N	NI	N	N	NI	NI	N	Ν	NI	N	NI	NI
	4.4	NA	PN	NA	NA	N	N	NA	NA	N	NA	PN	N
	4.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
5. Selection of	5.1	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Υ	Y	Υ	Y	Y	PY	Υ
the reported	5.2	N	N	N	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν	PN	Ν
result	5.3	N	N	N	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν	PN	Ν
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Overall	Assessor's Judgement	Some concerns	Some concern s	Low	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns
	General Note	-	-	-	-	Incomplete reporting of alignment duration (no means & SDs)	Incomplete reporting of alignment duration and rate (no means & SDs)	-	-	-	-	Incomplete reporting for alignment duration (no SDs)	-

Appendix Table 2.2 Detailed assessment of included randomized trials with the Risk-of-Bias 2.0 tool.

Y=yes; PY=probably yes; PN=probably no; N=no; NA=not applicable; NI=no information

Domain	Reference	Little 2017	Jahanbin 2019	Miles 2005	Miles 2006	Miles 2012	Mahmoudzadeh 2018	Mandall 2006	Nabbat 2020	Nahas 2017	Nordstrom 2018	Ong 2011	Pandis 2007
	1.1	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	Y	Y	Y	Y	PY	Y	Y	NI
1.	1.2	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	NI	Y	Y	Y	PY	NI	Y	NI
Randomization	1.3	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
process	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	High	High	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns
	2.1	Y	NI	NI	NI	NI	N	NI	Y	NI	N	Ν	NI
2. Deviations	2.2	Y	NI	NI	NI	Ν	Y	Y	Y	NI	N	Y	NI
	2.3	Ν	PN	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	NA	Ν	Ν
	2.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
from intended	2.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
interventions	2.6	Y	Y	Y	Y	PY	Y	Y	PN	Y	NI	Y	Y
	2.7	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	Ν	NA	NI	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Low	High	Low	Low
	3.1	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	PY	PY	NI	Y	Y
0. 141 - 1	3.2	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA	NA
3. MISING	3.3	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA
outcome data	3.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA
	Assessor's judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	Low
	4.1	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
	4.2	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
4 Moosurement	4.3	Ν	NI	NI	NI	Ν	Ν	Y	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	NI
4. Measurement	4.4	NA	Ν	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA	NA	NA	NA	Ν
of the outcome	4.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
	5.1	Y	PY	PY	PY	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
5. Selection of	5.2	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N	Ν	PN	Ν	Ν	Ν
the reported	5.3	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
result	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Overall	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	High	High	Some concerns	Low	Low	Some concerns	Low	High	Low	Some concerns
	General Note	-	-	Incomplete reporting for alignment rate (noSDs)	Incomplete reporting for alignment rate (no SDs)	-	-	-	-	-	Incomplete reporting for alignment rate (no means and SDs)	-	-

Appendix Table 2.2 (continued) Detailed assessment of included randomized trials with the Risk-of-Bias 2.0 tool.

Y=yes; PY=probably yes; PN=probably no; N=no; NA=not applicable; NI=no information

Domain	Reference	Pandis 2009	Sandhu 2012	Scott 2008	Sebastian 2012	Sebastian 2019	Serafim 2015	Sirri 2020	Songra 2014	Ulhaq 2017	Uribe 2017	Woodhouse 2015
	1.1	Y	NI	Y	Y	Y	PY	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
1. Randomization process	1.2	Y	NI	NI	Y	Y	PY	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y
	1.3	N	Ν	N	Ν	N	PN	N	PN	N	Ν	N
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
2. Deviations from intended interventions	2.1	Ν	NI	NI	Ν	Ν	NI	Y	Y	Y	NI	NI
	2.2	N	NI	NI	PN	Υ	NI	N	Y	Y	NI	NI
	2.3	NA	Ν	Ν	NA	Ν	PN	N	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
	2.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	2.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	2.6	Υ	Y	Y	Υ	Υ	PN	Y	Y	Υ	PN	Υ
	2.7	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	Low	Low	High	Low
	3.1	Υ	Υ	Y	Υ	Υ	PN	Y	Y	Υ	PN	Υ
	3.2	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA
3. Mising	3.3	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA	NA	PY	NA
outcome data	3.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA
	Assessor's judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Low
	4.1	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	PN	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν	Ν
	4.2	Ν	N	N	N	PN	PN	N	N	N	Ν	N
4. Magguramant	4.3	PN	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	N	Ν	N	Ν	Ν
of the outcome	4.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
or the outcome	4.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
E Coloction of	5.1	Υ	Y	Y	Υ	PY	PY	Y	Y	Υ	Y	Υ
5. Selection of	5.2	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	PN	N	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
result	5.3	Ν	N	Ν	Ν	Ν	PN	N	Ν	N	Ν	Ν
result	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low		Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Overall	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	Low	Low	High	Low
	General Note	Incomplete reporting for alignment duration (no SDs)	-	-	-	-	Incomplete reporting for alignment duration (no means & SDs)	-	-	-	-	

Appendix Table 2.2 (continued) Detailed assessment of included randomized trials with the Risk-of-Bias 2.0 tool.

Y=yes; PY=probably yes; PN=probably no; N=no; NA=not applicable; NI=no information

Chapter 3

Appendix 3.1. Search strategies applied for each database

MEDLINE (Ovid) Search Strategy (searched from 1946 to 09/07/2021)

- 1 orthodon\$.mp.
- 2 orthodontic.ti,ab.
- 3 orthodontic wire\$.mp..
- 4 orthodontic tooth movement.mp. or exp Tooth Movement Techniques/
- 5 tooth displacement.mp.
- 6 "orthodontic wire\$".mp.
- 7 orthodontic treatment.mp..
- 8 orthodontic Therapy.mp.
- 9 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8
- 10 retract\$.mp.
- 11 canine retraction.mp.
- 12 space closure.mp.
- $13 \ \ 10 \ or \ 11 \ or \ 12$
- 14 9 and 13

This subject search was linked to the Cochrane Highly Sensitive Search Strategy (CHSSS) for identifying randomized trials in MEDLINE: sensitivity maximising version (2008 revision) as referenced in Chapter 6.4.11.1 and detailed in box 6.4.c of The Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions, Version 5.1.0 [updated March 2011](Higgins 2011).

- 1. randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 2. controlled clinical trial.pt.
- 3. randomized.ab.
- 4. placebo.ab.
- 5. drug therapy.fs.
- 6. randomly.ab.
- 7. trial.ab.
- 8. groups.ab.
- 9. or/1-8
- 10. exp animals/ not humans.sh.
- 11. 9 not 10

Embase (Ovid) search strategy (searched from 1947 to 09/07/2021)

- 1 orthodontic.ti,ab.
- 2 orthodon*.mp.
- 3 orthodontic wire\$.mp.
- 4 orthodontic tooth movement.mp. or exp orthodontic tooth movement/
- 5 tooth movement.mp.
- 6 tooth displacement.mp.
- 7 orthodontic treatment.mp.
- 8 orthodontic Therapy.mp.
- 9 1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5 or 6 or 7 or 8
- 10 retract\$.mp.
- 11 canine retraction\$.mp.
- 12 space closure.mp.
- 13 10 or 11 or 12
- 14 9 and 13

This subject search was linked to an adapted version of the Cochrane Centralised Search Project filter for identifying RCTs in Embase Ovid

- 1. Randomized controlled trial/
- 2. Controlled clinical study/
- 3. Random\$.ti,ab.
- 4. randomization/
- 5. intermethod comparison/
- 6. placebo.ti,ab.
- 7. (compare or compared or comparison).ti.

8. ((evaluated or evaluate or evaluating or assessed or assess) and (compare or compared or

comparing or comparison)).ab.

- 9. (open adj label).ti,ab.
- 10. ((double or single or doubly or singly) adj (blind or blinded or blindly)).ti,ab.
- 11. double blind procedure/
- 12. parallel group\$1.ti,ab.
- 13. (crossover or cross over).ti,ab.

14. ((assign\$ or match or matched or allocation) adj5 (alternate or group\$1 or intervention\$1 or patient\$1 or subject\$1 or participant\$1)).ti,ab.

- 15. (assigned or allocated).ti,ab.
- 16. (controlled adj7 (study or design or trial)).ti,ab.
- 17. (volunteer or volunteers).ti,ab.

18. trial.ti.

19. or/1-18

20. (exp animal/ or animal.hw. or nonhuman/) not (exp human/ or human cell/ or (human or

humans).ti.)

21. 19 not 20

Cochrane database of systematic reviews (CDSR) search strategy (searched on 09/07/2021) via Cochrane Library

- 1 orthodon*
- 2 [Orthodontic Space Closure] MeSH
- 3 retraction
- 4 canine retraction
- 5 retract*
- 6 2 OR 3 OR 4 OR 5
- 7 1 AND 6

Cochrane Central Register of controlled trials (CENTRAL) search strategy (searched on 09/07/2021) via Cochrane Library

- 1 orthodon*
- 2 [Orthodontic Space Closure] MeSH
- 3 retraction
- 4 canine retraction
- 5 retract*
- 6 2 OR 3 OR 4 OR 5
- 7 1 AND 6

Scopus search strategy (searched from 1960- 09/07/2021)

orthodont* AND random* AND (retract* OR "canine retraction*" OR "space closure*")

Web of Science search strategy (searched from 1900- 09/07/2021)

orthodont* AND random* AND (retract* OR "canine retraction*" OR "space closure*")

LILACS search strategy (searched on 09/07/2021)

http://pesquisa.bvsalud.org/portal/?lang=en

orthodont* AND random* AND (retract* OR "canine retraction*" OR "space closure*")

The Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE)

https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/CRDWeb

Appendix Table 3.1. List of excluded studies by full text with reasons.

Paper	Status
Excluded by full text with reasons	
Abohabib, A. M., et al. (2018). "Effects of low-intensity laser therapy on the stability of orthodontic mini-implants: a	Excluded; no canine retraction
randomised controlled clinical trial." Journal of Orthodontics 45(3): 149-156.	duration or rate
Abu-Shahba, R. and A. Alassiry (2019). "Comparative evaluation of the maxillary canine retraction rate and	Excluded; CBCT measurements
anchorage loss between two types of self-ligating brackets using sliding mechanics." Journal of orthodontic science	
8 : 3.	
Addanki, P., et al. (2017). "Clinical and Radiographic Comparative Evaluation of Buccal and Palatal Corticotomy with	Excluded; unclear inclusion
Buccal Corticotomy in Periodontally Accelerated Osteogenic Orthodontics with Surgical Bur." <u>Contemporary Clinical</u>	criteria (enmasse retraction)
	Evoludod: the colit mouth decign
An-raballi, N. R., et al. (2017). CLINICAL EFFICACT OF LOCALLY INJECTED CALCHRIDE IN ORTHODON TO	was not randomized
Al-Ainawi, K. L. et al. (2016) "The Effect of Lising a Modified Dentoalveolar Distractor on Capine Angulation following	Excluded: segmented arch
Rapid Controlled Tradition A Split-mouth Design Randomized Controlled Trial." J Contemp Dent Pract 17(1): 49-57.	mechanics
Alfawal, A. M. H., et al. (2020). "Evaluation of patient-centered outcomes associated with the acceleration of canine	Excluded: no canine retraction
retraction by using minimally invasive surgical procedures: a randomized clinical controlled trial." Dental and Medical	duration or rate
Problems 57(3): 285-293.	
Alhadlaq, A., et al. (2016). "Anchorage condition during canine retraction using transpalatal arch with continuous and	Excluded; segmented arch
segmented arch mechanics." Angle Orthodontist 86(3): 380-385.	mechanics
Al-Sibaie, S. and M. Y. Hajeer (2014). "Assessment of changes following en-masse retraction with mini-implants	Excluded; en-masse retraction
anchorage compared to two-step retraction with conventional anchorage in patients with class II division 1	
malocclusion: a randomized controlled trial." <u>European Journal of Orthodontics</u> 36 (3): 275-283.	
Arantes, G. M., et al. (2009). "Tenoxicam controls pain without altering orthodontic movement of maxillary canines."	Excluded; cross-over trial
Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research 12(1): 14-19.	Frederikasi an ana ana atao dia a
Attri, S., et al. (2018). "Comparison of rate of tooth movement and pain perception during accelerated tooth	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Invertient associated with conventional fixed appliances with micro-osteopenorations–a randomised controlled that.	
Doubled of Orthodomics 43(4), 223-233.	Excluded: non randomized
Badonen, H. A. (2020). The Lifet of Fatial controlloring on the Kate of Maximary Canne Retraction. Clinical and Radiosciphic Reveals with reliand (25(20))	clinical trial
Ratiographic Study: Moleculas (base), Switzehand 25(50). Barsoum H A et al. (2021) "Comprehensive comparison of canine retraction using NiTi closed coil springs vs	Excluded: segmented arch
elastomeric chains: A solit-mouth randomized controlled trial. ¹ Angle Orthodontist 91(4): 441-448.	mechanics
Bidwai, P. and R. H. Kamble (2020). "Comparative evaluation of rate of canine retraction in corticotomy facilitated	Excluded: no canine retraction
orthodontics and piezocision technique in adult population - protocol for a in vivo study." European Journal of	duration or rate (protocol)
Molecular and Clinical Medicine 7(2): 2144-2150	N ,
Boester, C. H. and L. E. Johnston (1974). "A clinical investigation of the concepts of differential and optimal force in	Excluded; segmented arch
canine retraction." Angle Orthodontist 44(2): 113-119.	mechanics
Bokas, J. and M. Woods (2006). "A clinical comparison between nickel titanium springs and elastomeric chains."	Excluded; non-randomized
Australian orthodontic journal 22(1): 39-46.	clinical trial
Borsos, G., et al. (2011). "Comparison of bone-borne and tooth tissue-borne anchorage during the maxillary canine	Excluded; Cephalometric
retraction in growing patients: a randomised clinical trial." <u>Imisoara medical journal</u> 61(1-2): 98-101.	measurements
Borsos, G., et al. (2012). "Tooth movement using palatal implant supported anchorage compared to conventional details of each stage."	Excluded; Cephalometric
derital ancholage. A fratomischer Anzeiger (Annals of analonny 134(6), 336-360.	Evoludod: pop rondomized
Durbody, S. J. (2010). Caline reliaction rate with sen-ligating blackets vs conventional edgewise blackets. Alige	clinical trial
Cating a system on caning retraction "Effects of the zygoma anchorage system on caning retraction "European Journal of	Excluded: segmented arch
Orthodontics 32(5): 505-513	mechanics
Chen, H., et al. (2020). "PASS versus MBTTM for evaluation of anchorage control in three-dimensional	Excluded: no canine retraction
measurements: a randomized controlled trial." European Journal of Orthodontics.	duration or rate
Chopra, S. S., et al. (2017). "Comparative evaluation of anchorage reinforcement between orthodontic implants and	Excluded; Cephalometric
conventional anchorage in orthodontic management of bimaxillary dentoalveolar protrusion." Medical journal, Armed	measurements
Forces India 73(2): 159-166.	
Chung, S. E., et al. (2015). "The effect of light emitting diode phototherapy on rate of orthodontic tooth movement: a	Excluded; extraction of 5s
split mouth, controlled clinical trial." J Orthod 42(4): 274-283.	
da C Monini, A., et al. (2019). "Tooth movement rate and anchorage lost during canine retraction: A maxillary and	Excluded; Cephalometric
mandibular comparison." The Angle orthodontist 89(4): 559-565.	measurements
Da Costa Monini, A., et al. (2014). "Canine retraction and anchorage loss: Seir-ligating versus conventional brackets	Excluded; Cephalometric
a Costa Maximi A, et al. (2017). A comparison of lower control retraction and loss of anchorage between	Excluded: Conhalometric
the Costa Molinini, A., et al. (2017). A comparison of lower canine reflaction and loss of alteriolage between	measurements
Investigations 21(4): 1047-1053	measurements
Darendeliler, M. A. et al. (1997) "The drum spring (DS) retractor: constant and continuous force for canine	Excluded: segmented arch
retraction." European Journal of Orthodontics 19 (2): 115-130.	mechanics
Daskalogiannakis, J. and K. R. McLachlan (1996). "Canine retraction with rare earth magnets: an investigation into	Excluded; segmented arch
the validity of the constant force hypothesis." <u>American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics</u> 109(5).	mechanics
Davis, S., et al. (2019). "Comparative evaluation of the efficiency of canine retraction using modified Marcotte and T-	Excluded; segmented arch
loop retraction springs - A split-mouth, randomized clinical trial." J Orthod Sci 8: 9.	mechanics
De Almeida, M. R., et al. (2013). "A comparative anchorage control study between conventional and self-ligating	Excluded; Cephalometric
bracket systems using differential moments." Angle Orthodontist 83(6): 937-942.	measurements
Deepak, C. (2019). "Corticotomy assisted fixed orthodontic treatment vs non corticotomy assisted fixed orthodontic	Excluded; no canine retraction
treatment: a randomised clinical trial study." Indian journal of public health research and development 10(11): 2873-	auration or rate
2013.	1

Deforest, W. N., et al. (2014). "Human tooth movement by continuous high and low stresses." <u>Angle Orthodontist</u> 84(1): 102-108.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Dholakia, K. D. and S. R. Bhat (2012). "Clinical efficiency of nonconventional elastomeric ligatures in the canine	Excluded; non-randomized
retraction phase of preadjusted edgewise appliance therapy: an in-vivo study." American journal of orthodontics and	clinical trial
and the American Board of Orthodontics 141(6): 715-722	
DiBlase, A. T., et al. (2018). "Effects of supplemental vibrational force on space closure, treatment duration, and	Excluded; en-masse retraction
orthopedics : official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the	
American Board of Orthodontics 153(4): 469-480.	
Dincer, M. and H. N. Iscan (1994). "The effects of different sectional arches in canine retraction." <u>European Journal</u> of Orthodontics 16 (4): 317-323.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Dixon, V., et al. (2002). "A randomized clinical trial to compare three methods of orthodontic space closure." <u>Journal</u> of Orthodontics 29 (1): 31-36	Excluded; en-masse retraction
El-Bialy, T., et al. (2020). "Effect of Low Intensity Pulsed Ultrasound (LIPUS) on Tooth Movement and Root	Excluded; segmented arch
Erdur, E. A., et al. (2021). "Effect of injectable platelet-rich fibrin (i-PRF) on the rate of tooth movement: A	Excluded; en-masse retraction
randomized clinical trial." Angle Orthodontist 91(3): 285-292.	
Eroglu, T., et al. (2010). "Success of zygomatic plate-screw anchorage system." <u>Journal of oral and maxillofacial</u> surgery : official journal of the American Association of Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons 68(3): 602-605.	Excluded; no canine retraction duration or rate
Fang, S., et al. (2017). "Comparing two methods of orthodontics space closure: a randomized clinical trial." International Journal of Clinical and Experimental Medicine 10 (10): 14667-14672.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Fattori, L., et al. (2020). "Micro-osteoperforation effectiveness on tooth movement rate and impact on oral health	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Ganzer, N., et al. (2018), "Anchorage reinforcement with miniscrews and molar blocks in adolescents: A randomized	Excluded: en-masse retraction
controlled trial." <u>American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics : official publication of the American</u> Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics 154 (6); 758-767.	
Gnaneswar, S. M. and P. Sridhar (2020). "Comparison of dual-dimensional and rectangular wires in terms of space	Excluded; en-masse retraction
closure and anchorage loss during retraction with miniimplants: A prospective clinical study." Journal of dental research, dental clinics, dental prospects 14(1): 54-60.	
Guram, G., et al. (2018). "Evaluation of Low-Level Laser Therapy on Orthodontic Tooth Movement: A Randomized Control Study." Contemp Clin Dent 9(1): 105-109.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Gurgan, C. A., et al. (2005). "Alterations in gingival dimensions following rapid canine retraction using dentoalveolar distraction osteogenesis." European Journal of Orthodoptics 27 (4): 324-332	Excluded; segmented arch
Haster, R., et al. (1997). "A clinical comparison of the rate of maxillary canine retraction into healed and recent	Excluded; segmented arch
Havashi K et al. (2004) "Comparison of maxillary canine retraction with sliding mechanics and a retraction spring"	Excluded: segmented arch
a three-dimensional analysis based on a midpalatal orthodontic implant." European Journal of Orthodontics 26(6): 585-589.	mechanics
Huffman, D. J. and D. C. Way (1983). "A clinical evaluation of tooth movement along arch wires of two different sizes." American journal of orthodontics 83(6): 453-459.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Fa, A., et al. (2020). "Photobiomodulation Therapy on Orthodontic Movement: analysis of Preliminary Studies with a	Excluded; both upper and lower
New Protocol." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 17(10).	canine retraction rate together
clinical outcomes between two different force magnitudes." European Journal of Orthodontics 36(1): 39-46.	clinical trial
Ireland, A. J., et al. (2016). "Effect of gender and Frankfort mandibular plane angle on orthodontic space closure: a randomized controlled trial." Orthodontics & Craniofacial Research 19 (2): 74-82.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Iseri, H., et al. (2005). "Rapid canine retraction and orthodontic treatment with dentoalveolar distraction	Excluded; segmented arch
Isola, G., et al. (2019). "Effectiveness of Low-Level Laser Therapy during Tooth Movement: A Randomized Clinical	Excluded; segmented arch
Trial." <u>Materials (Basel, Switzerland)</u> 12 (13).	mechanics
Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 117(2): 175-183.	mechanics
Jahanbakhshi, M. R., et al. (2016). "The effect of buccal corticotomy on accelerating orthodontic tooth movement of maxillary canine." Dent Res J (Isfahan) 13 (4): 303-308.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Jayachandran, B., et al. (2016). "Comparative evaluation of efficacy of self-ligating interactive bracket with conventional preadjusted bracket: A clinical study," Contemp Clin Dept 7(2): 158-162	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Joshi, H. N., et al. (2021). "Evaluation of Angular Changes of Canine in En Masse Retraction of Maxillary Anterior	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Teeth Using Power Arm and Titanium Mini-Implant - A Split Mouth Randomised Control Study." Journal of Evolution of Medical and Dental Sciences-Jemds 10(8): 522-526.	
Joshi, H. N., et al. (2021). "Comparison of anchor loss and rate of retraction between modified conventional	Excluded; en-masse retraction
anchorage with a power arm and titanium mini-implant in En-masse retraction-A randomized control split mouth study." International Journal of Pharmaceutical Research 13(2): 4140-4151.	
Kalha, A. S., et al. (2010). "Redefining orthodontic space closure: sequential repetitive loading of the periodontal ligamenta clinical study." World journal of orthodontics 11 (3): 221-229	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Kalra, A., et al. (2013). "Comparison of rate of canine retraction into recent extraction site with and without gingival	Excluded; segmented arch
neerotony. A clinical study. Journal of Contemporary Dental Practice 14(3): 419-426.	machanica
Karakasli, K. and E. A. Erdur (2021). "The effect of platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) on maxiliary incisor retraction rate."	mechanics Excluded; en-masse retraction
Karakasii, K. and E. A. Erdur (2021). "The effect of platelet-rich fibrin (PRF) on maxiliary incisor retraction rate." Angle Orthodontist 91(2): 213-219. Kecik D. (2016). "Comparison of temporary anchorage devices and transpalatal arch-mediated anchorage.	Excluded; en-masse retraction

Keng FY, Quick AN, Swain MV, Herbison P. A comparison of space closure rates between preactivated nickel- titanium and titanium-molybdenum alloy T-loops: a randomized controlled clinical trial. European journal of orthodontics. 2012;34(1):33-8.	Excluded; Extraction of either first or second premolars
Khanemasjedi, M., et al. (2017). "Efficacy of elastic memory chains versus nickel-titanium coil springs in canine retraction: a two-center split-mouth randomized clinical trial." International Orthodontics 15(4): 561-574.	Excluded; both upper and lower canine retraction rate together
Shreya Kishore, Saravana Dinesh SP, Srirengalakshmi, & Arvind Sivakumar. (2019). Comparing the rate of retraction in canines in males and females. International Journal of Research in Pharmaceutical Sciences, 10(2), 1332-1339.	Excluded; non-randomized clinical trial
Krishnan, P., et al. (2013). "An adjunctive minor surgical procedure for increased rate of retraction." <u>Journal of</u> <u>Pharmacy and Bioallied Sciences</u> 5(SUPPL.1): S39-S42.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Kula, K., et al. (1998). "Effect of ion implantation of TMA archwires on the rate of orthodontic sliding space closure." American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 114 (5): 577-580.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Hatrom, A. A., et al. (2020). "Effect of piezocision corticotomy on en-masse retraction." Angle Orthodontist 90(5): 648-654.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Hatrom, A. A., et al. (2021). "Pulp volume changes after piezocision-assisted tooth movement: a randomized clinical trial." BMC Oral Health 21(1): 28.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Hayashi, K., et al. (2004). "Comparison of maxillary canine retraction with sliding mechanics and a retraction spring: a three-dimensional analysis based on a midpalatal orthodontic implant." <u>European Journal of Orthodontics</u> 26 (6): 585-589.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Kishore, S., et al. (2019). "Comparing the rate of retraction in canines in males and females." International journal of research in pharmaceutical sciences 10(2): 1332-1339.	Excluded; non-randomized clinical trial
Lalnunpuii, H., et al. (2020). "Comparison of rate of orthodontic tooth movement in adolescent patients undergoing treatment by first bicuspid extraction and en-mass retraction, associated with low level laser therapy in passive self- ligating and conventional brackets: A randomized controlled trial." Int Orthod 18(3): 412-423.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Leethanakul, C., et al. (2014). "Interseptal bone reduction on the rate of maxillary canine retraction." Angle Orthodontist 84(5): 839-845.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Li, S. N., et al. (2019). "Comparison of movement rate with different initial moment-to-force ratios." <u>American Journal</u> of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 156 (2): 203-209.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Lotzof, L. P., et al. (1996). "Canine retraction: a comparison of two preadjusted bracket systems." American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 110(2): 191-196.	Excluded; both upper and lower canine retraction rate together
Lucchese, A., et al. (2012). "Orthodontic tooth movement and distraction osteogenesis." <u>European Journal of</u> <u>Inflammation</u> 10 (1 Supplement 3): 49-54.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Luppanapornlarp, S., et al. (2010). "Interleukin-1beta levels, pain intensity, and tooth movement using two different magnitudes of continuous orthodontic force." European Journal of Orthodontics 32 (5): 596-601.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Makhlouf, M., et al. (2018). "Evaluating the amount of tooth movement and root resorption during canine retraction with friction versus frictionless mechanics using cone beam computed tomography." Open Access Macedonian Journal of Medical Sciences 6(2): 384-388.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Malhotra, A., et al. (2021). "A clinical comparative study using anchorage from mini-implants and conventional anchorage methods to retract anterior teeth." Journal of Family Medicine & Primary Care 10(1): 468-474.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Mani, P. T., et al. (2020). "Comparison of the rate of orthodontic space closure, with and without probiotic supplements: a randomised control trial." International journal of research in pharmaceutical sciences 11(Special ue 4): 1042-1050.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Miles, P., et al. (2018). "Assessment of the rate of premolar extraction space closure in the maxillary arch with the AcceleDent Aura appliance vs no appliance in adolescents: a single-blind randomized clinical trial." <u>American Journal</u> of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 153 (1): 8-14.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Miles, P. and N. Pandis (2020). "AcceleDent Aura does not influence treatment duration or number of visits." Australasian Orthodontic Journal 36(1): 2-8.	Excluded; no canine retraction duration or rate
Mittal, R., et al. (2020). "Comparison of orthodontic space closure using micro-osteoperforation and passive self- ligating appliances or conventional fixed appliances: A randomized controlled trial." <u>The Angle orthodontist</u> .	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Monini, A. d. C. (2012). "Estudo clínico do tempo de fechamento de espaço e do movimento dentário durante a retratação de caninos entre dois tipos de braquetes." 78-78.	Excluded; Cephalometric measurements
Moqadam, A. S., et al. (2016). "Effect of alveolar ridge preservation with PDFDBA on orthodontic tooth movement rate, formation of gingival invagination and root resorption: A randomized, controlled pilot study." Biomedical and Pharmacology Journal 9(3): 1229-1235.	Excluded; extraction of mandibular first premolars
Mowafy, M. I. and A. R. Zaher (2012). "Anchorage loss during canine retraction using intermittent versus continuous force distractions; a split mouth randomized clinical trial." <u>Progress in Orthodontics</u> 13 (2): 117-125.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Nakamura, Y., et al. (2015). "Velocity of Canine Retraction in Angle Class I Treated with First Premolar Extraction: Effect of Facial Pattern." The Bulletin of Tokyo Dental College 56 (3): 145-151.	Excluded; Cephalometric measurements
Norman, N. H., et al. (2016). "Nickel titanium springs versus stainless steel springs: a randomized clinical trial of two methods of space closure." Journal of Orthodontics 43 (3): 176-185.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Ozkan, S. and M. Bayram (2016). "Comparison of direct and indirect skeletal anchorage systems combined with 2 canine retraction techniques." <u>American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics</u> 150 (5): 763-770.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Pavlin, D., et al. (2015). "Cyclic loading (vibration) accelerates tooth movement in orthodontic patients: A double- blind, randomized controlled trial." Seminars in Orthodontics 21(3): 187-194.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Patel, P., et al. (2016). "Comparative evaluation of pentraxin 3 levels in GCF during canine retraction with active tieback and NiTi coil spring: An in vivo study." Journal of orthodontic science 5 (2): 52-56.	Excluded; no canine retraction duration or rate
Pereira, S. C. d. C., et al. (2020). "Low Intensity Laser Influence on Orthodontic Movement: A Randomized Clinical and Radiographic Trial." Journal of Indian Orthodontic Society 54 (2): 127-134.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Prasad, A. S., et al. (2020). "Comparison of mesial molar migration associated with different depths of micro- osteoperforation assisted canine retraction." European Journal of Molecular and Clinical Medicine 7(2): 242-250.	Excluded; no canine retraction duration or rate
Qamruddin, I., et al. (2020). "Pain perception and rate of canine retraction through self-ligating brackets and conventional elastomeric ligation system: A split mouth study." Pesquisa Brasileira em Odontopediatria e Clinica Integrada 20: e5147.	Excluded; both upper and lower canine retraction rate together

Raj, S. C., et al. (2020). "Retraction With and Without Piezocision-Facilitated Orthodontics: a Randomized Controlled Trial." International Journal of Periodontics & Restorative Dentistry 40(1): e19-e26.	Excluded; CBCT measurements
Rajasekaran, U. B. and U. S. Krishna Nayak (2014). "Effect of prostaglandin E1 versus corticotomy on orthodontic tooth movement: an in vivo study." Indian journal of dental research : official publication of Indian Society for Dental Research 25(6): 717-721.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics and not randomised clinical trial
Sabrina, et al. (2016). "The comparison of space closure rate between conventional and passive self-ligating system using elastomeric chain in maxilla." Journal of International Dental and Medical Research 9(Specialissue): 356-361.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Samuels, R. H., et al. (1993). "A comparison of the rate of space closure using a nickel-titanium spring and an elastic module: a clinical study." <u>American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics</u> 103 (5): 464-467.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Sandler, J., et al. (2014). "Effectiveness of 3 methods of anchorage reinforcement for maximum anchorage in adolescents: A 3-arm multicenter randomized clinical trial." <u>American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial</u> Orthopedics 146 (1): 10-20.	Excluded; no canine retraction duration or rate
Sandoval, P.; Bizcar, B.; Navarro, P. & Knösel, M. Efficacy of diode lasertherapy in acceleration of orthodontic space closure: a split-mouthrandomized clinical trial. Int. J. Dent. Oral Health, 3(2), 2017	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Sar, S. K., et al. (2019). "Leptin levels in gingival crevicular fluid during canine retraction: in vivo comparative study." Journal of Orthodontics 46(1): 27-33.	Excluded; non-randomized clinical trial
Shaik, J. A. and G. Guram (2018). "A Comparative Evaluation of Canine Retraction Using Ceramic Bracket and Ceramic Bracket with Metal Slot with Conventional Preadjusted Edgewise Appliance Bracket Systems: A Clinical Study." Journal of International Society of Preventive & Community Dentistry 8(4): 296-303.	Excluded; non-randomized clinical trial
Sharma, M., et al. (2012). "Mini-screw implant or transpalatal arch-mediated anchorage reinforcement during canine retraction: a randomized clinical trial." <u>Journal of Orthodontics</u> 39 (2): 102-110.	Excluded; no canine retraction duration or rate
Showkatbakhsh, R., et al. (2010). "The effect of pulsed electromagnetic fields on the acceleration of tooth movement." World journal of orthodontics 11(4): e52-56.	Excluded; non-randomized clinical trial
Shpack N, Davidovitch M, Sarne O, Panayi N, Vardimon AD. Duration and anchorage management of canine retraction with bodily versus tipping mechanics. Angle Orthodontist. 2008;78(1):95-100.	Excluded; non-randomized clinical trial
Simre, S. S. and K. Rajanikanth (2020). "Evaluation of conventional corticotomy with novel piezosurgery in orthodontic treatment - study protocol for a comparative study." European Journal of Molecular and Clinical Medicine 7(2): 2128-2131.	Excluded; protocol
Sivarajan S, Doss JG, Papageorgiou SN, Cobourne MT, Wey MC. Mini-implant supported canine retraction with micro-osteoperforation: a split-mouth randomized clinical trial. Angle orthodontist. 2019;89(2):183-9.	Excluded; both upper and lower canine retraction rate together
Sobouti, F., et al. (2015). "Effect of single-dose low-level helium-neon laser irradiation on orthodontic pain: a split- mouth single-blind placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial." <u>Progress in Orthodontics</u> 16 : 32.	Excluded; no canine retraction duration or rate
Songra, G., et al. (2014). "Comparative assessment of alignment efficiency and space closure of active and passive self-ligating vs conventional appliances in adolescents: a single-center randomized controlled trial." <u>American Journal</u> of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics 145 (5): 569-578.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Sonis AL, Van der Plas E, Gianelly A. A comparison of elastomeric auxiliaries versus elastic thread on premolar extraction site closure: an in vivo study. American journal of orthodontics. 1986;89(1).	Excluded; both upper and lower canine retraction rate together
Sousa, M. V., et al. (2011). "Influence of low-level laser on the speed of orthodontic movement." <u>Photomedicine and laser surgery</u> 29(3): 191-196.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Storniolo-Souza, J., et al. (2020). "INFLUENCE OF LOW-LEVEL LASER IRRADIATION ON ORTHODONTIC MOVEMENT AND PAIN LEVEL - A RANDOMIZED CLINICAL TRIAL." Orthodontic Waves 79(2-3): 105-112.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Talwar A, Bhat S, editors. Comparative evaluation of Nickel-Titanium closed coil spring and Elastomeric chain for canine retraction . A Randomized Clinical Trial2018.	Excluded; mandibular canine retraction rate
Sueri, M. Y. and T. Turk (2006). "Effectiveness of laceback ligatures on maxillary canine retraction." Angle Orthodontist 76(6): 1010-1014.	Excluded; Cephalometric measurements
Teh, N. H. K., et al. (2020). "Distribution of mandibular trabeculae bone volume fraction in relation to different MOP intervals for accelerating orthodontic tooth movement." Angle Orthodontist 90(6): 774-782.	Excluded; mandibular canine retraction rate
Thiruvenkatachari, B., et al. (2008). "Comparison of rate of canine retraction with conventional molar anchorage and titanium implant anchorage." <u>American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics</u> 134 (1): 30-35.	Excluded; Cephalometric measurements
Thiruvenkatachari, B., et al. (2006). "Comparison and measurement of the amount of anchorage loss of the molars with and without the use of implant anchorage during canine retraction." <u>American Journal of Orthodontics and Dentofacial Orthopedics</u> 129 (4): 551-554.	Excluded; no canine retraction duration or rate
Turker, G., et al. (2020). "Which method is more effective for accelerating canine distalization short term, low-level laser therapy or piezocision? A split-mouth study." Welche Methode ist fur die kurzfristige Beschleunigung der Eckzahndistalisierung effektiver, die Low-Level-Lasertherapie oder die Piezozision? Eine Split-mouth-Studie.	Excluded; non-randomized clinical trial
Üretürk, S. E., et al. (2017). "The effect of low-level laser therapy on tooth movement during canine distalization." Lasers Med Sci 32(4): 757-764.	Excluded; the split mouth design was not randomized
Wahab, R. M. A., et al. (2011). "Crevicular tartrate resistant acid phosphatase activity and rate of tooth movement under different continuous force applications." African Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology 5(20): 2213-2219.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Wong, H., et al. (2013). "Does the bracket-ligature combination affect the amount of orthodontic space closure over three months? A randomized controlled trial." <u>Journal of Orthodontics</u> 40 (2): 155-162.	Excluded; en-masse retraction
Youssef, M., et al. (2008). "The effect of low-level laser therapy during orthodontic movement: A preliminary study." Lasers in Medical Science 23 (1): 27-33.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics
Alikhani, M., et al. (2018). "Age-dependent biologic response to orthodontic forces." American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics: official publication of the American Association of Orthodontists, its constituent societies, and the American Board of Orthodontics 153(5): 632-644.	Excluded; non-randomized clinical trial
Ziegler P, Ingervall B. A clinical study of maxillary canine retraction with a retraction spring and with sliding mechanics. American journal of orthodontics and dentofacial orthopedics. 1989;95(2):99-106.	Excluded; segmented arch mechanics

Domain	Reference	Abbas 2016	Ahmad 2020	Abdelhameed 2018	Aboalnaga 2019	Aboul-Ela 2011	Alfawal 2018	Alikhani 2013	Alkebsi 2018	Alqadasi 2019
1.	1.1	Y	NI	Υ	Υ	Y	Υ	NI	Y	NI
I. Pandomization	1.2	NI	NI	NI	Υ	NI	Υ	NI	Υ	Y
1. Randomization process 2. Deviations from intended interventions 3. Mising outcome data 4. Measurement of the outcome	1.3	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	Ν	PN
	Assessor's Judgement	Some concerns	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Low	Low
	2.1	PY	PY	PY	NI	PY	Υ	Υ	Y	PY
	2.2	PY	PY	PY	NI	PY	Υ	Υ	Υ	PY
2 Deviations	2.3	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	Ν	PN
2. Deviations	2.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
interventions	2.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
interventions	2.6	NI	NI	PY	PY	PY	Υ	Y	Υ	PY
	2.7	NI	NI	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	High	High	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
	3.1	NI	NI	PY	PY	PY	Υ	Y	Υ	PY
2 Micing	3.2	PN	Ν	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
3. Mising	3.3	NI	NI	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
outcome data	3.4	PN	PN	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's judgement	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
	4.1	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	Ν	PN
	4.2	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	Ν	PN
4. Measurement	4.3	NI	NI	NI	Ν	NI	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν
of the outcome	4.4	PN	PN	PN	NA	PN	NA	NA	NA	NA
	4.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
E Coloction of	5.1	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	Υ	PY	Y	PY
5. Selection of	5.2	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	Ν	PN
rosult	5.3	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν	N	Ν	PN
result	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Overall	Assessor's Judgement	High	High	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Low	Low
	General Note	-	Incomplete reporting for retraction duration and rate (no SDs)	-	-	Incomplete reporting for retraction rate (no SDs)	Incomplete reporting for retraction duration (no means & SDs)	Incomplete reporting for retraction rate (no means & SDs	-	-

Supplementary Table 3.2. Detailed assessment of included randomized trials with the Risk-of-Bias 2.0 tool.

Domain	Reference	Alqadasi 2020	Al-Naoum 2014	Al-Shafi 2021	Araghbidikas hani 2017	Babanouri 2020	Cruz 2004	Deguchi 2007	Doshi-Mehta 2012
	1.1	Y	PN	Y	NI	Y	NI	PY	PY
1.	1.2	Y	Y	Y	NI	Y	NI	NI	NI
Randomization	1.3	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
process	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Some concerns
	2.1	Y	PY	Y	NI	Ν	PY	NI	PN
	2.2	Υ	PY	Y	NI	Ν	PY	NI	PY
	2.3	Ν	PN	Ν	PN	NA	PN	PN	PN
2. Deviations	2.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
from intended	2.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
interventions	2.6	PY	PY	Y	NI	PY	NI	NI	PY
	2.7	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA	PN	PN	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low
	3.1	PY	PY	Y	NI	PY	NI	NI	PY
	3.2	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA	Ν	Ν	NA
3. Mising	3.3	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NI	NI	NA
outcome data	3.4	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA	PN	PN	NA
	Assessor's judgement	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low
	4.1	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	4.2	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
4. Measurement	4.3	Ν	NI	Ν	NI	Ν	NI	NI	Ν
of the outcome	4.4	NA	PN	NA	PN	NA	PN	PN	NA
	4.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
E Coloction of	5.1	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY
5. Selection of	5.2	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
rosult	5.3	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
reaut	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Overall	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Some concerns	Low	High	Low	High	High	Some concerns
	General Note	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Supplementary Table 3.2 (continued). Detailed assessment of included randomized trials with the Risk-of-Bias 2.0 tool.

Domain	Reference	El-Timamy 2020	Farid 2019	Feizbakhsh 2018	Haliloglu- Ozkan 2018	Haliloglu- Ozkan 2021	Hassan 2016	Heravi 2014	Jaber 2021
4	1.1	Y	Y	NI	PN	Y	PY	NI	Y
1. Bandomization	1.2	Y	Y	NI	PN	PN	NI	NI	NI
kandomization process A 2 2	1.3	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN	N
process	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Some concerns	High	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Some concerns
	2.1	PY	PY	Y	Y	Ν	NI	Ν	Y
	2.2	PY	PY	Y	Y	Y	PY	Υ	Y
2 Deviations	2.3	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN	Ν
2. Deviations	2.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
interventions	2.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	2.6	PY	PY	PY	PY	Y	PY	NI	Y
	2.7	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Low
	3.1	PY	Y	PY	PY	Y	PY	NI	Y
3 Mising	3.2	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA
outcome data	3.3	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA
outoome uutu	3.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
	4.1	PN	PN	PN	PN	N	PN	PN	N
	4.2	PN	PN	PN	PN	N	PN	PN	N
4. Measurement	4.3	N	N	N	N	N	N	NI	N
of the outcome	4.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA
	4.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
5 Selection of	5.1	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY
the reported	5.2	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN
result	5.3	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	N	PN	PN
rooun	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Overall	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Some concerns	High	Low	Some concerns	High	Some concerns
	General Note	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Supplementary Table 3.2 (continued). Detailed assessment of included randomized trials with the Risk-of-Bias 2.0 tool.

Domain	Reference	Jivrajani 2020	Kansal 2014	Karci 2021	Kundi 2020	Liao 2017	Limpanichkul 2006	Mahmoudz adeh 2020	Mezomo 2011
4	1.1	PN	PY	Y	Y	NI	PY	PY	NI
1. Pandomization	1.2	PN	NI	NI	Y	NI	NI	PY	NI
nocoss	1.3	PN	PN	N	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
process	Assessor's Judgement	High	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low	Some concerns
	2.1	Ν	PN	PY	Υ	NI	Ν	Υ	NI
	2.2	PY	PN	PY	Υ	NI	Ν	Υ	NI
2 Deviations	2.3	PN	NA	Ν	PN	NI	NA	PN	PN
2. Deviations	2.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA	NA
interventions	2.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA	NA
Interventions	2.6	NI	PY	Υ	Y	NI	NI	PY	PY
	2.7	PN	NA	NA	NA	PN	PN	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	High	Some concerns	Low	Low
	3.1	PN	PY	Υ	Υ	NI	NI	PY	PY
3 Mising	3.2	PN	NA	NA	NA	Ν	Ν	NA	NA
outcome data	3.3	Ν	NA	NA	NA	NI	NI	NA	NA
outcome data	3.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	Ν	NA	NA
	Assessor's judgement	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low	Low
	4.1	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
	4.2	N	PN	N	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
4. Measurement	4.3	Ν	Ν	NI	N	NI	NI	N	NI
of the outcome	4.4	NA	NA	PN	NA	PN	PN	NA	PN
	4.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
5 Soloction of	5.1	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY
the reported	5.2	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
result	5.3	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
looun	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Overall	Assessor's Judgement	High	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low	High	High	Low	Some concerns
	General Note	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-

Supplementary Table 3.2 (continued). Detailed assessment of included randomized trials with the Risk-of-Bias 2.0 tool.

Domain	Reference	Mistry 2020	Pacheco 2020	Qamruddin 2017	Qamruddin 2021	Dakshina 2019	Sharma 2020	Siriphan 2019	Ekizer 2016
4	1.1	Y	Y	Y	Y	PY	NI	PY	Y
1. Randomization process	1.2	Y	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI	Y
Randomization	1.3	Ν	PN	N	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
process	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Some cocerns	Some concerns	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low
	2.1	Ν	Y	Y	Ν	N	Y	Y	Ν
	2.2	Ν	Y	Y	Y	N	Y	Y	NI
0. Deviations	2.3	NA	PN	PN	Ν	NA	PN	Ν	PN
2. Deviations	2.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
interventions	2.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
interventions	2.6	Υ	PY	Y	Υ	NI	NI	Υ	PY
	2.7	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	PN	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low	Low
	3.1	Y	PN	Y	Υ	NI	PN	PY	Y
2 Mining	3.2	NA	Ν	NA	NA	Ν	Ν	NA	NA
outcome data	3.3	NA	PN	NA	NA	NI	PN	NA	NA
outcome data	3.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	PN	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low
	4.1	PN	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	PN	PN	Ν
	4.2	PN	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	PN	PN	Ν
4. Measurement	4.3	Ν	NI	Ν	NI	NI	Ν	Ν	Ν
of the outcome	4.4	NA	PN	NA	PN	PN	NA	NA	NA
	4.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
E Solaction of	5.1	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY
5. Selection of	5.2	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
result	5.3	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
result	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Overall	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Some concerns	High	High	Some concerns	Low
	General Note	-	Incomplete reporting for retraction rate (no SDs)	-	-	-	-	-	-

Supplementary Table 3.2 (continued). Detailed assessment of included randomized trials with the Risk-of-Bias 2.0 tool.

Domain	Reference	Taha 2020	Telatar 2020	Thomas 2021	Varella 2018	Wahab 2013	Wahab 2015	Yassaei 2016	Zeitounlouian 2021	Zheng 2021
	1.1	PY	Y	Y	Y	PY	Y	NI	PY	Y
1.	1.2	NI	NI	Y	PY	NI	NI	NI	NI	NI
Randomization	1.3	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
process	Assessor's Judgement	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low	Low	Some concerns	Some concerns	Some concerns	Some concerns	Some concerns
	2.1	Y	PY	Y	PN	NI	NI	NI	PY	NI
	2.2	Y	PY	Y	PN	NI	NI	Ν	PY	NI
	2.3	PN	PN	Ν	NA	PN	NI	PN	PN	PN
2. Deviations	2.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA	NA
from intended	2.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA	NA
interventions	2.6	Y	Y	Y	Y	Y	NI	PY	Y	NI
	2.7	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NI	NA	NA	PN
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	Low	Some concerns
	3.1	Y	Y	Y	NI	Y	NI	Y	Y	NI
2 Mising	3.2	NA	NA	NA	Ν	NA	Ν	NA	NA	Ν
3. Mising	3.3	NA	NA	NA	Ν	NA	PN	NA	NA	PN
outcome data	3.4	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
	4.1	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν
	4.2	PN	PN	Ν	Ν	PN	PN	PN	PN	Ν
4. Measurement	4.3	Ν	Ν	Ν	NI	NI	NI	NI	Ν	NI
of the outcome	4.4	NA	NA	NA	PN	PN	PN	PN	NA	PN
	4.5	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
5 Selection of	5.1	PY	PY	Y	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY	PY
the reported	5.2	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
result	5.3	PN	PN	Ν	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN	PN
result	Assessor's Judgement	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Overall	Assessor's Judgement	Some concerns	Some concerns	Low	Low	Some concerns	High	Some concerns	Some concerns	High
	General Note	-	-	-	-	-	Incomplete reporting for retraction rate (no SDs)	-	-	-

Supplementary Table 3.2 (continued). Detailed assessment of included randomized trials with the Risk-of-Bias 2.0 tool.

aa	Study	Experimental	Comparison	Measurement	Time	MD (95% CI)	Ρ
1	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	0.08 (-0.18, 0.34)	0.54
2	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	Control	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	0.01 (-0.33, 0.35)	0.95
3	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	Control	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	0 (-0.13, 0.12)	0.96
4	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	-0.07 (-0.30, 0.16)	0.54
5	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	-0.01 (-0.28, 0.26)	0.93
6	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	LLLT	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	0.14 (-0.30, 0.58)	0.53
7	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	LLLT	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	0.09 (-0.47, 0.65)	0.75
8	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	LLLT	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	0.02 (-0.22, 0.26)	0.87
9	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	LLLT	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	-0.05 (-0.42, 0.32)	0.79
10	Abdelhameed 2018	MOP+LLLT	LLLT	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	-0.07 (-0.51, 0.37)	0.75
11	Deguchi 2007	ClearSnap bracket	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	0.97 (0.83, 1.10)	<0.001
12	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	Control	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_4m	0.32 (0.27, 0.37)	<0.001
13	Alfawal 2018	Laser corticotomy	Control	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_4m	0.27 (0.23, 0.31)	<0.001
14	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	LAFCG	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	0.08 (-0.14, 0.30)	0.48
15	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	LAFCG	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	0.13 (-0.05, 0.31)	0.16
16	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	LAFCG	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	0.04 (-0.13, 0.21)	0.64
17	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	LAFCG	Retraction increment (mm)	t3_4m	-0.02 (-0.10, 0.06)	0.63
18	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	LAFCG	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_4m	0.05 (-0.03, 0.13)	0.21
19	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	LAFCG	Total retraction (mm)	t0_4m	0.20 (-0.12, 0.52)	0.21
20	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	LAFCG	Total retraction duration (months)	total	0.19 (-0.27, 0.65)	0.42
21	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	LAFCG	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	0.21 (-0.17, 0.59)	0.27
22	Alfawal 2018	Piezocision	LAFCG	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	0.25 (-0.18, 0.68)	0.25
23	Deguchi 2007	ClearSnap bracket	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	1.00 (0.88, 1.12)	<0.001
24	Deguchi 2007	ClearSnap bracket	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	0.30 (0.14, 0.46)	<0.001
25	Deguchi 2007	ClearSnap bracket	Control	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	1.97 (1.73, 2.20)	<0.001
26	Deguchi 2007	ClearSnap bracket	Control	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	2.27 (1.91, 2.62)	<0.001
27	Deguchi 2007	ClearSnap bracket	Control	Total retraction duration (months)	total	-2.43 (-2.68, -2.19)	<0.001
28	Alqadasi 2020	Piezocision	MOP	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	1.02 (0.39, 1.66)	0.002
29	Alqadasi 2020	Piezocision	MOP	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	0.51 (-0.13, 1.15)	0.12
30	Alqadasi 2020	Piezocision	MOP	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	0.51 (-0.15, 1.17)	0.13
31	Alqadasi 2020	Piezocision	MOP	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	-0.51 (-1.15, 0.13)	0.12
32	Alqadasi 2020	Piezocision	MOP	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	0 (-0.66, 0.66)	1.00
33	Araghbidikashani 2017	Coil spring	Laceback	Total retraction (mm)	t0_4m	1.65 (0.04, 3.26)	0.05
34	Babanouri 2020	MOP scheme 2	MOP scheme 1	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	0.27 (0.09, 0.45)	0.004
35	Babanouri 2020	MOP scheme 2	MOP scheme 1	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	0.28 (0.15, 0.41)	<0.001
36	Babanouri 2020	MOP scheme 2	MOP scheme 1	Retraction increment (mm)	t2 3m	0.24 (0.15, 0.33)	< 0.001

Supplementary Table 3.3 Direct estimates (MD) from single trials on canine retraction rate not meta-analyzed in Table III.

37	Babanouri 2020	MOP scheme 2	MOP scheme 1	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	0.55 (0.26, 0.84)	<0.001
38	Babanouri 2020	MOP scheme 2	MOP scheme 1	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	0.79 (0.43, 1.15)	<0.001
39	Deguchi 2007	100g force	50g force	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	0.60 (0.37, 0.83)	<0.001
40	Deguchi 2007	100g force	50g force	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	0.60 (0.35, 0.85)	<0.001
41	Deguchi 2007	100g force	50g force	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	0.20 (0, 0.40)	0.05
42	Deguchi 2007	100g force	50g force	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_3m	0.50 (0.27, 0.73)	<0.001
43	Deguchi 2007	100g force	50g force	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	1.50 (0.82, 2.18)	<0.001
44	Deguchi 2007	100g force	50g force	Total retraction duration (months)	total	-0.80 (-1.40, -0.20)	0.009
45	Deguchi 2007	100g force	50g force	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	1.20 (0.83, 1.57)	<0.001
46	Deguchi 2007	150g force	50g force	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	0.60 (0.37, 0.83)	<0.001
47	Deguchi 2007	150g force	50g force	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	0.60 (0.35, 0.85)	<0.001
48	Deguchi 2007	150g force	50g force	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	0.10 (-0.13, 0.33)	0.39
49	Deguchi 2007	150g force	50g force	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_3m	0.80 (0.43, 1.17)	<0.001
50	Deguchi 2007	150g force	50g force	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	2.40 (1.29, 3.52)	<0.001
51	Deguchi 2007	150g force	50g force	Total retraction duration (months)	total	-1.30 (-1.99, -0.61)	<0.001
52	Deguchi 2007	150g force	50g force	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	1.20 (0.83, 1.57)	<0.001
53	Deguchi 2007	150g force	100g force	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	0 (-0.30, 0.30)	1.00
54	Deguchi 2007	150g force	100g force	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	-0.10 (-0.30, 0.10)	0.32
55	Deguchi 2007	150g force	100g force	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_3m	0.30 (-0.07, 0.67)	0.11
56	Deguchi 2007	150g force	100g force	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	0.90 (-0.22, 2.02)	0.11
57	Deguchi 2007	150g force	100g force	Total retraction duration (months)	total	-0.50 (-0.98, -0.02)	0.04
58	Deguchi 2007	150g force	100g force	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	0 (-0.38, 0.38)	1.00
59	Farid 2019	LLLT+ corticotomy	Corticotomy	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	-0.35 (-0.73, 0.03)	0.07
60	Farid 2019	LLLT+ corticotomy	Corticotomy	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	0.22 (-0.09, 0.53)	0.16
61	Farid 2019	LLLT+ corticotomy	Corticotomy	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	-0.18 (-0.91, 0.55)	0.63
62	Farid 2019	LLLT+ corticotomy	Corticotomy	Retraction increment (mm)	t3_4m	0.60 (-0.07, 1.27)	0.08
63	Farid 2019	LLLT+ corticotomy	Corticotomy	Total retraction (mm)	t0_4m	0.25 (-0.65, 1.15)	0.59
64	Farid 2019	LLLT+ corticotomy	Corticotomy	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	-0.13 (-0.76, 0.50)	0.69
65	Farid 2019	LLLT+ corticotomy	Corticotomy	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	-0.31 (-1.44, 0.82)	0.59
66	Hassan 2016	SLB	CLB	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_3m	0.31 (0.24, 0.38)	<0.001
67	Jivrajani 2020	LLLT	Control	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_3m	0.42 (0.18, 0.67)	0.001
68	Siriphan 2019	Vibration	Control	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_3m	0.02 (-0.13, 0.16)	0.84
69	Siriphan 2019	Vibration (60Hz)	Vibration (30Hz)	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_3m	-0.05 (-0.26, 0.16)	0.65
70	Siriphan 2019	Vibration (60Hz)	Vibration (30Hz)	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	-0.15 (-0.79, 0.49)	0.65
71	Taha 2020	Vibration	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	0.27 (0.01, 0.53)	0.71
72	Taha 2020	Vibration	Control	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	-0.10 (-0.62, 0.42)	0.01
73	Taha 2020	Vibration	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	-0.54 (-0.97, -0.12)	0.87
74	Taha 2020	Vibration	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	0.04 (-0.44, 0.52)	0.33

75	Telatar 2020	Vibration	Control	Retraction; averaged (mm/month)	t0_6m	0.18 (-0.18, 0.54)	0.32
76	Telatar 2020	Vibration	Control	Total retraction (mm)	t0_6m	1.08 (-1.07, 3.23)	0.04
77	Wahab 2013	SLB	CLB	Retraction increment (mm)	t0_1m	0.04 (-0.49, 0.58)	0.88
78	Wahab 2013	SLB	CLB	Total retraction (mm)	t0_2m	0.38 (-0.43, 1.19)	0.36
79	Wahab 2013	SLB	CLB	Retraction increment (mm)	t1_2m	0.34 (-0.17, 0.84)	0.19
80	Wahab 2013	SLB	CLB	Retraction increment (mm)	t2_3m	0.19 (-0.17, 0.55)	0.29
81	Yassaei 2016	LLLT	Control	Total retraction (mm)	t0_4m	0.03 (-0.04, 0.10)	0.41
82	Yassaei 2016	LLLT	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t3_4m	-0.03 (-0.12, 0.06)	0.51
83	Zeitounlouian 2021	i-PRF	Control	Retraction increment (mm)	t4_5m	-0.55 (-0.79, -0.31)	<0.001
84	Karci 2021	PRF	Piezocision	Total retraction (mm)	t0_3m	-0.05 (-0.19, 0.09)	0.48

CLB, conventionally ligated bracket; i-PRF, injectable platelet rich fibrin; LAFCG, laser-assisted flapless corticotomy; LLLT, low laser light therapy; m, month; MOP, micro-osteoperforation; PRF, platelet rich fibrin; SLB, self ligated bracket.

	Retraction month 0-1 (mm)		Retraction month 0-2 (mm)			Retraction month 0-3 (mm)		nm) Retraction month 0-4 (mm)		h 0-4	0-4 Retraction month 1-2 (mm)		າ 1-2	Retraction month 2-3 (mm)					
Factor	Level	n	Effect (95% CI)	Р	n	Effect (95% CI)	Р	n	Effect (95% CI)	Р	n	Effect (95% CI)	Ρ	n	Effect (95% CI)	Р	n	Effect (95% CI)	Р
Age	Per year	17	b -0.02 (-0.09, 0.05)	0.60	14	b -0.07 (-0.20, 0.07)	0.29	15	b -0.03 (-0.20, 0.14)	0.71	5	b -0.25 (-1.40, 0.90)	0.54	15	b -0.04 (-0.11, 0.03)	0.25	11	b -0.01 (-0.09, 0.08)	0.88
% male	Per 10%	18	b 0.05 (-0.11, 0.20)	0.55	15	b 0.08 (-0.17, 0.33)	0.49	17	b 0.05 (-0.32, 0.41)	0.79	6	b 0.46 (-0.56, 1.47)	0.28	16	b 0.01 (-0.12, 0.13)	0.92	13	b 0 (-0.16, 0.15)	0.95
Anchorage	TAD	10	1.11 (0.63, 1.58)	0.52	9	1.77 (1.44, 2.11)	0.94	10	2.39 (2.00, 2.78)	0.94	2	4.00 (-3.78, 11.79)	0.15	9	0.78 (0.59, 0.97)	0.72	8	0.71 (0.51, 0.91)	0.95
	TPA	8	1.11 (0.63, 1.58)		7	1.89 (1.04, 2.73)		7	2.55 (1.50, 3.61)		3	2.75 (-1.97, 7.47)		8	0.84 (0.51, 1.18)		7	0.76 (0.38, 1.14)	
	Braces	5	0.82 (0.39, 1.24)		4	1.87 (0.58, 3.15)		6	2.40 (1.58, 3.21)		1	5.13 (3.83, 6.42)		4	0.98 (0.18, 1.78)		2	0.75 (-2.49, 3.99)	
Active	Coil	22	-	-	19	-	-	22	-	-	5	-	-	20	-	-	17	-	-
	Power- chain	1	-		1	-		1	-		1	-		1	-		-	-	
Slot	22"	17	0.91 (0.68, 1.13)	0.22	14	1.72 (1.30, 2.13)	0.07	17	2.31 (1.91, 2.72)	0.003	5	-	-	15	0.82 (0.61, 1.04)	0.12	12	0.66 (0.44, 0.89)	0.06
	18"	4	1.16 (0.60, 1.72)		4	2.24 (1.54, 2.94)		3	3.41 (2.08, 4.75)		-			4	1.03 (0.74, 1.32)		3	0.96 (0.46, 1.46)	
Bracket	CLB	17	0.92 (0.73, 1.12)	0.53	15	1.90 (1.53, 2.27)	0.85	17	2.44 (2.03, 2.84)	0.82	5	-	-	16	0.89 (0.69, 1.08)	0.89	12	0.69 (0.46, 0.92)	0.68
	SLB	4	1.15 (0.03, 2.28)		3	1.77 (-1.14, 4.67)		6	2.54 (1.49, 3.56)		-			3	0.84 (-0.47, 2.15)		3	0.78 (0.01, 1.54)	
Force	50g	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
	60g	-	-		-	-		1	-		-	-		-	-		-	-	
	100g	1	-		-	-		-	-		-	-		-	-		-	-	
	120g	-	-		-	-		-	-		-	-		1	-		1	-	
	150g	20	-		19	-		23	-		5	-		19	-		15	-	
	180a	1	-		1	-		1	-		- 1	-		1	-		1	-	

Supplementary Table 3.4. Meta-regression / subgroup analyses for possible factor influencing the pooled average canine retraction duration and rate (indirect estimates from Table II) across identified randomized trials.

b, meta-regression coefficient; CI, confidence interval; CLB, conventionally ligated bracket; n, number of studies; SLB, self-ligating bracket; TAD, temporary anchorage device

	LLLT vs control; retraction month 0-1 (mm)			ol; 0-1	Surgically-assisted orthodontics vs control; retraction month 0-1 (mm)		o ret	Surgically-assisted orthodontics vs control; retraction month 0-2 (mm)		Surgically-assisted orthodontics vs control; retraction month 0-3 (mm)		isted control;)-3 (mm)	Surgically-assisted i; orthodontics vs control; n) retraction month 1-2 (mm)			Surgically-assisted orthodontics vs control; retraction month 2-3 (mm)			
Factor	Level	n	Effect	Ρ	n	Effect	Ρ	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Ρ	n	Effect	Р	n	Effect	Ρ
Age	Per year	6	b -0.16 (-0.40, 0.08)	0.14	9	b -0.01 (-0.10, 0.09)	0.90	7	b -0.02 (-0.21, 0.17)	0.82	6	b -0.02 (-0.28, 0.23)	0.82	8	b 0 (-0.09, 0.09)	1.00	7	b 0 (-0.09, 0.08)	0.98
Male	Per 10%	6	b 0.12 (-0.16, 0.40)	0.31	9	b -0.04 (-0.40, 0.33)	0.83	7	b -0.04 (-0.64, 0.55)	0.86	6	b 0.11 (-0.90, 1.12)	0.77	8	b 0.03 (-0.25, 0.32)	0.79	7	b 0.22 (0.03, 0.41)	0.03
Anchorage	TAD	3	MD 0.29 (-0.46, 1.04)	0.20	7	MD 0.33 (-0.02, 0.68)	<0.001	6	MD 0.28 (-0.10, 0.66)	<0.001	6	MD 0.43 (0, 2.94)	<0.001	6	MD 0.10 (-0.18, 0.38)	0.002	5	MD 0.09 (-0.08, 0.26)	0.27
	Braces	3	MD 0.29 (-1.00, 1.59)		1	MD 1.16 (0.92, 1.40)		-			-			-			-		
	TPA	3	MD 0.02 (0, 0.04)		2	MD 0.80 (0.29, 1.30)		2	MD 1.24 (-0.09, 2.57)		2	MD 1.36 (-0.23, 2.94		3	MD 0.51 (0.20, 0.81)		3	MD 0.30 (-0.48, 1.07)	
Bracket	CLB	7	MD 0.30 (-0.04, 0.63)	0.01	9			8			8			9			8		
	SLB	2	MD -0.05 (-0.33, 0.22)		-			-			-			-			-		
Slot	18"	2	MD 0.40 (-2.58, 3.37)	0.53	-			-			-			-			-		
	22"	6	MD 0.22 (-0.16, 0.61)		9			7			7			8			7		
Activ	Coil	8			10			8			8			9			8		
	Power- chain	1			-			-			-			-			-		
Force	100g	-			1			-			-			-			-		
	120g	-			-			-			-			1			1		
	150g	9			9			8			8			8			7		

Supplementary Table 3.5. Meta-regression / subgroup analyses for possible factor influencing canine retraction duration and rate (direct meta-analysis from Table III) across identified randomized trials.

b, meta-regression coefficient; CI, confidence interval; CLB, conventionally ligated bracket; MD, mean difference; n, number of studies; SLB, self-ligating bracket; TAD, temporary anchorage device; TPA, transpalatal arch.

Study	TE seTE	Retraction month 0-1 (mm) C	hange	95%-Cl	Weight
Yassaei 2016	0.22 0.04		0.22	[0.15; 0.29]	4.9%
Limpanichkul 2006	0.38 0.02	÷	0.38	[0.33; 0.43]	5.0%
Alikhani 2013	0.56 0.03		0.56	[0.50; 0.62]	5.0%
Babanouri 2020	0.64 0.02	+	0.64	[0.59; 0.69]	5.0%
Alkebsi 2018	0.67 0.06		0.67	[0.55; 0.79]	4.9%
Dakshina 2019	0.75 0.01	+	0.75	[0.74; 0.76]	5.0%
Mistry 2020	0.76 0.09		0.76	[0.59; 0.94]	4.8%
Varella 2018	0.76 0.09		0.76	[0.58; 0.94]	4.7%
Mahmoudzadeh 2020	0.79 0.12		0.79	[0.55; 1.03]	4.6%
Alfawal 2018	0.81 0.03		0.81	[0.76; 0.86]	5.0%
Deguchi 2007	0.90 0.07		0.90	[0.75; 1.05]	4.8%
Ekizer 2016	0.93 0.09		0.93	[0.75; 1.11]	4.8%
Alqadasi 2019	1.11 0.58	<>	1.11	[-0.03; 2.25]	1.6%
Alqadasi 2020	1.12 0.19		1.12	[0.74; 1.50]	4.1%
Taha 2020	1.12 0.07		1.12	[0.99; 1.25]	4.9%
Zeitounlouian 2021	1.25 0.22		1.25	[0.83; 1.67]	3.9%
Heravi 2014	1.31 0.35		1.31	[0.63; 1.99]	2.9%
Abdelhameed 2018	1.34 0.09		1.34	[1.16; 1.51]	4.8%
El-Timamy2020	1.35 0.16		1.35	[1.04; 1.66]	4.3%
Haliloglu-Ozkan 2018	1.36 0.21	+	1.36	[0.95; 1.77]	3.9%
Wahab 2013	1.61 0.13	——————————————————————————————————————	1.61	[1.35; 1.87]	4.5%
Kansal 2014	1.76 0.50		1.76	[0.78; 2.74]	2.0%
Wahab 2015	1.86 0.04		1.86	[1.78; 1.94]	4.9%
Random effects model		\diamond	0.97	[0.79; 1.16]	100.0%
Prediction interval				[0.11; 1.83]	
Heterogeneity/ ² = 98%					
	0	0.0 1 1.0 2			

Appendix Figure 3.1 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 1.

Appendix Figure 3.2 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 2.

Appendices						
Study	TE	seTE	Retraction month 0-2 (mm)	Change	95%-CI	Weight
Yassaei 2016	0.39	0.06		0.39	[0.27; 0.51]	5.6%
Limpanichkul 2006	0.74	0.04		0.74	[0.67; 0.81]	5.6%
Alkebsi 2018	1.28	0.09		1.28	[1.11; 1.45]	5.6%
Babanouri 2020	1.30	0.05	-	1.30	[1.20; 1.40]	5.6%
Dakshina 2019	1.49	0.02	+	1.49	[1.45; 1.53]	5.7%
Mistry 2020	1.55	0.14		1.55	[1.27; 1.83]	5.4%
Alfawal 2018	1.68	0.05	+	1.68	[1.58; 1.77]	5.6%
Alqadasi 2019	1.73	0.58		1.73	[0.59; 2.87]	3.0%
Alqadasi 2020	1.87	0.21		1.87	[1.45; 2.28]	5.1%
Abdelhameed 2018	1.90	0.13		1.90	[1.64; 2.16]	5.4%
Deguchi 2007	1.90	0.15		1.90	[1.62; 2.18]	5.4%
Varella 2018	2.05	0.18		2.05	[1.71; 2.39]	5.3%
Ekizer 2016	2.06	0.32		2.06	[1.43; 2.69]	4.5%
Haliloglu-Ozkan 2018	2.10	0.21		2.10	[1.69; 2.51]	5.1%
Heravi 2014	2.13	0.26		2.13	[1.62; 2.64]	4.8%
Zeitounlouian 2021	2.22	0.33	· · ·	2.22	[1.58; 2.86]	4.4%
Taha 2020	2.59	0.11		2.59	[2.37; 2.81]	5.5%
EI-Timamy 2020	2.62	0.25		2.62	[2.14; 3.10]	4.9%
Wahab 2013	2.86	0.21		2.86	[2.46; 3.26]	5.1%
Kansal 2014	3.30	0.75		→ 3.30	[1.84; 4.76]	2.3%
Random effects model				1.83	[1.52; 2.14]	100.0%
Prediction interval				_	[0.48; 3.17]	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 98\%$			0 1 2 3	4		



Appendix Figure 3.3 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 3; averaged per month.

Study		eic		Retraction month 0-5 (mm)	Chang	e 50/00	weight
Yassaei 2016	0.48	0.04	+		0.	48 [0.41; 0.55]	4.7%
Limpanichkul 2006	1.24	0.06		+-	1.	24 [1.12; 1.36]	4.6%
Alqadasi 2020	1.88	0.21		—	1.	88 [1.46; 2.30]	4.3%
Alkebsi 2018	1.88	0.12			1.	88 [1.65; 2.11]	4.6%
Liao 2017	1.91	0.16			1.	91 [1.60; 2.22]	4.5%
Doshi-Mehta 2012	1.98	0.10			1.	98 [1.78; 2.18]	4.6%
Babanouri 2020	2.03	0.06		+	2.	03 [1.91; 2.15]	4.6%
Karci 2021	2.12	0.04		+	2	12 [2.04; 2.19]	4.7%
Alqadasi 2019	2.13	0.58			2.	13 [0.99; 3.27]	3.0%
Dakshina 2019	2.26	0.03		+	2	26 [2.21; 2.31]	4.7%
Mistry 2020	2.30	0.19			2.	30 [1.93; 2.67]	4.4%
Siriphan 2019	2.49	0.15			2	49 [2.19; 2.79]	4.5%
Hassan 2016	2.59	0.11			2	59 [2.37; 2.81]	4.6%
Mezomo 2011	2.61	0.18			2	61 [2.26; 2.95]	4.4%
Alfawal 2018	2.64	0.07		-+-	2	64 [2.50; 2.78]	4.6%
Ekizer 2016	2.77	0.41			2	77 [1.96; 3.58]	3.6%
Abdelhameed 2018	2.79	0.06		-+-	2	79 [2.67; 2.91]	4.6%
Jivrajani 2020	2.82	0.28			2	82 [2.28; 3.36]	4.1%
Zeitounlouian 2021	3.35	0.36			3	35 [2.64; 4.06]	3.8%
Deguchi 2007	3.40	0.29			3.	40 [2.83; 3.97]	4.1%
Taha 2020	3.54	0.07		+	3.	54 [3.40; 3.68]	4.6%
El-Timamy2020	3.63	0.33			- 3	63 [2.98; 4.28]	4.0%
Wahab 2013	3.88	0.26		+	3	88 [3.38; 4.38]	4.2%
Random effects model				\diamond	2.	44 [2.10; 2.79]	100.0%
Prediction interval			-		•	[0.80; 4.08]	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 99\%$		0	· 1	2 3 4	5		

Appendix Figure 3.4 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 3.StudyTEseTERetraction month 0-3 (mm)Change95%CIWeight



Appendix Figure 3.5 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 4.

Appendix Figure 3.6 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 5.



Study		SEIL	Retraction month 1-2 (mm)	Change	90 /#CI	weight	
Yassaei 2016	0.17	0.05	 :	0.17	[0.06:0.28]	5.4%	
Limpanichkul 2006	0.36	0.03		0.36	$[0.31 \cdot 0.41]$	5.5%	
Al-Naoum 2014	0.50	0.00		0.50	[0.01, 0.11]	5.4%	
Abdelbameed 2018	0.56	0.04		0.56	[0.30.07/]	5.2%	
	0.50	0.03		0.00	[0.00, 0.74]	5.270	
Alkebsi 2010	0.01	0.00	F	0.01		J.4 %	
Alqadasi2019	0.62	0.58		0.62	[-0.52; 1.76]	1.4%	
Babanouri 2020	0.66	0.03		0.66	[0.60; 0.72]	5.5%	
Dakshina 2019	0.74	0.01	+	0.74	[0.71; 0.77]	5.5%	
Haliloglu-Ozkan 2018	0.74	0.15		0.74	[0.45; 1.03]	4.6%	
Alqadasi 2020	0.75	0.20		0.75	[0.35; 1.14]	4.1%	
Mistry 2020	0.79	0.09		0.79	[0.61; 0.97]	5.2%	
Heravi 2014	0.82	0.13		0.82	[0.57; 1.07]	4.8%	
Alfawal 2018	0.86	0.02	+	0.86	[0.82; 0.91]	5.5%	
Zeitounlouian 2021	0.97	0.13		0.97	[0.71; 1.23]	4.8%	
Deguchi 2007	1.00	0.08		1.00	[0.84; 1.16]	5.2%	
Ekizer 2016	1.13	0.25		1.13	[0.64; 1.62]	3.6%	
Wahab 2013	1.25	0.13		1.25	[0.99; 1.50]	4.8%	
El-Timamy2020	1.27	0.10	— · —	1.27	[1.07; 1.47]	5.1%	
Varella 2018	1.29	0.10		1.29	[1.10; 1.48]	5.1%	
Taha 2020	1.47	0.11		1.47	[1.25; 1.69]	5.0%	
Kansal 2014	1.53	0.31	· · · · →	1.53	[0.93: 2.13]	3.0%	
					[
Random effects model				0.84	[0.68; 1.01]	100.0%	
Prediction interval					[0.12; 1.57]		
Heterogeneity $l^2 = 96\%$							
		(0.5 1 1.5 2				

Appendix Figure 3.7 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on retraction during month 1 to month 2.StudyTE seTERetraction month 1-2 (mm)Change95%-CIWeight
Alqadasi 2020	0.01	0.22	<	0.01	[-0.42; 0.44]	4.5%
Yassaei 2016	0.09	0.05	<+	0.09	[-0.02; 0.20]	6.5%
Al-Naoum 2014	0.32	0.04		0.32	[0.23; 0.41]	6.6%
Alqadasi 2019	0.40	0.58	<	0.40	[-0.74; 1.54]	1.5%
Limpanichkul 2006	0.50	0.04		0.50	[0.42; 0.58]	6.6%
Alkebsi 2018	0.60	0.08		0.60	[0.45; 0.75]	6.3%
Ekizer 2016	0.71	0.11		0.71	[0.49; 0.93]	5.9%
Babanouri 2020	0.73	0.02	+	0.73	[0.68; 0.78]	6.7%
Mistry 2020	0.75	0.08		0.75	[0.58; 0.91]	6.2%
Dakshina 2019	0.77	0.01	+	0.77	[0.75; 0.79]	6.7%
Abdelhameed 2018	0.89	0.10	÷+	0.89	[0.70; 1.08]	6.1%
Alfawal 2018	0.96	0.04		0.96	[0.89; 1.04]	6.6%
El-Timamy 2020	1.01	0.16	+	1.01	[0.69; 1.33]	5.3%
Taha 2020	1.01	0.09	— — —	1.01	[0.83; 1.19]	6.1%
Wahab 2013	1.02	0.09		1.02	[0.84; 1.20]	6.2%
Deguchi 2007	1.10	0.05		1.10	[1.00; 1.20]	6.5%
Zeitounlouian 2021	1.13	0.13	——————————————————————————————————————	1.13	[0.87; 1.39]	5.7%
Random effects model			\diamond	0.73	[0.55; 0.90]	100.0%
Prediction interval					[0.04; 1.41]	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 96\%$			0.5 1 1.5 2			

Appendix Figure 3.8 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on retraction during month 2 to month 3.StudyTE seTERetraction month 2-3 (mm)Change95%-CIWeight

Appendices



Appendix Figure 3.9 Forest plot for the indirect meta-analysis on retraction during month 3 to month 4.

Appendix Figure 3.10 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 1 between 150g-force group and 100g-force group.



Appendices



Appendix Figure 3.11 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 1 between PRP/PRF group and control group.

Appendix Figure 3.12 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 2 between PRP/PRF group and control group.





Appendix Figure 3.13 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 3 between PRP/PRF group and control group.

Appendix Figure 3.14 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 4 between PRP/PRF group and control group.





Appendix Figure 3.16 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 1 to month 2 between PRP/PRF group and control group.





Appendix Figure 3.17 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 2 to month 3 between PRP/PRF group and control group.

Appendix Figure 3.18 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 3 to month 4 between PRP/PRF group and control group.





Appendix Figure 3.19 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 1 between LLLT group and control group.

Appendix Figure 3.20 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 2 between LLLT group and control group.





Appendix Figure 3.21 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 1 to month 2 between LLLT group and control group.

Appendix Figure 3.22 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 2 to month 3 between LLLT group and control group.

Study	en	em	esd	cn	cm	csd	LLLT vs Retraction m	s control onth 2-3 (mm)		MD	95%-CI	Weight
Yassaei 2016	11	0.09	0.21	11	0.09	0.18	-			0.00	[-0.14; 0.14]	17.0%
Abdelhameed 2018	10	0.95	0.43	29	0.89	0.52	-			0.06	[-0.16; 0.27]	15.5%
Limpanichkul 2006	12	0.56	0.14	12	0.50	0.14				0.06	[-0.04; 0.16]	17.7%
Mistry 2020	21	0.84	0.37	21	0.75	0.39	-			0.09	[-0.11; 0.29]	15.9%
Ekizer 2016	20	0.93	0.60	20	0.71	0.50				0.22	[0.01; 0.43]	15.6%
Dakshin 2019	24	1.43	0.19	24	0.77	0.04		+		0.66	[0.60; 0.71]	18.2%
Random effects model								$\stackrel{\cdot}{\frown}$		0.19	[-0.08; 0.45]	100.0%
Prediction interval						_			_		[-0.57; 0.94]	
Heterogeneity: $I^2 = 97\%$						-1.	2 -0.9 -0.6 -0.30.1	50 0.150.3 0.6	0.9	1.2		



Appendix Figure 3.23 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 3 between self-ligating bracket group and conventionally ligated bracket group and conventional group and conventional group and conventional group and grou

Appendix Figure 3.24 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 0 to month 3 between adjunct vibration group and control group.





Appendix Figure 3.25 Forest plot for the direct meta-analysis on retraction during month 3 to month 4 between surgically-assisted group and control group.

Appendix Figure 3.26 Random-effects meta-regression for the effect of patient sex (% of male patients) on the MD of surgically-assisted group versus control group.



Meta-regression of retraction month 2-3 (mm) by % male

Chapter 4



Appendix Figure 4.1 ELISA standard curves.



Appendix Figure 4.2 Melting curves of primers used in the study.

Primer specificity was checked by melt curve analysis, and the Melting curves of all primers showed a single peak indicating an absence of primer dimers.



Appendix Figure 4.3 The effect of IL-1 α , leptin, AdipoRon, and force on the cytotoxicity of hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a, b, & c) and hGFs (d, e, & f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm2), leptin (10 µg/ml), and AdipoRon (40 µM) alone or in combination. Cytotoxicity of hPDLFs was assessed using LDH cytotoxicity assay after 24 (a), 48 (b), and 72 hours (c) of stimulation. Cytotoxicity was expressed as a fold change relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; O.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; AD, AdipoRon; LEP, leptin; 2gm, 2 gm/cm2 compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Dunnett-corrected).



Appendix Figure 4.4 Relative MMP-2 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (d-f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and AdipoRon (40 μ M) alone or in combination for 24 (a & d), 48 (b & e), and 72 (c & f) hours. MMP-2 mRNA expression was measured using the 2-ddCt method using GAPDH as the housekeeping gene and relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; AD, AdipoRon; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean \pm SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected).

Appendices



Appendix Figure 4.5 Relative MMP-2 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (d-f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm2), and leptin (10 µg/ml) alone or in combination for 24 (a & d), 48 (b & e), and 72 (c & f) hours. MMP-2 mRNA expression was measured using the 2-ddCt method using GAPDH as the housekeeping gene and relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; O.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; LEP, leptin; 2gm, 2 gm/cm2 compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected).



Appendix Figure 4.6 Relative TIMP-1 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (d-f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and AdipoRon (40 μ M) alone or in combination for 24 (a & d), 48 (b & e), and 72 (c & f) hours. TIMP-1 mRNA expression was measured using the 2^{-ddCt} method using GAPDH as the housekeeping gene and relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; AD, AdipoRon; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean \pm SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected).



Appendix figure 4.7 Relative TIMP-1 mRNA expression in hPDLFs and hGFs.

hPDLFs (a-c) and hGFs (d-f) were stimulated with IL-1 α (0.1 ng/ml), compressive force (2 gm/cm²), and leptin (10 µg/ml) alone or in combination 24 (a & d), 48 (b & e), and 72 (c & f) hours. TIMP-1 mRNA expression was measured using the 2^{-ddCt} method using GAPDH as the housekeeping gene and relative to the unstimulated cells. C, unstimulated cells; 0.1 IL α , 0.1 IL-1 α ; LEP, leptin; 2gm, 2 gm/cm² compressive force; n=3. Data are shown as mean ± SD. Data were analysed by One-way ANOVA (Tukey-corrected).

Chapter 5

Appendix Table 5.1 The top 15 common proteins and percentage of peptides for each identified at

each time-point.

Protein ID	Protein Name	T1						
		P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	Mean	
PIGR_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor	0.42	0.86	0.34	1.60	0.68	0.78	
PRP1_HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 1	23.55	20.80	15.54	30.19	24.30	22.88	
PRB2 HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2	19.99	19.99	18.51	27.45	22.38	21.66	
PRB3_HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3	5.94	7.22	9.49	4.34	8.68	7.13	
PRB4_HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4	5.48	8.09	12.63	8.49	11.72	9.28	
PRPC_HUMAN	Salivary acidic proline-rich phosphoprotein 1/2	8.74	11.95	11.83	14.8	9.73	11.41	
SMR3B_HUMAN	Submaxillary gland androgen- regulated protein 3B	8.16	4.68	5.94	4.22	6.51	5.90	
STAT_HUMAN	Statherin	6.27	4.48	2.29	1.32	3.16	3.50	
HIS1_HUMAN	Histatin-1	3.47	1.53	3.14	1.70	2.98	2.56	
HIS3_HUMAN	Histatin-3	1.25	0.81	1.77	2.55	1.12	1.50	
PRR27_HUMAN	Proline-rich protein 27	0.42	0.20	0.17	0.19	0.12	0.22	
PROL4_HUMAN	Proline-rich protein 4	0.71	0.76	0.23	0.0	0.06	0.35	
CO1A1_HUMAN	Collagen alpha-1(I)	0.04	0.25	0	0.38	0.19	0.17	
CO2A1_HUMAN	Collagen alpha-1(II)	0.18	0.15	0.11	0.19	0.12	0.15	
TR_HUMAN	Uncharacterized protein OS	8.36	11.55	12.06	0.09	0	6.41	
Protein ID	Protein Name	T2						
		P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	Mean	
PIGR_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor	1.11	1.19	0.7	1.47	1.03	1.10	
PRP1_HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 1	18.82	19.32	14.68	22.03	25.59	20.09	
PRB2_HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2	16.34	18.16	16.42	22.11	21.96	19.00	
PRB3_HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3	5.69	5.01	8.58	3.94	5.8	5.80	
PRB4_HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4	3.21	4.98	10.26	6.87	7.69	6.60	
PRPC_HUMAN	Salivary acidic proline-rich phosphoprotein 1/2	9.83	9.8	9.07	8.79	8.03	9.10	
SMR3B_HUMAN	Submaxillary gland androgen-regulated protein 3B	7.51	6.64	5.82	4.69	4.22	5.78	
STAT_HUMAN	Statherin	7.57	7.64	6.77	7.04	6.21	7.05	
HIS1_HUMAN	Histatin-1	3.21	2.35	4.11	2.43	1.78	2.78	
HIS3_HUMAN	Histatin-3	0.22	0.28	0.98	1.17	0.41	0.61	
PRR27_HUMAN	Proline-rich protein 27	1.7	1.06	0.98	0.42	0.48	0.93	
PROL4_HUMAN	Proline-rich protein 4	1.48	1.6	1.44	0.54	0.38	1.09	
CO1A1_HUMAN	Collagen alpha-1(I)	1.11	1.1	0.77	0.63	0.41	0.75	
CO2A1_HUMAN	Collagen alpha-1(II)	0.56	0.53	0.58	0.88	0.45	0.6	
TR_HUMAN	Uncharacterized protein OS	9.3	9.46	9.59	8.46	7.75	8.91	
	·	•		•				
Protein ID	Protein Name		-	-	ГЗ		-	
		P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	Mean	
PIGR_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor	1.78	1.75	0.77	1.64	1.18	1.424	
PRP1_HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 1	14.57	18.1	17.78	22.2	24.79	19.49	
PRB2 HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2	12.75	18.22	19.28	21.15	22.06	18.69	

PRB3 HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3	8.12	6.39	7.31	5.62	4.66	6.42			
PRB4 HUMAN	Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4	6.10	6.36	8.7	8.66	7.21	7.41			
PRPC HUMAN	Salivary acidic proline-rich	14.36	11.93	9.85	11.67	8.17				
_	phosphoprotein 1/2						11.20			
SMR3B_HUMAN	Submaxillary gland androgen-regulated	5.18	5.73	4.14	3.59	4.85				
	protein 3B						4.70			
STAT_HUMAN	Statherin	5.38	7.04	6.19	4.53	5.97	5.82			
HIS1_HUMAN	Histatin-1	1.34	1.75	3.38	1.76	0.9	1.83			
HIS3_HUMAN	Histatin-3	0.1	0.34	0.0	1.13	0.28	0.37			
PRR27_HUMAN	Proline-rich protein 27	1.02	0.41	0.94	0.55	0.4	0.66			
PROL4_HUMAN	Proline-rich protein 4	0.82	1.0	1.15	0.43	0.53	0.79			
CO1A1_HUMAN	Collagen alpha-1(I)	0.21	0.44	0.87	0.94	0.37	0.57			
CO2A1_HUMAN	Collagen alpha-1(II)	0.34	0.31	0.28	0.2	0.19	0.26			
TR_HUMAN	Uncharacterized protein OS	13.54	11.58	10.16	11.39	7.92	10.92			
Protein ID	Protein ID Protein Name			T4						
		P1	P2	P3	P4	P5	Mean			
PIGR_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor	0.83	1.11	0.5	1.91	0.67	1.00			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor Basic salivary proline-rich protein 1	0.83 23.28	1.11 20.08	0.5 14.28	1.91 24.48	0.67 24.36	1.00 21.30			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor Basic salivary proline-rich protein 1 Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2	0.83 23.28 19.93	1.11 20.08 19.36	0.5 14.28 15.99	1.91 24.48 22.93	0.67 24.36 21.29	1.00 21.30 19.90			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-rich	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-richphosphoprotein 1/2	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN SMR3B_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-richphosphoprotein 1/2Submaxillary gland androgen-regulated	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18 6.92	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72 5.10	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4 4.54	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84 3.73	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23 6.44	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN SMR3B_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-richphosphoprotein 1/2Submaxillary gland androgen-regulatedprotein 3B	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18 6.92	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72 5.10	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4 4.54	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84 3.73	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23 6.44	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67 5.35			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN SMR3B_HUMAN STAT_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptor Basic salivary proline-rich protein 1 Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2 Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3 Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4 Salivary acidic proline-rich phosphoprotein 1/2 Submaxillary gland androgen-regulated protein 3B Statherin	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18 6.92 4.44	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72 5.10 3.92	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4 4.54 3.43	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84 3.73 1.36	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23 6.44 3.25	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67 5.35 3.28			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN SMR3B_HUMAN STAT_HUMAN HIS1_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-richphosphoprotein 1/2Submaxillary gland androgen-regulatedprotein 3BStatherinHistatin-1	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18 6.92 4.44 2.31	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72 5.10 3.92 0.78	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4 4.54 3.43 3.21	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84 3.73 1.36 1.73	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23 6.44 3.25 2.82	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67 5.35 3.28 2.17			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN SMR3B_HUMAN STAT_HUMAN HIS1_HUMAN HIS3_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-rich protein 4Submaxillary gland androgen-regulated protein 3BStatherinHistatin-1Histatin-3	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18 6.92 4.44 2.31 0.83	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72 5.10 3.92 0.78 0.0	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4 4.54 3.43 3.21 1.72	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84 3.73 1.36 1.73 2.91	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23 6.44 3.25 2.82 0.43	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67 5.35 3.28 2.17 1.18			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN SMR3B_HUMAN STAT_HUMAN HIS1_HUMAN HIS3_HUMAN PRR27_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-rich protein 4Submaxillary gland androgen-regulated protein 3BStatherinHistatin-1Histatin-3Proline-rich protein 27	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18 6.92 4.44 2.31 0.83 0.65	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72 5.10 3.92 0.78 0.0 0.46	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4 4.54 3.43 3.21 1.72 0.22	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84 3.73 1.36 1.73 2.91 0.0	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23 6.44 3.25 2.82 0.43 0.18	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67 5.35 3.28 2.17 1.18 0.30			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN SMR3B_HUMAN STAT_HUMAN HIS1_HUMAN HIS3_HUMAN PRR27_HUMAN PROL4_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-richphosphoprotein 1/2Submaxillary gland androgen-regulatedprotein 3BStatherinHistatin-1Histatin-3Proline-rich protein 27Proline-rich protein 4	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18 6.92 4.44 2.31 0.83 0.65 0.83	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72 5.10 3.92 0.78 0.0 0.46 1.24	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4 4.54 3.43 3.21 1.72 0.22 0.39	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84 3.73 1.36 1.73 2.91 0.0 0.27	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23 6.44 3.25 2.82 0.43 0.18 0.12	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67 5.35 3.28 2.17 1.18 0.30 0.57			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN SMR3B_HUMAN STAT_HUMAN HIS1_HUMAN HIS3_HUMAN PRR27_HUMAN PROL4_HUMAN CO1A1_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-rich protein 1/2Submaxillary gland androgen-regulated protein 3BStatherinHistatin-1Histatin-3Proline-rich protein 4Collagen alpha-1(I)	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18 6.92 4.44 2.31 0.83 0.65 0.83 0.13	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72 5.10 3.92 0.78 0.0 0.46 1.24 0.13	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4 4.54 3.43 3.21 1.72 0.22 0.39 0.22	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84 3.73 1.36 1.73 2.91 0.0 0.27 0.27	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23 6.44 3.25 2.82 0.43 0.18 0.12 0.31	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67 5.35 3.28 2.17 1.18 0.30 0.57 0.21			
PIGR_HUMAN PRP1_HUMAN PRB2_HUMAN PRB3_HUMAN PRB4_HUMAN PRPC_HUMAN SMR3B_HUMAN STAT_HUMAN HIS1_HUMAN HIS3_HUMAN PRR27_HUMAN PR0L4_HUMAN CO1A1_HUMAN CO2A1_HUMAN	Polymeric immunoglobulin receptorBasic salivary proline-rich protein 1Basic salivary proline-rich protein 2Basic salivary proline-rich protein 3Basic salivary proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-rich protein 4Salivary acidic proline-rich protein 4Submaxillary gland androgen-regulated protein 3BStatherinHistatin-1Histatin-3Proline-rich protein 27Proline-rich protein 4Collagen alpha-1(I)Collagen alpha-1(II)	0.83 23.28 19.93 5.74 5.96 10.18 6.92 4.44 2.31 0.83 0.65 0.83 0.13 0	1.11 20.08 19.36 12.43 12.69 14.72 5.10 3.92 0.78 0.0 0.46 1.24 0.13 0.2	0.5 14.28 15.99 9.91 12.56 12.4 4.54 3.43 3.21 1.72 0.22 0.39 0.22 0.11	1.91 24.48 22.93 6.01 7.55 19.84 3.73 1.36 1.73 2.91 0.0 0.27 0.27 0.27	0.67 24.36 21.29 8.83 11.47 11.23 6.44 3.25 2.82 0.43 0.18 0.12 0.31 0.18	1.00 21.30 19.90 8.58 10.05 13.67 5.35 3.28 2.17 1.18 0.30 0.57 0.21 0.15			